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THE FUTURE IS OURS

MISSION
We shape the future of gaming and
entertainment in Asia
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Financial Highlights
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NET REVENUES

US$4.80 billion

NET INCOME

US$608.3 million

Mt revenues %o the year ended December 31, 2014
were LSS, B0 billion, & decrease of USS0.26 billon, or
5,6%, a5 compared with US$5.09 bilion %r the year
enchd December 31, 2013,

BASIC NET INCOME PER SHARE

US$0.369

INet incomea attributable to Misco Crown Entertainment
was USS608.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2014, as compared with net income of LIS$E37 5 milion
o the yiar encied Decamber 31, 2013,

ADJUSTED PROPERTY EBITDA

US$1,285.5 million

Basic net income per Share afirbutables to Melco
Cromn Entertainment was LISE0 360 for the year ended
December 31, 2014 compared fo basic net incoms per
Share of USSD.386 for the year ended Decemiber 31,
2013,
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Adfusted property EBTDA for the year ended December
3, 2014 was USE1.2855 millon, representing a
decrease of USE936 miion, or 6.6%, compared %o
LS$1,379.1 millon for the year endad December 31,
013,




Market Overview and Key Highlights

MARKET OVERVIEW
Macau Market

Thae Macau gaming market has been through a challenging period in 2014,
delivering a year-cvar-year decling in gross gaming revenues of 2.6% compared
to those in 2013, primarily driven by a deteriorating demand environment from
our key feeder market, China, as well as other restrictive policies Inchuding
changes to travel and visa policies and the implementation of further smoking
restrictions on the main gaming floor. According to DICJ, the roling chip
segment underperformed the broader markel, declining 10.9% year-over-year
in 2014, while the higher margin mass market table games segment increased
15.5% over the same period. The weak operating environment has centinued
into 2015, with gross gaming revenues in Macau declining approximately 35.1%
on a year-over-year basis in the first two months of 2015,

The mass market table games sagment accounted for 35.4% of market-
wide gross gaming revenues In 2014, compared to 20.9% for 2013. Melco
Crown Entertainment, with its large exposure to the mass market table games
segment in the fast growing Cotal region, is well positioned to cater to this
increagingly impaortant, and more profitable, segment of the market. Malco Crown
Entertainment's mass market exposure is set to increase over the foreseeable
future with the opening of Studio City In the third quarter of 2015,

Im 2014, visitation to Macau increased 7.5% owver 2013, primarily driven by
visitors frem China which increased 14.19% over the same period. Visitors from
China accounted for 67.4% of all visitors to Macau in 2014 compared to 63.5%
in 2013, Visitors from Hong Kong and Taiwan accounted for 20.4% and 3.0% of
total visitation in 2014, respectively.

Macau is anticipated to benefit from the PRC central and Macau governments’
leng term develepment plans for the region, including improved infrastructure,
immigration policles and the development of Henggin Island, This wide-reaching
davelopment plan is expected to strengthen the appeal of Macau as a multi-
faceted lelsure and tourism destination, offering an increasingly expanded array
of entertainment attractions and amenities to drive long term growth and a moare
diversified tourism experience,

KEY HIGHLIGHTS
Studio City

The development of Studio City remains on track to meet its US$2.3 billlon
dasign and comstruction budgst and is due to open in the third guarter of
2015, Studio City, our Company's next integrated rescrt in Cotal, Macau, will
further expand cur Company's already substantial exposure to the mass market
segments with its unigue, cinematically-themed design and numerous interactive
attractions which will further diversify Macau's leisure and tourism offerings.

City of Dreams

We are in an early stage of developing the fifth hotel tower at City of Dreams.
Collaborating on the design with the award winning, internatienally renowned
architect, Dame Zaha Hadid, our new hotel towar will add a truly iconic landmark
to Macau, further extending City of Dreams’ leading position at the premium end
of the market.
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Market Overview and Key Highlights

In August 2014, City of Dreams officially opened SOHO, a lifestyle food and
beverage and entertainment precinct located on the second floor, which is
designed to further broaden the appeal of the property to a wider range of
visitors to Macau.

City of Dreams is expanding its retail precinct which is anticipated to be
operational in the first half of 2016. The redevelopment is anticipated to
strengthen City of Dream’s appeal with premium customens.

City of Dreams Manila

Malco Crown Entertainment marked the first expansion outside of Macau with
the opening of City of Dreams Manila on December 14, 2014, City of Dreams
Manila, an integrated resort located in Entertainmant City, Manila, is expected to
be ona of tha Philippines’ leading integrated tourism resorts and will diversify the
Company's exposure to the rapidly developing Asian gaming and entertainment
industry, enabling Melco Crown Entertainment to further participate in the growth
in the Asian middle class and the increazing consumerism of this important
target market.
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Other Recent Developments

On January 2, 2015, wa submitted an application to the Stock Exchange for the
voluntary withdrawal of the listing of cur ordinary shares on the Main Board of
Steck Exchange (the “Proposed De-Listing®), which has been approved by our
Shareholders on March 25, 2015, The Proposed De-Listing is expected to take
effect at 4:00 p.m. on Friday, July 3, 2015, subject to fulfilment of all conditions
as disclosed in our circular dated March 4, 2015,



Co-Chairman & Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement

Melco Crown Entertainment experienced an eventful and challenging
year in 2014 with significant advances towards realizing our exciting
growth pipeline in Macau and abroad, including the opening of our
newest integrated resort in Manila, while also competing strongly
in a relatively weaker operating environment in Macau, resulting in
improvements in gross gaming revenue market share in the second
half of 2014.

Despite . wa have continued to focus on

sing tougher market cond

enhancing our unique world-class porth of operating assets and premium-

focused, market-leading ameanities and as, which positions us to compate

strongly now, and in the future, ensuring we maintain our leadership position

at the premium e of the market in Macau. We are also proud to once again
ba included on the Forbes Asia's *Fabulows 507 list for the second consecutive
year, which is a continued recognition of the enterprise’s excellent cperating

parformance and axceptional innovation in the ragion.

Our Company has continued to play a pionearing role in delivering world-

class |eisure and entertainment attractions in Macau at our flagship property,

City of Dreams, with our one-of-a-kind shows highli by the water-based

axtravaganza The of Dancing Watler and Asia’s first

cabaret experisnce
TABOOD. During 2014, which marks the fifth anniversary of City of Dreams, we
introduced SOHO, the new social hub offering diverse dining, entertainment and

street cultural experience that bring visitors a unique dining and entertainment

experience. We also revamped Kids' City at City of Dreams, the largest family

entertainment playground in Macau



Co-Chairman & Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

In recegnition of our exceptional hospitality and dining services, we garnered
aight Forbes 5-Star awards, the most awarded to a single company in Macau.
Altira Macau and Altira Spa were awarded Forbes 5-Star awards for the sixth
consecutive year and Aurora at Altira Macau was once again recognized as a
Forbes 5-Star restaurant, Crown Towers was awarded Forbes 5-Star awards for
its hotel, spa and all its restaurants, namely Jade Dragon and The Tasting Room,
for the second consecutive year, being the first hotal in Macau to achieve this
status. Racantly, we have proudly addad yet another restaurant to our fine-dining
selactions by introducing the premium sushi spacialist from Tokyo and the first
and only in Macau — Shinji by Kanesaka — at Crown Towers, bringing visitors
the most exquisite Japanese fine-dining experience in town,

City of Dreams in Macau continues to be meaningfully upgraded, with our
new retail area well underway and scheduled for completion in the first half
of 2016. We proudly anmounced cur partnership with the award-winning and
internationally renowned “Queen of the Curve® in architecture, Dame Zaha
Hadid for the design of the fifth hotel tower at City of Dreams, which is under
davelopment.
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Demonstrating our commitment to furthering Macau's appeal as a multi-faceted
leisure and tourism destination, significant progress was made on Studio City
which will offer the most diverse mix of mass-market focused entertainment
avar seen in Macau. Studio City, the next standalone integrated resort in the
city, is due to open in the third quarter of 2015 and remains on track to meet
its design and construction budget of USS2.3 billion. The new properly is
situated less than a minute's walk from the now 24-hour operating Lotus Bridge
border crossing, conveniently connecting it to visitors coming from Hangain
Island. This Hellywood-inspired gaming and entertainment complex is at the
forefront of Asla's next generation of immersive, world-leading, entertainment-
drivan gaming and laisure destination experiances. It will offer a wide range
of stunning attractions, such as Asia's highest ferris wheel embedded in the
fagade of the hotel tower, the world's first Batman film franchise digital ride, a
large-scale family entertainment center enlivened by DC Comics and Warner
Bros. characters, a 5,000-seat live performance arena managed by Comcast-
Spectacor, the world-rencwned Pacha Mightclub and The House of Magic hosted
by acclaimed lllusionist Franz Harary,



Co-Chairman & Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement

Consistant with our ambition to embrace the icons of Hallywood's entertainment
industry through Studio City, we were thrilled to have enticed one of the world's
most renowned directors — Martin Scorsese — to direct a short film which is set
to be a historical event. This special short-movie, *The Audition”, set around a
Studio City storyline marks the first Hollywood-production in Macau and the very
first time Leonardo DiCapric, Robert Da MNire and Brad Pitt have starred togather
under the direction of Mr. Scorsese, Delighted to serve as the executive producer
of the film, | am also honored to be involved in this partnership between the
Academy Award-winning film director and the Malco Crown Entertainment brand
which Is truly synergistic. “The Audition” Is to premiere at the grand launch of the
new resort later this year.

Malca Crown Entertainment has long been a leader in supporiing the Macau
government’s goal of diversifying the city's leisure and tourism offerings, through
our strategic approach to emphasize diversified and leading-edge entertainment,
As our current porthalio and upcoming additions fully demanstrate, we strive for a
goed balance between gaming and non-gaming facilities, and set high standards
in Innovative lelsure and entertainment offerings as we create unique landmarks
in Macau that attract new and returning visitors alike and substantially support
lecal and international tourism growth. Part of our strategy also involves bringing
many internationally-renowned brands and attractions to Macaw which further
contribute to developing Macau into a truly worid-class leisure, entertainment
and gaming tourism hub in Asia. We continue 1o strive cur utmost to enrich the
lecal tourizm and entertainment scene and achieve economic diversity in Macau,

Besides enriching the mix and variety of entertainment offerings in Macau,
Melco Crown Entertainment also places pricrity on the development of our
employees, as it is key to ensuring a sustainable future for cur Company and
Macau as a whaole. We balieve in life-long learning and personal development, as
demaonstrated by our in-house Learning Academy, allowing employess greater
flexibility to achieve wvarious qualifications for advancing their career. Wa also
offer scholarships to our employees and their families to further their education,
Internal career development is also a policy and culture of cur Company. In
the past six years, through meticulous planning, over 16,880 intermal transfers
and prometions have been offered. With compelitive packages and career
davelopment opportunities, the future of our employees is in good hands.

Beyond Macaw, our evelution inte a leading gaming and entertainment company
in Asia has taken a meaningful step forward with the successful opening of City
of Dreams Manila. The new property has centinued our outstanding tradition of
offering unique and innovative leisure and entertainment experiences catering
te a diverse clientele, It has infroduced a collection of world-class brands and
attractions to Manila — the |luxurious Crown Towers hotel, Asia's first celebrity-
inspired Nobu Hotel and the acclaimed Hyatt City of Dreams Manila; premium
nightclubs Pangaea and Chaos; specialty restaurants Nobu Restaurant. The
Tasting Room and The Crystal Dragon; a retail boulevard housing some of the
world's most scught-after brands, as well as market-leading gaming facilities.
The attractions of this integrated resort are designed to appeal to both local
and international visiters. City of Dreams Manila alsc houses the world's first
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Co-Chairman & Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

DreamWorks-inspirad, education-based interactiva playspace, “DreamPlay by
DreamWorks®. Within the short pericd since its opening, City of Dreams Manila
has already won the estesmed “Integrated Resort of the Year™ award at the
annual Intemational Gaming Awards which recognizes the very best casino or
Integrated resort, judging by 15 facilities offered, customer services Including
quality and professicnalism of stalf werking at the venue, games offerad,
atmosphere, style and design of bullding, which together make the resort an
outstanding choice for customers. With the opening of City of Dreams Manila,
wa have brought our highly successful flagship brand City of Dreams outside of
Macau for the first time, marking a key milestone as we endeavor to expand in
Asia and beyond.

With our cutstanding portiolio of diversified assets and excellent staff, we are
well-positioned to achieve sustainable dewelopment within the ever-evolving
industry landscape and regional clientele, be it in Macau, Manila or any other
potential future gaming markets such as Japan. We remain steadfast in our
resolute belief that Asia, supported by a rapidly expanding middle-class and
strong economic growth, continues to be the most important and exciting leisure
and tourism market in the world.

] Bowwsi Fepor] 1 b Campn | bbb e

Lastly, we would like to thank our Board of Directors, shareholders, employeas
and business asscciates for their dedication and suppert which have helped
us accomplish significant progress in the past year. We look forward to scaling
new heights and achieving new milestones through our ongeoing and future
development projects to ultimately create greater value for our shareholders and
tha community.

Lawrence Yau Lung Ho
Co-Chalrman and Chief Executive Officer



Business Overview

We are a developer, owner and operater of casino gaming and entertainment
resort facilities in Asia.

We currently have two major casino based operations in Macau, namely, City
of Dreams and Altira Macau, and non-casino based operations in Macau at our
Mocha Clubs. We also have a casino based operation in the Philippines, City of
Dreams Manila,

We are also developing the planned Studio City project, a cinematically-themed
intagrated entertainment, retail and gaming resort, which is expected to cpen
in the third guarter of 2015, We are in an early stage of developing the fifth
hotel tower at City of Dreams In Cotal, Macau and are currently reviewing the
development plan and schedule of this hotel tower,

Our current and future operations are designed to cater to a broad spectrum of
gaming patrons, from high-stakes rolling chip gaming patrons to gaming patrons
seeking a broader entertainment experience. We currantly own and operate two
Forbes 5-Star hotals in Macau: Altira Macau and The Crown Towers hotal. We
seek to attract patrons throughout Asia and, in particular, from Greater China.

In the Philppines, MCE Leisure Philippines, a subsidiary of MCP currently
operates and manages City of Dreams Manila, a casino, hotal, retail and
entertainment integrated resort in the Entertainment City complex in Manila,
which opened in December 2014,

We generated a significant majority of the total revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2014 from our operations in Macau, the principal markat in which
we competa,

City of Dreams

Clty of Dreams |5 an Integrated casino resort in Cotal, Macau which opened In
June 2009, City of Dreams Is a premium-focused property, targeting high end
customers and rolling chip players from regional markets across Asia. As of
December 31, 2014, City of Dreams featured a casino area of approximately
448,000 square feet with approximately 500 gaming tables and approximatety
1,400 gaming machines.

The Crown Towers hotel, a Forbes 5-Star hotal, and the Hard Rock Hotel each
offers approximately 300 guest rooms, and the Grand Hyatt Macau hotel offers
approximately 800 guest rooms. City of Dreams, together with SOHO, includes
around 30 restaurants and bars, approximately 70 retail outlets, recreation and
leisure facilities, including health and fitness clubs, three swimming pools, spas
and salens. and banguet and meeting facilities. The Club Cubic nightclub offers
approximately 26,200 square feet of live entertainment space. SOHO, a lifestyle
antertainment and dining precinet lecated on the second floor of City of Dreams
which had its grand opening in August 2014, offers customers a wide selection
of food and beverage and other non-gaming offerings.

The Dancing Water Theater, a wet stage performance theater with approximately
2,000 seats features the internationally acclaimed and award winning “The
House of Dancing Water® show.

We are expanding ocur ratail precinet at City of Dreams, which is anticipated to
apen in the first half of 2018. We are also in an early stage of developing the
fitth hotel tower at City of Dreams. We are currently raviewing the development
plan and schedule of this hotel tower by taking into account a range of factors,
including the curment and expected future operating environment in Macau and
other potential uses of cash and future cash flow.
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Business Overview

Altira Macau
Altira Macau Is designed to provide a casing and hotel experience that caters

to Aslan relling chip custemers and players sourced primarily through gaming
promoters.

As of December 31, 2014, Altira Macau featured a casino area of approximately
173,000 square fest with a total of approximately 120 gaming tables. Altira
Macau’s multi-flocr layout comprises primarily designated gaming areas and
private gaming rooms for rolling chip players, together with a general gaming
area for the mass market that offers various table limits to cater to a wide
range of mass market patrons. Our multi-floor layout allows us the flexibility to
reconfigure Altira Macau's gaming areas to meet the changing demands of our
patrons and target specific customer segments,

Wa consider Altira Hotel, located within the 38-storey Altira Macaw, to be one
of the lsading hotals in Macau as evidenced by its long-standing Forbes 5-star
recognition. The top floor of the hotel serves as the hotel lobby and reception
area, providing guests with views of the surrounding area. The hotel comprises
approximately 230 guest rooms, including sultes and villas. A number of
restaurants and dining facilities are available at Altira Macau, including a leading
Italian restaurant Aurora, several Chinese and international restaurants and
several bars. Altira Hotel also offers several non-gaming amenities, including a
spa, gymnasium, outdoor garden podium and sky terrace lounge,

Altira Macau offers a luxurious hotel experience with its internationally acclaimed
accommodation and guest services, It has been awarded the “Forbes 5-Star”
rating in both Lodging and Spa categories by the Forbes Travel Guide for the
sixth year in February 2015,
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Mocha Clubs

Mocha Clubs comprise the largest non-casing based operations of gaming
machines in Macau. As of December 31, 2014, Mocha Clubs had eight clubs
with a total of 1,321 gaming machines in operation, which representad 10.1% of
the total machine installation in the market, according to the DICJ, Mocha Clubs
focus on general mass market players, including day-trip customers, outside the
conventional casino setting. Except for Mocha Altira located at Altira Macau, we
operate Mocha Clubs at leased or sub-leased premises or under right-to-use
agreaments.

In addition to slot machines, each Mocha Club site offers electronic table
games without dealers. The gaming facilities at our Mocha Clubs include what
we believe is the latest technaology for gaming machines and offer both single-
player machines with a variety of games, including progressive jackpots, and
rulti-player games where players on linked machines play against the house In
elactronic roulette, baccarat and sicbo, a traditional Chinese dice game.

Studio City

Studio City is a large-scale cinematically-themed integrated entertainment, retail
and gaming resort which is expected 1o open in the third quarter of 2015, Studio
City, upon completion, will inslude gaming facilities, five-star hotel offerings and
various entertainment, retail and food and baverage outlets to attract a divarse
range of customers, Studio City is designed to capture the increasingly important
mass market segment, with its destination theming, unigue and inmovative
interactive atiractions, including Asia's highest ferris wheel, a Warmer Bros.-
themed family entertainment center, a fully-operational TV broadcast studio, the
world's first Batman film framchise digital ride, a 5,000-seat multi-purpose live



Business Overview

performance arena and a live magic venue, as well as approximataly 1,600 hotel
rooms, a vast array of foed and bewverage outlels and approximataly 350,000
square fest of themed and innovative retall space.

The Studio City's site is on a plot of land of 130,759 square meters (equivalent
to approximately 1.4 million square feet) in Cotai. Macau and is located directly
adjacent to the Lotus Bridge immigration checkpoint and one of the proposad
light rail stations. We believe that the location of Studio City, in addition to its
vast array of entertainment and leisure offerings, is a Key competitive advantage,

Studio City has an approved gross construction area of 707,078 square metars
{equivalent to approximately 7.6 million square feet). We cumrently estimate
that the design and construction cost for the first phase of Studio City will be
approximately US$2.3 billion, CQur plans for the expansionary phase at Studio
City are under review.

City of Dreams Manila

City of Dreams Manila |s one of the leading integrated tourism resorts in the
Philippines. The proparty is located on an approximately 6.2-hectars site at the
gateway of Entertainment City, Manila, close to Metro Manila's intarnational
airport and central business district, City of Dreams Manila opened in December
2014 and reprasants cur first eniry inte an entertainment and gaming market
autside of Macau and an incremental source of eamings and cash flow outside
of Macau,

The property has approximately 14,026 sguare meters (approximately
150,727 square feet) of aggregate gaming space and total gross floor area of
approximately 300,100 square meters {approximately 3.2 million square feet). We

are authorized by PAGCOR to operate up to approximately 1,700 slot machines,
1,700 electronic table games and 380 gaming tables. As of December 31, 2014,
we have approximately 1,508 slot machines, 158 electronic table games and 188
gaming tables in operation.

City of Dreams Manila has three hotels comprising Crown Towers haotel, Mobu
Hotel and Hyatt City of Dreams Manila, with approximately 950 rooms in
aggregate. City of Dreams Manila also features three separate entertainmant
venues: DreamPlay, a family entertainment center (which is expected to open in
the first half of 2015); Centerplay, a live performance central lounge within the
casino; and Chaos and Pangasa Ulira-Lounge, two night clubs encapsulated
within the Fortune Egg. City of Dreams Manila also features a retall boulevard,
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Corporate Environmental, Social and Governance Report

With deep roots in Macau, Melco Crown Entertainment's foundation philosophy
on corporate social responsibility (GSR) is about giving back to the community
it serves. The Company has devoted its greatest efforts in contributing to the
society through a proactive and innovative approach, yet at the same time taking
care the welfare of our employeas in different aspects and understanding the
views of our various stakeholders.

Last year, we reported about the development of an unique and one-of-its-
kind corporate social responsibility program acress six major pillars — youth,
education, women, cultura/heritage, environment and responsible gaming, all of
these aim to address and facilitate solutions on social issues in Macau, and o
support local charitable organizations guided by the vision of making a difference
in peopla’s lives. This year, apart from disclesing our continual achievements on
thase social fronts in 2014, we also anhanced our level of disclosura to a mara
comprehensive coverage on our corporate environmental, social and governance
("ESG") afforts to include measures that we have taken to look after welfare of
our employees as well as the anti-corruption policy that we have implemented ta
secure and maintain a level-playing field for all our stakeholders.

Social Responsibility
We believe that everyone in the society deserves the right to reach their full
potential. With our focus on youth development, we support the aspirations of

all young people whe may not have the opportunity te pursue a higher education
with scholarships and other forms of assistanca.

“Dare to Dream” is the Company’s signalure series to encourage innevation
and inculcate an appreciation for the ars, by providing the youths of Macau
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with an exposure to world-renowned and presligious artists and maestros.
The purpose is to inspire to aspire, and to reach for their maximum potential.
This year, in partnership with the Macau government, the Company organized
architecture design competition for Macau students studying Architecture locally
and owverseas, giving sponsorship and internship abroad opportunities with
Dame Zaha Hadid, the internationally renowned architect and the architect and
designer of City of Dreams’ new hotel tower.

We believe that encouraging leamning and higher education is a must, To enable
our calleagues to pursue their high school education while still warking, we have
launched the general education program “Back to School™ in partnership with
the Education and Youth Affalrs Bureau of Macau. This unigque program brings
the high school diploma in-house through our Learning Acadenty, which sases
transportation and time issues for our colleagues.

We alse provide various scholarships to completa a full 4-year degree program
in any universities in Macau, in order to encourage the concept of life-long
learning, These scholarships are provided for our employesas, and their families,
we belleve the impertance of family. One categery of the scholarship is the
"Hope Scholarship®, which is offered for those who are facing extraordinary
circumstances which would otherwise prevent them from meeting the relevant
academic criteria,

Outside Macau and at City of Dreams Manila, our first ever CSR activity *Fulfill
A Dream” was held at the City of Parafagque (our host city) in November 2014,
Arcund 30 children from Bahay Aruga, a home for transient and abandoned



Corporate Environmental, Social and Governance Report

children, wars invited to join in this gift-giving, games and entertainmant praject.
Some 50 employess from City of Dreams Manila participated in the avent.

Subsequently, 20 children from Bahay Aruga were also Invited to watch
Dreamwaorks movies together with 120 employees from City of Dreams Manila.

City of Dreams Manila alse launched a 2-day fun-filled event, *Celourful
Dreams”, that brought smiles to 610 students of Parafiaque Elementary School
Central and 3an Dionisio Elementary Scheool. More than just storytelling,
*Celorful Dreams® alse immersed the children In art activities, gift-giving and
bonding experiences and aimed te encourage children to davelop their interest in
books. Around 70 employees of City of Dreams Manila participated in the event
and showed thelr generasity in time and effort.

In Japan, we have also been active in various cultural, educational and
community events in recent years. A project called “ALRA" (Alternative Urbanism
Realized by the Arts) has been inaugurated in April 2014. "AURA" is the
collaboration project between Tokyo University of the Arts and the Company
for the perpeluation and evolution of Japanese traditional cultures. The project
consists of research on a new urban development modal, as well as a series of
activities to perpetuate Japanese traditional culture, aiming at creating new arts
and cultures for the future generations.

The “Dare to Dream™ Design Awards has been specifically launched by Melce
Crown Entertainment to perpetuate Japanese culture. Launched during Tokyo
Designers Waek 2014, the Kimono themed awards received an ovarwhalming
response of over one thousand aentries. Subsequently, an exhibit featuring 100
Kimono-inspired artworks selected from award entries was displayed together

with creations by rencwned designers and artists, as part of Malee Crown
Entertainment's overall cultural campaign in Japan - “& % x & & OxKIMONG —
preserve the legacy, create the future®. The finalist for “Dare to Dream® Design
Awards received an internship with JUNKO KOSHING Inc. and was provided
with a special exhibition opportunity, which is truly a dream come true for
aspiring designers.

On the emvironmental front, cperating resort hotels inevitably involves the
consumption of energy, water and other rescurces as well as waste generation,
To mitigate our impacts, we monitor our use of resources, waste and paper
consumption, and take appropriate remedial action. We also examine the
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions generated from our properties in Macau,
including Altira Macau and City of Dreams, which covers the electricity and
frash water consumption from energy center. The tofal GHG emissions wera
approximately 207,000 tonnes in 2013, and reduced to approximately 202,000
tonnas in 2014,

Among all the gemeral office management activities undertaken by Melco
Crown  Entertainment, management established environmental pelicy and
communicated measurable environmental objectives and targets on recycle
waste, energy and paper consumption, for exampile, reducing 1.5% of electricity
consumption and incréasing 4% of recycle waste. We also ensured that all
corporate stationery and publications, such as brochures, results reports,
circulars and newsletters, are printed on recyclable materials. This recyclable
printing practice doas not only support the Company's vision of contributing to
the growth and future of the communities wa serve, but also helps building a
sustainable environment for us and the generations to come.
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City of Dreams Manila's environmental CSR initiatives aim to help protect our
planet and to incorporate environmeantal sustainability into the Group's business
function and processes. Clty of Dreams Manlla uses an energy efficient air
cooling system, which s 13.5% more efficiant than traditional centralized
chillers, We also use a system that conserves energy by confrolling frash air
dampers. Heal pumps are also being used to heat tap and shower wates, which
has 70% energy efficiency versus traditional electric heaters. LED lights are
installed in most parts of the property, which is 80% more energy efficient than
fluorescent lights. To conserve water, we also use automatic sensors n faucets.

As an envircnmentally responsible company, during the period between 2007
and 2014, we have invested over MOP100 millicn In “green” technology In
Macau to ensure better energy management and address environmental
caoncerns, Balow are some of the examplas and achievemants.

(il Energy Etficient Systems

Given the size of our operations, it is vital that we manage our use of
energy resources efficlently and wisely. City of Dreams, with one of the
largest Centralized Cooling Systemns in the South China hospitality industry,
is at least 20-35% more energy-efficient than traditional air-conditioning.

City of Dreams also has a state-of-the-art indoor air purification system
that conserves energy by reducing the need for outdoor fresh air. The
Building Management System is also highly advanced. Monitoring indoor
tamparatures throughout the day, it converts the heat generated from the
air-conditioning system to heat tap and shower water.
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Enargy-afficient LED lights are used extensively, both on the fagade and
for interior Mlumination. TS tubes, the most energy efficient option in tha
market, are used in the Heart of the House, while outdoor light fixtures are
controlied by photo sensors.

Conserving Water

“The House of Dancing Water” show at City of Dreams makes use of a
sophisticated filtration system that allows us to use and reuse pool water
indafinitely.

Similarly, the grey water system at Altira Macau recycles treated guestroom
sink, shower and bath water as flush water, which saves more than half of
the freshwater normally required for flushing.

At all of our properties, we have installed many other state-of-the-art
facilities for conserving water, including automatic sensors in all faucets
and a rainwater recovery system to store rainwater for irrigation.

Employees are also educated In reducing water use when cleaning
guestrooms and public areas.

Recognitions and Achievements

To recognize the Company's continuous efforts to fulfill its corporate social
responsibilities, Melco Crown Entertainment has garnered the “Best CSR
Award™ in Asiamoney magatine's Corporate Governance Poll 2014 and
the “Caridade Social Award 2014~ from the Macau Association of Chinese
Young Entreprenaurs and the Youth Committee of the Macac Chamber of
Commarce.
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In its relentless affort to condust business in an environmentally responsible
manner, Melco Crown Entertainment's flagship property, City of Dreams,
also attained the “ISO 14064 Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions Inventories
and Werification™ certification from 5G5 Hong Kong Limited. This is
another pioneering achievement based on the Company's adoption of
the international management standards for continuocus envirenmental
performance after baing the first resort-hotel company in Macau to receive
the 130 14001:2004 Environmental Management Certification and Indoor
Envirgnmental Guality Certificate alse accredited by SGS Hong Kong
Lirnitesd.

In addition, Melco Crown Entertainment was also granted the “Best
Environmental Responsibility® award from Corporate Govemnance Asia
magazine and the *Outstanding Award — Environmental Performance” in
Macau Business Award 2014,

As the global leisure and entertainment industry is increasingly recognizing that
it has a respensibility towards itz stakeholders who may be at risk for gambling
addiction, we continued our responsible gaming ("AG") initiatives during the
year under the leadership of our Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mr.
Lawrence Ho, who serves as the executive sponsor of the MCE RG Steering
Committee.

These include full RG fraining as part of the orientation process for new
staff members, a video promoting RG through our internal GTV channel, and
employea intranet and support of RG Awareness Week organized by the
government of Macau, We also distribute posters and brachures on RG at all of
our properties and provide support to customers who have a gambling problem.

The other aspects of cur social responsibility encompass both veluntearism and
philanthropy throughout the entire organization. We are proud of volunteers who
devote their personal time to the causes benefitting youth, education, women,
anvironment responsible gaming, culture/heritage, resulting in cver 40 volunteer
activities or community events during 2014 invalving hundreds of employees.
Such events Include donation of food-bags (l.e. rice, cooking oil, dried and
canned food as well as other daily commodity) te hundreds of Macau local needy
househeolds in which there are handicapped, ailing and elderly members without
adequate care and subsidy, together with & warm touch by our volunteer team in
dalivering them individually.

We will continue our endeavors to contribute to a better soclety, and persevere in
a unigue approach to corporate social responsibility in integrating the business
and community issues as a winfwin approach.

Employees Welfare
Total Workforce

We promote the divarsity of our workforce. Currently we have employees of mora
than 20 different nationalities promaoting our Internaticnal family who, regardiess
of age, nationality and gender, have bean provided with axciting opportunities to
work with us.

We work with clearly established work processas, with careful review and inbullt
approval mechanisms which are formalised in appropriate policies and processes.
These are clearly communicated to relevant employees to ensure we consistently
comply with all regulations, ordinances and employment laws, thereby ensuring
that we are able to operate within professicnal and ethical labour practices.
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Wa insist on high standards of ethical practices and gowernance and our
Company is committed to complying with all government labour standards. We
balieve in the falr treatment of all employees and we are committed to being an
employer that strives to provide equal opportunities for employees. We are proud
of our diverse workforce and woark hard to ensure that discriminatory practices
and behavior at the workplace are eradicated. We beliave that our employees
bring their cwn life experiances, culture, talents and perspective to the Company
so that together, we generate new ideas, promote improved decision making and
a shared commitment te cur customers and our community,

Wa strongly oppose the use of forced and child labour and remain committed
towards creating a work envirenment which respects all human rights,

Promaotion and Retention Programs

As part of our regular communications with employees, all staff will receive
annual performance appraisals to review their work performance and career
development, We also have a remuneration policy in place, which includes the
Company's performance as one of the factors coniributing to salary reviews,
bonuses and promotion.

As at December 31, 2014, we employed a total of 18,367 employees In all of our
properties, including City of Dreams Manila and the Grand Hyatt properties. We
believe that our employees are valuable assets to our Company to be greomed,
developed and retained,

With all the above measures in place, our amployesa average annual turnover rate
for the Group was 13.6%.
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Staff Training and Development

At Melco Crown Entertainment, we promote the long=term development of our
stalf by providing them with learning opportunities that broaden their skills and
make them valuable assets to our Company.

In addition to the education pregrams and scholarships as discussed above to
support employees enrolling in degree-bearing programs offered by educational
institutions and training and development courses offered by external training
companies, every year wa provide in-house training courses that range from
executive management to technical skills, based on individual and corporate
needs, to our employees. Programs are offered in various tracks including not
only the crientation programs for new employees, but alse human resources,
marketing, finance, governance, lifestyle and life skills, supervisory/managerial
skills, as well as various technical training programs related to their jobs

As part of the "Wholesome" development philosophy in Macau, employees
arg welcome to participate in any fraining courses of interest to them, In 2014,
40% of general employees, 47% of supervisory staff and 41% of managerial
calleagues had received training. The average training hour per employes was 36
hours per anmum.

City of Dreams Manila successfully opened on February 2, 2015. With the
Group’s hiring philosophy of “Hire for Image, Attitude and Potential; Train for
Skills,” City of Dreams Manila set aboul hiring for service-criented individuals,
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In 2014, we andaavorad 1o build on and anhance our existing culture of excallance
in our operation of City of Dreams Manila. In addition to skill enhancement, we
emphasized on-boarding training for each employees, such as general introductory
arientation, occupational safaty knowledge and procedures, industry knowledge
for those without gaming or hotel background, know-how required to build a world
class integrated resort, as well as corporate governance and responsible gaming
arientation.

Staff Health and Safety

We have implemented major changes to the air conditioning and wentilation
systems in designated smeking areas in light of the smoking ban regulations
related 1o ¢asinos implemented in Macau since January 2013, These areas now
achieve a very high rate of fresh air intake and utilize additional independent
supply air and exhaust systems with some built-in purifier installed into the air
curtain gaming tables te significantly improve the indoer air quality to meet
and exceed the requirements set out by code and best engineering practice.
Indoor air pollutants, which include more than those from cigarette smoke, are
measured on a monthly basis and have been significantly reduced. We invested
aver MOP 100 million on design and works in ralation to the above menticned
changes in all of our properties in Macau.

Governance
Business Ethics and Corporate Govemnance

The Company has im place a number of policies addressing corporate
governance and anti-corruption which are either issued by the Beard of Directors

ar management,

Twe corporate governance guidelines have been adopted to facilitate effactive
management of the business and affairs of the Company under the Board's
diraction with a high standard of corporate governance, and to satisfy the
relevant corporate governance requirements as prascribed by NASDAG rules
and the Listing Rules. Please refer to the Corporate Government Repaort of this
annual report for more details on our corperate gevernance practices,

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the *Code of Conduct™) and Ethical
Business Practices Program (*EBPP") are the key pelicles made use by the
Company for cultivating a culture of clean and ethical business practices. Thase
policies cover the compliance of the relevant anti-corruption laws that the
Company and its employess are subject to and are advised to comply with at all
times.

The Company is bound by the laws of the places where it or its business
operates. Through the Company's policies on anti-bribery and prevention of
fraud and money laundering (such as the Code of Conduct, the EBPP and our
Corporate Anti-Money Laundering Policy), the Company aims to maintain a
reputable record of high compliance of the relevant laws and regulations.

There has been no case brought against the Company for any alleged cormupt
practices since our incorporation.

The Board also issued procedures for handling complaints and whistleblowing,
and further guidelines are given by our Human Rescurces Department on
the report of suspacted breach of any policy on corporata governance, and
the means such report may be submitted to the Company. Through regular
dissemination of the Code of Conduct to the employees and the publicity at
workplaces on how to make use of the whistisblowing channels, our employees
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are kept informed of the assistance that the Company is offering to any
informant. Strict confidentiality is given to the infermant and the reports, and
there is a strong commitment by the Company that there will be no retaliation
against any Informant. The reports are Investigated by owr Internal Audit
Department with assistance from the Human Rescurces Department and where
appropriate, participation by the Legal Department,

Stakeholder Engagement

Understanding the wiews of stakeholders is critical to aligning our ESG and
sustainability agenda with the issues they have identified as being of material
interest. For our Company, the key stakeholders and communication channels
Inciude:

Stakehiders Communication Channels

Cugtomers +  Property front office
*  Customer service hotling and email
- Official social media platforms

Stalf - “Heart of House” back of house area) Employes concienge desk
- Mew hire orientalion
. intranst

- Regular intemal communications emal

Shareholders Annual General Mietings
Earnings release calls

Imvestors Investar meetings
NGOz Regular meetings with green and charitable arganizations
Pariners (the gowernment, Mastings

semvice companies. Tendering process

academia)
Suppliers and contractons Progect manager mestings
Mass Media Fréss conlarances
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©On an on-going basis, dedicated stalf members and communication channels
allow stakeholders, including employeas, to provide recommendations and
comments to the highest governing body of our Company, the aim of this is te:

{i) collect views and assess the expectations of stakeholders with regards to
our ESG performance;

{i)  identify and prioritise key sustainability issues: and

(i} summarise stakeholders' views and provide recommendations to further
enhance our ESG performance and reporting status.
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Summary of Financial Results

Far the year ended December 31, 2014, our total net revenues were USS4.80
billion, a decrease of 5.6% from US$5.09 bilion of net revenues for the
year ended December 31, 2013, Met income attributable to Melco Crown
Entertainment for the year ended December 31, 2014 was USSE08.3 million,
as compared 1o net income of US$G637.5 million for the year ended December
31, 2013, The decline in profitability was primarily attributable to a decrease in
group-wide rolling chip revenues, partially offset by improved group-wide mass
markat tabla games revenues.

Year Enced December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Tin thousands of U5
Neat revenues $ 4802300 % 5087178 % 4078013
Tatal operating costs and expensas (4,116,948) (4247354  (3.570.921)
Dperating income 685,360 539,624 507,002
Net incame attributable to Meica Crown
Entertainment § 608230 $ 63T463 5 417203

Our results of operations and financial position for the years presented are not
fully comparable for the following reasons:

. On November 26, 2012, Studio City Finance issued the Studio City Notes

. On December 19, 2012, we completed the acquisition of a majority interast
in the issued share capital of MCP

* On February 7, 2013, MCE Finance issued the 2013 Senior Notes

. On March 11, 2013, we complated the early redemption of the AMBE Bonds
in full

. On March 13, 2013, the cooperation agreement and the lease agreement
between us and the Philippine Parties became effactive

. On March 28, 2013, we completed the early redemption of aur 2010 Senior
Notes

. In April 2013, MCP completed the 2013 Top-up Placement, including the
over-allotmant option

. On January 24, 2014, MCE Leisure Philippines issued the Philippine Notes
. On June 24, 2014, MCP completed the 2014 Top-up Placement

«  On July 28, 2014, we drew down the entire delayed draw term loan facility
under the Studio City Project Fagility

+  On December 14, 2014, City of Dreams Manila started operations with its
grand opaning on February 2, 2015

Factors Affecting Our Current and Future Results
Qur results of operations are and will be affected most significantly by:

. The current economic and cperating erwironment that affects the gaming
markets in Macau and the Philippines, including the impact of global and
local economic conditions, changes in capital market conditions, the
impact of the political, economic and regulatory environment, including
changes to travel and visa policies, anti-smoking legislation as well as
gaming table allecation policies in Macau, or any policies implemented
by the PRC central and Macau governments and the general economic
cenditions in China and the Philippines:

W Caomp | pdeortadoppand | dieed. Srrngd Hogeed F014 L]



Management Discussion and Analysis

The development of the gaming and laisure market in Macau and the
Philippines, which is facilitated by a number of key drivers and initiatives
including, among others, favorable population demographics and
economic growth in major Asian tourism markets, substantial private
capital investment in Macau and the Philippines, particularly in developing
diversified destinaticn rescrt properties, and the commitment and support
of the PAC central and Macau governments to improve and develop
infrastructure both within, and connecting to, Macau and the commitment
and support of the Philppines government to develop infrastructure and
promate the Philippines as an attractive towrist destination;

The competitive landscape in Macau, which is expected to evolve as more
gaming and non-gaming facilities are developed in Macau, including the
expectad new supply of integrated resorts in the Cotai region of Macau,
as well as the impact of recent or future expansion of gaming markets
throughout Asia;

The different mix of table and machine games at our casinos, such as
the mix between rolling chip and mass market table game segments,
and customer playing habits; as well as changes in the mix of rolling
chip business sourced through gaming promoters of via our direct VIP
relationghips;

Our relationships with gaming promoters, which contribute a significant
portion of our casing revenues, expose us o credit risk (given the majority
of these gaming promoters are provided with credit as part of the ordinary
course of business) and to any change in the gaming promoter commission
environment in Macau. For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
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2012, approximately 40.1%, 48.8% and 53.4% of our casino revenuas
were derived from customers sourced through our rolling chip gaming
promaoters, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2014, our top
five customers and the largest customer were gaming promoters and
accounted for approximately 20.4% and 7.0% of our casino revenues,
respectively. We believe we have good relationships with our gaming
promaoters. Commissions paid to cur rolling chip gaming promoters (net of
amounts indirectly rebated to customers) amounted to USS284.8 million,
US$391.9 millien and US$308.6 million for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivaly;

Qur exposure to interest rate risk Is assoclated with our substantial
indebtedness bearing interest based on floating rates. We attempt to
manage interast rate risk by managing the mix of long-term fixed rate
borrowings and variable rate borrowings and we may supplement by
hedging activities in a manner we desm prudent. As of December 31,
2014 and 2013, approximately 55% and 72%, respectively, of our total
indebledness was based on fixed rates. The decrease was primarity due
to the drawdown of the term loan under the Studie City Preject Facility in
July 2014, partially offset by the issuance of the Philippine Motes in January
2014 and the scheduled repayment of the term lean under the 2011 Credit
Facilties. Based on December 31, 2014 and 2013 indebledness and
interast rate swap levels, an assumed 100 basis point change in the Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate and London Interbank Offered Rate would
cause cur annual interest cost to change by approximately US$15.0 millien
and US$7.1 million, respectively, and
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Our exposure to foreign exchange rate risk is associated with the
currancy of ocur operations and our indebtednass and as a result of the
presentation of our financlal statements in U.S. dollars. The majority of
our revenuas are denominated in H.K. dollars, given the H.K. dollar is the
predominant currency wsed in gaming transactions in Macau and is often
used interchangeably with the Pataca in Macau, while our expenses are
denominated predominantly in Patacas, H.K. dellars and Philippine pesos.
In addition, a significant portion of our indebtedness, as a result of the 2013
Senlor Motes and Studio City Notes, and certain expenses, have been and
are denominated in U.S. dollars, and the costs associated with servicing
and repaying such dabt will be demominated in U.5. dollars. We also have
a certain portion of our assets and liabiiities, including the issuance of the
Philippine Motes in January 2014, denominated in Philippine pasas.

Any significant fluctuations in the exchange rates between H.K. dallars,
Patacas or Philippine pesos to U.S. dollars may have a material advarss
effect on our rewenues and financial condition.

We accept foreign currencies from our customers and as of December 31,
2014, in addition to HK. dollars, Patacas and Philippine pesos, we also
held other foreign currencies. However, any foreign exchange risk exposure
associated with those currencies is minimal,

We have not engaged in hedging transactions with respect to foreign
exchange exposure of our revenues and expenses in our day-to-day
operations during the years endad Dacember 31, 2014 and 2013. Instead,
we maintain a cartain amount of our operating funds in the same currencies
in which we have obligations, thereby reducing our exposure to curmency

fluctuations. However, we occasionally enter into foreign exchange
transactions as part of financing transactions and capital expenditure
programs,

See note 12 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhara
in this annual report for further detalls related to our indebtedness as of
December 31, 2014,

Major currencies in which owr cash and bank balances (including bank
deposits with original maturity over three months and restricted cash)
held as of December 31, 2014 were U.S. dollars, H K. dollars, New Taiwan
daollars, Philippine pesos and Patacas. Based on the cash and bank
balances as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, an assumed 1% change
in the exchange rates between currencies other than ULS. dollars against
the U5, dollar would cause a maximum foreign transaction gain or loss
of appraximately US531.1 million and USS21.6 millien for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectivaly.

Based on the balances of indebtedness denominated in currencies other
than U.5. dollars as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, an assumad 1%
change in the exchange rates between currencies other than U.S. dollars
against the U.S, dollar would cause a forelgn transaction gain or loss of
approximately US$20.5 million and USHE.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respactively,

Qur histerical financial results may not be characteristic of our potential
future results as we continue to expand and refine our service offerings at our
properties and develop and open new properties,
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Key Performance Indicators (KPls)

We use the following KPls to evaluate our casino operations, including table
gamaes and gaming machines:

- Relling chip velume: the amount of non-negaotiable chips wagered and lost
by the rolling chip market segmant.

*  FRoMing chip win rate; roling chip table games win (calculated befare
discounts and commissions) as a percentage of rolling chip volume.

*  Mass marke! table games drop: the amount of table games drop in the
mass market table games segment,

*  Mass market table games hold percentage: mass market table gameas win
as a percentage of mass market table games drop,

- Table games win: the amount of wagers won net of wagers lost on gaming
tables that is retained and recorded as casine revenues.

- Gamirng machine handle: the total amount wagerad in gaming machines.

- Gaming machine win rafe: gaming machine win expressed as a parcentags
of gaming machine handle.

In the roling chip market segment, customers purchase identifiable chips
known as non-negotiable chips, or rolling chips, from the casino cage, and
there is no deposit into a gaming table's drop box of rolling chips purchased
fram the cage. Relling chip velume and mass market table games drop are not
equivalent. Relling chip velume is a measure of amounts wagered and lost. Mass
market table games drop measures buy in. Rolling chip volume is generally
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substantially higher than mass market table games drop. As thase volumes are
the denominator used in calculating win rate or hold percentage, with the same
use of gaming win as the numerator, the win rate is generally lower In the rolling
chip market segment than the hold percentage in the mass market table games
segment.

Cur combined expected rolling chip win rate (calculated before discounts and
commissions) across our proparties is in the range of 2.7% to 3.0%.

Wa use the fellowing KPls to evaluate our hotel operations:

- Average daily rate; calculated by dividing total room revenuas including
the retall value of promotional allowances (less service charges, if any) by
total rooms occupied including complimentary reoms, iLe., average price of
cecupled rooms per day,

- Oecupancy rate: the average percentage of available hotel rooms occupied,
including complimentary rooms, during a period,

- Revenue per available room, or REVPAR: calculated by dividing total
room revenues including the retail value of promotional allowances [less
service charges, if any) by total rooms available, thereby representing a
combination of hotel average daily room rates and occupancy.

Complimentary rcoms are included in the calculation of the above room-related
KPis. The average daily rate of complimentary rooms is typically lower than the
average daily rate for cash rooms. The cccupancy rate and REVPAR would ba
lower if complimentary rooms were excluded from the calculation. As not all
available rooms are cocupled, average daily room rates are normally higher than
revanue per available room.
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Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Ended December 31,
2013

Revenues

Our total net revenuas for the year ended Decembar 31, 2014 were US$4.80
billion, a decrease of US$284.9 million, or 5.6%, from USE5.08 bilion for
the year ended December 31, 2013, The decline in total net revenues was
primarily attributable to lower group-wide rolling chip revenues primarily driven
by deteriorating demand from Chinese players as well as restrictive policies
including changes to travel and visa pelicies, partially offset by improved group-
wide mass market table games revenues,

Qur total net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2014 consisted of
US$4.65 billion of casine revenues, representing 96.9% of our 1otal net revanues,
and US§148.1 million of nel non-casino revenues (total non-casine revenues
after deduction of promotional allowances). Our total net revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2013 comprised US$4.94 billon of casinoe rewvenues,
reprasenting 87.1% of our total net revenues, and USS145.7 million of net non-
casino revanues,

Casino. Casino revenues for the year ended December 31, 2014 were USS4.85
billian, representing a US$287.3 million, or 5.8%, decrease from casino revenues
af USS4,94 billien for the year ended December 31, 2013, primarily due to a
decrease in casino revenues at Altira Macau and City of Dreams of USS290.3
million, or 28.5%, and US86.9 million, or 0.2%, respectively, partially offset by
tha casino revenue at City of Dreams Manila of US86.7 million since it started
operations on December 14, 2014, Tha overall decrease was primarily a result of

decraased rolling chip volume and relling chip win rate at both Altira Macau and
City of Dreams, primarily driven by deteriorating demand from Chinese players
as well as restrictive policies including changes to travel and visa policies,
partially offset by improved blended mass market table games drop and blended
mass table games hold percentage.

Alfira Macau. Altira Macau's roling chip volume for the year ended December
31, 2014 was US$33.6 billien, representing a decrease of US511.3 billion, or
25.2%, from US$44.9 billion for the year ended December 31, 2013, The rolling
chip win rate (calculated before discounts and commissions) was 2.76% for
the year ended December 31, 2014, within our expected level of 2.7% to 3.0%,
while decreasing from 2.96% for the year ended December 31, 2013, In the mass
market table games segment, mass market table games drop was USS$TS6.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an increase of 4.5%
from I35724.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, The mass market
table games hold percentage was 15.8% for the vear ended December 31, 2014,
a slight increase from 15.4% for the year ended December 31, 2013.

City of Dreams. City of Dreams' rolling chip volume for the year ended
December 31, 2014 of US$82.1 billion represented a decrease of US$14.9 bilkon,
ar 15.4%, from USH97.0 billion for the year ended December 31, 2013, The
rolling chip win rate {calculated befors discounts and commissions) was 2.83%
for the year endad Dacember 31, 2014, in line with our axpacted ranga of 2.7%
to 3.0%, while decreasing from 2.85% for the year ended December 31, 2013,
In the mass market table games sagment, mass market table games drop was
US$5.29 billion for the year ended December 31, 2014 which represented an
increase of US$0.63 billen, ar 13.5%, from US$4.66 bilien for the year ended
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December 31, 2013. The mass market table games hold percentage was 37.5%
in the year ended Decamber 31, 2014, demonstrating an increase from 34.6%
for the year ended Decemnber 31, 2013, Average net win per gaming machine per
day was US5454 for the year ended December 31, 2014, an increase of US5103,
or 28.5%, from US$361 for the year ended December 31, 2013,

Mocha Clubs. Mocha Clubs' average net win per gaming machine per day for
the year ended December 31, 2014 was USS303, an increase of approximately
US591, or 42.9%, from US$212 for the year ended December 31, 2013,

Rooms. Room revenues (including the retail value of promational allowances)
for the year ended December 31, 2014 were US$136.4 million, representing a
US$8.8 million, or 6.9%, increase from reom revenues (including the retall value
of promotional allowances) of US8127.7 millicn for the year ended December 31,
2013, The increase was primarily due to improved occupancy and the positive
impact from the increasae in average daily rate. Altira Macau's average daily rate,
occupancy rate and REVPAR were US$232 99% and US$229, respectively, for
the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to US5230, 99% and USS227,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2013, City of Dreams' average
daily rate, occupancy rate and REVPAR were US$197, 99% and US$195,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to USS$189,
97% and US$183, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2013,

Food, beverage and others, Other non-casing revenues (including the retail
value of promaotional allowances) for the year ended December 31, 2014 included
food and beverage revenuas of USS84.9 million and entertainment, retail and
other revenues of USE108.4 million. Other non-casing revenues (inciuding the
retail value of promotional allowances) for the year ended December 31, 2013
included food and beverage revenues of US$7TE.9 million, and entertainmant,
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retail and other revenues of USS103.7 million. The increase of USS10.7 millien
in food, beverage and other revenues from the year ended December 31, 2013
to the year ended December 31, 2014 was primarily due to higher business
volumes and improved yield of rental income at City of Dreams.

Operating costs and expenses

Total operating costs and expenses weare USS4.12 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2014, representing a decrease of U3$130.4 million, or 3,1%,
from USE4.25 billien for the year ended December 31, 2013, The decrease in
operating ¢osts was primarily due to a decrease in operating costs at Altira
Macau which were in-line with the decreased gaming velume and assoclated
decréase in revenues, a decrease in development costs, the gain on disposal
of assets held for sale, partially offset by increase in general and administrative
expenses and pre-opening costs to support expanding operations.

Casino. Casino expanses decreasad by US$206.3 millicn, or 6.0%, to US83.25
billion for the year ended December 31, 2014 from USS83.45 billion for the year
ended December 31, 2013 primarily due to decrease in gaming tax and other
levies and commission expenses of USS308.6 million, which decreased as a
result of decreased gaming volume and an associated decrease in revenues,
partially offset by an increase In payroll and other operating costs as well as
complimentaries to gaming customers of US$102.3 million,

Rooms. Room expenses, which mainly represent the costs of operating the
hotal facilities at Altira Macau and City of Dreams, were US$12.7 million and
LIS812.5 million for the years ended Dacember 31, 2014 and 2013, respactively.
The slight increase was primarily due to an increase in payroll and other
operating costs as a result of increased occupancy, partially offset by a higher
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lewel of complimantary hotel rooms offered to gaming customers for which the
associated costs were included in casino expanses.

Food, bewerage and others. Food, beverage and others expenses waere
US$B5.6 million and US$83.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively,. The decrease was primarily due to a higher level of
complimantary food, beverage and others offered to gaming customers for which
the associated costs were included in casino expenses, partially offsst by an
increase in payroll and other operating costs associated with the increase in
FEVenues.

General and administralive, General and administrative expenses increased by
US$55.9 milllon, or 21.9%, o USE311.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2014 from USE255 8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, primarily due
to an increase in payroll expenses, share-based compensation, rental expenses,
marketing and advestising expenses, as well as professional fees to support
continuing and expanding operations.

Fre-opening costs. Pre-opening costs were US394.0 milion for the year
ended December 31, 2014 as compared to US$17.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. Such costs relate primarily to personnel training, rental,
marketing, advertising and administrative costs in connection with new or start-
up oparations. Pra-opening costs for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 primarily related to the payroll expenses, rental and administrative costs
in connaction with City of Dreams Manila and Studio City. The Increase was
primarily due to the increase in payroll expenses and other administrative costs
in City of Dreams Manila, mainly driven by the increase in headcount to cope
with its opening on December 14, 2014,

Development costs. Development costs were US$10.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014, which predominantly related to professional and
consultancy fees as well as marketing and promotion costs for corporate
business developmant. Development costs for tha year ended December 31,
2013 of US$26.3 million primarity related to fees and costs assocciated with the
corporate reorganization of MCP by the Company, as well as corporate business
development.

Amaortization of gaming subconcession. Amortization of our gaming
subconcession continued to be recognized on a straight-line basis at an annual
rate of USS57.2 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013

Amartizalion of land use rights. Amortization of land use rights expenses
remained stable at US$84.5 milion and USS64.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Depreciation and amorfization. Depreciation and amortization expenses ware
US$246.7 million and US$261.3 milion for the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively. The decrease was primarily due to certain assets
becoming fully depreciated at City of Dreams and Altira Macau during the year
ended December 31, 2014, offset in part by depreciation of assets at City of
Dreams Manila, which started operations on Decembar 14, 2014,

Property charges and others. Property charges and others generally include
costs related to the remodeling and rebranding of a property, which might
include the retirement, disposal or write-off of assets. Property charges and
athers for the year ended December 31, 2014 were USS$8.7 millien, which
primarily included assets write-off of US53.5 million on furniture, fixtures and
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equipment damaged by the typhoon in the Philippines and assets write-off
and impairments of US83.2 million as a result of the remadel of non-gaming
attractions at City of Dreams. Property charges and others for the year ended
Decamber 31, 2013 wera LISS6.9 million, which primarily includad a write-off of
US$3.0 million for the final payment in relation to a service contract at City of
Dreams and assets write-off of US$1.6 million as a result of the remodel of non-
gaming attractions at City of Dreams.

Gain on disposal of assels held for sale. Gain on disposal of assets held for sale
of US$22.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 ralated to the disposal
of five units located at Golden Dragon Centre in Macau.

Non-pperating expenses, net

Net non-operating expenses censist of interest income, interest expenses, nat of
capitalized interest, amortization of deferred financing costs, loan commitment
and other financa fees, foreign exchange (loss) gain, net, change in fair value

of interest rate swap agreements, loss on extinguishment of debt and costs
assoclated with debt medification, as well as other nen-operating income, net.

Interast income was US$20.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as
compared to USST.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, The increase
was primarily driven by higher level of deposits placed at banks to yield highar
interest income during the year ended December 31, 2014,

Interast axpenses were US$124.1 million (net of capitalized interest of US$96.9
million) for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to US$152.7 million
(net of capitalized interest of US$31.0 million) for the year ended December 31,
2013. The decrease in net interest expenses (net of interest capitalization) of
LISE268.6 million was primarily due to: (i) higher interest capitalization of US$65.9
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millien primarily associated with the Studio City and City of Dreams Manila
construction and development projects; (i) a lower interest charge of US$5.5
million as a rasult of the scheduled repayments of the term loan startad from
September 2013 and the repayment of the drawn revolving credit facility in late
March 2013, both under the 2011 Credit Facilities; (ili) a lower interest charge of
S84 3 million upon our repayment and redemption on the Deposit-Linked Loan
and RMB Bonds in March 2013; (iv) lower interest charges of US$1.1 million
upon our redemption of our 2010 Senior Motes by our issuance of the lower
interast rate 2013 Senior Notes in March 2013; partially offset by (v) USS26.3
millien higher interest expenses upon our drawdown of the term loan under
the Studie City Project Facility in July 2014; (vi) US$19.8 milllon higher interest
expansas upon our issuance of the Philippine Motes in January 2014, and {vii)
USES A million higher interest expenses on capital lease obligation relating to
MCP's building lease payments entered in March 2013,

Other finance costs for the year ended December 31, 2014 of USS47.0 million,
included US528.0 million of amortization of deferred financing costs and
US519.0 million of loan commitment and other finance fees. Other finance costs
for the year ended December 31, 2013 of US$43.8 million, included USS18.2
million of amortization of deferred financing costs and USS25.6 million of loan
commitment and other finance fees. Tha increase in amortization of deferred
financing costs compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily
due to the recognition of amortized deferred financing costs incurred for the
2013 Senior Notes issued in February 2013, the Philippine Notes issued in
January 2014 and the term loan under the Studio City Project Facility drawn in
July 2014, which were offset in part by the cessation of amortization of deferred
financing costs ralating to the RMB Bonds and 2010 Senior Notes wupon our
redemption. The decrease in loan commitment and other finance fees compared
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te the year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily associated with the
drawdown of term loan under the Studio City Project Facliity in July 2014,

There was no loss on extinguishment of debt or costs associated with debt
modification for the year ended December 31, 2014, Loss on extinguishment
of dabt for the year ended December 31, 2013 was US$50.8 million, which
mainly represented a portion of the 2010 Senior Notes redemption fees and
unamortized deferred financing costs that are not eligible for capitalization.

Costs associated with debt modification for the year ended Dacember 31, 2013
were US$10.5 millien, which mainly represented a portion of underwriting fee,
legal and professional fees incurred for refinancing 2010 Senior Notes with 2013
Senior Motes that are not eligible for capitalization.

Income tax (expense) credit

Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2014 was primarily
attiributable to a lump sum tax payable of US$2.8 milion in lieu of Macau
Complementary Tax otherwise due by Melco Crown Macau's shareholders on
dividemds distributable to them by Malco Crown Macau, Macau Complementary
Tax of US$2.8 milllon arising malnly due to a gain on disposal of assets held for
sale, and Hong Kong Profits Tax of US$1.2 million, partially offset by a deferrad
tax credit of USS4.5 million. No provision for income tax for certain subsidiaries
af the Company in the Philippines for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 and no provision for income ftax in the United States of America for the
year ended December 31, 2013 were provided as the subsidiaries incurred tax
leases. The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2014 was 0.6%,
as compared to 0.4% for the year ended Decembar 31, 2013. Such rates differ
from the statutory Macau Complementary Tax rate of 12% primarily due to the

effect of a tax exemption on profits generated by Macau gaming operations of
US$109.2 milllon and US$125.7 millien during the yvears ended December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively, which is set to expira in 2016, the affect of change
in valuation allowance, the effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdictions, and the effect of expenses for which no income tax benefit
is recaivable. Our management currently does not expect to realize significant
income tax benefits associated with net operating loss carryforwards and
other defarred tax assets generated by our Macau and Philippines operations;
hawever, to the extent that the financial results of our Macau and Philippines
gperations improve and it becomes more likely than not that the deferred tax
assets are realizable, we will be able to reduce the valuation allswance through

earmnings.
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Our net loss atiributable to noncontrolling interests of US$E0.9 millien for the
year ended December 31, 2014, which compared to that of LIS$59.5 million
for the year endad December 31, 2013, was primarily due to the share of
the Studio City expenses of US$40.0 million and MCP expenses of US$40.9
million, respactively, by the respective mincrity shareholders for the year ended
December 31, 2014. The year-over-year increase was primarily attributable to the
noncentrelling interests’ share of MCP's pre-operating expenses and financing
costs during the year ended December 31, 2014 and the increase in the share
of Studio City’s pre-operating expensas, partially offset by the decrease in share
of Studio City's financing costs mainly due to higher interast capitalization offsat
with the increase in interest expenses on the Studio City Project Facility, which
was drawn in July 2014,
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Net income attributable to Melco Crown Entertainment

As a result of the foregoing, we had net income of US$E608.3 million for the year
endad December 31, 2014, compared to US$E37.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013,

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Ended December 31,
202

Revenues

Our total net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 were USS5.09
bBillien, an increase of US$1.01 billion, or 24.7%, from USS4.08 billion for
the year ended December 31, 2012, The increase in total net revenues was
driven by substantially improved mass table games wolumes and blended
hold percentages, as well as Increased volumes in the rolling chip and gaming
machines segments.

Qur total net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 consisted of
US$4.94 billion of casino revenuas, represanting 97.1% of our total net revenues,
and US5145.7 milion of net non-casino ravenues (total non-casino revenues
after deduction of promotional allowances). Our total net revenuas for the year
ended December 31, 2012 comprised USS3.93 bilien of casine revenues,
representing 96.5% of our total net revenues, and US%143.3 million of net non-
casing revenues.

Casing. Casino revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 ware US$4.94
billion, representing a US$1.01 billion, or 25.6%, increase from casinc revenues
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of US53.93 billion for the year ended Dacember 31, 2012, primarily due to an
increase in casino revenues at City of Dreams and Altira Macau of US$835.2
million, or 33.5%, and US$65.5 milllon, or §.9%, respectively. This increase was
primarily a result of increased rolling chip volume and mass market table games
drop at both City of Dreams and Altira Macau, as well as an improved blanded
mass market table games hold percentage and rolling chip win rate. Mass
market table games revenues benafited from the success of a range of gaming
floor efficiency initiatives and improved casino visitation and casine marketing
Initiatives, together with a strong overall market growth envircnment In the
segment.

Altira Macay.  Altira Macau's rolling chip volume for the year ended December
31, 2013 was US544.9 bilion, representing an increase of US$0.9 billion, or
2 29, from US$44.0 billion for the year endad December 31, 2012 The rolling
chip win rate (calculated before discounts and commissions) was 2.96% for
the year ended December 31, 2013, within our expected level of 2.7% to 3.0%,
and increased slightly from 2.89% for the year ended December 31, 2012. In
the mass market table games segment, mass market table games drop was
USE724.0 millen for the year ended December 31, 2013, representing an
increasea of 20.4% from US%$801.4 million far the year ended December 31, 2012,
The mass market table games hold percentage was 15.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2013, representing a decrease from 16.7% for the year ended
Decambear 31, 2012

City of Dreams. City of Dreams’ relling chip volume for the year ended
Decambar 31, 2013 of USS%A7.0 billion representad an increass of USS15.7
billion, or 19.3%, from US$81.3 billion for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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The rolling chip win rate (calculated befora discounts and commissions) was
2.95% for the year endad December 31, 2013, in line with our expected range
of 2.7% to 3.0%, and reflected a slight increase from 2.92% for the year ended
December 31, 2012. In the mass market table games segment, mass market
table games drop was US%4.66 bilion for the year ended December 31, 2013
which represented an increase of US$1.07 billien, or 30.0%, frem US$3.59 billion
for the year ended December 31, 2012, The mass market table games hold
percentage was 34.6% in the year ended December 31, 2013, demonstrating
a large increase from 20.1% for the vear ended December 31, 2012, Average
net win per gaming machine per day was USS361 for the year ended December
31, 2013, an increase of USS48, or 15.2%, from US$313 for the year ended
December 31, 2012,

Mocha Clubs. Mocha Clubs' average net win per gaming machine per day for
the year ended December 31, 2012 was US5212, an increase of approximately
US$26, or 13.8%, from US$186 for the year ended December 31, 2012,

Rooms, Room revenues (including the retail value of promotional allowances)
for the year ended December 31, 2013 were USS127.7 million, representing a
US$8.6 million, or B.1%, increase from room revenues (including the retail value
af promotional allowances) of US$118.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2012, The increase was primarily due to improved occupancy and the positive
impact frem the increase in average daily rate. Altira Macau's average daily rate,
occupancy rate and REVPAR were USS230, 99% and USHZ2T, respectively, for
the year ended December 31, 2013, as compared to USS221, 98% and USS216,
respectively, for the year ended Decamber 31, 2012. City of Dreams’ average
daily rate, cccupancy rate and REVPAR were US$189, 97% and US$183,

respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2013, as compared to US§185,
93% and USS171, respactively, for the year ended December 31, 2012,

Food, beverage and others. Other non-casing revenues (including the retall
value of promational allowances) for the year ended December 31, 2013 included
food and beverage revenues of USSTE.9 milllon and entertainment, retall and
other revenues of USH103.7 millien. Other non-casino revenues (including the
retail value of promotional allowances) for the year ended Decembear 31, 2012
included food and beverage revenues of USS$72.7 million, and entertainment,
retail and other revanues of USS90.8 milion. The increase of US$19.1 million
in food, beverage and other revenues from the year ended December 31, 2012
to the year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily due to higher business
velumes associated with an increase in visitation during the year, as well as the
improved yield of rental income at Gity of Dreams.

Operating costs and expenses

Total operating costs and expenses were US$4.25 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2013, representing an increase of US2676.4 milllon, or 18.9%,
from USS3.5T billion for the year ended December 31, 2012, The incraase in
operating costs was primarily due to an increase in operating costs at City of
Dreams and Altra Macau which were in ling with the increased gaming volume
and associated increase in revenues, as well as the increase in associated
costs in connection with MCP after cur acguisition of a majority interest in MCF,
including fees and costs associated with the corporate recrganization of MCP

Casino. Casino expenses increased by US$618.0 million, or 21.8%, to USS3 45
Blllion for the year ended December 31, 2013 from US$2.83 billion for the year
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endad December 31, 2012 primarily due to additional gaming tax and other
levias and commission expenses of US8531.0 million, as well as other operating
costs, such as payroll and promotional expenses of USSET.0 million, which
increased as a result of increased gaming volume and an associated increase in
revenues.,

FRooms. RAoom axpenses, which represent the costs of operating the hotel
facilities at Altira Macau and City of Dreams, decreased by 14.9% to US812.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2013 from US$14.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012, primarily due 1o a higher level of complimentary hotel
rooms offered to gaming customers for which the associated costs are included
as casing expenses, partially offset by an increase in the operating costs as a
result of increased occupancy.

Food, beverage and others. Food, beverage and others expenses were
US$83.3 million and USS90.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and
2012, respactively.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased by
US$28.8 million, or 12.7%, to US$255.8 million for the year ended December
31, 2013 from USS227.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, primarily
due to an Increase in payroll expenses, share-based compensation, marketing
and advertising expenses, as well as professional fees to support continuing and
expanding operations,

Pre-opening costs.  Pre-opening costs were US$17.0 million for the year anded
December 31, 2013 as comparad to US$5.8 million for the year endad Decamber
31, 2012, Such costs relate primarlly to personnel training, rental, marketing,
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advertising and administrative costs in connection with new or start-up
operations, Pre-opening costs for the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily
related to the payroll expenses, rental and administrative costs in connection
with City of Dreams Manila and Studio Gity. The pre-opening costs for tha yaar
ended December 31, 2012 related to the administrative costs in connection with
Studie City, the opening of The Tasting Room, Signature Club Lounge and Jade
Dragon at City of Dreams, and the introduction of Tabeo at Club Cubic.

Development cosfs. Development cosls were USS$26.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013, which predominantly related to fees and costs
associated with the corporate reorganization of MCP as well as corporate
business development, Development costs for the year ended December 31,
2012 primarily included US$5.7 million excess payment between purchase
consideration and direct transaction costs and share of net assats acquired upon
completion of the acquisition of MCP in December 2012 and a total of US$5.4
millicn of professional and consultancy fee for City of Dreams Manila, as well as
carporate business development.

Amortization  of gaming subcencession. Amortization of our gaming
subconcession continued to ba recognized on a straight-line basis at an annual
rate of LIS$57.2 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2013 and
202,

Amortization of land use rights, The increase in amortization of land use rights
expenses to US$64.3 milion for the year ended December 31, 2013 from
USE58.9 million for the year endad December 31, 2012 was primarily due to the
additional amartization of land usa rights expenses associated with the amended
Studio City land concession contract In July 2012,
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Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expenses were
US%261.3 million and US$261.4 million for the years endsd December 31, 2013
and 2012, respectively. The slight decrease was primarily due to fully depreciated
assets at City of Dreams and Altira Macau during the year ended December
31, 2013, offset in part by depreciation of assets progressively added to City of
Dreams.

Property charges and others. Property charges and others generally include
costs related to the remodeling and rebranding of a property which might include
the retirement, disposal or write-off of assets. Property charges and others
for the year ended December 31, 2013 were US$6.9 million, which primarily
included a write-off of US3$3.0 million for the final payment in relation to a service
contract at City of Dreams and assets write-off of U3$1.6 million as a result
aof the remodel of non-gaming attractions at City of Oreams. Propearty charges
and others for the year ended December 31, 2012 were USSE.7 million, which
mainty related to the write-off of US$4.4 million for excess payments in relation
to a service contract at City of Dreams and US$2.4 million of costs incurred for
implementing our streamlined management structure in February 2012,

Non-operating expenses, net

Nat non-operating expenses consist of interest income, interest expenses, net of
capitalized interest, amortization of deferred financing costs, loan commitment
fees, foreign exchange (loss) gain, net, change in fair value of interest rate swap
agreements, loss on extinguishment of debt and costs assoclated with deit
modification, as well as other non-operating income, net.

Interast income was US$7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013,
as compared to US$11.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. The
dacrease was primarily driven by lower interest income from the RMB Bonds
procesds deposit upan the early rademption of the AMB Bonds in March 2013,

Interest expenses were US$152.7 millicn, net of capitalized Interest of US$31.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to USS109.6 million,
net of capitalized interest of US810.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2012. The increase in met interest expenses (net of interest capitalization) of
US$43.1 million was primarily due to: (i) LS$65.3 million higher interest axpenses
upon our issuance of Studio City Notes in Movember 2012; (i) US$34.0 million
interest on a capital lease obligation relating to MCP's bullding lease payments
incurred during the year ended December 31, 2013; partially offset by (i) lower
interest charges of US$10.5 million upon our redemption of our 2010 Sanior
Motes by our issuance of the lower interest rate 2013 Senior Notes in March
2013 and US$19.5 million upon our repaymant and redemption on the Deposit-
Linked Loan and RMB Bonds: (iv) a lower interast charge of US$5.0 million as
a result of the scheduled repayments of the term loan started from September
2013 and repayment of the drawn revolving credit faclity. both umder 2011
Credit Facilities; and (v} higher interest capitalization of US$20.6 million, primarity
associated with Studio City construction and development projects.

Other finance costs for tha year ended December 31, 2013 of US$43.8 million,
included US$18.2 million of amortization of deferred financing costs and loan
commitment fees of US$25.6 milllon. Other finance costs for the year ended
December 31, 2012 of US$14.6 million, included US5513.3 million of amortization
of deferred financing costs and loan commitment fees of USE1.3 million. The
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increase in amortization of deferrad financing costs compared o the year anded
December 31, 2012 was primarily due to the recognition of amartized defarred
financing costs incurred for the Studic City Notes issued in November 2012 and
the 2013 Senior Notes issued in February 2013, which ware offset in part by the
cessation of amortization of deferred financing costs relating to the RMB Bonds
and 2010 Senior Netes upon our redemption. The increase in loan commitment
fees compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily associated
with the Studio City Project Facility, which became effective from January 28,
2013.

Loss on extinguishment of debt for the year anded December 31, 2013 was
LIS$50.9 millien, which mainly represented a portion of the 2010 Senior Notes
redemption fees and unamortized deferred financing costs that are not eligible
for capitalization. There was no loss on extinguishmeant of debt for the year
ended December 31, 2012,

Cuosts associated with debt modification for the year ended December 31, 2013
wera USS10.5 million, which mainly represented a portion of underwriting fee,
legal and professional fees incurred for refinancing 2010 Senior Notes with 2013
Senior Motes that ara not eligible for capitalization. Cost associated with debt
madification for the year ended December 31, 2012 were US$H3.3 million, which
ware primarily attributable 1o a consent solicitation fee in relation to the 2010
Senior Notes in October 2012,

Income tax (expense) credit

Incoma tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily
attributable to a lump sum tax payable in lleu of Macau Complementary Tax
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otherwise due by Melco Crown Macau's shareholders on dividends distributable
to them by Melco Crown Macau. The effective tax rate for the year ended
December 31, 2013 was 0.4%, as compared to a negative rate of 0.7% for the
year endad December 31, 2012. Such rates ditfer from the statutory Macau
Complementary Tax rate of 12% primarily due to the effect of a tax exemption on
profits generated by Macaw gaming operations of US5125.7 million and US588.5
millien during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively,
which is set to expire in 2016, the effect of change in valuation allowance,
and the effect of expenses for which no income tax benefit is receivable.
Our management does not expect to realize significant income tax benefits
associated with net operating loss carryforwards and other defarred tax assets
generated by our Macau and Philippines operations; however, to the extent that
the financial results of our Macau and Philippines cparations improve and it
becomas more likely than not that the deferred tax assets are realizable, we will
be able to reduce the valuation allowance through samings.

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Gur net loss attributable to noncontrelling interests of US$59.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2013, which comparad to that of US$18.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2012, was primarily due to the share of Studio City
expenses of US$48.0 million and MCP expenses of US$11.5 million, respectively,
by the respective minarity sharehclders for the year ended December 31, 2013,
The year-ower-year increase was primarily attributable to the noncontrolling
interests' share of Studlo City's financing costs and City of Dreams Manlla's pre-
operating expenses during the year endad December 31, 2013.
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Net income attributable to Melco Crown Entertainment

As a result of the foregoing, we had net income of US$E37.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013, compared to US$417.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012,

Adjusted Property EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

Qur earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, pre-opening
costs, development costs, property charges and others, share-based
compensation, payments to the Philipping Parties, land rent to Belle Corpaoration,
gain on disposal of assets held for sale, Corporate and Others expenses and
other non-operating income and expenses, or Adjusted property EBITDA wera
US$1.285.5 milllon, US$1.379.1 milllon and US$895.3 millon for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Adjusted property
EBITDA of Altira Macau, City of Dreams and Mocha Clubs were US$84.8
million, US51,165.6 million and US$36.3 million, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2014, US$147.3 million, US$1,193.2 millien and USS40.2 million,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2013 and US£154.7 million,
US$805.7 million and US$36.1 million, respectively, for the year ended December
31, 2012,

Qur earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, pre-opening
costs, development costs. property charges and others, share-based
compensation, payments to the Philippine Parties, land rent to Belle Carparation,
gain on disposal of assets hald for sale and other non-operating income and
expanses, or Adjusted EBITDA, wera US$1,166.5 million, US§1,287.8 million
and US5820.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively,

Ouwr management uses Adjusted property EBITDA to measure the operating
performance of our Altira Macau, City of Dreams, City of Dreams Manila and
Maocha Clubs businesses, and to compare the operating performance of our
properties with those of our competitors. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjustad property
EBITDA are also presented as supplemental disclosures because management
believes they are widely used to measure performance and as a basis for valuation
of gaming companies. Qur managemeant also usas Adjusted property EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA because they are used by some investors as a way to measure
a company's ability to incur and service debt, make capital expenditures and meaat
working capital requirements. Gaming companies have histarically reportad similar
measures as a supplement to financial measures in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, In particular, U.S. GAAP or IFRS.

However, Adjusted property EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA should not be
considered in isclation, construed as an alternative to profit or operating profit,
treated as an indicator of our U.5. GAAP operating perfarmance, other oparating
operations or cash flow data, or interpreted as an alternative to cash fiow as a
measure of iquidity. Adjusted property EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA presented
in this annual report may not be comparatde to other similarly titled measures of
other companies’' operating in the gaming or cther business sectors. While our
management believes these figures may provide useful additional information
to investors when considered in conjunction with cur U.S. GAAP financial
statements and other information in this annual report, less reliance should
be placed on Adjusted property EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA as a measure in
assessing our averall financial performance.
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Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Property EBITDA to Net
Income Attributable to Melco Crown Entertainment

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 a2
{ins theusands of USS)
Adjusted property EBITDA § 1285474 § 1379111 § 995335
Corporate and Others expenses {118,971} 191,299) {75,125
Adjusted EBITDA 1,166,503 1287812 920,200
Payments ta the Philppine Parties (870} — —
Land rent #o Belle Corporation {3,562} {3.045) —
Pre-opening costs 190.556) [13.960) 15,TEE)
Development casts (10.734) [26.247) {119,068
Depreciation and amortizaticn (363,394} (382 808) (378,587
Share-based compensation [20.401) (14,987 B.A73)
Property charges and others {8.698) [6.884] B, G654)
Gain on dispasal of assets heid for sale 2072 e e
Imtesest and cther non-operating expenses. net (154,938) (259,370 [111,363)
Income tax (expense] cradi {3.036) [2.441) 2,043
Nat income 527,386 578,013 398 672
Net loss atiributable to noncontrolling interests 80,894 59,450 18,531
Net income atiributable ta Melco Crown
Entertainment $ 608280 % 637463 5 417203
Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have relied and intend to rely on our cash generated from cur operations
and our debt and equity financings to meet our financing needs and repay our
indebtedness, as the case may ba.
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As of December 31, 2014, wa held unrestrictad cash and cash equivalents,
bank deposits with original maturity over three months and restricted cash of
approximately US$1,597.7 million, US$110.6 millien and US$1,816.6 million,
respectively, and HK$3.12 billion (approximataly US$401.1 million) of the 2011
Cradit Facilities remains available for future drawdown.

In addition, under the Studic City Project Facility, we have HK$10,855 880,000
(equivalent to approximately US$1.4 billion) comprising a five year
HKS10,080,450,000 (equivalent to approximately USS1.3 billion) delayed draw
term loan facility and a HK$775,420,000 {equivalent to approximately US$100
millien) revolving credit facility. On July 28, 2014, we drew down the term loan
under the Studio City Project Facility, while the revolving credit facliity under the
Studio City Project Facility remains available for future drawdown, subject to
satisfaction of certain conditions precedent.

On January 24, 2014, MCE Leisure Philippines issued its PHP15 billion
(equivalent to approximately US$340.0 milion at date of pricing) aggregate
principal amount of Philippine Motes, at par, with an interest rate of 5.00% per
annum and a maturity date of January 24, 2019, The Philippine Notes includes
a tax gross up provision requiring MCE Leisure Philippines to pay without any
deduction or withholding for or on account of tax. The net proceeds from the
Bsuance of Philippine Notes were used for the development of City of Dreams
Manila,

<n June 24, 2014, MCP completed the 2014 Top-up Placement on the Philippine
Steck Exchange raising net proceads of approximately US8122.2 million.
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An indictment from the Taipei District Prosecutors Office against our Taiwan
branch office and certain of its employees for alleged violations of cartain Taiwan
banking and foreign exchange laws was recelved in August 2014. In January
2013, the same Prosecutors Office froze one of our Taiwan branch office’s
deposit accounts in connection with the investigation related to this indictment.
Therafcre, we have presented the balance of such deposit account as restricted
cash in our financial statements. Please refer to®— Other Financing and Liguidity
Matters™ below for more details,

MCP's restricted cash represented cash in escrow account as required in the
Provisional License issued by PAGCOR for the development of City of Dreams
Manila. Under the Provisional License granted by PAGCOR, the Licensees are
roguired to set-up an escrow account with an amount of USS100.0 millien with a
universal bank mutually agreed by PAGCOR and the Licensees. All funds for the
development of the casino project shall pass through the escrow account and all
drawdowns of funds from the escrow account must be applied to City of Dreams
Manila. The ascrow account should have a maintaining balance of US$50.0
million equivalent until City of Oreams Manila's completion. On March 21, 2013,
MCE Letsure Philippines, as one of the Licensees, established a new escrow
account replacing the existing escrow account and deposited USS50.0 million
equivalent to the new escrow account. The escrow account funds are expected
te be released in the coming twelve months from December 31, 2014,

The Studio City cash and cash equivalents is mainly comprised of unspent
proceeds from offering of the Studie City Notes, and drawdown of the term
loan under tha Studio City Project Facility, all of which were restricted only for
payment of construction and development costs and other project costs of the
Studio City project in accordance with Studio City Notes and Studio City Project
Facility terms.

We have been able to meat our working capital needs, and we believe that our
aperating cash flow, existing cash balances, funds available under the 2011
Credit Facilities and Studio City Project Facllity and additional equity or debt
financings will be adequate to satisfy our current and anticipated operating,
debt and capital commitments, including ocur development project plans, as
daescribed in “— Other Financing and Liguidity Matters® below. For any additional
financing requirements, we cannot provide assurance that future borrowings
will be available. We have significant indebtedness and will continue to evaluate
our capital structure and opportunities to enhance it in the normal course of our
activities.

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the years
indicated:

‘Yaar Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
{in thousands of USE)
§ 894514 $ 1151934 § 050233

Net cash provided by cperating activities

Net cash used in investing acthities (1605268) (1.209270)  (1.335.718)
Net cash provided by (ss2d in) financing

acthvities 926,950 [264,967) 934,735
Effact of foredgn exchange on cash and

cash equivalents (387 15,148 1,935
Net increase [decrease] in cash and

cash equivalents 215,898 [327 452) 551185
Cash and cash equivalents al beginning of year 1,381,757 1,708,208 1,158,024

(ash and cash equivalents at end of year § 1597655 $ 1381757 § 1.709.208
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Operating Activities

Operating cash flows are generally affected by changes in operating income and
accounts receivable with VIP table games play and hatel operations conducted
on a cash and credit basis and the remainder of the business including mass
market table games play, gaming machine play, food and beverage, and
enterfainment are conducted primarily on a cash basis.

Mat cash provided by operating activities was US$B34.6 million for the year
andad December 31, 2014, compared to US$1,151.9 million for the year anded
December 31, 2013, The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities
was malnly due to decline in underlying operating performance as described
in the foregoing section and increased working capital for the cperations. Met
cash provided by operating activities was US%1,151.9 million for the year ended
Dacemnber 31, 2013, compared to US$950.2 million for the year ended December
3, 2012. The increase in net cash provided in operating activities was mainly
attributable to strong growth in underlying operating performance.

Investing Activities

Met cash used in investing activities was US81,605.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014, compared to net cash used in investing activities of
US$1,208.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase was
primarily due to increased capital expenditures payments in 2014 related to
Studio City and City of Dreams Manila. Net cash used in investing activities for
the year ended December 31, 2014 included capital expenditure payment of
US$81,214.9 million, an increase in restricted cash of US$&7E.2 million, advance
payments for construction costs of USS107.6 million, deposits for acquisition of
property and eguipment of LSS89.4 million and the land use rights payment of
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USS50.5 million, which were offsat in part by a net decrease in bank deposits
with criginal maturity over three months of US$516.3 million and net procesds
from sale of assets held for sale of US829.3 million,

The net increase of USSE7H.2 million in the amount of restricted cash for the year
ended December 31, 2014 was primarlly due to the drawdown of the term loan
under tha Studio City Project Facility of US$1,295.7 million and capital injection
for the Studio City project from our Company and our SCI minaority shareholder
of US5230.0 milion, partially offset the withdrawal and payment of Studio City
project costs and interast of US$847.5 million.

The decrease of USE516.3 millien in the amount of bank depeosits with eriginal
maturity over thrée months was due to maturity of deposits partially offset by
naw deposits placed during the year. As of December 31, 2014, we have placed
bank deposits of US$110.6 million with their original maturity over three months
for a better yield [December 31, 2013: US$626.9 millian).

MNat proceeds of US$29.3 milion was received from the sale of assets held for
sale, which completed during the year ended December 31, 2014 with a gain of
US522.1 million being racognized.

Cur total capital expenditure payments for the year ended December 31, 2014
ware US$1,214.9 million. Such expenditurés were mainly associated with
enhancements to our integrated resort offerings and for the development of
Studio City and City of Dreams Manila, Deposits for acquisition of property and
equipment were US599.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 mainly
associated with Studio City and City of Dreams Manila. We also paid USS47.0
millien and US$3.5 milllon for the scheduled instaliment of Studio City's and City
of Dreamns' land premium payments during the year ended December 31, 2014,
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Net cash used in investing activities was LUS$1,209.3 milion for the year
anded Deacember 31, 2013, compared to net cash used in inwesting activities
of US51,335.7 millon for the year ended December 31, 2012. Net cash used
in invasting activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 included bank
deposits with original maturity over three months of US$626.9 million, capital
expenditure payment of US3575.2 million, advance payments for construction
cests of USS161.6 millien, the land use rights payment of US$64.3 million,
payment for contract acquisition costs and security deposit of US$32.0 million
and deposits for acquisition of property and equipment of U3$17.2 million, which
wara offset in part by the decrease in restricted cash of US$268.4 million.

The net decrease of US3268.4 million in the amount of restricted cash for the
yoar ended December 31, 2013 was primarily due to (i) the release of deposit
of proceads from the issuance of the RMB Bonds of US$368.2 million pledged
for the Deposit-Linked Loan upon our early redemption in March 2013; (i) a
decrease in Studic City restricted cash of US$53.1 million primarily due to
withdrawal and payment of Studio City project costs of US$682.0 million and
payment of Studio City Notes interest of USET1.1 million, partially offset by
the capital injection for the Studie City project from our Company and our SCI
mincrity sharehaolder of USS700.0 millien; (i) the S$50.0 million deposited to
an escrow account as required by PAGCOR in March 2013; and (iv) the restricted
Taiwan branch office’s deposit account of USS102.9 million.

Qur total capital expenditure payments for the year ended December 31,
2013 were US$575.2 million. Such expenditures wers mainly associated with
enhancements to our intagrated resort offerings and for the development of
Studio City and City of Dreams Manila. We also paid US$44.7 million and

US$17.1 million for the scheduled installment of Studio City's and City of
Dreams’ land premium payments, respectively, and US52.5 million for the land
usa right payment for Altira Macau, during the year ended December 31, 2013,

As of December 31, 2013, wa have placed bank deposits of US$626.9 million
with thelr original maturity over three months for a better yield.

We axpect to incur significant capital expenditures for Studic City, City of
Dreams Manila, the retail precinct and the fifth hotel tower at City of Dreams
in the future, Ses “— Other Financing and Liguidity Matters™ below for more
infarmation.

The following table sets forth our capital expenditures Incurred by segment on an
accrual basis for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2m3 2m2
{in thowsands of USS)

Macau:
Mocha Clubs 3 13116 § 6515 $ 5,951
Altira Macau 21,884 5,464 7105
City of Dreams 264 922 97 654 09 416
Studio City 907 455 440,826 115,385
Sub-total 1,207 477 550,458 227,857
The Philippines:
City of Dreams Manita 405,196 359,854 g7
Comporate and Others 24632 2,042 55,324

Total capital axpenditunes § 1637305 § 912356 3§ 283398
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Our capital expenditures for the year endaed December 31, 2014 increased
significantly from that of the year ended Dacember 31, 2013 primarily due to tha
development of Studio City, City of Dreams Manila and various projects at City
of Dreams, including the fifth hotel towar. Our capital expenditures for the year
ended December 31, 2013 increased significantly from that of the year ended
December 31, 2012 primarily dus to the development of Studie City and City of
Dreams Manila.

Advance payments for construction costs for the year ended December 31,
2014 were US$107.6 million, compared to US$161.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013, which were incurred primarily for the development of Studio
City, City of Creams Manila and various prejects at City of Dreams, including the
fitth hotel tower. Thers was no such payment made for the year ended December
31, 2012

Our payment for contract acquisition costs and security deposit for the
year ended December 31, 2013 were USS27.7 million and US$4.3 million,
respectively, both of which were paid to Belle Corporation, ane of the Philippine
Parties, in relation to the closing arrangement agresment as well as the lease
agreament of City of Dreams Manila. There was no such payment made for the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2012,

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities amounted to US$927.0 milion for
the year anded December 31, 2014, primarily due to (i) the proceeds of the
drawdown of the term loan under the Studic City Project Facility of USE1,295.7
milllon; (i} the proceeds of the Issuance of the Philippine Notes of USS$336.8
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million; (i) net proceeds from the issuance of shares of MCP of US$122.2
million; and () the capital injection of U3$82.0 million from the SCI minarity
shareholder, in accordance with our shareholder agreement, which were offset in
part by (v) dividand payments of US$342.7 million; (vi} repurchase of Shares of
US8300.5 million (including commission costs); (vii) the scheduled repayments
of the term loan under 2011 Credit Facilities of USS256.7 millien; and (viil) the
paymaent of debt issuance cost primarily associated with the Philippine Notes
and Studio City Project Facility of US512.7 million.

MNet cash used in financing activities amounted to US$265.0 milion for the
year endad December 31, 2013, primarily due to (i) the early redemption of
2010 Senior Notes of US$600.0 milien and the associated redemption costs of
US5102.5 million; (i) the early redemption of the RMB Bonds and Deposit-Linked
Loan of USST21.5 million; (i} the repayment of the revolving credit facility undar
the 2011 Credit Facilities of US%212.5 million; {iv) the scheduled repayments of
the term lcan under the 2011 Credit Facilities of US5128.4 million; (v) prepaid
debt issuance costs of US$56.5 million associated with the Studic City Project
Facillity; (vi) the payment of debt issuance costs associated with the 2013 Senior
Mates and Studio City Notes of US$19.6 millien and USS7.0 million, respectively;
iwii} the settlement of the scheduled Studio City acquisition cost installment of
USE25.0 million; and {vill) the purchaze of MCE Shares of USS8.8 million under
trust arrangemant for further vesting of restricted shares. These wers offset in
part by (i) the procesds of the issuance of tha 2013 Senior Notes of US$1.0
billion; (ily net proceeds from the issuance of shares of MCP of US5$338.5 million;
and (jif} capital injection of US8280.0 million from the SCI minority shareholder, in
accordance with our shareholder agreament.
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Nat cash provided by financing activities amounted to US$934.7 millien for the
year ended December 31, 2012, primarily fram the proceeds of the issuance of
the Studic City Notes totaling US$825.0 million in November 2012, the proceeds
from the drawdown of tha Aircraft Term Loan totaling US$43.0 million in June
2012, capital injection of US$140.0 million from the SCI minority shareholder in
accordance with cur sharehelder agreement and proceeds from the exercise of
share options totaling US$3.6 million. These were offset in part by the payment
of debt issuance costs of USS$30.3 million, primarily associated with the Studio
City Notes and consent salicitation fea for the 2010 Senior Notes, the settlement
af the scheduled Studio City acquisition cost installment of US$25.0 milion and
prapaid debt issuance costs of USS18.8 million associated with the Studio City
Project Facllity, as well as repayment of the Alrcraft Term Loan of USS$2.8 million,

Indebtedness

The following table presents a summary of our indebledness as of December 31,
2014;

s of December 31, 2014

fin thousands of USH

Stuifio City Project Facility $ 1.205.689
2013 Sendor Notes 1,000,000
Studio City Matas B25.000
2011 Credit Faciltles 417,166
Philippine Motes 336,195
Hirerall Term Loan 287311

3 3.902.781

Major changes in our indebtedness during the year ended and subsaquent to
December 31, 2014 are summarized below,

On January 24, 2014, MCE Leisure Phillppines Issued its PHP15 billion
{equivalent to approximately US$340.0 million at date of pricing) aggregate
principal amount of Phillppine Notes, at par, with an Interest rate of 5.00% per
annum and a maturity date of January 24, 2019, The Philippine Notes includes
a tax gross up provision requiring MCE Leisure Philippines to pay without any
deduction or withhelding for or on account of tax. The net proceeds from the
issuance of Philippine Notes were used for the development of City of Dreams
Manila.

On July 28, 2014, wa drew down the tem lean of HK$10,080,460,000 (equivalent
to approximataly US%1.3 billion) under the Studio City Project Facility, with the
revolving credit facility of HKST75,420,000 (equivalent to approximately US$100
million} under the Studio City Project Facility avallable for future drawdown,
subject to satisfaction of certain conditions precedant.

Credit facility agreements relating to certain of our Indebtedness contain change
of control provisions, including in respect of our obligations relating to our
contrel andfor cwnership of certain of our subsidiaries and their assets. Under
the terms of such credit facllity agreements, the occurrence of certain change
of contral events, including a decline below certain thresholds in the aggregate
direct or indirect shareholdings of Melco Crown Macau, MCE Finance, Studio
City Investments Limited, MCE Cotal Investments Limited or certain of its
subsidiaries held by us and/or Melce and Crown or certain of our subsidiaries
{as the case may ba) (and, in the case of the dacline of the shareholding of
Melca Crown Macau under the 2011 Credit Facilities, which is accompanied by a
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ratings decline) may result in an event of default and/or a requirement to prepay
the cradit facilities in refation to such indebtedness in full. Other applicable
change of control events under the credit facility agreements include the
Company ceasing to be publicly listed on certain designated stock exchanges
or steps baing taken in connection with the liquidation or dissolution of MCE
Finance. The terms of the Studic City Notes, 2013 Senior Notes and Philippine
Metes alse confain change of contrel provisions whereby the cccurrence of a
relevant change of control event will reguire us to offer to repurchase the Studio
City Motes, 2013 Senior Notes or Philippine Notes (as the case may be) at a price
aqual to 1019 of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interast and, if
any, additional amounts and other amount specified under such indebtadness to
the date of repurchase.

For further details of the above indebtedness, please refer to note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements included elsawhers in this annual repart, which
includes information regarding the type of debt facilities used, the maturity prafile
of debt. the currency and interest rate structure, the charge on our assets and
the nature and extent of any restrictions on our ability, and the ability of our
subsidiaries, to transfer funds as cash dividends, loans of advances.

Other Financing and Liquidity Matters

We may obtain financing in the form of, among other things, equity or debt,
including additional bank loans or high yield, mezzanine or other debt, or rely
on our aperating cash flow to fund the development of our projects. We are a
growing company with significant financial needs. We expect to have significant
capital expenditures in the future as we continue to develop our properties, in
particular, Studio City and the fifth hotal tower at City of Dreams.
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Wa have relied and intend in the future to rely on our operating cash flow
and different forms of financing to meet our funding needs and repay our
indebtedness, as the case may be.

The timing of any future debt and equity financing activities will be dependent on
our funding needs, cur development and construction schedule, the avallability
of funds on acceptable terms to us, and prevailing market conditions. We
may carry out activities from time to time to strengthen our financial position
and abllity to better fund our business expansion. Such activities may include
refinancing existing debt, monetizing assets, sale-and-leaseback transactions or
othar similar activities,

The construction budget for the first phase of Swdio City is approximately
LS82.3 billion. Howewver, this cost estimate may be revised depending on a
number of variables, including receipt of all necessary governmental approvals,
the final design and development plan, funding costs, the availability of financing
on terms acceptable to us, an prevailing market conditions. As of December 31,
2014, we had incurred expenditure for construction in prograss of approximately
US51,450.5 million for the development of Studio City since our acquisition of a
B0% equity intarast in SCI.

For the purpose of financing the first phase of Studio City, we offered
the US$H825.0 million Studie City Notes and drew down the term loan of
HKS10,080,460,000 (equivalent to approximately US%£1.3 billion) under the
Studio City Project Facility, in November 2012 and July 2014, respectively. As
of the date of this annual report, MCE and the SCI minority shareholder have
contributed USS1.250.0 million to the first phase of Studio City in accordance
with the shareholder agreement, including a completion guarantes support cash
of US$225.0 million as required under the Studio City Praject Facility.
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In 2013, MCP completed the 2013 Top-up Placement, including the owver-
allotment option on the Philippine Stock Exchange raising approximately
US$338.5 million In net proceeds. In 2014, MCP completed the |ssuance of
the Philippine Motes in January 2014 and the 2014 Top-up Placement an the
Philippine Stock Exchange raising approximately US8$122.2 million net proceeds
in June 2014,

As of December 31, 2014, MCP has imcurred construction and fixed asset costs
aof USE7E5.9 million, including recognition of assets under the capital lease
abligations. City of Dreams Manila’s grand opening occurred on February 2,
2018,

In August 2014, our Board approved the implementation of a US$500 million
stock repurchase program which, together with the Company’s dividend policy,
provides us with an another mechanizm to return surplus capital efficiently
while retaining flaxibility to fund our current operations and future development
pipeline. During the year anded December 31, 2014, we repurchased 36,649,344
ordinary shares for US$300.5 million (including commission costs] under this
program of which 32,931,528 ordinary shares had been cancelled, Subseguent
to December 31, 2014, we cancelled 3,717,816 ordinary shares.

The Company commenced expansion of [ts retall precinet at City of Dreams,
which is expectad to open in the first halt of 2016. The Company has alse
commenced the development of the fifth hotel tower at City of Dreams, although
its development plan and schedule iz currently under review and may be subject
te change after taking into account a range of factors, including the current and
expeacted future cperating environment in Macau and other potential uses of
cash and future cash flow.

Any other future developments may be subject to further financing and a number
of other factors, many of which are beyond our control,

As of December 31, 2014, we had capital commitments contracted for but not
provided mainly for the construction and acquisition of property and equipment
for Studio City, City of Dreams Manila and City of Dreams totaling US$1,065.8
million including advance paymaents for construction costs of US$107.6 million.
In addition, we have contingent liabilities arising in the ordimary course of
business, For further details for cur commitments and contingencies, please
refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhena in
this annual report.

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, our gearing ratios (total
indebtedness divided by total assels) were 37.4% and 28.79%, respectively.
Qur gearing ratio increased as of December 31, 2014, primarily as a result of
increased indebledness from the drawdown of the tarm lean under the Studio
City Project Facility and the issuance of Philippine Notes, offsat by the scheduled
repayments of the term loan under the 2011 Credit Facilities,

An indictment from the Taipei District Prosecutors Office against our Talwan
branch office and certain of its employees for alleged viclations of certain Taiwan
banking and foreign exchange laws was recelved in August 2014, In January
2013, the same Prosecutors Office froze one of our Taiwan branch office’s
deposit accounts in connection with the investigation related to this indictment.
The frozen deposit account had a balance of approximately New Talwan dollar
2.98 billion (equivalent to approximately US$102.2 million) at the time the
account was frozen, We have prasented the balance of such deposit account as
nan-current restricted cash in owr financlal staternents. We will vigorously defend
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any allegations against us, as based on Taiwan legal advice received, we believe
our operations in Taiwan are in compliance with Taiwan laws. As at the date
of this annual report, the indictment and the legal proceadings would have no
immediate matarial impact on our business operations or financial position. We
are monitoring this case closely and will re-assess the right and accassibility to
the tunds if there is any development in the case. We will account for the funds
and provide relevant disclosure as and when appropriate as this case develops.

Each of Melco Crown Macau and Studic City Company Limited has a corporate
rating of "BB” and "BB-" by Standard & Poor's, respactivaly, and each of MCE
Finance and Studio City Finance has a corporate rating of *Ba3”™ and “B2" by
Maoody's Investors Service, respectively. For future borrowings, any decrease in
our corporate rating could result in an increase in borrowing costs,

The Gaming Subconcession

Cur subsidiary Meleo Crown Macau is one of the six companies licensed,
through concessions or subconcessions, to operate casinos in Macau. Melco
Crown Macau executed the subconcession contract with Wynn Macau on
Saptember &, 2006, Wynn Macau will contfinue to develop and run hotel
operations and casino projects independent of curs. Meleo Crown Macau pald a
consideration of US$900 million to Wynn Macau. On September 8, 2006, Melco
Crown Macau was granted the right to operate games of fortune and chance or
other games in casinos in Macau, for a peried of 16 years until the expiration of
tha subconcassion on June 26, 2022. No further payments need to be mada to
Wynn Macau in future operations. The operation of gaming-related activities is
also permitted, subject to the prior approval frem the Macau govemnment. Details
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of the desmed cost and amortization of the gaming subconcession are set oul in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements included in this annual report.

Human Resources

Wa had 18,367 and 11,958 employees as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
raspectively. The following table sets forth the number of employees categorized
by the areas of operations and as a percentage of our workforce as of December
31, 2014 and 2013. Stafl remuneration packages are determined taking into
account market conditions and the performance of the individuals concernad,
and are subject to review from time to time,

A5 of December 31
2014 2013

Humber of Percentage Mumber of Percaniags

Empioyess of Total Empioyees of Total

Macha Clubs 150 4.1% 618 5.2%

Attira Macau 2428 13.2% 2,264 18.9%

City of Dreams 9,244 50.3% 8292 69.53%
Corparats and centralized

sanvices” 932 5.1% €43 5.5%

City of Dreams Manila 5.013 27.3% 136 1.1%

Total 18,367 100.0% 11.858 100.0%

Pabe: {1} Includes stalf for Studio Gy,

Wa have implamented a number of human resource initiatives cver recent years
for the benefit of our employees and their families, These initiatives include a
unique in-house learning academy, an on-site high school diploma program,
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scholarship awards, as well as fast track promotion training initiatives jointly
coordinated with the School of Continuing Study of Macau University of Science
& Technalogy and Macao Technology Committes.

We provide defined contribution plans for cur employees and executive officers
in Macau, Hong Kong, the Philippines and certain other jurisdictions.

MACAU

Our Macau employees participate in government-managed Social Security
Fund Scheme (the “SSF Scheme”) operated by the Macau government, We are
required to pay a monthly fixed contribution to the S8F Scheme to fund the
benefits. Our obligation with respect to the SSF Schame operated by the Macau
government is enly to make the required contributions under the scheme.

We provided option for our qualifying employees in Macau to enrcll in valuntary
defined cenfribution schemes (the *Macau Schemes”) operated by us. We
contribute a fixed percentage of the eligible employees' base salaries or fixed
amount to the Macau Schemes. Cur contributions to the Macau Schemes are
vestad to employees in accordance with a vesting schedule with full vesting in
10 years from date of employment. The Macau Schemes were established under
trust with the assels of the funds held separately from those of the Group by
independent trustees in Macau.

HONG KONG

Our executive officers, Hong Kong employess and certaln employees in other
jurisdictions participate in Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes (the *MPF
Schemes”) operated by us in Hong Komg. We are required to contribute a

selected fixed percentage of the executive officers’ and employee's base
salaries to the MPF Scheme, which included our mandatory contribution portion,
The excess of contributions over our mandatory portion are treated as our
voluntary contribution and are vested to the execulive officers and employes
in accordance with a vesting schedule with full vesting in 10 years from date of
amployment. Cur mandatory contributions to the MPF Schemes are fully and
immediately vested to the employes once they are paid. The MPF Schame was
astablished under trust with the assets of the funds held separately from those of
us by an independent trustee in Hong Kena,

THE PHILIPPINES

QOur Philippines employeas participate in government-managed Social Security
System Scheme (the "SS585 Scheme”) operated by the Philippines government.
We are required to pay at a certain percentage of the employess’ relevant
income and met the minimum mandatory requirements to fund the benefits.
Our obligation with respect to the 585 Scheme cperated by the Philippines
government is only to make the reguired contributions under the scheme.

OTHER JURISDICTIONS

Our subsidiaries in certain other jurisdiction operate a number of defined
contribution schemes. Contributions to the defined confribution schemes
applicable to each year are made at a certain percentage of the amployees’
payroll and met the minimum mandatory reguiremeants.

Total contributions made into the defined contribution plans for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were US$14.8 million, US$8.5 million and
US85.3 million, respectively.
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Properties and Development Projects

We operate our gaming business at our operating properties in Macau In
accordance with the terms and cenditions of our gaming subconcession.
In addition, our existing operating properties and development projects in
Macau are subject to the terms and conditions of land concession contracts.
Through MCP, we also operate our gaming business in the Philippines through
the Provisional License issued by PAGCOR on a property which MCE Leisure
Philippines leases from Belle Corporation under a lease agreement dated
Octobar 25, 2012, which becama effectiva on March 13, 2013 (the “Lease
Agreement”).

CITY OF DREAMS

The City of Dreams site is Iocated on two adjacent land parcels in Cotal, Macau
with a combined area of 113,325 square meters (equivalent to approximataly 1.2
million square feet). In August 2008, the Macau government granted the land on
which City of Dreams is located to Meleo Crown (COD) Developments and Melco
Crown Macau for a pericd of 25 years, renawable for further consecutive periods
of up to ten years each. A guarantee deposit of approximately MOP3.4 million
(equivalent to approximately US$424,000) was paid upon acceptance of the land
lease tarms in 2008, The initial land premium of approximately MOP842.1 million
(equivalent to approximately US$105.1 millicn) was paid up in full in February
2013. The land grant was amended on Seplember 15, 2010 10 increase the total
developable gross floor area at the site to 868,574 square metars (equivalant
to approximately 7.2 million square feet) and amend the purpose of such area,
which required an additional premium in the amount of MOP25T.4 million
(equivalent to approximately US$32.1 million), which was fully paid in March
2010.
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Pursuant 1o an amendment effective January 2014, the development period
under the land concession contract was extended to the date falling 4 years after
January 29, 2014 (being the publication date of the amendment in the Macau
official gazetta) and the hotal to be devaloped is changad to a five-star hotel
areas from a four-star apartment hotel. Such amendment required an additional
land premium of appreximately MOP187.1 million (equivalent to approximately
US£23.3 million) of which MOPT0.0 millien (equivalent to appreximately US$8.7
million) were paid to the Macau government, and the remaining amount of
approximately MOP117.1 millien (equivalent to approximately US$14.6 millian)
wara to be paid in four bi-annual installment, with interest acecruing at thae
annual rate of 5%, the first of which was dua and paid in 2014. The government
land use fees were revised to approximately MOP2.2 millon (equivalent to
approximately US$1.2 million) per annum.

Duwring the construction period, we paid the Macau government land use
fees al an annual rate of MOP30.0 (equivalent to approximately USS53.74) per
square meter of land, or an aggregate annual amount of approximately MOP3.4
millien (equivalent to approximately US$424,000). According to the terms of the
revised land concession, the annual government land use fees payable after
completion of development will be approximately MOP9.9 million (equivalent to
approximately US$1.2 million). The government land use fee amounts may be
adjustad every five years.

See note 23 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
annual report for information about our future commitments as to government
land use fees for tha City of Dreams site.

The equipment utllized by City of Dreams in the casine and hotel is owned by
us and held for use on the City of Dreams site, and includes the main gaming
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equipment and software to support its table games and gaming machine
aperations, cage equipment, security and surveillance equipment, casino and
hotel furniture, fittings and equipment.

ALTIRA MACAU

The Altira Macau site is located on a plot of land in Taipa, Macau of
approximately 5,230 square meters (squivalent fo approximately 56,295 square
feet) under a 25-year land lease agreament with the Macau governmant which
is renewable for successive periods of up to ten years each. In March 2008, the
Macau government granted the land on which Altira Macau iz located to Altira
Developments. The land premium of approximately MOP149.7 million (equivalent
to approximately USS18.7 million) was fully paid in July 2006, a guarantes
deposit of approximately MOP157,000 (equivalent to approximately LIS$20,000)
was paid upen acceptance of the land lease terms in 2006 and government
land use fees of approximately MOP1.4 million (equivalent to approximately
US$171,000) per annum are payable. The amounts may be adjusted every five
years as agreed between the Macau government and us using applicable market
rates in affect at the time of the adjustment.

Pursuant to an amendment to the land concession effective December 2013,
the total gross floor area of Altira Macau was increased from approximately
95,000 square meters (equivalent to approximately 1,022,600 square feet] to
approximately 103,000 square meters (eguivalent to approximately 1,108,700
square feat), to reflect the construction plans approved by the Macau
government and to enable final registration of the land concession. Such
amendment required an additional land premium of approximately MOP19.6
million (equivalent to approximataly US$2.4 million) which was paid to the Macau
government in 2013, The amendment alsp resulted in a revised government

land use fees of approximataly MOP1.5 million [equivalent to approximately
LI55186,000) per annum,

See note 23 to the conselidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
annual report for information about our future commitments as to government
land use fees for the Altira Macau site,

The equipment utilized by Altira Macau in the casino and hotel is owned by
us and held for use on the Altira Macau site and includes the main gaming
equipment and software to support its table games and gaming machine
operations, cage equipment, security and surveillance equipment and casine,
hatel furniture, fittings, and equipment.

MOCHA CLUBS

Maocha Clubs oparate at premises with a total floor area of approximately 89,400
sguare feet at the following locations in Macau;

Baming Area
Mocha Ciub Opening Manth Location (In square fest)
Foyal September 2003 G/F and 1/F ol Hotel Royal B.450
Taipa Square January 2005 G/, 1/F and 2F of 9,200
Hotel Taipa Square
Sintra Mavember 2005 GF and 1/F of Holel Sintra 5000
Mocha Altira Dacembar 2008 Level 1 of Altira Macau 2,850
Macau Towear Saptember 2011 LGF and GF of Macau Tower 21 500
Golden Dragon Janyary 2012 G, 1F, 2F and 3F of 20,500
Hotel Golden Dragon
Irnes Harbor December 2013 No 286-312 Seaside New Strest 12,800
Kuang Fat June 2014 Macau, Rua de Pequim No. 174, 9,000
Cenitro Comercial Kuong Fat
Cave &
Takal B9 400
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Premisas are baing operated under lease, sublease or rights to use agreemeants
that expire at various dates through Juna 2022, which are remewabla upon
reaching an agreement with the owners,

In addition to leasshold improvements to Mocha Club premises, the onsite
equipment utilized at the Mocha Clubs is owned and held for use to support the
gaming machines operations.

STUDIO CITY

Studio City's site is on a plot of land of 130,789 square meters (equivalent
to approximately 1.4 million square feet) in Cotai, Macau and has a gross
construction area of approximately 7.6 million square feet (aguivalent to
approximately 707,078 sguare meters), The gross construction area for the
first phase is approximately 5.2 million square feet (equivalent to approximately
477,336 square meters). Under the Studio City land concession contract, the
land premium is approximately MOP1,425.3 million (equivalent to approximately
US$177.9 milion), of which approximately MOP1,230.0 milion (equivalent to
appraximately US$153.5 million) was paid as of December 31, 2014, and the
remaining MOP185.2 million (equivalent to approximately US$24.4 million),
bearing interest at 5% per annum has been pald In January 2015. Under the
Studio City land concession contract, Studio City Dewvelopments has also
paid a guarantess deposit in the total amount of MOP7.4 million (equivalent to
approximately US80.9 million). Currently, the development period under the land
concassion contract is for 72 months from July 25, 2012,

The Studic City land concession contract, as amended by Dispatch of the
Secretary for Transportation and Public works no. 31/2012, of July 19, 2012,
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permits Studio City Developments to build a complex comprising a five-star
hotel, a facility for cinematographic industry, including supporting facilities for
entertainment and tourizm, parking and free area.

See note 23 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewheare in this
annual report for information about our future commitments as to governmaent
land wse fees for the Studic City site.

CITY OF DREAMS MANILA

City of Dreams Manila site is located on a reclaimed land (*Project Reclaimed
Land"). The Project Reclaimed Land was originally acquired by an entity known
as A 1 Consortium from tha Philippine Public Estates Authority (*PEA”). This
acquisition occurred im 1985 as part of the B 1 Consortium’s compensation for
the censtruction of PEA's Manila-Cavite Coastal Road preject. R 1 Censortium
conveyed all its intarest to the Project Reclaimed Land in favor of two entities
in 1995, These two entities later merged with Belle Bay City Corporation
("Belle Bay"), which 5 34.9% owned by Belle Corporation, being one of the
Philippine Parties, with Belle Bay becoming the surviving entity and owner
of the Project Reclaimed Land. Belle Bay was dissclved in 2005 and is still
undergoing liguidation. The Project Reclaimed Land was allocated to Belle
Corporation as part of Belle Bay's plan of dissolution. Belle Corporation has
axercised possession and other rights over the Project Reclaimed Land since
this allocation, In 200%, Belle Corporation transferred a pertion of the Project
Reclaimed Land to the Philippine Social Security System. Then in 2010, Bells
Corporation and the Social Security Systern entered into a lease agreement for
that portion,
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MCE Leisure Philippines does not own the land or tha buildings comprising
the site for City of Dreams Manila. Rather, MCE Leisure Philippines leases the
Project Reclaimed Land and bulldings from Belle Corporation under the Lease
Agrasment. Part of the land coverad under the Lease Agreement is leased by
Belle Corporation from the Social Security System under the lease agresment
batween Belle Corporation and the Social Security System in 2010,

OTHER PREMISES

Taipa Square Casinc premises, including the fit-cut and gaming related
equipment, are located on the ground floor and level one within Hotel Taipa
Square in Macau and having a floor area of approximately 1,760 square meters
{equivalent to approximately 18950 square feet). We operate Taipa Square
Casino under a right-to-use agreement signed on June 12, 2008 with the owner,
Hotel Taipa Square (Macao) Company Limited. The term of the agreemant i
one year from the date of execution and is automatically renewable, subject
te certain cantractual provisions, for successive periods of one year under the
same terms and conditions, untll June 26, 2022,

Apart from the aforesaid property sites, we maintain varicus offices and storage
lecations in Macau, Hong Kong and the Philippines. We lease all of our office and
storage pramises. We used to own five units located at Golden Dragon Centre
{formerly known as Zhu Kuan Building) in Macau, These five units have a total
area of B39 square meters (equivalent to approximately 9,029 square fest). The
five units were purchased by MPEL Proparties (Macau) Limited, our subsidiary,
for approximately HKST9.7 million (equivalent to approximately LSS810.2 million)
in August 2008, On February 18, 2014, we sold these five units for HKS240.0

million [eguivalent to approximately US$30.8 million). After the sale, we continue
to occupy and use the relevant units as our recruitment center under a short-
term tenancy agreement with the new owner for a term of two years.

Achievements and Awards

Cwring the year ended December 31, 2014, Melco Crown Entertainment has not
only focused on executing its business development strategy to strengthen its
lsading position within the industry, but also has continued its afforts in achisving
the highest standards of corporate governance and good corporate citizenship
to ensure sustainable growith and create a better environment for the community
that it serves. As a result, the Company has garmered numerous prestigious
awards for its considerable accomplishmeants.

Continuous Pursuit of Excellence

In 2014, Melco Crown Entertainment was included for the secend consecutive
year on the Forbes Asla's “Fabulous 50° list, ranking the best big companies in
the ragion. In recognition of its continuous operational excallence, the Company
captured the *Outstanding Company Award” from Corporafe Gowernance Asia
magazine, and the “Best VIP Reom of the Year® award from International Gaming
Awards.

Mr, Lawrence Yau Lung Ho, Ce-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Melco
Crown Entertainment, has once again besn salected by Corporate Governance
Asia magazine as the *Best CEQ" and the *Asian Corporate Director of the Year®.
He has alse been selected by FinanceAsia magazine as one of the “Best CEQs In
Heong Keng® for the fifth time in the past six years.
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Prestigious Honors for our World-Class Lodging and Entertainment Offerings

Raflecting the Company's success in delivering a luxurious hospitality
exparianca, for the fifth consecutive year, Altira Macau samad the *Forbas 5-Star
Award for Lodging® as well as the “Forbes 5-Star Award for Spa” for Altira Spa
from Forbes Travel Guige in 2014, Crown Towers at City of Dreams was the first
hatal in Macau to be awarded the Forbes 5-Star Awards by Forbes Travel Guide
for its hotel, spa and all of its restaurants, namely Jade Dragon and The Tasting
Reom, last year.

The Company prides itself in iis supreme fine-dining experiences, and has
recelved numercus medals In the FHA Culinary Challenge in 2014, which is
the region’s most prestigious international culinary competition dedicated to
the promation of culinary excellence. With a dream team of outstanding chefs,
both The Tasting Room and Jade Dragon at Clty of Dreams earned a Michelin
1-Star in Michelin Guide Hong Kong and Macau. Apart from Jade Dragon and
The Tasting Room, Aurara at Altira Macau was also recognized as Forbes 5-Star
restaurant in Forbes Trave! Guide, while Tenmasa and Ying were certified as
Forbes 4-Star restaurants. In addition, Tenmasa, Aurara and The Tasting Room
all made it onto the "China's Wine List of the Year® in 2014,

Corporate Social Responsibility to Create a Better Society

Melce Crown Entertainment's commitment to the betterment of the society
and a sustainable future for the next generation is seen in green initiatives and
proactive community outreach to positively impact on important social issues
and ultimately improve the lives of the community in which it operates,
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For its high standards and dedicated efforts in promoting corporate social and
environmental practices, the Company was honored with the “Best CSR Award”
In Aslamonsy magazine's Corporate Governance Poll 2014, the “Caridade Social
Award 2014 from the Macau Association of Chinese Young Entrepranaurs
and the Youth Committee of the Macac Chamber of Commerce, and the
“Cutstanding Award — Environmental Performance” in the Macau Business
Awards 2014, City of Dreams alsc attained *I1SO 14064 Greenhouse Gas (GHG)
Emissions Inventories and Verification™ certification from 3GS Hong Kong
Lirited. 1t has also garnered the*Best Environmental Responsibility” award from
Corporate Governance Asia.

Melco Crown Entertainment has always strived to attain the highest quality of
management leadership, operational excellence and corporate govemance while
conscientiously fulfilling its corporate social responsibilities. These awards are
encouraging recognition from the industry and the public for the Company's
dedication and its relantless afforts in not only building its business, but alsa
working for a batter community and environment for the greater good of society
and its stakeholders,
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Directors
Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho (aged 38)
Executive Director (Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho was appointed as our executive Director on
December 20, 2004 and has served as our co-chairman and chief executive
afficer since Dacember 2004, Since November 2001, Mr. Ho has also served as
the managing director and, since March 2006, the chairman and chief executive
officer of Melco. Mr. Ho has also been appointed as the chairman and non-
axecutive director of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since July 10, 2013,

Az a member of the Mational Committee of the Chinese People's Political
Consultative Conference, Mr. Ho alse serves on numercus beards and
committeas of privately held companies in Hong Kong, Macau and mainland
China, He is a member of the Board of Directors, member of the Executive
Committes, and a vice patron of Tha Community Chast of Hong Kong; mamber
af Science and Technolegy Council of the Macau SAR Govermnment, member
aof All China Youth Federation; member of Macau Basic Law Premotional
Association; chairman of Macau International Volunteers Association; member
of the Board of Governors of The Canadian Chamber of Commerce in Hong
Kong; honarary lifetime director of The Chinase General Chamber of Commerce
of Hong Kong; honorary Patron of The Canadian Chamber of Commerce in
Macao; honorary president of Association of Property Agents and Real Estate
Developers of Macau and director Executive of Macao Chamber of Commerce.

In recognition of Mr Ho's excellent directership and entrepreneurial spirit,
Institutional Investor honored him as the “Best CEOQ™ in 2005. He was also
granted the “Sth China Enterprise Award for Creative Businessmen® by the
China Marketing Association and China Enterprise Maws, “Leader of Tomommow™
by Hong Kong Tatler and the “Directors of the Year Award” by the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors in 2005,

As a socially-responsible young antreprenaur in Hong Kong, Mr. Ho was selected
as cne of the “Ten Qutstanding Young Persons Selection 2006", organized by
Junior Chamber International Hong Kong. In 2007, he was elected as a finalist
in the *"Best Chairman” category in the "Stevie International Business Awards™
and one of the “100 Most Influential People across Asia Pacific” by Aslamoney
magazine. In 2008, he was granted the “China Charity Award® by the Ministry of
Civil Affairs of the People's Republic of China. And in 2009, Mr. Ho was selected
as one of the “China Top Ten Financial and Intelligent Persons® judged by a
panal led by the Beijing Cultural Development Study Institute and Fortune Times,
and was named *Young Entrepreneur of the Year”™ at Hong Kong's first Asia
Pacific Entrepreneurship Awards.,

In 2014, Mr. Ho was selected by FinanceAsia magazine as one of the "Best
CEDs in Hong Kong™ for the fifth time. He was also awarded “Asia's Best CEO™
atl the Asian Excellence Awards by Corporate Governance Asla magazine for
the third time, and was honorad as one of the recipients of tha Asian Corporate
Director Recognition Awards for three consecutive years in 2014,

Mr. Ho graduated with a Bachelor of Arts degree in commerce from the
University of Toronto, Canada in Jume 1899 and was awarded the Honorary
Doctor of Business Administration degree by Edinburgh Napler University,
Scofland in July 2009 for his contribution to business, education and the
community in Hong Keng, Macau and China.
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Mr. James Douglas Packer (aged 47)

Non-executive Director (Co-Chairman)

Mr. James Douglas Packer was appointed as our non-executive Director
on March 8 2005 and has served as our Co-Chairman since March 2005,
Mr. Packer is the chairman of Crown, an operator of casinos and integrated
resorts, having been appointed on its formation in 2007, and a member of
the Crown Investment Committee since February 2008. Mr. Packer is also the
chalrman of Consolidated Press Holdings Pty Limited (the largest shareholder
of Crown), having been appointed in January 2006. Mr. Packer is a director of
Crown Melbourne Limited, a casino and integrated resort operator, having been
appaointed in July 19989, and Burswood Limited, a casing and integrated resort
operator, having been appointed in September 2004. His previous directorships
include Challenger Limited (farmerly called Challenger Financial Services Group
Limitad) from Movember 2003 to September 2009, SEEK Limited from October
2003 to August 2009, Sunland Group Limited from July 2006 to August 2009, Ten
MNetwark Holdings Limited from December 2010 to March 2011, Ellerston Capital
Limited from August 2004 to August 2011 and Consclidated Media Heldings
Limited from December 2007 to November 2012,
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Mr. John Peter Ben Wang (aged 54)
MNon-executive Director

Mr, John Peter Ben Wang was appeinted as our non-executive Director on
Mavembar 21, 2006. Mr. Wang is currently the deputy chairman and executive
director of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (*Summit Ascent”), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, and before that, he was the chairman of Summit Ascent
from March 2011 to July 2013. He previously held non-executive directorships
in Melcolot Limited, Orlental Ginza Holdings Limited, China Precious Matal
Resources Holdings Co., Ltd., and Anxin-China Holdings Limited, companias
listad on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang was the chief financial officer of Melco
from 2004 to Seplember 2009. Prior to jeining Melco in 2004, he had owver
18 years of professional experience in the securities and investment banking
industry. He was the managing directer of JS Cresvale Securities International
Limited (HK) from 1998 to 2004 and prior to 1998, he worked for Deutsche
Morgan Grenfell (HK), CLSA (HK), Barclays (Singapore), 5G Warburg (London),
Salomon Brothars (London), the London Stock Exchange and Deloitte Haskins
& Sells (Lemden). Mr. Wang qualified as a chartered accountant with the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in 1985. He graduated from the
University of Kent at Canterbury in the United Kingdom with a bachelor degrea in
accounting in July 1982,
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Mr. Clarence Yuk Man Chung (aged 52)

Non-executive Director

Mr, Clarence Yuk Man Chung was appeinted as our non-executive Directer on
MNovember 21, 2006. He has also bean an executive diractor of Melco since May
2008, He joined Melco in December 2003. Mr. Chung has served as a director
of Melco Leisure since 2008, Before joining Melco, he has more than 25 years
of experience in the financial industry in various capacities as a chief financial
aofficer, an investment banker and a merger and acquisition specialist. He was
named one of the "Asian Gaming 50" for multiple years (including year 2013)
by Inside Aslan Gaming magazine, Mr. Chung has been the chalrman and chief
executive officer of Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc., a company Bsted on the
NASDAQ Capital Market, since August 2008 and October 2008, respectively.
Mr. Chung has been the chairman and president of MCP. a company listed
on the Philippine Stock Exchange, since December 2012, Mr. Chung has also
been appeinted as a director of a number of our subsidiaries incorporated in
varigus different jurisdictions. Mr. Chung obtained a master's degree in business
administration from the Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern
Univaersity and The Heng Keng University of Sclence and Technology and is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr. William Todd Nisbet (aged 47)
tive Di

Mr, William Todd Nisbet was appointed as our non-executive Director on October
14, 2009. He is also a Director of Studio City Intarnational Heldings Limited and
has been appointed as a director of MCF, a company listed on the Philippine
Stock Exchange, since December 2012, In addition, Mr. Nisbet has also been
appeinted as a director of a number of cur subsidiaries incorporated in various
different jurisdictions, Mr. Nisbet joined Crown, an operator of casinos and
intagrated resorts, in 2007, In his role as Executive Vice President — Strategy
and Development at Crown, Mr. Nisbet Is responsible for all development and
new business opportunities for Crown. Prior to joining Crown, Mr, Nisbet was
one of the original founding members of the Wynn Resorts managemeant team
halding the position of Exscutive Vice Prasident — Project Director from August
2000 through July 2007 for Wynn Design and Development, a development
subsidiary of Wynn Resoris Limited ("Wynn"), an operator of casinos and
intagrated resorts. Serving this role with Wynn, Mr. Nisbet led the developmant
efforts for Wynn Resorts in both Las Vegas and Macau. Prier to joining Wynn,
Mr. Misbet was the vice president of operations for Marnall Corrae Associates.
During Mr. Nisbet's 14 years at Mamell Corrac from 1986 to 2000, he was
responsible for managing various aspects of the construction of some of Las
Vegas' most elaborate and industry-defining properties. Mr. Nisbet obtained a
bachelor of science degree in Finance from the University of Nevada, Las Vegas
in 1983.
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Mr. Rowen Bruce Craigie (aged 59)
A f
Mr. Rowen Bruce Cralgie was appointed as our non-executive Director on March

8, 2005. Mr. Craigie has also been appointed as a director of our subsidiaries in
various different jurisdictions.

Mr. Craigie is the Chiel Executive Officer and Managing Director of Crown,
an operator of casinos and integrated resorts, having been appointed on its
formation in 2007. Mr. Craigie is also a director of Crown Melbourne Limited,
a casino and integrated resort operator, having been appointed in January
2002, and Burswood Limited, a casino and intagrated resort operatar, having
bean appointed in September 2004, Mr. Craigie previously served as the Chisf
Executive Officer of PBL Gaming from 2005 to 2007 and as the Chief Executive
Officer of Crown Malbourne Limited from 2002 to 2007.

Mr. Craigle joined Crown Melbourne Limited in 1993, was appeinted as the
Executive General Manager of its Gaming Machines department in 1996,
and was promoted to Chief Operating Officer in 2000. Prior to joining Crown
Melbourne Limited, Mr. Craigie was the Group General Manager for gaming at
tha TAB in Victoria from 1990 to 1893, and held senior economic policy positions
in Treasury and the Department of Industry in Victoria from 1984 to 1990.

Mr. Craigie is a member of the Australian Commaonwealth Government's Trade
and Investment Policy Advisory Council [TIPAC) and is President of Casinos and
Resorts Australasia, He obtained a bachelor of economics (honors) degree from
Menash University, Melbourne, Australia in 1976,
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Mr. James Andrew Charles MacKenzie (aged 61)
indapendent Non-executive Direcior

Mr, James Andrew Charles MacKenzie was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on April 24, 2008 and was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of MCP, our subsidiary listed on the Philippine Stock
Exchange on December 19, 2012. He is the chairman of cur audit committee and
also serves as the MCP audit committee chairman and as a member of MCP's
nominating and corporate governance committee and compensation committee.
Mr, MacKenzie was appointed as the chairman of ShineWing Australia on
February 1, 2015. He has extensive experience as a company director, having
hald a number of diractorships including, director and co-vice chairman of
Yancoal Australia Limited, from June 2012 to April 2014, non-executive director
and chairman of Mirvac Group from November 2005 to Januwary 2014 and
Movember 2005 to Movember 2013 respectively, and non-executive director and
chairman of Pacific Brands Limited from May 2008 to May 2013 and May 2008 to
May 2012 respectively. He led the transformation of the Victorian Gowvernment’s
Parsanal Injury Schemes from 2000 to 2007. Prior to 2005, Mr. MacKenzie held
senior executive positions with ANZ Banking Greup, Standard Chartered Bank
and Morwich Union ple. and was a partner in both the Melbourne and Hong
Kong offices of an international accounting firm now part of Delcitte. In 2001, Mr
MacKenzie was awarded the Australian Centenary Medal for services to public
administration. He obtained a bachelor of business (accounting and quantitative
methods) degree from the Swinburne University of Technology in 1974, Mr.
MacKenzie has been a Fellow of both the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia and the Australian Institute of Company Directors since 1974 and 1994,
respectively.
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Mr. Thomas Jefferson Wu (aged 42)
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Themas Jeflersen Wu was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director an December 18, 2008. He is also the chairman of our compensation
committes, and a member of our audit committee and nominating and corporate
governance committes. Mr. Wu has been the managing director of Hopewell
Holdings Limited, a business conglomerate listed on the Stock Exchange,
since October 2009. He has served in various roles with the Hopewell Holdings
group since 1999, including group controdler from March 2000 to June 2001,
executive director since June 2001, chief operating officer from January 2002
to August 2002, deputy managing director from August 2003 to June 2007 and
co-managing director from July 2007 to September 2009, He has served as the
managing director of Hepewell Highway |nfrastructure Limited since July 2003,

Mr, Wu graduated with high honors from Princeton University in 1924 with a
bachalor of science degres in Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering. He then
worked in Japan as an engineer for Mitsubishi Electric Corporation for three
years before returning to full-time studies at Stanford University, where he
abtained a master of business administration degrea in 1989,

Mr. Wu i astive in public service in both Hong Kong and Mainland China,
He serves in a number of advisory roles at different levels of government, In
Mainland China, he Is a member of the Hellongjlang Provincial Committee of the
11th Chinase People's Paolitical Consultative Conference, a Standing Committes
member and a member of the Huadu District Committee of The Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conferance, amang other public service capacities.

In Hong Kong, Mr. Wu's major public service appointments include baing a
member of the Hong Kong Government's Standing Committee on Disciplined
Services Salaries and Conditions of Service and a member of its Steering
Committea on the Promaotion of Electric Vehiclas., the Vice Patron of the
Community Chest of Hong Keng, a member of Hong Kong Tourism Board, as
wall as a member of the Board of Directors of the Hong Kong Sports Institute
Limited and the Asian Youth Crchestra Limited. He is also a member of the
Business School Advisory Council of The Hong Kong University of Science and
Tachnology. Previously, he was a council member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and the Hong Keng Baptist University, a member of the Court of The
Hong Keong University of Science and Technology.

In addition to his professional and public service engagemeants, Mr. Wu is mostly
known for his passion for ice hockey, as well as the sport's development in Hong
Kong and the region. He is the vice president (Asia/Oceania) of International lce
Hockey Federation, the co-founder and chairman of the Hong Kong Amateur
lce Hockey Club and the Heong Kong Academy of Ice Hockey, as well as the
Chairman of Hong Kong lce Hockey Officials Association. He is also the honorary
president of the Hong Kong lce Hockey Association — the national sports
association of ice hockey In Hong Kong, the vice-president of the Chinese lce
Hockey Association, honorary prasident of the Macau lce Sports Federation and
haonorary chairman of the lce Hockey Assoclation of Talpel Municipal Athletics
Fadaration.

im 2006, the World Economic Forum selected Mr Wu as a “Young Global
Leader.” He was also awarded the "Directors of tha Year Award" by tha Hong
Kong Institute of Directors in 2010, the "Asian Corporate Director Recognition
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Award® by Corporate Governance Asia magazine in 2011, 2012 and 2013, and
named the “Asia's Best CEO (Investor Relations)” in 2012, 2013 and 2014,

Mr. Alec Yiu Wa Tsui (aged 65)
Independent Non-execufive Director

Mr. Alec Yiu Wa Tsui was appointed as an independent non-execulive Director
on December 18, 2006. He is the chairman of cur nominating and corporate
govarnance committee, a member of our audit committee and a member of
our compensation committee. Mr. Tsul has extensive experience in finance
and administration, corporate and strategic planning, information technology
and human resources management, havimg served at warious internaticnal
companias. He held key positions at the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong from 1989 to 1293, joined the Stock Exchange in 1994 as an
axecutive director of the finance and operations services division and was its
chief executive from February 1997 to July 2000. He was also the chief operating
officer of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited from March to August
2000. He was the chairman of the Hong Kong Securitias Institute from 2001 ta
2004. He was a consultant of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from July 2001
to June 2002. Mr. Tsui was an indepandent non-axecutive director of each of
China BlueChemical Limitad from April 2008 to June 2012 and China Chengtong
Development Group Limited from March 2003 to November 2013, all of which
ara companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tsui has been the chairman
of WAG Worldsec Corperate Finance Limited since 2006 and a director of
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited since August 2000.
He is also an independent non-executive director of a number of companies
listad on the Stock Exchange, MASDAQ, the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the
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Philippine Stock Exchange, including COSCO International Haldings Limited
gince 2004, China Power International Development Limited since 2004, Pacific
Online Limited since 2007, ATA Inc. since 2008, China Olifield Services Limited
since 2008, Summit Ascent Holdings Limited since March 2011 and MCP sinca
December 2012 and Kangda International Environmental Company Limited since
July 2014, Mr. Tsui graduated from the University of Tennessee with a bachelor's
degree in industrial engineering in 1875 and a master of enginesring degree in
1976. He completed a program for senior managers in government at the John F.
Kennedy School of Government at Harvard Uinivarsity in 1983,

Mr. Robert Wason Mactier (aged 50)
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Robert Wason Mactier was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on December 18, 2006, He is a member of our compansation committes
and nominating and corporate gowernance committes, Mr. Mactier joined the
board of directors of STW Communications Group Limited, a publicly listed
Australian communications and advertising company, in December 2006
and bacame its independent mon-executive chairman in July 2008, He was a
non-axecutive director of Aurora Community Television Limited from 2005 to
2012. Since 1990, Mr. Mactier has held a variety of executive roles across the
Australian investment banking and securities markets. He has been a consultant
to UBS AG in Australia since Jume 2007. From March 1897 to January 2008,
Mr. Mactier worked with Citigroup Pty Limited and its predecessor firms in
Australia, and prior to this he worked with EL. & C. Ballieu Limited from
Movember 1984 to February 1997 and Ord Minnett Securities Limited from
May 1980 to October 1994, During this time, he has gained broad advisory and
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capital markels transaction experience and specific industry expertise within
the telecommunications, media, gaming, entertainment and technology sectors
and across the private equity sectors. Prior to jeining the investment banking
industry, Mr. Mactier qualified as a chartered accountant in 1987, working
with KPMG from January 1966 to April 1990 across thelr audit, management
consulting and corporate finance practices. He obtained a bachelor's degree
in economics from the University of Sydney, Australia in 1986 and has been a
Mamber of the Australian Institute of Company Directors since 2007,

Senior Management
Mr. Geoffrey Stuart Davis (aged 46)
Executive Vice Prasident and Chiaf Financial Officer

Mr. Geoffray Stuart Davis is cur execulive vice president and chief financial
officer and he was appointed to his current role in April 2011, Prior to that,
he served as our deputy chief financial officer from August 2010 to March
2011 and our senior vice president, corporate finance from 2007, when he
jeined our Company. Prior to jeining us, Mr. Davis was a research analyst for
Citigroup Investment Ressarch, whers he coverad the U.S. gaming industry
from 2001 to 2007, From 1996 to 2000, he was the vice president of corporate
communications for Park Place Entertainment, the largest gaming company in
tha world at the time. Park Place was spun off from Hilton Hotels Corporation
and subsequently renamed Caesars Entertainment. Mr. Davis has been a CFA
charter holder since 2000 and obtained a bachelor of arts from Brown University
in 1991.

Ms. Stephanie Cheung (aged 52)
Executive Vice President and Chief Legal Officer

Ms. Stephanie Cheung is our execulive vice president and chief legal officer and
sha was appointaed to her current rode in December 2008. Prior to that, she held
the title of general counsel from November 2008, when she joined our Company.
She has acted as the secretary to our Board since she joined our Company. Prior
to joining us, Ms. Cheung was an of counsel at Troutman Sanders from 2004 to
2006 and prior to that she practiced law with varicus international law firms In
Hong Keng, Singapore and Toronto, Ms. Cheung graduated with a bachelor of
laws degree from Osgoode Hall Law School in 1986 and a master's degree In
business administration from York University in 1984. Ms. Cheung is admitted as
a solicitor in Ontario, Canada, England and Walas, and Hang Kong.

Ms. Akiko Takahashi (aged 61)

Executive Vice Fresident and Chief Human Resources/Corporate Social
Respansibility Officer

Mz, Akiko Takahashi B our executive vice president and chief human resources/’
corporate social responsibility officer and she was appointed to her current
role in December 2008. Prior to that, she held the title group human resources
director from Decembar 2006, when she joined our Company. Prior 1o joining us,
Mz, Takahashi worked as a consultant in her own consultancy company from
2003 to 2006, whera she conducted *C-level” axecutive searches for clients and
assisted with brand/service culture alignment for a luxury hotel in New York City,
and where her last engagement prior to joining our Company was to lead the
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human rescurces intagration for the largest intarnational hospitality joint venture
in Japan between InterContinental Hotels Group and AMA Hotels, 3he was the
global group director of human resources for Shangri-la Hotels and Resorts,
an international luxury hotel group headguartered in Hong Kong, from 1985 to
2003. Between 1993 and 1995, she was the senior vice president of human
resources and service quality for Bank of America, Hawali, FSB. She served as
regional human resources manager for Sheraton Hotels Hawali/Japan from 1985
to 1993, She started her hospitality career as a training manager for Halekulani
Hotel, Sha began her career in the fashion luxury retail industry in merchandising,
oparations, training and human resources, Ms. Takahashi attended the University
of Hawaii.

Mr. Ying Tat Chan aka Ted Chan (aged 43)
Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Ying Tat Chan aka Ted Chan is our chief operating officer and he was
appointed to his current role in February 2012, Mr. Chan oversees all business
units of cur Group. Previously, since Septembar 2010, ha was our co-chief
operating officer, gaming and before that he served as president of Altira
Macau from November 2008, Prior to his appoiniment as president of Altira
Macau, between 1998 and 2008, Mr. Chan held senior executive roles with
First Shanghai Financial Holding Limited, Melco, Mocha Clubs and Amax
Entertainment Holdings Limited. He graduated with a bachelor's degree in
business administration frem the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1985 and
with a master's degres in financial management under a long distance leaming
course from the University of London, the United Kingdom in 19898,
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Ms. Constance Ching Hui Hsu (aged 41)
General Manager of Altira Macau

Ms. Constance Ching Hui Hsu is our general manager of Altira Macau, and she
was appointed to her curent role In December 2013, Ms. Hsu has worked for
Mocha Clubs since September 2003. She was Mocha Club's former financial
contraller from September 2003 to September 2006, owverseeing finance,
treasury, audit, legal compliance, procurement and administration and human
resources functions, its chief operating officer from December 2006 to November
2008 and its president from December 2008 to December 2013, in-charge-
of the overall business of Mocha Clubs. Ms. Hsu obtained her bachelor of arts
degrea in business administration with major in accounting in 1997 from Seattla
University and a master's degree in business administration (with concentration
on financial services) from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
in 2002 and a doctorate degree in economics from Baijing Normal University
in 2013. Ms. Hsu was qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in the state
of Washington, United States in 1298, a member of the American Institute of
Ceartified Public Accountants in 1999, and an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2001,

Mr. Jaya Jesudason (aged 73)
Executive Vice President, Construction and Design

Mr. Jaya Jesudason is our exacutive vice prasident, construction and design. He
joined cur Company in 2007 as Project Director for the completion of the City of
Dreams Project. Prior to that, he worked at Kewloon-Canten Rallway Corporation
as a general manager of the west rail project and other rail projects. He was also
a divisional manager for the Hong Kong airport project of the Hong Kong Airport
Authority.
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Tha Directors are pleased to present their rapart with the audited consolidated
financial statements of cur Company and our Group for the year ended
December 31, 2014,

Principal Activities

Qur Company and our Group are a developer, owner and operator of casino
gaming and entertainment resort facilities in Asia. Our Company is a helding
company and through our principal subsidiaries owns and operates City of
Dreams, Altira Macau and Mocha Clubs and I3 in the process of developing
Studio City, a cinematically-themed integratad entertainment, retail and gaming
resort in Cotal, Macau. In the Philippines, our subsidiary, MCP has its common
shares listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange under the stock code of *“MCP",
through its subsidiaries, currently operates and manages City of Dreams
Manila, a casino, hotel, retail and entertainment integrated resort within the
Entertainment City complex in Manila, which opened in Decembear 2014,

The principal activities of cur subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements included in this annual report.

Financial Results

The results of our Group for the year ended December 31, 2014 are set out in
the consolidated statements of operations on pages 108 and 110 of this annual
report,

Dividends

On February 25, 2014, cur Board adopted a new dividend policy, under which,
subject to our capacity to pay from accumulated and future earnings and the
cash balance and future commitments at the time of declaration of dividend,
wa intend to provide our Shareholders with quarterly dividends in an aggregate
amount per year of approsximately 30% of our annual consclidated net income
attributabla to Melco Crown Enterfainment.

On Apeil 16, 2014, we paid a special dividend of US$0.1147 per Share to our
Shareholders. On June 6, 2014, September 4, 2014 and December 4, 2014,
we paid quarterly dividend of US$0.0431 per Share, US$0.0259 per Share and
US$0.0239 per Share, respectively, to our Shareholders. On February 12, 2015,
the Beard declared a quarterly dividend of US$0.0171 per Share which was paid
to cur Sharehokders on March 16, 2015,

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended December 31, 2014 (2013: Nilj.

Properties and Development Projects

Details of our properties and development projects are set out in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Properties and Development Projects”
section and notas 5, 9 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements included
in this anmual report.
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Share Capital and Share Options

Details of movements in the share capital of our Company during the year are
zet out in the consolidated statements of shareholders® equity on page 112 and
113 of this annual report. Details of movements in share options of cur Company
during the year are set out in note 18 to the consclidated financial statemants
included in this annual repart.

Summary Financial Information

A summary of the published results amd assets, liabilities and noncontrolling
interests of our Group for the last five financial years, as exiracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 224 and 225 of
this annual report, This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements,

Reserves

Section 34(2) of the Companies Law (as amended) of the Cayman Islands
provides that, subject to the provisions of our Articles, the share premium
account of our Company may be applied to pay distributions or dividends to
Shareholders provided that immediately following the date the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, our Company is able to pay our debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business, The share premium included in the
additional paid-in capital of our Company as of December 31, 2014 and 2013
amounted to approximately US$2.3 billion and US$2.8 billion respectively. Our
Company recorded retained eamings as of December 31, 2014 and accumulated
losses as of Decamber 31, 2013,

E A Feper] 201 b Caman | gt e

Fer the discussion on the ability of our subsidiaries to transfer funds to our
Company in the form of cash dividends, loans or advances and the impact of
such restrictions on our ability to meet our cash obligations, see note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements includad in this annual raport.

Donations

The donation made by our Group during the year amounted to USS0.4 million
(201:3: USE50.5 million).

Indebtedness

Particulars of bank lcans and other borrewings of cur Group as at December 31,
2014 ara set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements included in
this annual report.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Gaming promaters are responsible for a substantial portion of our casing
revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2014, our top five customers and
the largest customer were gaming promoters and accounted for approximately
20.4% and 7.0% of our casino revenues, respectively, We believe that we have
siromg relationships with some of the top gaming promoters in Macau and
have a solid network of gaming promaters who help us market our properties
and socurce and assist in managing rolling chip patrens at our properties. We
typically enter into gaming promoter agreements for a one-year term that are
autornatically renewed for periods of up te one year unless otherwise terminated.
Our gaming promotars are compensated through commission arrangements
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which are aither calculated with reference to revenue share or monthly rolling
chip volume, We also extend interest-free credit to a significant portion of our
gaming promoters which are subject to monthly review and various settlement

procaduras.,

W depend on our suppliers W provide us with products and services such as
retail goods, gaming equipment and accessories, transportations, food and
bovarage products, construction and other adminisiralive Services. During
the year ended Dacember 31, 2014, our five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 43.2% of our total products and services purchases: while our
single largest supplier, a construction contractor, accounted for approximately
33.3% of our total products and sarvices purchases.

Mene of our Directors, their associates or the Shareholders (which to the
knowladge of the Directors own more than 5% of the issued share capital of our
Company) had any interast in any of our top five suppliers or customers.

Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this repert were:
CO-CHAIRMAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho

CO-CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Jameas Douglas Packer

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. John Pater Ben Wang

Mr, Clarence Yuk Man Chung

Mr. William Todd Misbet

Mr. Rowen Bruce Craigie

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr, James Andrew Charles MacKenzie

Mr. Thomas Jefferson Wu

Mr. Alec Yiu Wa Tsui

Mr, Robert Wason Mactier

Pursuant to Article 104 of our Company's Articles, any Director appointed during
the year shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of our Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. In
addition, pursuant to code provision A.4.2 of the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to
election by shareheclders at the first general meeting after thelr appointment.

At each annual general meeting, cne-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
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to retirement at least once every three years. Save for Mr. Rowen Bruce Craigie,
each of Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho, Mr. James Douglas Packer and Mr. John
Peter Ben Wang shall retire from office by rotation, and being eligible, would offer
himsalf for re-alection at the forthcoming annual general mesting (the "AGM").
Mr. Rowen Bruce Craigle, who shall also retire from office by rotation, indicated
to the Board that he would not offer himself for re-election at the AGM because
Crown intends to nominate Crown's mew director, Mr. Robert Rankin, in place
of himself as a Director of the Company and thus he would ratire from office
immediately after the closa of the AGM.

To fill the casual vacancy arising due to Mr. Rowen Bruce Craigia's ratirement,
with the recommendation of our nominating and corporate governance
committes, the Board proposes, subject to the approval by the Shareholders
at the AGM, to appoint Mr. Robert Rankin as non-executive Director with effect
after close of the AGM,

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Bicgraphical details of Directors and sanior management are set out on pages 49
to 56 of this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the independent mnon-executive Directors has entered into a director
service contract with our Company on December 18, 2006, except for Mr.
James Andrew Charles MacKenzie, who has entered into a director service
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contract with our Company on April 24, 2008. These director service contracts
will continue from the date of the contracts wntil the date on which the relevant
Iindependant non-executive Director ceases 1o be a member of the Board for any
reason. Under the director service contracts, each imdependent non-axecutive

Diractor will receive a fixed quarterly incoma,

Save as disclosed above, none of the Diractors has entered into a diractor
servicn contract with our Group (excliding contracts expiring or determinable
by the employer within one year without payment of compansation other than
statutory compensation). Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho entered into an employment
contract with the Company for his role as our Chief Executive Officer.

Directors’ Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at December 31, 2014, the interests and shert positions of each Director and
chief executive of our Company in the Shares, underlying Shares, debentures
and convertible loan notes of our Company or any of its associated corporations
{within the meaning of Part XV of the 3F0) which {a) were required to be notified
to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
KW of the SFO (ncluding Interests and short positions which the Director is taken
or desmed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or (b) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by
our Company referred to therein; or (¢) were required, pursuant 1o the Model
Code to be notified to cur Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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1. DIRECTORS’ LONG POSITION IN THE SHARES OF OUR COMPANY

(a) Directors’ long position in the Shares of our Company
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As an Decamber 31, 2004, Me. Lawrence Yau Lung He personaly held 25.200.132 shares of
Malco, Mgrsenting approximately 1.54% of Malco's shama. I addition, 1155000024 shares
of Meleo are held by Lasting Legand Lid.. 201.868,608 shates of Malco are held by Betier Joy
Coacpudd Lid,, 25,724 487 shares of Malco sne Pidd By Mighty Dragon Developments Limded
and 7204000 shares of Malco are held by The L3G Capital Trust, representing appecximately
TATH, 10.67%, 1.68% and DATH of Malco's shases, all of which compansss arme owred by
parsens andior frusts afliated with Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho, M, Lawrence Yau Lung Ho also
hing imterest in Gireat Raspect Limited, & company controld by & aiscratanary famity trust, the
beraficiaries of which inglude Mr. Lyarence Yau Lung Ho and his immadiate tamily members and
kel 303,962,187 shares of Males, rpeesenling approximately 19.66% of Mekea's shanes. Malco
Loisure is a wholly-owred subsidiary of Meloo and acceedingly, Mr, Laweance Yau Lung Ho is
ddenad of WKeN b B ternated in 1,118,459,088 Shanes in whch Melco Laisue is inmlecested or
Is desmed or taken 1o b rterasted, Mr. Lawrance Yau Lung Ho is also inferasted in 10,540,707
Shares, of which 517,781 Shares ane in the form of unvested or unexercised shane options and
unvasted restricted Shares awards granded as at December 31, 2014,

Malco Leisure 5 a direct whlly-owned subsidiary of Meleo and |5 svieresied in or is deamed or
KB to D ntraated in 1,1 18,458,088 Shares,

Mr. James Douglas Packer and his controlied corporations are interssted in 50.01% of the issued
shane capital of Ceown, which in 1 is interested in tha antite issued share capilal of Crown
Emeriainment Group Heldings and which in turn is imerested in the entirs issusd shass capital
al Crawn Ajes Inweatmants, Accondingly, Mi, James Douglas Packer is ceemed of thken 10 b
irsarasied in 1.118,458, 086 Shares in which Crown Asia Invesiments is interesied of is desmed
of laken to e nbieated, M James Dougias Pocked is a0 intenssted in 9,609 Shared in the
farm of wrivested restricted Shares award granted as at December 31, 3014,

Crawn Entertainment Group Holdings i a whally-owned subsidiary of Cromn and @ deamed or
taken to be wterssted in 1,118,458 088 Shares.

Crown Asia Imvestments is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Crown Entertainment Group
Holdings and is interested in or is desmad or laken to ba interested in 1,118 458,088 Shares.

Founder of a disoretionary trust and is deemed or taken 1o be inferesied in 15,000 ADSs,
rapresanting 45,000 Shares,

Tha parceninges are calculated on the basis of 1.633.701.920 Shares In issus as at Decembar
a, 2004,
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(o) Directors’ long position in the underlying Shares of our Company

Tt momber of Shares
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[t Theds sre restrcted Shares snd shane optiord grasted under tha 2008 Share Incentive Pian and
e 2011 Share ceniee Plan, Awands granied balods th year of 2012 ate under the 2006 Share
Inganiie Plan and wasds granted during of after the yeas of 2012 &b and will be under the 2011

Share Incentive Plan,

[F4] The pergentages are calculated on the basis of 1,533,707 820 Shares in issue as at December

a, 2004,

L= v Fepor] 0 o Capman | gt e

2. INTERESTS IN OTHER MEMBERS OF OUR GROUP

(a) Directors’ long position in the shares of associated corporation of our

Company
Mamber o Pementage of
shares a5 o Inkeest as al
Hame of Divector Name of comporation Decermber 31, 2014 Decamber 31, 2014
Lawrence Yoo Lung Ho Meko Crown Macau 1,000,000 105
Alec YiuWa Tsul MCP 100 0.000002%
James Andrew Charles Mackende MCP 10 0.000007%
Pobes:

m Thee 1,000, 000 class A shares carry 10% of the iotal vobing rights in Melgo Crown Macay,

@ The percentage is calculaied on ihe basis of 4911480300 shares of MCP in issue a5 a1

December 31, 2014
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(b) Directors' long position in the underlying shares of associated 2006 Share Incentive Plan and 2011 Share Incentive Plan
PRt 0 e Canpiny Please rafer to Appendix | and note 18 to the consolidated financial statemants
Total Fuiber of included in this annual report for details of the 2006 Share Incentive Plan and the
MCP Shares subject 2011 Share Incentive Plan.
tir the MCP share Apgroaimate
aplions granted &nd peicentage of Az of December 31, 2014, there was no unvested share options and restricted
netriched MCP Shares tharholding Shares under 2016 Share Incentive Plan, A& summary of the unvested awards
Hame of grened by MCP as at Of MCP as at granted under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2014 is
Name of Dirctor corparaion Degamber 31, 20147 Decamber 31, 20147 presented below:
Lawrence fau Lung Ho MCP 23410914 0.477%
James Deuglas Packsr MCP 23410914 047T% Ewarciss price/
Clarenca Yuk Man Chang MCP 16,281,198 0331% grant date Number of
William Todd istset MCP 12,109,810 0.247% fair value unmested share
Aec Yiu Wa Teul MR 3annT 0.068% per Share  eptions/restricted
James Andrew Charles Mackenzie  MCP 3z 0.066% Shara Options [USS) Shares Viasting period
Noles: 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan 4.70 579,652 3 years
2013 Long Term Incentive Plan 8.42 B55,630 34 yoars
{1} Those s suslricted MCP Shares snd MCF share options granted under e MCP Share Incentive 2014 Long Term Incertive Plan 12.98 1,230,354 1 years
B 2 565,636
2} The pementsges are calculated on the basis of 4911480300 shares of MCP in issue as at Restricted Shares
December 31, 2014. 20112 Long Term Incentive Plan 4.43 357,732 3 yars
2013 Long Term Incentive Plan e 508,479 34 years
2014 Long Term Incentive Plan 12.49 701,681 3 years
1,567,682

Wl Caonps | b tadpwsrd |miieed Jornl Hopee F014 L=
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Details of tha movement in share options granted under the 2006 Share Incentive Plan and tha 2011 Share Incentive Plan during the year ended December 31, 2014 are as

follows:
Share prie lurmbe of share ogticns
Erercise price dddeo  Duistandng Outstanding
of share ophiens et of mal [ Euierised Cancitled Lspsed asal
Wae o catisgory of T of grant of Bxertizable fpor el share oplions. Janary 1, duing duiing g during  Decembar 31,
paricipants share options™ peried” I3 13 2014 the period the periog” e period the period e
Diirac bors:
Lawmbrce Yau Leng Ho March 17, 2000 Waith 17, 2010 to Warch 16, 2019 109 10 74 692 - - — - 724 502
March 17, 2008 March 17, 2011 ko March 16, 2019 108 10 T4 52 - - — — T24 582
March 17, 2004 March 17, 2012 to March 16, 2019 106 1.09 M 5 - - - - T24592
March 17, 2009 March 17, 2013 I March 16, 2019 1.4 1104 T2 e - - - - T24.598
Mewatriner 25, 2000 Hervermbeer 25, 2010 bo March 17, 2018 143 143 188, 763 - - - - 185,763
Movember 23, 2000 lovember 25, 2011 to March 17, 2018 143 143 188,763 - - - - 188763
Noverber 25,2008 Wovember 25, 2012 to Masch 17, 2018 143 143 188,76 - — = - 188763
Hovember 25, 2000 November 25, 2013 to March 17, 2008 143 143 168, 768 _— - _ _ 188750
March 23, 2011 March 23, 2012 b March 22, 2021 252 252 482,115 - - - - 482,115
Masch 23, 2011 March 23, 2013 tn March 22, 2021 252 252 48215 - - - - 482115
Mech 23, 2011 March 23, 2014 bo March 22, 2021 25 252 482,268 = = = = 2288
March 29, 2012 March 29, 2013 fo March 28, 2022 41 443 Ak - - - - 158133
March 29, 2012 March 29, 2014 b March 28, 02 4 443 Ak o - - - — 158133
Manch 29, 2012 March 20, 2015 o March 28, 2022 4T 443 158133 - — — - 158133
May 10, 213 Way 10, 2014 to May 9, 2023 242 g7 120870 == i . = 120,570
May 10, 213 My 10, 2015 to My 9, 2023 a4 821 120,870 - - - - 120870

Lol B Fepor] 014 b Campn | g badrwsens Limdied.
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Share price Nurber of share aglions
Fuaerise price ddedd  Oulslandig Dulstarding
of share optons gent of sal Granied Exsrcied Canclied Lagsed wa
Name: o caegeey of Dafe of grent of Emisabl {perShare)  share cptiors Janugiy 1, dring turing duing duig  December 31,
participants share options’ pesiod” 55 i3 201 tepericd  the peid® the period e pericd 24
May 10,2013 May 10, 2016 1o Mey 8, 2023 842 87 20870 - = = = 120870
March 28, 2014 March 28, 2017 1o March 27, 2004 1288 1248% - 20,343 - - - 2038
Sub-telat 5,937,339 320,343 - - - 6257882
Clrence Yk ManChing  March 18, 2008 March 13, 2001 1o March 17, 2018 T a 14,157 - - - - 10157
March 18, 2008 March 13, 2010 1o Merch 17, 2018 40 & 14,157 - - - = 14157
March 16, 2008 March 18, 2011 o March 17, 2018 am 4m 14151 - - - - 14157
March 15, 2008 March 13, 2012 1o March 17 2018 am 4 14157 - - - - 15
March 17, 2008 March 17, 2010 1o March 16, 2019 1 109 U500 - - - - U5
March 17, 2008 March 17, 2011 o March 18, 2019 1 1109 509 - - - - 350
March 17, 2008 March 17, 2012 1o March 16, 2019 19 109 459 - - - - M5E
March 17, 2008 Mareh 17, 2013 1o Masch 16, 2019 11 109 34509 - - - - MS5m
Subrtetat 194 4 — = = - 194,664
Join Peer Ben Wang Merch 18, 2008 March 12, 2009 fo March 17, 2018 a0 a0 14,157 - - - = 157
March 16, 2008 March 18, 2010 1o March 17, 2018 am 4 14,157 - - - - 14157
March 16, 2008 March 12, 2011 fo March 17 2018 am 401 14,157 - - - - 115
March 18, 2008 March 12, 2012 to March 17, 2018 am 4 14,157 - - - - 10157
March 17, 2008 March 17, 2010 1o Merch 16, 2019 109 1109 4509 - - - - M5E
March 17, 2008 March 17, 2011 o March 16, 2019 109 109 34509 - - - - U5m
March 17, 200 March 17, 2012 o March 16, 2019 1 108 509 - - - - M50
March 17, 2000 March 17, 2013 fo Merch 16, 2019 10 119 50 - - - - U5m
Subrtelat 194 4 - - - - 184,564
Fober! Wascn Maclier Seplober 10,2007 September 10, 2008 1o Sepherber 9, 2017 516 42 5562 - - - - 5,982
Seplimber 10,2007 Sapherber 10, 2000 to Sepherrber 9, 2017 5106 4 11867 = = = = 11967
Septiber 10,2007 Septertber 10, 2010 1o Septertber 9, 2017 506 e 1782 - - - - 1795
Mt Crows bt | mdiesd Sremgd Heport 2014 L]
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Share price Nuriber of ghare options
Peereis price ot dile ol Dutztanding (utstanding
of share plions: grant of sl Granted Expreised Cancelled Lapsad sl
Naeme or category of Dabercf grant of Exercisable iperShare}  shane oplions Jangary 1, during during dusing dering  December 31,
participants share options™ period” s 1] 2014 the perind the perind™ the perid the pericd 4
Seplembes 10, 2007 Seplember 10, 2001 to Seplerber 9, 2017 506 442 308 =, = = = 23948
Maich 18, 2008 March 18, 2008 o March 17, 2018 40 M 14,157 - - - - 14,157
March 18, 2008 March 18, 2010 o March 17, 2018 40 40 14,157 - - - - 14157
March 18, 2008 March 18, 2011 ko March 17, 2018 4m im 14157 - - - - 14.157
March 18, 2008 March 16, 2012 to March 17, 2018 4m 40 14,157 - - - - 14157
March 17, 2009 March 17, 2010 to March 16, 2019 109 109 34,508 - - - - 34509
March 17, 2009 March 17, 2001 o March 16, 2019 108 15 50 - - - -— 34509
Magch 17, 2009 March 17, 2012 i March 16, 2019 109 10 Ham - - - -_ 34509
March 17, 2009 March 17, 2013 ko March 16, 2018 108 108 M50 - - - — 34500
Subelofal: 254,511 = - - —_ 234511

L] By Fepor] 014 b Camgn | g tabrmens Limdiedd.
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Share price Number of sharg options

Eaeeise price of dabe of Outstanding Outstanding

of share options gantof wal Franted Brerciond Lancalied Lagoed aal

MName or caleqery of Date of grant of Exerisahle fper Sharej share cptios Janwgiy 1. ding duing duing duing  December 31,

participants share options™ peiog” 55 1] 2014 the pericd the period™ the perind the perivd 2014

Thomes Jefferson Wy Septessier 10, 2007 September 10, 2008 to September 9, 2017 306 44 S5 = (5:952) e = =

Septesmiber 10,2007 September 10, 2008 to Sephember 9, 217 506 42 11567 - (150 - - -

Septessiber 10, 2007 September 10, 2000 1o September 9, 207 506 82 T2 - {17953 - - -

Septertber 10,2007 Septarber 10, 2011 10 Sephartber 9, 2017 5.06 442 2346 = @345 - = =

March 16, 2008 March 18, 2004 fo Masch 17, 2018 im an 14,157 - {1150 - - -

March 18, 2005 March 18, 2010 fo Maech 17, 2018 i 4 14,157 — {14,157} - - -

March 18, 2008 March 18, 2011 1o March 17, 2018 4m 40 14,157 — {14157 e —— =

March 15, 2008 March 18, 212 to March 17, 2018 40 an 14,157 - {14150 - - -

March 17, 2009 March 17, 2010 fo Manch 16, 2018 im 1M HA0 - (34,509 - - -

March 17, 2008 March 17, 2011 to March 16, 2019 M 108 ] — 34505 — = =

March 17, 2008 March 17, 2012 tn March 16, 2019 1m 108 ek = (3450 — - =

March 17, 2008 Merch 17, 2013 fo Manch 16, 2018 im 10 HA0 - (34,509 - - -

Sub-tetat 5451 - 25451} - = =

Al Directoes” Sub-fotak 6,835 580 3,343 254511} . = 6801521
] Aorwd Fegrt 014 &
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Share price Nuriber of share options
Ereree price ot date of Cutetarding (hdstanding
of shae nplions ot of mal Grnled Exerrised Cancelled Lapsad sl
MNaeme or category of Dabeof grant of Erercisable iperShare)  share oplions Jangary 1, during durirg duing dering  Decemter 31,
participarts share opfions" period” s [ 2014 the period the pesiod™ the period the: periced 4
Employess Sephembes 10, 2007 Seplember 1), 2008 to-Seplember 9, 2017 06 442 530 — = = — 530
Emplyyees Septembes 10, 2007 Seplember H), 2004 to Seplember 9, 2017 06 442 LR - - - —_ 11970
Employes Septembes 10, 2007 September H), 2000 to-Seplember 9, 2017 06 442 1785 - - - - 17955
Eriplayees September 10, 2007 Seplember 10, 2011 to Seplember 9, 2017 506 442 bt — - - = M0
Enployess March 18, 2008 March 16, 2000 o March 17, 2018 4m an 4662 - - - - 4562
Employess Marh 18, 2008 March 18, 2010 to March 17, 2018 4 40 4662 - - - - 4562
Employeis March 18, 2008 March 16, 2011 o March 17, 2018 4 40 4662 - - - - 4562
Ermployess March 18, 2008 March 18, 2012 i March 17, 2018 4m 4m 46M - - - - 451
Ermployees Movember 25,2008 Kovember 25, 2010 In Hoverrber 24, 2018 10 10 1386570 - H1526 - - 1,345.044
Emplyyess Mowember 25, 2008 November 25, 2011 to Hovember 24, 2018 1.0 10 17 - 138,665 = B0ET) 1541975
Employess January 20, 2009 Joeuary 20, 2000 o January 16, 2019 1 m 197,367 - - - - 197,367
Ermployees Jenuary 20, 2009 Javuzry 20, 201 4o January 10, 2013 10 m 197,37 - - - - 187,367
Employees. Jenuary 20, 2003 Jaary 0, 2012 fo Jenuary 18, 2019 101 1M 167,367 - - - - 187367
Employens Jenuary 20, 2009 Jonuzry 20, 2013 1o January 19, 2013 i) 1 197,373 = = = a 197373
Employees Hovember 25, 2009 liewembes 25, 2000 tn Septerber 9, 2017 143 143 58,347 - 249 - - 55,356
Errplayess November 25,2000 November 25, 2011 ln Sapterrbes 9, 2017 143 143 62397 - .081) - - 55356
Erployees November 25,2000 November 25, 2012 ln Seplemrbes 0, 2017 143 143 12309 - 116,053 = - 55,356
Employess Movember 25, 2009 liowember 25, 2013 to Sephember 9, 2017 143 143 139,737 - AT.920 - - 101817
Employees Hovember 25, 2009 Newembes 25, 2000 to Wearch 17, 2008 143 143 55,080 - - - - 5080
Emplayes Novermber 25, 2009 lievember 25, 2011 o March 17, 2018 143 143 563 - [LFL ] - - 55,080
- Bawusi Hepor] 7114 Moo Caman | by tarmens Liméed
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Share prke Nurber of shars agtions

Eupttg price ddatedd  Ouistandeg ufstindog

o share options ganld sl Granied Erercised Canczliod Lapsed s

Mame o1 categery of Date of grent of Erenisatle perShesl  stmcpios  Jenuary . dring ding duing dug  December 31,
Pt share gptcns’! pericd "= s 1 tepeicd  the percd” hepeicd e perkd 2014
Epioyees Novenber 25,2000 November 25, 2012 to Merch 17, 2018 143 14 71400 = 16328 = = 55,080
Enpioyees Novenber 25,2009 November 25, 2013 fo March 17, 2018 14 143 12021 = @4 — L o178
Enpiopees Nowrber 25,2009 November 25, 2010 to Agrd 10, 2016 14 14 5100 = i = = 35100
Employees Newerrber 25, 2008 Movamber 25, 2011 %o Aprd 10, 2018 143 143 35,100 - - - — kR ]
Empoyees Novenber 25,2000 November 25. 2012 to Apr 10, 2018 143 14 100 = = = = 10
Enpyees Novenber 25,2009 November 25, 2013 to Apr 10, 2018 14 143 100 = s = = 310
Erpyees May 26. 2010 May 26, 2012 1o May 25, 2020 125 1% i - 25451 - - WEM
Ergiepees May 26, 2010 May 25, 2017 1o May 25, 2020 125 12 9043 = 2454 - = 6803
Erpinyees May 25, 2010 May 26, 2013 1o May 25, 2020 12 15 5 - 40128 - - 138
Empinyees Nt 16, 2010 Regust 16, 2012 to August 15, 2020 ik 125 150,000 = - = = 150,000
Enpiayees At 16, 2010 Ragust 16, 2014 o August 15, 2020 13 125 150,000 = i = = 150,00
Ermployees March 23, 2011 March 23, 2002 o March 22, 2021 252 252 BERST3 - (24 1 — — 574,778
Empioyees March 23, 2011 March 22, 2013 fo Merch 22, 2001 252 252 805,005 = B8 = B 120477
Empinpees March 23, 2011 Mereh 23, 2014 fn Merch 22. 2021 252 252 8250 = (154842 = & g2
Ergiyees March 24, 2012 March 24, 2013 to March 25, 2022 4% T 46 = 20553 = = Mz
Erpopeess March 29, 2012 March 23, 2014 o Manch 28 2000 470 443 M2 35 = {40844y - - 40,30
Ermployees March 29, 2012 March 29, 2015 o Manch 28, 2022 470 443 442 380 - - {20651) — 41,718
Epinyees May 10,2013 May 10, 2014 1o May 9, 2023 82 827 31553 - {12,897} 2054 = 23580
Empiopees May 10, 2013 May 10, 2015 t May 9. 2028 e 8 553 = = 17507 = H16M
Erpieyees May 10,2013 May 10,2016 1 May 9. 208 84 8 5567 = - 17504 = 207 63

Mk Crowys b tarpmed | mdbesd e Hopart 2014 L]
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Share price Nuriber of share options
Exereiss price ot date of Duletanding Outstanding
of shewe oplins grast of ] Grnled Exentised Cancelled Lapsed sl
Name cr category of Datecf grare of Exercizable fper Shavel  share oplions Jangary 1, during duing duing dering  Decemder 31,
participants share options™ perid” 15 153 2004 the period the pesiod the period the period e
Employess Mey 10, 313 Now 12, 2004 fo Mey &, 2023 B42 gar 18,606 - - - — 18503
Employess. May 10,2113 How 12, 206 fo Mzy 8, 2023 242 L¥i] 18,608 - - - - 18503
Emphryess March 28, 2014 March 28, 2016 b March 27, 2024 1256 12.49% - 14415 - - - 14415
Employess March 28, 2014 Marth 28, 2017 to March 27, 2024 2% 12407 — 1208 - - — 1200
Erployees Maxch 28, 2014 March 28, 2017 bo March 27, 2024 128 12,409 - WTB - (56,345 - 855387
Employess Hugust 28, 2004 August 26, 2005 o Aegest 27, 2024 a5 456 - 13 - {1331 - -
Ermployes. At 28, 2014 Aipist 28, 2016 to Augest 27, 2024 a5 56 - 13 - {1133 - -
Emplyess Hugust 28, 2014 August 28, 2017 o Augest 27, 2024 Q66 .56 - 1350 - {11,331 - -
Sutrlotal: 102 058 1000350 ET2788 {155,065 8T 10,176 569
Total 16,847,788 1,320,583 (928,209) [155,865) [6087T) 17,078,180
Pl

i) Mwards granted baftons tha year of 2012 are undar tha 2008 Share Incentive Plan and awards granted dunng or atter the year of 2012 ars, and will be, under the 2011 Shame Incartive Plan.

1] Tha vesting paricd of i share eptions is from the date of grant until the commancemant of exercisable pariod,

k] In rospact of the share optiens axsrcised during the pariod, the weighted sverage closing price of tha Shares immediately balone the dates on which 1hs options waens sxercised was US$11.13,

(4  Share price on the day bafore of the grant of shars option is US$12.04,

By Fepor] 014

ko Cammer | gt wmems imdied.
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Details of the movement in restricted Shares granted under the 2006 Share Incentive Plan and the 2011 Share Incentive Plan during the year ended December 31, 2014 are
as follows:

Murber of nestricied Shans

Share price & (uistandng Qutstanding

e ol geand of mal Granted Fusclassifind Veslnd Cancidled as

Mame of catequey of Dt of grart of satrited Steres Janiary 1 aring dng during duieg  Decsmber 31,

partiparts sbited Sares” Yesting et ss 201 the period the period fhe period e perid 2014
Derisctons:

Liweenca ¥au Lung Ho Mdaech 23, 2011 March 23, 2014 252 241,137 - - (241.137) - e

Merch 29, 212 March 28, 2014 a4 8065 - — {7a,065) - —

March 2, 2012 March 29, 2015 448 T9./068 - - — - 19,058

Mgy 10, 2013 May 10, 2014 8 60435 - - B35 - -

Ay 10,2013 Mag 10,2005 827 45 = - . _ 4B

ay 10, 2013 May 10, 218 87 60435 - - e o 60.&%

Mzerh 28, 2014 March 28, 2017 1249 — 160,171 - — - 160,171

Sub-Sobat 580575 160,171 - (380,537 -5 360,108

Jarmis Douglas Packes IMaech 28, 2014 March 28, 2015 124 - 3.2 —_ — = 1201

\Mzpch 28, 2014 March 28, 2016 124 - 3304 — - - 324

March 28, 214 March 22, 2017 124 - 31204 - - - 3204

Sl - L - = = e

Wi Cyosps: |ndertalopwed | imiieed Jrrngl Heper F014 L
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Hurrber of restricled Shares

Share price al Outstarding Ohistanding

ot o grant of wal Girnted Reckssfied Vested Cancslied sl

Name or category of Dt of grant of estricled Shares Jangay 1, during ding duing deing  December 31,

particpants restricted Shares”! esting date (153 004 the perind the pericd the period the pericd e

Clesente ok Man Chung March 23, 2011 Masch 23, 2014 252 15,858 - - (15,858 - -

March 29, 2012 Marth 2, 2114 443 259 - - 22 500 - -

March 24, 2012 March 2, 215 443 590 - - - - 22550

May 10, 2013 My 10, 2014 B2 4835 - - L] - -

May 10, 2013 May 10,2015 g2t 485 - - - - 4536

May 10, 2013 May 10, 2016 B2 [F:c<] - o - - 483

Manh 28, 2014 Mkach 28, 2015 1244 - 32 - - - 320

March 28, 2014 Mdasch 28, 2016 1249 - 3204 - - - 3204

March 28, 2014 March 28, 2017 1240 - 32 - - - 3304

Sl 75,58 9609 - 43.254) - 41868

John Pter Ben Wang March 23, 2011 March 23, 214 252 15,858 - - (15,858 - -

March 24, 2012 March 20, 3014 443 00% - - 2,035 - -

Marcs 28, 2012 March 20, 215 443 80% - - - - 9136

May 10, 2013 May 10, 2014 g7 483% - - 883 - -

May 10, 2013 Wy 10, 215 827 45 - - - - 4%

May 10, 2013 May 10, 2016 527 F:cc] - - - - 453

March 28, 2014 March 28, 2015 1240 - 3z - - - 2301

Manh 28, 2014 e 28, 206 1240 = 3204 . = - 304

March 28, 2014 Marth 28, 2017 1249 — 3204 — — - 3204

Sutrintal 4545 959 - (28,730 - pokil]
L4 Bqwugi Heporl 114 Wb Campn) [ tadwnens (imied
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Nebe of nestricied Shares

Stars price Outstandeg Outstanding

e of geant of #al Granted Raclassified Vested Cancelled sl

Neme o calegory of et of grant of stricted Sheres Jeanuary 1, during ting duing duing  December 31,
participants restricied Shaves” Vesting date 1155 214 the pericd the period Ihe period the period 2014
Wilkem Tood Nebet My 10,2013 May 10, 2014 8 4536 — - {4.536) - -
May 10,2013 Way 10, 315 82 4535 - - e - 48%

May 10, 2013 Mhay 10, 2016 L 4833 - - - - 485

Mech 28, 2014 March 28, 2015 1249 - 320 - - - 3201

Merch 28, 20114 March 28, 2016 124 - 3204 - - - 3204

March 25, 214 March 28, 2017 1249 - 3,204 - - - 3204

Sub-totak 14505 2604 - H.E36) - 19218
Revien Bruce Craigie My 10,2013 May 10, 2014 82 4536 = - 536 - -
My 10,2013 May 10, 2015 821 4535 - - - - 48%

May 10,2013 May 10, 3016 87 4833 - - - - 483

March 28, 2014 March 28, 215 1249 - 3201 - - - 320

March 28, 2014 March 22, 2016 1249 - 3,204 = - = 124

March 28, 20114 March 28, 2017 1240 — 3204 - - = 3204

Sub-tatal 14506 4,600 - 4 £36) = 14,278
Robert Warson Mactier Maech 23, 201 March 23, 2014 25 15858 - - (15.558) - -
Merch 2, 2512 March 29, 2014 W a6 = - 2,086 - -

March 29, 3112 March 22, 2015 (¥ 966 — - - - 90%

May 10,2013 May 10, 2014 LRl 4535 - - 4.536) - -

My 10, 2013 Whay 10, 2015 ar 4536 - - - - 48%

My 10, 2013 May 10, 2016 821 4833 - - = - 483

March 28, 2014 March 28, 2015 1249 - 3.0 - - - 3201

Mserh 28, 214 March 25, 2016 124 = 3204 - = = 324

Mgeth 28, 2014 March 28, 2017 1249 - 5204 - - - 3204

Sub-tetat B 45,609 — 29,730 — 231

Wl Caomps: |ndertalwwed |imiieed.
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urmber of restricled Shares

Share price al Dutstarding Ohdstanding

ot of grant of mal Grnted Reclarssfied Vested Cancslied sl

Name or categury of Dt of grant of estricled Shares Jangary 1, during ding duing deing  Decembar 31,

participants restricted Shares™! esting date 153 2004 the period the pericd the period the pesiod 4

Pex s Wa Tsui March 23, 2011 March 23, 2014 252 15,858 - - (15,858 - -

March 29, 2012 Marth 2, 2114 443 503 - - 3035 & =

March 24, 2012 March 29, 2015 443 H0% - - - - 4036

May 10, 2013 My 10,2014 827 483 - - e - -

May 10, 2012 May 10,2015 g2t 4835 - - - - 4536

May 10, 013 May 10, 2016 B2y [F:co] - - - - 483

Marh 28, 2014 kasch 28, 2015 1249 - 32 - - - 320

Mareh 28, 2014 March 28, 2016 1249 - 3204 - - - 3204

March 28, 2014 March 28, 2017 1240 - 3204 - - - 3204

Sl 4545 9609 - 20,73 - 2

Thomas Jeflerson W Manch 23, 2011 March 23, 214 252 15,858 - - {15858 - -

March 24, 2012 March 20, 2014 443 0% - - 2,035 - -

March 28, 2012 March 29, 2015 443 90% - - - - 91036

May 10, 2013 My 10, 2014 g7 48% - - 8% - -

May 10, 2013 Wy 10, 2015 827 4% - - - - 4%

May 10, 2013 May 10, 2016 527 F:xd] - - - - 453

March 28, 2014 March 28, 2015 1240 - 3z - - - 2201

Man 28, 2014 e 28, 206 1249 = 3204 = = - 304

March 28, 2014 Marth 28, 2017 1249 — 3204 — — - 3204

Sutrintal 4545 959 - 28,730 - pokil]
" Bqwusi Heporl 114 Wb Camp) | gt wmens (e
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Mo o resticted Stares
Sueprced  Dustandeg utetaredig

date of geant of al [ranted PReclassified Vesied Cancelled a5

Mame of categuey o Dete o grank o estricted Shares Jantgny 1, daiig dusing duing dueg  December 31,
partcipants resticted Shares” Vesting dats uss 014 the peicd the perid the period e period 04
James bedrew Chares MacKendis March 23, 2011 Varch 73, 2014 25 1556 — — (15,558 - -
March 20, 2012 March 23, 2014 "W a6 = s 2086 = =

March 29, 2012 March 25, 2015 w 9/ - = = = 0,0%

My 10,2013 May 10, 2014 i 455 = = A = =

My 10,2013 May 10, 2015 827 4536 = = = L 4%

My 10,2013 May 10, 2016 827 7o - - - - 483

March 28, 2014 March 28, 2015 4 - 320 - - - 3201

Maech 28, 2014 March 28, 2016 4 - 3204 - — - 3204

March 28, 2114 March 25 2017 R4 =5 3,204 = — - 3204

St 8435 3600 - R = B
Al Ditecties’ Sit- okt QAR M55 - w22 — 50,712
Enpioyees degust 16, 2010 hugesl 16, 2014 125 75,000 = = 75,000 = =
Enpiojess Maeeh 23, 2011 Mareh 25, 2014 25 Eik = - (81,285 . =
Ergiayeis Maech 29, 2012 Vareh 26, 2014 “w HeA% = Rl 21,163 = =
Enpinyess Mach 29, 2012 March 28, 2015 448 prl - e - {10,335 210804
Erpiayees My 10,2013 May 10, 2014 827 157761 - - (153237 {4524 -
Enplojees Uy 10,2013 May 10, 2015 827 157761 . - - 049 148512
Enpioees Uy 10,2013 May 10, 2016 27 15773 = = - 85 148818
Employees My 10,2013 Novemmber 12, 2014 52 12687 £ = (12527) = =
Enploess May 10,2013 oveembur 12, 2016 827 12587 - - - - 12627
Eriiapeis Maech 28, 2014 March 28, 2016 124 = 7,206 = = - 126
Enpioyees Mach 28, 2014 March 25, 2017 24 = a7 = = @817 "pn
Enpioyees bogus! 25, 2014 March 28, 2015 955 - 5,667 - - 5,667 -
Enpioyees Begust 28, 2014 Narch 28, 2016 a5 == 5,667 = - 5667 -
Enplojees bt 25, 2014 March 2%, 2017 45 - 5,567 . - S5 &
Sub-elat 150736 500,204 - [T [ 613
Tatal 2,434,629 745,856 — 1,535,685} (17,935) 1,567,882
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Report of the Directors

ate: A summary of tha unvested awards granted under the MCP Share Incentive Plan
() Awards graried before the year of 2012 A undes the 2008 Share Incenthe PIan and swards as of December 31, 2014 is presented below:
rnted Guring or Atter th year of 2012 Sk, 80 wil e, undad the 2011 Share Incantive Flan,
Exarcize price’ Mumber of
MCP Share Incentive Plan Qb i MR
fair valug per share opfions/
Apart from the 2008 Share Incentive Plan and the 2011 Share Incentive Plan, MCP Share restricied
our subsidiary, MCP, also operates the MCP Share Incentive Plan to promate the [PHR) MCP Shares  Vesting period
success and enhance the value of MCR MCP Share Options
013 Long Term Incentive Plan 30 114583426 Within 3 years
Please refer to Appendix Il of this annual report for details of the MCP Share 2014 Long Term Incentive Plan 8.30 1.560,728 Within 4 years
Ineantive Plan, 2014 Long Term Incentive Plan 8:30 1,040,485  Within 4 years
2014 Long Term Incentive Plan 8.30 1,040,485 Within 4 years
2014 Long Term Incantive Plan 830 1,040,485 Wiithin 4 yaars
2014 Long Term Incentive Plan 13.26 4861,003 3 years
124,126,612
Restricted MCP Shares
2013 Long Term Incentive Plan 830 sr2o Within 3 years
2014 Long Term Incentive Plan 1348 TB0,362 Within 4 years
2014 Long Term Incentive Plan 13.00 520,243 Within 4 years
2014 Long Term Incentive Plan 12.76 520,243 Within 4 years
2014 Long Term Incentive Plan 12.96 520,243 Wiithin 4 years
2014 Long Term Incentive Plan 13.00 4,736,684 3 years
64,371,486

L vl Fepor] 01 o Campn | gt imfied.



Report of the Directors

Details of the movement in MCP share oplions granted under the MCP Share Incentive Plan during the year ended December 31, 2014 are as follows:

Erafeise price Share price Huber of MGP share oplions

of MZP  dale of Outstandig Outstanding

share options. gt of MCP mal Granted Ereriond Canezlied Lageed L]

Name or calegery [l of grant of fperMCP Sharel  share cpfions Jenuary 1 ding thring duing duing  December 31,

of participants MCP chare cpliones Enacisabile pericd” [ P 204 the peicd the period the period e e 2014

WGE Direchows:

Lawrenc ¥au Lung o Jne 28, 2013 March 4, 2015 bo June 27, 2003 830 8 5,X2425 - - - - 520045

June 28, 2013 Bl 23, 2015 10 June 27, 2003 830 B30 5,202 455 - - - - 5202425

June 28, 2013 Al 23, 2016 o June 27, 2023 8.30 B3 52242 - - - - 5200458

Sub-totat 15,607 276 - - - - 15507276

James Douglas Packer Jne 28, 2013 March 4, 20157 to June 27, 2003 630 an 5,202 425 - - - B 5,202,425

June 28, 2013 Rl 232015 1o June 27, 2023 630 B30 5212435 - - - - 520245

June 28, 2013 Apeil 23, 2016 o June 27, 2023 830 B30 5 M2 AT = = = . 5.202.4%

Sub-sota 15,607 216 - - - - 15,507,276

WCE Directoes' Sub-lotal 3.4 562 — — - — 31214552
WCE and MCP Divetors:

Clarence Yik Man Chung June 28, 2013 Mareh 4, 20055 b June 27, 2003 830 830 3,458 284 - - - - 468,084

e 28, 2013 Bpril 29, 2015 10 June 2T, 2003 830 B3 J458.284 - - - - 3468284

June 28, 2013 Al 23, 2016 %0 June 27, 2023 83 B3 3,458 783 - - = - 2460.263

Sub-tetat 10,404 251 - - - - 10,404,851

Wilkarm Todd Nesbet June 28, 2013 March 4, 20155 to June 27, 2003 630 830 26213 - - - - 260,213

June 28, 2013 Kol 29, 2015 10 June 27, 2023 830 B3 26213 - - - - 25M,213

June: 28, 2013 Rl 23, 2016 0 June 27, 2023 830 B30 26212 - - - = 2601212

Sub-letat 1005538 - - — - 1503638

Al Yiu Wa Te June 28, 2013 March 4, 20159 to June 27, X063 8.30 EE B50,308 - - - - £50,308

June: 28, 2013 Bl 23, 2015 0 June 27, 2003 830 B30 550,303 = - - - 550,303

Jne 28, 2013 Al 29, 2016 o June 27, 2023 830 B30 B0, 303 - - - - 650,303

Sub-totat 1,850 506 - - - - 1,450,908

W Cyonp, | nbertadopwd |imiieed
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Report of the Directors

Erercise price Stare price Nurrbes of MCP share oplions.

o NCP ddiesl  Dulstardig Chestandicg

sdamopbons  grant of MCP wal Granled Erertised Cancelled Lapsed sl

Wame or category Debercf grart of Per MCP Shave} - share oplions Jangary 1, during durirg duing dering  December 31,

of participants MCP shaes opticns Erercisabile period” PHP PHP 2014 the period the pericd the period the: pericd e

Jzmes Andrew Charles Juce 28, 2013 Marth 4, 2015 fo June 27, 2023 (1] 830 B30, e — = — 650303

Mackende

Jue 28, 3013 hodd 20, 20015 o Juee 27, 2023 X ] B30 B0 303 - - - - £250.303

Jure 28, 3013 hpdl 20, 2016 to Juee 27, 2023 L] B30 B50,303 - — - - £350.303

blotal 1,950,808 — — - - 1,950,909

MCE and MCP Dimctoes’ 22137 — - - — 22110307

Subrlotal:

Al Divectors Subofal: 53324 850 - - - - 53,324 850

Emplyees. Jure 28, 3013 March 4, 20157 fo June 27, 20123 L] B30 19.375,030 - i 520,248 - 18,558,788

Juee 28, 3013 Hord 20, 2015 to Jure 27, 2023 3] 530 16.375,030 - - 50,248 - 1858.788

Jure 28, 2013 o 29, 206 to-Juse 27, 2023 k1) 830 19.379,089 - - 520,243 -_ 18,258 806

Febngary 17, 2014 Hpdl 29, 2015 by Febrwry 16, 2004 &30 1348% - 520242 - - - 520242

February 17, 2004 #pa 20, 2016 o February 16, 204 ] 12480 = 0243 o = = 520243

February 17, 2014 hpdl 29, 2017 bo Febnary 16, 2024 L] 13.48° = 520243 = - — 520243

Febnuary 28, 2014 ol 29, 2015 to Februsry 27, 2024 (] 13007 = MG - = = 6528

Febrary 28, 2074 hpdd 2, 2016 o Febuary 27, 204 %] 13007 - MagE = - - HE B2

Febrsary 28, 2004 Ao 20, 2007 1o Fibouary 27, 2024 L] 13007 - ] - - - HEBA

March 27, 2004 Al 29, 2015 to March 26, 2004 23 12769 -_— MHEER - - -_— 46 B8

March 27, 2004 Hprd 29, 2016 to March 26, 2024 k1] 12 - R - - - HEA28

March 27, 2004 Aol 29, 2007 Lo Weasch 26, 2004 B ] 12767 Lo HEEN e = e HEH2

March 28, 2014 o 29, 2015 to March 27, 2024 L 12067 = 36 & = = 45528

March 28, 2014 hpdl 24, 2016 to March 27, 024 (] 12967 - MaER - - - Heg2

March 28, 2014 hped 29, 2017 o Mearch 27, 2024 %] 12967 - ] - - - HER

Mty 30, 2014 May 30, 2015 o My 29, 2024 135 13007 - 162035 = - - 162032

My 30, 244 May 30, 2016 to My 29, 2024 1394 12004 -_— 162030% - - -_— 1 520,326

May 30, 2014 Way 30, 2017 to May 29, 2024 1226 13007 - 1620350 = — = 152035

Subvhofal 58137108 9543186 - {1.560,727 - 66,119,568
b Bovud Repor] 014 ko Cammpn | bog e Uimdied.



Report of the Directors

Erenise price Share price Hurber of WGP share agliors

ol Mop ddited  Ouistaindig Oulstarding

shoreplions. grant of MOP mal Geanted Ererciond Cancalied Lapsed nal

Mame o categoey Date of grant of iper WCP Shargj share oplions January 1, duing duing guing dying  December 31,

of partciparts MCP share options Exprisble pericd’ P PP 2014 the pericd the period the period e pericg 2014

{thers™ June 28, 2013 March 4, 20057 bo June 27, 2023 83 830 1.560.72% = = = — 1,560,728

June 28, 2013 Aol 29, 2015 % Jene 27, 2023 83 B3 19078 - - — - 1,560,728

June 28, 2012 Aol 29, 2016 1o Jene 27, 2023 830 830 150,72 - - -— - 1,560,729

Sub-felat 4,582 165 - - -_ - 4562185

Tatal 116,144,153 543,186 - (1,560,727 = 1HIME2
Mot

i
[=]]
=1
4]
=1

L

]

The vesting pariod of the MCP ghare optionds is from the date of granmt until the commencement of axencisable parod,

March 4, 2018 is the 30 days after the opening of City of Dreams Manila on February 2, 2018,
The categary “Others” ropresents non-employess of our Group,

Share price on the day bafors of 1he grant of shars opticn on February 14, 2014 is PHP13.60.
Share price on the day bafors of the grant of shars option on February 27, 2014 is PHP12.70.
Shate price on the day balces of 1ha grant of share oplion on March 28, 2014 is PHPI2,.74,
Share price on the day baloss of 1he grant of shane opticn on Mafich 27, 2004 i3 PHP12.79,

Share price on the day before of the grant of share option on May 29, 2014 is PHP12.68,

Wl Cao Lnbertalwwend |imiiesd Arwwl Hoger? Z014
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Report of the Directors

Details of the movement in rastricted MCP Sharas granted under the MCP Share Incentive Plan during the year ended December 31, 2014 are as follows:

Share price Number of restricted MCP Shares
at date of
grant of Outstanding Outstanding
restricted MCP as al Graried Wested Cancelled as al
[Diate of grant of Shares January 1, during during during  December 31,
Name or category of parficipants resticted MCP Shares  Vesting date PHP 2014 the period the period the period 2014
MCE Directors:
Lawrence Yau Lung Ho Jung 28, 2013 March 4, 2015 8.30 2,601,213 —_ —_ S 2601213
Jung 26, 2013 April 23, 25 830 20601213 — - - 20601213
Jung 28, 2013 Apeil 23, 206 830 2601212 — — — 2601.212
Sub-total 7.803.638 —_ — — 7.803.638
James Deuglas Packer June 28,2013 March &, 2015 830 2600213 - - — 260,213
June 26, 2013 April 29, 2015 830 2601213 —_ —_ — 260 213
Jung 28, 2013 April 23, 2016 830 2601212 —_ - - 260112
Sub-olal 7.803.638 — — — 7.803.638
MCE Directors’ Sub-tofat: 15,607,278 — = bt 15607 276
MCE and MCP Direclors:
Clarence Yuk Man Chung June 28, 2013 March &, 20157 830 1.734.142 . = s 1.734,142
June 26, 2013 April 29, 2015 830 1,734,142 —_ —_ — 1,734,142
June 28, 213 Apeil 29, 2016 8.30 1.734.941 —_ _— —_— 1.734.140
May 30, 2014 May 30, 2015 13.00 = 224 640 e _— 224 540
May 30, 2014 May 30, 2016 13.00 = 224,640 = e 224 540
May 30, 2014 May 30. 2017 13.00 — 224642 — — 224 642
Sub-tolal 5,202,425 73922 == = 5876347
) Bqwugi Heporl 7114 Mo Caman |k barwmens Liméed.



Report of the Directors

Share price MNunber af restncied MCOP Shares
al date of
grant of Ouistanding Ouistanding
restricted MCP s at Granted Vested Cancelled a5 al
Date of grant of Shares January 1, during during during  December 31,
Name or categary of participants regiricted MCP Shares  Vesting date PHP 2014 the pericd the period the period 2014
William Todd Msbat Jume 28, 2013 March 4, 20157 B30 1,300 606 - —_ — 1,300,606
June 28, 2012 April 20, 2015 B30 1,300,606 —_ —_ - 1,300,608
June 28, 2013 Agril 29, 2016 B30 1,300,607 — — — 1,300,607
My 30, 2014 May 30, 215 13.00 —_ 134 784 -_ —_ 134,784
May 30, 2014 May 30, 2016 13.00 —_— 134,784 -_ —_ 134,784
May 30, 2014 May 30, 2017 13.00 = 134,765 —_ - 134,785
Sub-total: 3,801,819 404 353 — = 4,306,172
Alec Yiu Wa Tsui Jung 28, 2013 March 4, 20157 B.30 325,152 - —_ - 325152
June 28, 2013 April 29, 2015 B30 325,152 e —_ _ 325,152
Jung 28, 2013 April 20, 2016 B30 325151 — —_ o 325,151
May 30, 2014 May 30, 2015 13.00 - 134 764 — - 134,784
My 30, 2014 May 30, 2016 13.00 —_— 134,784 -_ —_ 134,784
May 30, 2014 May 30, 2017 13.00 —_ 134,785 —_ —_ 134,785
Sub-total: 975,455 404,353 — — 1,379,808
James Andrew Chasles MacKenzie June 28, 2013 March 4, 20157 B.30 325,152 —_ - - 325,152
June 28, 2013 April 29, 215 B.30 325,152 - —_— - 325,152
June 28, 2013 April 29, 2016 B.30 325151 —_ _— _— 325,151
May 30, 2014 May 30, 2015 13.00 —_ 134,784 — .- 134,784
Meay 30, 2014 May 30, 2016 13.00 -_ 134 764 -— - 134,784
My 30, 2014 May 30, 2017 13.00 —_ 134,785 —_ —_ 134,785
Sub-total, 975,455 404,353 — o 1,379,608
MCE and MCP Directors” Sub-tatal: 11,055,154 1,886,981 — — 12,942,135
Al Directars' Sub-total: 26,662 430 1,886,981 —_ —_ 28,540 411
Rt Cromes | bor tairpwed |l Hrwwgd Heger? F004 L



Report of the Directors

Shara price Mumber of restricled MCP Shares
at dats of

grant of Outstanding Outstanding

restricted MCP as al Granted Vested Cancelled s

Diate of grant of Shares January 1, cluring during during  December 31,

Name or category of parficipants reaiicled MOP Shares  Vesting date PHP 2014 the period the period 1he period A4
MCFP Diraciors:

MCP Direclors May 30, 2014 May 30, 2015 13.00 —_ 140,400 — — 140,400

May 30, 2014 May 30, 2016 13.00 —_ 140 400 -— - 140,400

May 30, 2014 May 30. 2017 13.00 —_— 140 400 — — 140,400

Sub-fotal: = 421,200 — — 421,200

Employees June 28, 2013 March 4, 20157 830 9,680,521 — — [260.123) 9,429,399

Jung 28, 2013 Apell 29, 2015 830 9,689,521 - — (260,122) 9,429,399

June 28, 2013 April 23, 2016 830 9.689.513 - - [260,121) 8429392

Fabruary 17, 2014 April 29, 2015 1348 _ 260120 — — 260,120

February 17, 2014 Apeil 29, 2016 13.48 o 260121 —_ — 201

Febrsary 17, 2014 April 23, 2007 13.48 — 260121 — - 260121

February 28, 2014 April 29, 2015 13.00 = 173414 —_ - 175,414

February 28, 2014 April 28, 2016 13.00 —_ 173414 - - 173414

Fabrisary 28, 2014 April 29, 2017 13.00 — 173415 - —_ 173,415

March 27, 2014 April 29, 2015 12.78 — 173414 — — 173414

March 27, 2014 Apeil 23, 2006 12.76 —_ 173414 — — 173,414

March 27, 2014 April 29, 2017 12.76 -_— 173415 — — 173415

March 28, 2014 Agril 29, 2015 1298 —_ 173414 — — 173414

March 23. 2014 April 29, 2016 12.9% = 173414 . — 173414

March 28, 2014 Apeil 29, 2007 1296 —_ 173415 — - 173415

May 30, 2014 May 30, 2015 13.00 — 810,159 — — 810,158

May 30, 2014 May 30, 2016 13.00 — 810,158 — - 810,158

May 30, 2014 May 30. 2017 13.00 == 810,187 — . 210187

Sub-1otal: 29,064,555 4771594 —_ [780,365) 33,059,784

L - Bovud Fepor] 01 Moo Caman | gt [imdied.



Report of the Directors

Share price Mumnber aof resticied MCP Shares
at date of

grant of Outstanding Outstanching
resiricted MCP as at Granted Vested Cancelled asat
Date of grant of Sharas January 1, during during during December 31,
Name or calegary of participants restricled MCP Shares  Vesting date PHP 4 the peried the period Fhe period 2014
(hers™ June 28, 2013 March 4, 2015 830 780,363 — == = TE0, 563
June 28, 2013 Agril 29, 2015 B.30 780,363 = = — 780,363
June 28, 2013 Agril 29, 2016 .30 780,365 —_ —_ — T, 565
Sub-total; 2,341 091 o= —_ — 2.341.0m
Total 58,072,076 7,079,775 —_ (780,365)  B4,371,486

Motn:
i1 Marsh 4, 2075 is the 30 days aftes 1 cpbnng of Oy of Dreams Manida an February 2, 2005,

2} The category “Others™ represents non-employsss of our Group.

Wi Cron |nbertabwwed |imiiesd Jrrngl Heperd F014 E



Report of the Directors

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho has effective beneficlal Interests in Shun Tak Haldings
Limitad {(*STHL"), Sociedade de Turismo e Diversdes de Macau, S.A. ("STDM")
and SJM Holdings Limited (*3JM") of not more than 2%. These effective
baneficial interests are held through a number of intermediary companies in
which Mr, Ho has interest. STHL, STDM and SJM are involved in hotel and
casino business, which competes with the business of cur Company. Mr. Ho is
not a director of STHL, STDM and SJM and has no involvement with, and doas
not exercise any control or influence on, management and cperation of STHL,
STDM and SJM.

Each of Mr. James Douglas Packer, Mr. William Todd Nisbet and Mr. Rowen
Bruce Craigie is a director or a senior executive of Crown which operates
casinos in Australia and the United Kingdom, which could indirectly compate
with the business of our Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2014, no Directors had been
interasted in any business, which competes or may compete, either directly or
indirectly with the businesses of cur Company which is required to be disclosed
pursuant 1o the Listing Rules.

R v Fepor] 01 b Campn | bbb mens e

Substantial Interests in the Share Capital of our Company

Az at December 31, 2014, the fellowing persons/corporations had inlerests in
five per cent or more of the issued share capital of our Company as recorded
I the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO. Detalls of the
interasts in the Shares or underlying Shares of our Company as nolified to our
Company are set out below:

Approximate
Numnber of Sharas percentage of
as al shargholding as
Capacity/ December 31,  af December 31,
Name nature of interest 2014 24
Lawrence Yau Lung Ho™ Beneficial owner and 1,128.998,863 BY.107%
infereést of controfed
corporation
Sharen Sau Yan Lo® Inferest of spause 1.126.996,863 B9.107%
Meloo Leisure™ Beneficial owner and 1,118,458, 086 BB, 462%
degmed inlenast
Moot Interest of controlied 1.118.456,086 GE.462%
corporation
James Douglas Packer™ Beneficial owner and 1,118,467,695 BB 462%
inferes af controded
corporation
Erica Louise Packer™ Imerest of spouse 1,116, 467,695 68, 462%
Crown Asia investments™  Beneficial owner and 1,116,458, 086 BB 462%
deemed interest
Crown Enterlainmant Group  Inferest of controlied 1,116,458, 066 BB 462%
Holdings™ corporation
Cropm™ Inferest of controlied 1.118,458,086 BE.462%
corporation



Report of the Directors

i)

@

Aa ot Decemnbar 31, 2014, Me Lawnence Yau Lung Ho personally hald 25209132 shares of
Malco, mprsentng approxmately 1.64% of Melco's shases. In sddition, 1155000024 shanes
of Malco are held by Lasting Legend Lid., 201 888,808 shares of Meico are held by Betler Joy
Cwerseas Lid., 25,724,447 shams of Melco were heid by Mighty Dragon Developments Limited
and 7,204 000 shares of Melco are held by The LG Capital Trust, represending approximabsly
TATH, 18A7%, 1.66% and (047 of Meloo's shares, all of which companies are owned by
persons andior trusts affiiated with Mr, Lawrencs Yau Lung Ho, Mr, Laweenos Yau Lung Ho also
has imarest in Geoat Aespect Limited, & company controled by a discrationary family trust, the
banadiciaries of whigh ingiude Mr, Lawnence Yau Lung Ho and his immedinte family members and
el 303,962 187 shares of Male, Mgresemting approxmatety 19.66% of Meica's shams. Mak:o
Lansuird 5 8 whally-owned subsidary of Melso and sccardingly. M. Lawrance Yeu Lung He i
deamed or tken 1o be inlerested in 1.118.458.085 Shares in which Melso Laisure is interested o
I8 cheenned of takan te ba irterested. Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho & also interssted in 10,540,707
Shares, of which 8,817,781 Shares ate in the form of urvested or unexarcised sham aplicns and
urrvasied maticted Shares awards granted as s December 31, 2014,

M. Sharen Sau Yan Lo is the spouss of Mr. Lawrencs Yau Lung Ho and is desmed or taken 1o ba
intarestad in the Shases through 1he interest of her spouse. Mr. Lawrencs Yau Lung Mo, urder the
SFO.

Malce Leisure i the benaficinl owner of 559,220,043 Shares and is desmed or token 1o Be
Intaresing in 556,229,043 Shames cwned by Crown Asia Invesimeants pursuant to righis of first
relusal over such Shares granted by Crown Asia Invesiments in taver of Maleo Leisune under the
reew sharshalders’ desd. which bacams sfectve in D 0T "hNaw " Dend”).
erfiered into betwean Meloo and Crown,

Melco Leisum is a direct whelly-owned subsidiary of Melco and Melco is desmned or taken to be
interastnd in 1,178,438 088 Shares in which Melco Leisure is interested as refered to in note [3)
abowe,

M, James Douglas Packer and his controlled corporations ane intensted in 50.01% of the issued
shase eapiial of Crown, which in furn is inbemested in ihe enie issued share capiial of Grown
Enterainmar Groug Holdngs and which in turn |8 interssted in the entire issusd share cagital
of Crawn Agia lmvasimens. Accordingly. Me James Douglas Packer is desmed or taken o be

8}

(1]

8

1

(1]

irdaragted in 1,118,458 086 Shases in which Crawmn Asin InvesIments is interested of i5 desmed
oF Taen 1 B interested. M, James Douglas Packe: s also interested in 9,600 shares in the foem
of unvested resiricted Shares swarnd granted &5 51 Decemnbar 31, 2014,

Ms. Erica Louise Packer is 1he spouse of Mr. James Douglas Packer and is deerned or laken 1o
b irtesested in 1he Shares through the interes of her spouse, Mr. James Douglas Packer, under
tha SFO.

Crown Asin Invesiments is the beneficial owner of 580,229,043 Shares and |s deamad or taken
o0 b intarested in 5592200083 Shases owned by Melco Lelsure pursuant 1o rights of first refusal
ower Such Snenes granted By Meloo Leisure in favor of Crown Asis Irvestments under the New
Shnrehoiders’ Deed,

Crown Asia Investments s a direst wholly-owned subsidiary of Crown Entertainment Group
Holdings and Crown Entertainment Group Holdings s desmed or laken to be interested in
1,118,458, 0B8 Shares in which Crown Asia Investments is inferested as referred o in nate (7]
o,

Crown Enferisnment Geoup Holdings 1s & wholly-owned subgidiary of Crown and Crown is
dadmad oF taken 1o De inMerestad in 1,118,458,088 Shares i which Crown Asis Pnesiments is
Infarosted A5 MMGTed 10 in note [T) Abaove.

The parcentages are calculaied on the besis of 1,633.701.920 Shares in issus a8 ol Decembar
3, 204,

Directors' Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Sawve as disclosed in note 18 to the consoclidated financial statements included
in this annual report, at no time during the year was our Company, or any
of its helding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a parly to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, cur Company or any other body
corporate,

Wl Caops: Enbertalowwnd | imiied e Heger 2004 B



Report of the Directors

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in note 24 1o the coensolidated financial statements included in
this annual report, no contract of significance in relation to our Group's business
to which our Company, or any of its helding companies, subsidliaries, or fellow
subsidiaries, was a party and in which a Director had a material interast, whather
directty or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year,

Connected Transactions

Save as disclosed hergin, there were no related party transactions of the Group
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Fules which are required to comply with
any of the disclosure and independent sharsholders' approval reguirement in
accordance with Chapter 144 of the Listing Rules,

One-off Connected Transaction

During the year, cur Group had the following one-off connacted transaction
which Is required to be disclosed in the annual report of our Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

Short Film Project with Crown Film LLC

On December 18, 2014, our subsidiary, MCE (IP) Holdings Limited (*MCE IP"),
and a Crown subsidiary, Crown Films LLC (*CFL"), entered into a co-financing,
co-ownership and assignment (the “Assignment Agresment”), under which (a)

] vl Fepor] 20 oo Campn | g badrwmen imfed.

CFL agread to assign exclusively to MCE IP a 50% undivided share of the short
film produced for the purpose of promoting cur Company's properties in Asia
and Crown's properties in Australla and all related elements, and all the rights in
them (collectively *Property and Rights®), at a consideration of US$15,619,261;
and (b) MCE IP and CFL agreed to share equally in all present and future
financial obligations relating to the Property and Rights, subject to the terms of
the Assignment Agreement,

Crown is a controling shareholder of our Company. CFL, being a subsidiary
of Crown, is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the transaction contemplated under the Assignment Agresmant
constitutes a connected transaction of our Company under the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, our Group had the following continuing connected transactions
which are required to be disclosed in the annual report of cur Company under
Chapter 144 of the Listing Rules:

Gaming Product Purchases with Dolphin Group

On December 18, 2014, (a) our Company subsidiary, Melce Crown Macau,
and Dolphin Products Limited (“Dolphin Products”) entered into the gaming
product purchase framework agreement in relation to the sale and purchase of
gaming products by Melco Crown Macau from Dolphin Products, its holding
companles and subsidiaries (*Delphin Group®) for Altira, City of Dreams Macau,
Mocha Clubs and Studio City (the *Macau Framework Agreement”); and (b) owr
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Company subsidiary, MCE Leisure Philippines, and Delphin Products entered
inte the gaming product purchase framework agreement in relation te the sale
and purchase of gaming products by MCE Leisure Philippines from Dolphin
Group for City of Dreams Manila (the *PHP Framewaork Agreament”). Both Macau
Framework Agreement and PHP Framework Agreement have a term of three
years commencing from January 1, 2015, The annual caps for each of the three
financial years ending December 31, 2017 are as follows:

For the For the Fer the

year énding year ending year ending

December 31, December 31, December 31

2015 2018 2017

Estimated purchass under the US$12.000.000 US$3.000,000 USE3.000,000
Macau Framewcek Agreement

Estimated purchase under the U536.000.000 US$3.000.000 USE2.00:0.000

PHP Framawork Agreement
Annual Caps: US$18,000,000 US$E.000.000 US$5.000,000

Melco is a controlling sharshclder of the Company. Dolphin Products, being a
subsidiary of Melceo, is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the Framework
Agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

The above connected fransactions disclosed which also constitute related party
transactions areé set out In note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
included in this annual report. Our Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 144 of the Listing Rules,

Management Confracts

Neo contracts concerning the managemaent and administration of the whale of any
substantial part of the business of our Company wera entered into or existed for
the year ended December 31, 2014,

Related Party Transactions

Datails of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set ocut in note 24 to the consclidated financial
statements included in this annual report.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of our Company's Listed Securities

Cwring the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company repurchased a total of
12,216,448 ADSe (equivalent to 36,649,344 Shares) at an aggregate purchase
price of approximately USE300 million (excluding commission) on the NASDAQ
and the Company did not repurchase any Shares from the Stock Exchange.
Particulars of the repurchases are as follows:

Highest price Loweeat price Agiresate

Tetal rumber of paid per ADS paid per ALE  coreiderion paid

Nionih of spurchasa ADSs repurchased Uss [ [1::]
Seplemter 2014 .07 654 il B IS
Decamber 2014 8,508,704 %10 HM o 1009900855
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The trustea of our 2011 Share Incentive Plan has, pursuant to the terms of
the rules and the trust deed of the 2011 Share Incentive Plan, purchased on
MNASDAQ a total of 69,426 ADSs (equivalent to 208,278 Shares) of the Company.
The total cost for acquiring these ADSs of approximataly USS1.7 million was fully
pald during the year ended December 31, 2014,

Save as disclosed above, there was no purchase, sale or rademption by the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, of any |isted securities of the Company
during the year.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to owr Company and within
the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this report, our Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

Legal and Administrative Proceedings

We are a party to certain other laegal and administrative proceedings which
relate to matters arising out of the ordinary course of our business. Based on
the current status of such proceadings and the information currently availatde,
we do not believe that such proceedings would, individually or in the aggregate,
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations.
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An indictment from the Taipei District Prosecutors Office against our Taiwan
branch office and certain of its employees for alleged violations of certain Taiwan
banking and foreign exchange laws was received In August 2014, In January
2013, the same Prosecutors Office froze one of our Taiwan branch offica’s
deposit accounts in connection with the investigation related 1o this indictment.
The frozen deposit account had a balance of approximately Mew Taiwan dollar
298 bilion (squivalent to approximately US$102.2 million) at the time the
account was frozen. Wa have presented the balance of such deposit account as
non-current restricted cash in our financial statements. We will vigorously dafend
any allegations against us, as based on Talwan |egal advice received, we believe
our operations in Taiwan are in compliance with Taiwan laws. As at the date
of this annual report, the indictment and the legal proceedings would have no
immediate material impact on cur business operations or financial position. We
are monitoring this case closely and will re-assess the right and accessibility to
the funds if there is any development in the case. We will account for the funds
and provide relavant disclosures as and when appropriate as this case develops.

Crown Melbourne Limited, the owner of a number of “Crown” trademarks
licensed to us, is from time to time involved in legal proceedings regarding
“Crown” trademarks used in Macau. We understand that Crown Melboumne
Limited will continue to take vigorous measures to profect its trademarks. Wa
believe we have a valid right under our trademark license agreement with Crown
Mealbourne Limitad to use the Crown trademarks in Macau in our hotel casino
busingss.
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Corporate Governance

Qur Cempany s committed to maintaining a high corporate govesnance
standard so as to ensure better transparency and protection of Shareholders'
interests. Qur Company has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code and the former Code on Corporate Governance Practices as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules for the period from the listing date
to Decembaer 31, 2014 excapt for the code provisions A.2.1 in raspect of the
separation of the roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and A4.1 in
respect of the appeintment of non-executive Directors far specific terms.

Further information on cur Company’s corporate governance practices is set out
in the corporate governance report on pages 30 to 103 of this annual report.

Emolument Policy

The employees of our Group are selected, remunerated and promoted on
the basis of their mert gqualfications and competence. The emoluments
of the Directors are decided by owr Companys compensation committes,
having regard to our Company's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market standards. Cur Company has adopted the 2006 Share
Incentive Plan and 2011 Share Incentive Plan together with the MCP Share
Incentive Plan adopted by MCP as an incentive to Directors and employees,
datails of the plans are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial

statements and Appendix | and Appendix Il of this annual repert.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islandg or under the Articles that require our Company to offer new Shares on a
pro-rata basis to our existing Sharshoiders.,

Audit Committee

Our Company has established an awdit committea for the purpose of assisting
the Board in oversesing and monitoring. ameng others, the integrity of the
financial statements of our Company, the performance of our indepandant
auditors, and the integrity of our systems of internal accounting and financial
contrels. Qur Company's audit committee consists of three members, Mr
Thomas Jefferson Wu, Mr. Alec Yiu Wa Tsui and Mr. James Andrew Charles
MacKenzie, Mr. James Andrew Charles MacKenzie is the chalrman of our audit

committea.

Auditor

The consolidated financial staterments of our Company for the year ended
December 31, 2014 have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behall of the Beard
Lawrence Yau Lung Ho
Co-Chairman and Chiel Executive Officer

Macau, March 25, 2015
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The Directors are pleased to prasent this corporate governance repert for the
year ended December 31, 2014,

Corporate Governance Practices

Cur Company is committed to conduct our business consistent with the
highest standards of corporate governance practices and procedures, and
has adopted our own corporate governance principles, policies and guidelines
(the “Company’s Code”) to deliver these commitments. The Company's Code
was amended to fully address the principles and code provisions as set out
in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the
“Corporate Governance Code”) as stated In Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
Tha Company's Code was alsa developed by the Board taking into consideration
applicable corporate govermance standards of NASDAQ. In addition, the
Company has also adopted a number of other policies and guidelines, developed
internally, to enhance our corporate governance practices and proceduras.

Our Company has complied with all code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code for the year ended December 31, 2014, except for the
following deviations:

Fursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the roles of
chairman and chief axecutive officer of a listed company should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Howaver, in view of the present
composition of the Board, the indepth knowledge of Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho
of tha operations of our Group and of the gaming and entéertainment sector in
Macau in general, his extensive business network and connections in that sector
and the scope of operations of our Group, the Board believes it is in the best
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interasts of owr Company for Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho to assume tha rales of
Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Cfficer at this time and that such arrangement
be subject to review by the Board from time to time.

Pursuant to code prowision A.4.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election, Our Company has deviated from this provision in that all non-executive
Directors aré not appointed for a specific term. They are, however, subject 1o
retirement and re-elaction every thrae years. Tha reason for the deviation is that
our Company does not believe that arbitrary term limits on Directors’ senvice
are appropriate given that Directors ought to be committed to representing
the long-term interests of our Shareholders and the retirement and re-election
reguiramants of non-executive Directors have given our Shareholders the right to
approve the continuation of non-executive Directors' offices,

The Board approved the Policy on Board Oiversity on December 4, 2013, The
Company is supportive of the gradual attainment of wider divarsity in its Board
composition and it recegnizes the benefits that such diversity may offer to the
Company. Appaintments to the Board will take into account objectivaly both the
merits of the candidates and the petential benefits that a diverse membership
of the Board may have on the Company's growth and its competitivenass. The
Company will apply the considerations described in the policy in the candidate
assessment and appointment process of director following the appearance of
the next vacancy in the Beard. The compesition of the Board will be subject to
angoing review to ensure any need to maintain or widen diversity is addressed
promptly.
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Strategic Plan

Meleo Crown Entertainment is focused on developing and operating weorld class
gaming and entertainment resorts, with a particular focus on major gaming

jurlsdictions throughout Asla,

The Company currently cperates in Macau, the world's largest casino gaming
market, and alms to maximize profitability on its current diversified portfolic of
assats by leveraging its various gaming and non-gaming products and amenities,
maintaining a strong focus on service quality and develeping and leveraging its
customer base and loyalty programs.

The Company also aims to identily proactively future appropriate growth
opportunities in both current and new jurisdictions, delivering a more diversitied
earnings stream and incremental cashflow drivers,

The Company's cora operational strategy includes delivering a differentiated
and unique entertainment experience for ts predominantly Asian customers,
whather through excellence in service, its world-class entertainment attractions
or through its high guality hotel, retail, food & beverage and gaming product
afferings. This strategy is expected to build an internationally recognizable suite
of quality brands which cater to a wide spectrum of customers seeking a diverse
leksure and entertainment experience.

The Company also aims to maintain a strong balance sheet and flaxible capital
structure, enabling the Company to pursue future growth opportunities which

maximize return on investment and drive long term sharehclder value.

The Board of Directors — Functions and Composition
ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Directors' main duty is to exercise their business judgment to act in
what thay reasonably balieve 1o be in the best interests of the Company and
its Shareholders. The Board advises and counsels the Company's senior
management and monitors the performance of such management and the affairs
of the Company.

In addition te its general oversight of management and the aMars of the
Company, the Board also performs a number of spacific functions, either directly
ar through Its committees, including:

{a) selecting, evaluating and compensating the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and overseeing succession planning of the Chief Executive Officer;

{b) providing counsel and oversight on the selection, evaluation, developmeant
and compensation of senicr managemant;

(c) reviewing, approving and maonitoring fundamental financial and business
strategies and major corporate actions;

{d) assessing major risks the Company facing and reviewing options and
selecting the option(s) to mitigate tha risks; and

{8} ensuring processes are in place to maintain the integrity of these aspects of
the Company: the financial statemants, the compliance with law and ethics,
the ralationships with customers and suppliers, and the relationships with
other stakeholdars,
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises ten Directors, of whom one is an executiva Diractor,
five are non-executive Directors and the remaining four are independent non-
executive Directors. Three of our Directors were nominated by Melco and three
were nominated by Crown. The following table provides information about our
Directors.

Name Pesition

Lawrence Yau Lung Ho Ce-Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and executive Director
James Douglas Packer Co-Chaimnan and non-executive Director

Jahn Peter Ben Wang Non-gwecitive Director

Clargnca Yuk Man Chung Non-executive Director

William Todd Misbet Non-executive Director

PRawen Bruce Craigie Nexi-ewecutive Director

James Andriw Charles MacKenzia
Thamas Jeflerson Wu

b Yiu Wa Taul

Fobert Wason Mactier

Indiependent non-axecutive Direchar
Indepandent non-executive Directar
Independent non-executive Director
Independent non-execulive Director

Manea of the Board mambers is related to one anather.

group of individuals dominates the Board's decision making processes. In
addition, they facilitate the Company to maintain a high standard of financial
and other mandatory reporting and provide adequate checks and balances to
safeguard the interests of Shareholders and the Company as a whole.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

All independent non-executive Directors have met all of the guidelines
for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Our
Company has received from each of them an annual written confirmation on his
Independence and considers each of them to be independeant.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of
our Directors are set cut below:

MName Changes in information
John Pater Ben Wang

Mr. Wang resigned as a non-executive director of Anxin-
China Holdings Limited on November 1, 2014

Mr. Wu retired as a member of a beard of directors of the
Asian Youth Orchestra Limited an November 30, 2014 upon

Thomas JeHerson Wy

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors, all
of whom are imdepandent of the management of our Group's businesses, ara
highly experisnced professionals with substantial experience in areas such as
lagal, accounting and financial management. Their mix of skills and business
experience is a major contribution to the future development of our Company.
They provide a strong independent slement on the Board, exercise independent
judgment and ensure that matters are fully debated and that no individual or
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James Anckew Charles MacKenzie

term expiry and re-elected on January 27, 2015,
Mr. Mackenze was appointed ag chainman of Shine'Wing

Australia on February 1, 2015,

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Disectors’ tralning is an on-going precess. Throughout the year ended December
31, 2014, ouwr Directors received regular updates and presentations on
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changes and developments to our Group’s business and to the legislative and
regulatory requirements in which our Group shall comply. A take home pack
for New Companies Ordinance was arranged for the Directors in May 2014,
Moreowver, all Directors have self-studied and/or attended trainings in relation to
their continuous professional development. The Directors have also provided
the Company with information regarding the trainings received and studies
completed for record,

A summary of training receaived by the Directors during the year is as follows:

Type of confinuous
professional development
Aftending FReading
seminarsfirainings  regulatory updates

Exacutive Director

Lawrence Yau Lung Ho s +
Non-executive Directors

James Douglas Packer o
John Pater Ben Wang v v
Clarence Yuk Man Chung " W
Willlam Tedd Nisbat 7
Rowen Bruce Cragie v
Independent Non-executive Directors

James Andrew Charles MacKenzie o '
Thomas Jeffersan W v
Alec Yiu Wa Tsui s s
Rotiert Wascn Mactier I )

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board meests regularly over cur Company’s affairs and operations. The Board
held a total of eight meetings during the year ended December 31, 2014, The
chief financial officer, the chief lagal officer and the company secretary attended
all Board meetings to advise on statutory compliance, legal, accounting and
financlal matters. All businesses ransacted at the meetings were documented
and the records ware maintained.

Set out below Is the attendance record of each member of the Board at the
Board meetings during the year ended December 31, 2014 which illustrates the
attention given by the Board in overseeing our Company’s affairs:

No. of meatings
aftendad’
heldin 2014 Attendance rate
Execulive Director
Lawrence Yau Lung Ho (Co-Chairman) & 100%
Non-executive Directors
Janes Douglas Packer (Co-Chairman) 78 a75%
Jein Peter Ben Wang &8 100%
Clarence Yuk Man Chung B 100%
Willlam Todd Misbet /8 87.5%
Rowen Bruce Craigle Er8 100%
Independant non-executive Direclors
James Andraw Charles Mackanzie & 100%
Thomas Jetferson Wy e 87.5%
Ales Yiu Wa Tsui B8 100%

&

Rosiert Wason Mactier 100%
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GENERAL MEETING AND DIRECTORS ATTENDANCE RECORDS:

Our Company held two general meetings during the year ended December 31,
2014, which were the extracrdinary general meeting held on March 28, 2014
and annual general meeting held on May 21, 2014 and, at which resolutions
were duly passed in respect of, among others (i) the declaration and payment
of a special dividend of US50.1147 per Share out of the share premium account
of the Company pursuant 1o Article 147 of the Articles and in accordance with
the Cayman Companies Law (as amended) of the Cayman Islands (the “Special
Dividend”) to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on the record date fixed by the Board for determining the
entitiements to the Special Dividend; (i) the adoption of the financial statements
and the directors” and auditors’ reports for the year ended December 31, 2013;
(iii} the re-appointment of the independent auditor; (i) the granting of the general
mandate and repurchase mandate and (v) the re-slection of Directors. Set out
below is the attendance record of each member of the Board at the general
meeting during the year ended December 31, 2014:
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No. of mestings
attended’
held in 2014 Attendance rate
Executive Director
Lawrence Yau Lung Ho (Co-Chakman) ar 100%
Non-executive Directors
James Douglas Packar {Co-Chairman) 12 5%
John Paber Ben Wang 22 100%
Clarence Yuk Man Chung 22 100%
Wilkam Tocd Misbet 2 100%
Rawen Bruce Craigia e 100%
Independent non-executive Directors
James Andrew Charles MacKenzie a2 100%
Thomas Jefarson Wy 12 5%
Mat Y Wa Tsui 2 100%
Fober! Wason Mactier 2 100%

SECURITIES DEALINGS BY DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Directors and relavant employases are subject to the rules set forth in our
Company's Policy fer the Prevention of Insider Trading, the terms therein are
no lass exacting than those contained in the Modal Code in Appandix 10 ta
the Listing Rules, The Listing Rules require an express Model Code compliance
confirmation from the directors and that the confirmation be given following a
spacific enguiry. All Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
requited standard of dealings and code of conduct regarding securities dealings
by directors as set out in the Modal Code for the year endad December 31,
2014,
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Tha Board reserves for its decision all major matters concerning the Company.
The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the Chie! Executive Officer and senlor management of the
Company. The Board has formalized the functions reserved to the Board and
those delegated to management. The functions and responsibllities delegated
are subject to periodic raview.

The Company has established the following Board committees to support the
Company in maintaining a high corporate governance standard:

. audit committes;
*  compensation committee; and
. nominating and corporate governance committaa.

The Board has delegated certain functions to these Board committess. Each
committes has its defined scope of duties and terms of reference within its own
charter, which empowers the commitiee members to make decisions on certain
mattars.

Each Board committes, upon reasonable request is able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expensa,

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an audit committes in 2008, with its primary duty
to assist the Board in overseeing and monitering, among others, the audits
of the financial statements of our Company, any relevant legal and regulatory
issues relevant to the financial statements, the performance of the independent
auditors, the account and financlal reporting processes of the Company and
the integrity of our systems of internal accounting and financial contrals, our
Company’s risk management process. the effectiveness of our Company's
internal audit function and any significant related party and/or connected
transactions.

In line with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, our Company's Audit Committee
comprises independant non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Thomas Jefferson
Wu, Mr. Alsc Yiu Wa Tsui and Mr. James Andraw Charles MacKenzie, Mr. James
Andrew Charles MacKenzia is the chairman of the Audit Committes.

Sat out below i the attendance record of sach member of the audit committes
meetings during the year ended December 31, 2014:

Na, mestings

attended’
heldin 2014 Attendance rate
Jarnes Andraw Chares Mackenzie {Chairman) 1212 100%
Thomas Jetferson Wu 1112 MN.7%
Alec Yiu Wa Tsu 1212 100%
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In discharging its duties, the principal work performed by the audit committes

during the year and up to date of this report included the following:

In ralation to financial information:

fa)

(b}

[ch

raview of the annual censalidated financial statements of our Group for the
year anded December 31, 2014 with recommendation to the Board for the
inclugion within our Company's annual reports;

raview of the interim result announcement and unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements of cur Group for the six menths ended
June 30, 2014 with recommendation to the Board for inclusion within our
Company's interim report;

raview of the quarterly unaudited consolidated financial statements and
key performance indicators of our Group for the quarters ended March 31,
2014, Juna 30, 2014, September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2014 and
provide recommandations to our disclosure committee for inclusion within
our Company's quarterly eamings announcement; and

review the disclosure, in accordance with the Company's relevant policies,
of any material information regarding the quality or integrity of the
Company's financial statements, which is brought to its attention by our
dischosure committes,

In relation to relationship with independent auditor:

(8}

raview and approve of the engagement letters of Messrs. Deloitte Touche
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(b}

Tohmatsu for audit and non-audit services, the nature and scope thesa
services, their reporting cbligations, work plan and independence; and

revigw of the auditor's qualifications, independence and performance, and
recommendation to the Board for re-appeintment of the auditor,

In ralation to financial reporting system and internal control:

()

)]

fe)

(e)

review of the eMfectiveness of the internal controls and risk managemant
systems of our Group, after discussion with management, internal audit
department and independent auditors and review of the reports associated
with our program for compliance with section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxlay
Act of 2002 (*S0OX 404 Compliance Program”) and internal audit plan;

review of intermal audit reports, including the major findings and
recommendations from internal audit;

rewigw and approval of internal audit work plan for the year 2015;

raview and approval of certain related party transactions and connected
transactions carried out during the year and conducted the annual review
of the continuing connected transactions, together with the independent
non-axacutive Director who is not a member of the audit committea, as
included within this annual report; and

revigw of the staffing and resources of our Group's internal audit and

finance departments.
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Other datails of the autharity, duties and responsibilities of the audit committee
are available in the audit committee charter, which can be found on our
Company's website and the Stock Exchange's website,

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Qur Company has established a compensation committee in 2008, with
its primary duty to discharge the responsibilties of the Board relating to
compensation of ocur executives, incliding by designing (in consultation
with management and our Board) and evaluating the executive and Director
compensation plans, policies and programs of our Company, recommending to

our Board for approval.

The compensation committes comprises independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Thomas Jefferson Wu, Mr. Alec Yiu Wa Tsui and Mr. Robert Wason
Mactier. Mr. Thomas Jefferson Wu is the chairman of the compensation
committea.

Set out below is the attendance record of each member of the compensation
committes mesetings during the year ended December 31, 2014:

Mo. of mestings

attended
heiin 2014 Atendance raté
Thomas Jetfersan Wu (Chairman) 33 100%
Alec Yiu Wa Tsul 23 66.7%
Rotiert Wasen Mactier 3 100%

In discharging its duties, principal work performed by the compensation
committee includes:

{a) recommendations to the Board for appraval in reélation to the grant of share
options to participants under the 2011 Share Incentive Flan;

(b recommendations to the Board for approval of the compensation of the

Directors, and approval of the compensation of senior management;

{c) determination, with delegated responsibility, of the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directers and senior management; and

{d) assessment of performance of the executive Directar.

Other details of the authority, duties and responsibilities of the compensation
committee are available in the compensation committee charter, which can be
found on our Company's website and the Stock Exchange's website.

NOMINATING AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Our Company has established a nominating and corporate governance
committee in 2006, with its primary duties to assist our Beard In discharging its
responsibilities regarding (i) the identification of qualified candidates to become
members and chairs of the Board committees and to fill any such vacancies; (if)
oversight of our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, in particular
the lagal and regulatory requirements of Macau (including the relevant laws
related to the gaming industry), Hong Kong, the Cayman |slands, the SEC and
NASDALL (i) the development and recommendation to our Board of a set
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of corporate governance principles applicable te our Company; and (iv) the
disclosure, in accordance with our relevant policies, of any material information
(other than that regarding the quality or integrity of our financial statements),
which is brought to its attention by the disclosure committea.

The nominating and corporate governance committes comprises independent
non-executive Diractors, namely Mr Thomas Jefferson Wu, Mr. Alec Yiu Wa
Tsui and Mr. Robaert Wason Mactier, Mr. Alec Yiu Wa Tsui is the chairman of the
nominating and corporate governance committae,

Set cut below is the attendance record of sach member of the nominating and
carporate governance committes meatings during the year ended December 31,
204

No. of meetings

aftended’
held in 2014 Aftandance rate
Alec Yiu Wa Taus (Chaimmian) &z 100%
Thamas JeNerson Wu 22 100%
Robert Wason Mactier 22 100%

In discharging its duties, the principal work performed by the nominating and

carparate governance committee during the year included the following:

(a) considersd and approved amendmaent of existing corporate govemance
policies to incorporate relevant Listing Rules requirements;

(b) considered and recommended for the Board's approval the proposed

changes to Board committess” charters;
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fe]  reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board and the Board

committees;

(d} assessed the independence of the independent non-axecutive Directors;
and

(e] nominated candidates to the Board for it to recommend them to stand for

election by Shareholders at the annual general meeting.

Other details of the authority, duties and responsibilities of the nominating and
corporate governance commitiee are avallable in the nominating and corporate
govamance committea charter, which can be found on the Company’s website
and the Stock Exchange's website.

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors’' rasponsibilities for preparing the financial statements are set out
on page 99 of this annual report and the reporting responsibilities of the axternal
auditors are set cut on pages 104 to 106 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is committed to presenting
comprehensive and timely information to the Shareholders on assessment of our
Company's parformance, financial position and prospacts.

Gur Company wvoluntarlly publishes guarterly unaudited financial results for
tha three months ended March 31 and September 30 and key performance
indicators of owr Group for each fiscal guarter generally within 45 days after



Corporate Governance Report

the end of the ralevant quarter to enable its Shareholders, investors and the
public to better appraise the position and business performance of our Group,
Such financial Information s prepared In accordance with LS. GAAP using
the accounting policies applied to our Company's interim and annuwal financial
statements and thers is no recondciliation of such information to IFRS,

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the presentation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of our Company
and our Group and the results and cash flow for each financlal peried. In
preparing the financial statemeants, the Directors have to ensure that appropriate
accounting policles are adopted. The financial statements are prepared on a
gaing concern basis.

The Board's rasponsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules,
and reports to regulators as well as to information required to be disclosed
pursuant to statutory requirements,

For the year ended December 31, 2014 and as the date of this annual report
there ware no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on our Company’s ability to continue as a going cencern.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for ensuring our Company maintains
sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the Shareholders' investment
and the Company's assets at all times. To fulfill this responsibllity, the Directors
have conducted a raview of the effectiveness of tha system of internal contral of
our Company and our subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2014, which
covered the material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
contrels and risk management functions and the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of stalf of cur Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programs and budget. This review was
conducted by considering the reports and recommendation received from the
audit committes, given its role in providing owersight of the intermal contrel and
risk management system,

The audit committee delivered those reports and final recommendation based
on discussions held with management, the internal audit department and
independent auditors and the review of work parformed and reports issued by
those parties in relation to the S0X 404 Compliance Program and our Group's
internal audit plan. Please refer to audit commities section within this report
for maore information on the work performed by the audit committee and the
US Corporate Governance Practices section for further details on the SOX 404
Compliance Program.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Our company secratary, Ms. Stephanie Cheung, is a full time employes of
the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs, The
Company Secretary Is responsible for advising the Board on govemance
matters. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company Secretary has
attended relevant professional trainings to update her skills and kmowledge.
She has complied and will continue to comply with the relevant Listing Rules
requirements to take no less tham 15 hours of relevant professional trainings in
wach financial year.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended December 31, 2014, our Company paid approximately
HK$11.2 million for services provided to us by our audites, Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, compeising, HK$8.1 million for audit services and HK$3.1
milion for non-audit services. MNon-audit services primarily included an
interim review of our Group's consolidated financial statements, agreed upon
procedures related to our preliminary annual results anmouncement, enterprise

resource planning (ERP) software consultations and cenain tax services,
CHANGE OF THE ARTICLES

On shareholders approved the adoption of a further amended and restated
Articles on March 25, 2015, to be effective conditicnal upon the effective date
of our proposed voluntary withdrawal of listing of our shares from the Stock
Exchange (axpecting to be on July 3, 2015),
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Comvening of extraordinary general mesting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 71 of the Arficles, the Board may, whenever they think
fit, convena an extraordinary general mesting, and extraordimary general
meetings shall also ba convened on the written requisition of any one or more
Shareholders, provided that such reguisitions held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than 10% of the paid up capital of cur Compamny which
carmries the right of voling at general mestings of our Company. Such member
shall deposit at the principal place of business of ocur Company in Hong Kong, or
in the event our Company ceases to have such a principal office, the head office
ar the registered office of our Company specifying the objects of the meeting
and signad by the raquisitions.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the raguisition
procead duly to convene the meseting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitions themsalvas of any of them representing mare than one half of the
tofal voting rights of all of them, may convena the gemeral meeting in the samea
mannes, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by
the Directors provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after tha
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
expanses reasonably incurred by the requisitions as a result of the failure of the
Beard shall ba reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Proposing a person for election as a Director of the Comparty

Subject to applicable legislation and regulation and pursuant to the Articles, if
a Shareholder of the Company wishes to propose a person other than himself!
hersell o a retiring director for election as a Director at a general meating of the
Company, the Shareholder should deposit a signed written nomination together
with a notice signed by the person to be nominated of his/her wilingness to be
elected which shall be given to the Company at the Company's place of businass
in Hong Kong (36th Floor, The Centrium, &0 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong
Kong) within the T-day period commencing the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the meeting appeinted for such election and end no later than 7 days
prior to the date of such meeting.

Putting forward proposals at shareholders' meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the operations,
strategy andfor management of the Company to be discussed at shareholders'
meating. Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should convens
an extracrdinary general meeling by the procedures set out in the abave
*Convening of axtracedinary general meeting by Sharehalders”.

US CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

As a NASDAQ-listed company, wa are also subject to other ongoing reporting
obligations and requirements imposed by the SEC and NASDAQ, such as
complance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (*SOX Act®). Under section
404 of the SOX Act, we are required to include a management report on the
effectiveness of our internal controls aver financial reporting in our U.S. annual
reports on Form 20-F.

Management's Annual Repart on Intemal Controd Over Financial Reporting

Our Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate intermal control aver financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-1511)
and 15d-15if) of the U.5. Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

Our Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
ganerally accepted accounting principles. Our Company's internal contral over
financial reporting Includes those pelicles and procedures that:

{1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our Company's
assats;
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(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with gemerally
accepted accounting principles and that cur Company's recelpts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of its

management and directons; and

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unautherized acquisition, use or disposition of our Company’s assets that
could have a material effect an the financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, Internal control over financial reporting may
not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any ewvaluation of
effectiveness to future pericds are subject 1o the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Qur Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of our Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, In making this
assessment, our Company's management used tha framewaork sat forth by the
Committes of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal
Centrel — Integrated Framework (2013) (2013 Framework”),

Based on this assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31,
2014, our Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based
an this 2013 Framework,
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The effectiveness of cur Company’s internal contrel over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2014, has been audited by Messrs, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which
appears herain,

Investor Relations
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Our Company has established a shareholders' communication policy with an
aim to ensure Shareholders ara provided with readily, equal and timely access
to information about the Company. Information wil be communicated to
Sharehclders mainly through cur Company's financlal reports (quarterly, interim
and annual reports), annual gemeral meetings and other general mestings
that may be convened, Our Compamy will make available all the disclosures
submitted to the Stock Exchange and its corporate communications and other
corporate publications on its website. A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is
avallable on the Company's website. Inforrmation on our website s updated on a
regular basis.
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Our Company regards the annual general meeting an important event and SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES AND PROPOSALS
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in annual general meeting or to

appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meeting for and on thelr behall if they Ehnrehoiders’: anquiries. for: ia: Board’ or the: Company,:or. haic. propon Say(og

are unable to attend the meetings. Shareholdars may direct guestions about shareholders' meetings may be directed to us.

their shareholdings to (i) the Company's Hong Kong registrar, Computershane
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, if Shares are registered at the Company’s
Hong Kong registrar; or (i} the Company’s Cayman Islands registrar, Intertrust
Corporate Services (Cayman) Limited, if Shares are registered at the Company's By fax: +852 2537 3618

By pest: 36th Floor, The Centrium, 80 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong

Cayman |slands registrar.
By amail: info@malco-crown.com

For and cn behalf of the Board
Lawrence Yau Lung He
Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Macau, March 25, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Deloitte.
=mE)

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Melco Crown Entartainmant
Lirnited:

Wa have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Melco
Crown Entertainment Limited and subsidiaries (the “*Company®) as of December
31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consclidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income, shareholders' aquity, and cash flows for each of tha
thres years in the pericd ended December 31, 2014, Qur audits also included
the financial statement schedule included in Schedule 1. These consolidated
financial statements and financial statement scheduls are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Cversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obfain reascnable assurance about
whather tha consolidatad financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes axamining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the ameounts
and disclosures in the financial statemaents. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation, We believe that

our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,
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In cur opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
matesial respects, the conselidated financial pesition of the Company as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consclidated results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the pericd ended December
31, 2014, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. Also, in our opinien, such financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consclidated financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects, the
information set forth therain.

Wea have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s intermal control awver
financial reporting as of Decamber 31, 2014, based on tha criteria established
In Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committes of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
March 25, 2015 expressed an ungualified opinion on the Company’s internal
contral over financial reporting.

Deloitte Toeuche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Keng

March 25, 2015



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Deloitte.
=

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Melco Crown Entertainment
Limited:

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Melco Crown
Entertainment Limited and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December
31, 2014, based on the criteria established in Infernal Contro! — Integrated
Framework (20713) issued by the Committes of Sponsoring Organizations
af the Treadway Commission. The Company's management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
agsassment of the effectiveness of intermal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control
over Financing Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards reguire
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether affective internal comtral over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we
considerad necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our apinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by,
or under the supervision of, the company's principal executive and principal
financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the
company's board of directors, management, and other personnal to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
praparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflact the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company,
{2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of conselidated financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or dispesition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on
the consclidated financial statemants.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control ower financial reporting,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management overrida of
controls, material misstaternents due to emor of fraud may not be pravented
or detected on a timely basis. Alse, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the intemal contral over financial reporting to future periods are
subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate bacausa of changes
in conditions, or that the degrea of compliance with the policies or procedures
may dateriorate.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2073) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Campany
Accounting Owversight Board (United States), the consoclidated financial
statemnents and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2014 of the Company and our report dated March 25, 2015
expressed an ungualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements and
financial statement schedula.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

March 25, 2015
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

Dacamber 31, Decamber 31,
2014 203 204 2013

MSSETS LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT ASSETS CURRENT LIABILTIES
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1507655 & 1381757 Accounts payable (Mate 10} § 14428 $ B.825
Bank deposits with onginal malurity over three months 110,616 626,940 Actrued epenses and other curment kabilites (Note 11) 1.005,720 928751
Rastricted cash 1,447 034 T70,204 |Poame tax peyabis BG21 B,584
Accounts recaivable, net (Note 3) 253 665 287,680 Capital laase obfigations, due within one year (Note 13) 23512 27 265
Amounts due from afffiated companies (Nate 24(z) 1,078 2 Current portion of long-temm debit (Nate 12) 262,750 262,566
Deefervedd fax assets (Mote 17) 532 e Amounts due 1o affiliated companies (Note 2400 3626 2,900
Income tax receivable 15 18 Amount dus 1o a shareholder (Note 24{c)) — T
Inverilories 2311 18,169 Total currant liabdites 1,316,657 1,237 970
Prapaid expenses and ofher curent assels 69,254 54,698 LOMG-TERM DEBT (Mote 12 3,640,081 2,270,894
Assats held for sale Note &) = 8468 CUTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (Nale 14) 93441 28 492
Tatal currend assets 3502 061 3,148,447 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Mote 17) 58,949 62,506
PROPEATY AND EQUIPMENT, MET (Mote 5) 4,696,301 3,308,646 CAPITAL LEASE OELIGATIONS, DUE AFTER OME YEAR (Note 13) 278,027 253,020
GAMING SUBCONCESSION, NET (Note B) 427794 485,031 LAND USE RIGHTS PAYABLE (Mate 23(ch 3,788 35,466
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET (Note 7 4220 4,220 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 23)
GOODWILL (Nete 7) B1.915 81,915
LONG-TERM PREPAYMEMNTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER ASSETS

[Mate 8) 287 558 345 667
RESTRICTED CASH 360,549 i
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS [Mate 17) 115 93
DEFERAED FINANCING COSTS, NET 174872 114,431
LAND USE RIGHTS, NET (Nofe 5) BBT 188 851,618
TOTAL ASSETS $ 10432563 5 A2B131633
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

Decamber 31,
2014 2013

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Ordinary shares at US30.01 par value per share

(Authorized — 7,300,000,000 shares as of

December 31, 2014 and 2013 and issusd

— 1,633,701,920 and 1,666,633,448 shares as of

December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively (Nate 16)) 5 16337 § 16,667
Treasury shares, al cost

(17,684,386 and 16,222 246 shares as of

December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively [Note 18] {33,167 15,960)
Additional paid-in capifal 3,092,943 3,479,399
Accumulated other comprehensive losses {17,149 {15,508
Relained eamings 1227477 772,156
Tetal Melco Crown Entertainmant Limited sharshobders equity 4,286,141 4,246 670
Nencondrolling interests 755,529 678,312
Total equity 5.041,670 4,924 962
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 10432563 § 6813539
NET CURRENT ASSETS $ 2,186,304 § 1910477
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES § 9115906 § 7575669

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consclidated financial

statements,
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

Year Ended Decembar 31, Year Ended December 31,

24 2013 202 204 2013 2012
CPERATING REVENLES NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)
Casing $ 4B54184 § 4941487 § 3034761 Interest income $ 0025 % THE0 5 10,858
Roams: 136427 127 661 118,059 Interest expenses, net of capitalized interast (t24,080) {152 BEL) {109,611)
Food and beverage 84,805 T8 BED TeT8 Change in air value of interest rate swap
Entertainment, reta and others 108,417 103,738 90,789 agresments —_ — 363
Gross revenies 4983923 5251767 4,216,327 Amoetization of deerred financing costs (28,055) {1B155) {13272
Less: promotional allowances (181,614 {164 588 {138.314) Loan commitment and other finance fees (18.976) (25,643 (1,524
Net revenues 4802309 5067178 4,078,013 Foreign exchange foss) gain, net (6.155) {10,756) 4 685
CPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES Cther income, net 233 1,661 115
Casing (3.246,404) (3452736 (2834762 Loss on extinguishment of debt (Note 12 = {50,935) -
Rooms: {12 66%) {12511) {14,687} Costs asseciated with debl modification
Food and beverage {23,513 Fa.014) (27 531} [Mote 12) — (10,538 13.277)
Enterfainment, retall and cthers E2,073) B4.212) (62 816) Tokal non-operating expenses, net (154 938) (258,370) (111,363
General and administrative {311,696) {255,780y {226,980} INCOME BEFORE INDOME TAX 530422 580,454 305,720
Paymants 1o the Philipping Parties [870) - - INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) CREDIT {Note 17) (3.038) [2.441) 2943
Pre-apening cosls 83,4970 {17014 [5.7485) NET INCOME 527 386 578,013 308672
Development costs 10,7534 {26,207 (11,009 NET LOSS ATTREEUTARLE TO
Amgrtization of gaming subconcession [57.237) {57.237) (57.237) NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 80,894 59,450 18,531
Amartization of land use rights {64.471) {B4.271) {59,911} WET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO MELCO CROWN
Depraciation and amarlization {246 686) (261,208 (261,449} ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED § 608280 § 637463 § 417203
Property charges and athers {8,698 16 BE4 [8.654)
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale 22072 R 2
Total operating costs and expenses (4,116,949  (4.247.354) (3570921}
OPERATING INCOME § 685360 $ 839524 $ 507002
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO MELCO CROWM

ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED PER SHARE

Basic 3 0369 § 0386 § 0.254

Diuted 3 0366 § 0333 § 0.252
WEIGHTED AWERAGE SHARES USED IN

NET INCOME ATTRIEUTABLE TO

MELCD CROWN ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED

PER SHARE CALCULATION:

Basic 1,647, 571,547 1,649.676,643 1,645,346 902

Diuted 1.660.503,130 1.664.198.091 1,658,262 996

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In thousands of U.S. dallars)

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
Net income $ 527386 % 5TE013 % 308 672
Cihear comprehansive (loss) income:
Foreign currency translation adjustment {2 468) (23,399 16
Change in [air value of intérest rate
Swiap agreeents {19 - —
Change in fair value of forward exchange
rate conracts - — ]
Reclassification 10 earnings upon sattlement
of forward sxchange rate contracts _- - (138}
Cther comprebinsive loss {2, 487) {23,398 (&3
Tatal comprehensive income 524 8992 554,614 388,640
Coenpratensive loss attributable
o nonconinalling nberasts 81,824 BE 314 18,540
Comprehensive income attributabile 1o
Malco Crown Entertainment Limited $ 606723 5 622928 5 417189

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, axcept share and per shara data)

Meca Crown Entertainment Limiled Shaneholders’ Equity

Acoumulated  (Accumulated
Additonal Other Losses)
Oedinary Shares Tresssury Shans Paid-in  Comprehensive Retained  Moncontroling
Shares Amound Shares Femount Capital Losses Eamings: Interests: Total Equity
(k)

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2012 1653101002 & 18531 (10,552,328 S (16} & 3223274 § {103 & (282510 5 231407 3187852
Net income e the year = - - - — — 47,208 (18,531} 306,672
Capital contribution from noncontroling inberests et o et = -t Lot - 140,000 140,000
Forsign cumency franslation adjusiment - - - — — 16 - [} 7
Change in tair vaus of forwand enchange rate conlracts - —_ -_ —_ —_ o« -_ - o
Reckzsification 1o earmings upon setiement of forward

exchange rate contracks - - - - — 1138 - - (138)
Aoquisition of assats and labiles ot 26) - - - - - - - 1860 1,860
Share-based compersation (Note 18) — = = = BA73 - = — 8473
Shares ssued for Rature vesting of restricied shives and

axescisa of share options (Nale 16 4 958 243 50 (4,953,290 [+ d _— -_ - -
Iesuance of shares for resticled shares vestod (Hobe 16) - - 1,276,634 13 3 - - — -
Gancellation of vested resircted shargs - = {6 - - - — - —
Exarcisn of shar opfions (Nola 16} — - 2 566,955 3 3601 - — — 363
BALKNCE AT DECEMEER 31, 2012 1,658.059.295 16,581 (11,267,038} [113) 3235835 {1.057) 134,693 417 740,756
Nt income dor the year - — — - — —_ Ba7 462 {59,450} 578,013
Capital contribution tram noncontroling inferasts — — — = — — - 260,000 280,000
Foreign cumency translation adjusment — — = = = {14,535 = (8864} (23,359
Share-bassd compensation (Note 18) - — — - 14,119 — - a3 15,002
Shares purchased under frust amangement ke future vesting

of restriclad shares (Mo 16) - - (1,021,638 (AT} - - - - B0
Transfer of shares purchased under trus! arrangement lor

resyicisd shares vested (Note 16y - - 378,579 2065 (2,965) - - - —
Sharas tssued for future vesting of reskicled shams and

exrcise of share options (Note 16] B574,153 8 (8,574,153 (36} = == = T =
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

Melco Crown Enlerlainmend Limiled Shasehoiders’ Equity

focumdated  (Accumulaled
Additional Other Lossss)
Ordinary Sharss Traasury Sharas Paidin  Comprehensive Ratained  Moncontmolling
Shares Amount Shares Amound Capital Logses Eamings Imerests Total Equity
{Naltel

Issuanca of shares for restricied shares vested (Note 16) — 3 — 1297802 § 13 [iE] — 5 - § — 8 -
Exercise of share oplions {Nose 16) —_ —_ 3.064,302 kil 4,888 — —_ —_ 4m9
(hange in sharehaokding of th Philioging subsiaries Nole 27) —_— - — —_— 22153 —_ - 110,926 338.461
BRLANGE AT DECEMBER 31, 213 1,666, £33, 448 16667  (16.222.246) (58960 347939 (15,592} T2 156 B7E312 4,924 082
Net incame for the year - - - -_ - - 608,280 180,554) 527,386
Capital contribution fram nencontralling inlerests - -_ -_— - _— - -_— 2,000 92000
Forntign eurmency Irarstation adisiment - - —_ —_ - {1,535 - e 12,468
Changa in fair value of interes! rale swap agreements - - — — e {19y - - ]
Share-basad compensation (Nole 18) - - - - 18233 - - 2188 20401
Shares purchased undes frust amangement for future vesting

of resticled shares (Note 16} - ad {208,278} 72 —_ - - - 721y
Trangher of shares purchased under ust amangemsant o

resiricted shares vested (Nl 16) - — 467121 3648 13,6489 = = o =
Srares repurchased fr ratirament (Note 16) - — {36.640.344) (300,495 - - - - (300,495
Refirement of shares (Note 18) (32.931,528) B3y 3293158 Ias (271,011 = =t = =
Issuance of shares for restriched shares vested Nole 16} — —_ 1.068.554 1 {11y —_ - — -
Exercise of share options {Nota 16) - - 978.2% a 247 = = = 2.156
(hange in shazehokding of th Philopine subsidaries Note 27) — -— —_ - 5208 — — B4 873 122,166
Dividends dectared ($0.2076 per shans) (Note 21) - —_ — _ (1E0,450) - {153,250 —_ [H2.T18)
BALAMCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2014 1633701920 3 16,537  (I7.684.386) § @16n & J0msl 3 fiT040) § 127077 §  THESM 3§ 5041670

Mote: The treasury shares represent i new shares issued by tha Company and held by the depository bank 1o faciitats the administration and opsrations of the Company’s share incentive plans, and are 1o ba delivered 1o
the Directons, eligible smployees and consultants on the vesting of nestricted shares and upon the exercise of share options; i) the shares purchased under & trust arrangemsnt for the benalit of certain bermficiaras
who are swardess under the 20711 Shane Incentive Plan and heid by & trustes 1o faciitats the futurs vesting of restricted shares in selected Directors, employess and consultants under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan;
and i} ihe shares repurchased by the Company under the Stock Repurchase Program pending for redirement.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements,
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

{In thousands of U.S. dollars)

Yaar Endad December 31, Yoar Ended December 31,
2014 203 am2 2014 2013 an2
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES Reclassification of accumulated income of
Net income $ 527386 3 5783 §  39BET2 forward exchange rate contracts from
Adjustments fo reconcile net incame fo net accumulated other comprehensive losses  § = 5 — % (138)
cash provided by operating activities: Changs in fair vakie of interest rate
Depraciation and amortization 368,304 332,806 378597 SWaD agreements —_ - [363)
Amaortizasion of dederred financing costs 28,055 18,158 13,272 Changes in operating assets and liabilfies:
Amortization of dederred infersst expense B 736 2138 Actounts recefvabie 773 (15,261} [42,367)
Amortization of dizcount on senior notes Ampunts dus trom atfiiated companies {1.0056) 1.209 524
payable _— Al a0 Amount dus from a shareholdar —_— —_ 3
Excess paymert on acquisition of assets and |mventories (4,842 [1,583) 1,318
liahilitias: — ™ 5,747 Prepaid expenses and other current assets (3.883) [25.974) [ERAL]
Interest accretion on capilal lease dbligations 19.756 16,063 — Leng-term prepayments, deposits and
Interest incoma on restricied cash {9,050} - - othar assats (48.007) (1,197} {2.675)
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 4550 2483 aar Daferrad tax assets {22} 12 81)
Impairment lass recognized on property and Accounts payable 4,603 (3.920) 1722
equipment 4,146 —_ - Accrued expenses and
Allowarece for doubtful debts and othar current Eabilites {42 B6E) 71527 164,886
dhrect write off 37669 44,299 28416 Ingome: tax payabie (239 5.640 [313)
Written olf cantract acquisition costs — 1,582 —_ Amgunts due to affiliabed companies (2.000) 2,184 (564)
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale [22.072) e - Amcunt due 0 a shareholder 79 79 —_
Loss on extinguishment of debi — 50,835 —_ Other long-term Rabililies 26,271 200 809
Wiritten off deferred financing costs Deterred tax liabilities {3.857) [3.544) (3,678)
on maodification of dab = 10,538 = Nat cash provided by cperating activities § BMEI4 F 19518934 8 950235
Share-based compensation 20401 14987 BAT3
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

{In thousands of U.S. dollars)

Year Ended Dacember 31, Yaar Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 204 2013 2012
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTMITIES CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment for capitalized construction costs 5 (977782 5 (406015 3 (ra.211) Dividends paid $ (342718 % - 3 o
Changes in restricted cash {678,151) 268,414 (1,047 018) Repurchase of shares for retirement (300,485 = =
Paymant for acdquisition of proparty and Principal payments on long-term debt (262,563 (1 66T 96 12,758)
wquipment [237.715) {78,250 [141.268) Paymeni of datérred financing costs 12,742 120133 (30,207)
Placement of bank depesits with original Purchase of shares under frust amangement
meaturity cver thiee months {110,616 {626,940 - for future vesting of restricted shares 1,721 {B.TT0 =
Acvance payments for cONSTUCHON CoS1S {107 58T {161,633 - Principal payments on capital lease cbligations (228) {38 -
[Deposits dor acquisition of property and Prepaymeni ol delerred financing costs - {56,535) {18,812
equipment {89,443 {17,198) (7.708) Deferad payment for acquisition of assels
Payment for land use rights {50,541) {B4.297) (53.830) and liabikties = {25.000) {25,000)
Payment for entertainment production costs 11.346) {2,064y {1,788y Preceeds from exercise of share optons 736 4m7 3,509
Paymant for confract acquisition costs _— 2772 — Capital confribution from noncontrolling interasts 92,000 280,000 140,000
Paymant for security depasit — (4,203 — Met proceeds from issuance of shares
Proceeds from depesils on sale of assets of a subsidiary 122,167 338,461 —
held o sale — 1,285 —_ Precesds from long-lerm debt 1,632 514 1,000,000 268,000
Nl payment lor acquisition of assets and Net cash provided by fused in)
liahilities e - [5.315) financing activilies 926,950 (264,967 934,735
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 1017 343 422 EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ON CASH AND
Nel proceeds trom sale of assets held for sale 20,255 - —_ CASH EQUIMALENTS (397 {5,148) 1,935
Withdrawals of bank deposits with NET INCREASE [DECREASE) IN CASH AND
original maturity over three months 626,940 — — CASH EQUIVALENTS 215898 [327 452) 551,185
Mt cash used in irmesting acthities $ (1605265 § (1200270 $ (1.335.718) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,381,757 1,709,208 1,158,024

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ 1507655 § 1381757 § 1,708,208
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

{In thousands of LS. dollars)

Yaar Endad December 31,
2014 203 amz2

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOWS
Cash paid for inferest {net of capitalized interest) & (95,118) & (127,807) § (02,015
Cash paid for tax {net of refunds) {7.154) (333) {1,120
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FIMANCING ACTIWTIES
Casts of proparty and equipmant fundad

through capital lease cbligations 850 288,535 -
Costs of property and equipment funded

theough accrussd expenses and

oiher current Eabilities and

other long-term liabikties 60,733 15,744 10,967
Costs of property and equipment funded

fhrough amounts due to affilzled companies 2.809 215 428
Construction costs fundad through accrued

eapanses and ather current liabilities,

other long-term liabifties and

capital lease cbligations 200,800 a7.611 48,508
Land use rights cests funted theough actrusd

expenses and ather currend Habilities and

lznd use rights payable — 14,508 69,057
Deterred financing costs funded through accaued
epenses and alher current labilites 243 4522 7,080

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consclidated financial
statements,
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COMPANY INFORMATION

Malco Crown Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands, with its ordinary shares listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Keng Stock
Exchange”) under the stock code of "6883" in tha Homg Kong Spacial
Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China (*Hong Kong®)
and its American depository sharas (*ADS") listed on the NASDAQ Global
Salect Market under the symbol *MPEL" in the United States of America.
The address of the Company's registered office is 190 Elgin Avenue,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-3005, Cayman Islands. The Company’s
place of business in Hong Kong is 36/F, The Centrium, 60 Wyndham Street,
Central, Hong Kong. On January 2, 2015, the Company submitted an
application to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the voluntary withdrawal
of the listing of its ordinary shares on the Main Board of Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, further details pleass refer to Mote 33(a).

The Company together with its subsidiaries (collectively referred 1o as
the “Group®) is & devaloper, owner and operator of casino gaming and
entertainment resort faciiities in Asia. The Group currently operates Altira
Macau, a casino hotel located at Taipa, the Macau Special Administrative
Region of the People's Republic of China {*Macau”), City of Dreams,
an integrated wrban casino resort located at Cotai, Macau and Taipa
Sguare Casingo, a casino located at Taipa, Macau. The Group's business
also includes the Moecha Clubs, which comprise the non-casino based
operations of electronic gaming machines in Macau. The Group is also
developing Studie City, a cinematically-themed integrated entertainment,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

ratail and gaming resort in Cotal, Macau. In the Philippines, Melco Crown
(Fhilippines) Resorts Corporation (*MICP®), an indirect majority owned
subsidiary of the Company whose common shares are listed on The
Philippine Steck Exchange, Inc. under the stock code of "MCP", through
MCP's subsidiary, MCE Leisure (Philippines) Corporation ("MCE Lelsure”),
currently operates and manages City of Dreams Manila, a casino, hotel,
retall and entertainment integrated resort in the Entertainment City complex
in Manila. City of Dreams Manila commenced operations on December 14,
2014, with a grand opening of the integrated resort on February 2, 2015.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the major shareholders of the
Company are Melco International Dewelopment Limited (*Melco®), a
company listed in Hong Kong, and Crown Resorts Limited ("Crown”), an
Australian-listed corporation.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFIGANT ACGOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared In
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") and include applicable
disclosuras required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on Hong Kong Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the Company and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) Cash and cash equivalents are placed with financial institutions with
high-credit ratings and quality.

(2) Restricted Cash

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with U.5. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates and judgements are

The current portion of restricted cash represents those cash
depesited into bank accounts which are restricted as to withdrawal
and use and the Group expects those fund will be released or utilized
in accordance with the terms of the respective agreements within the
next twelve months, while the non-current portion of restricted cash

Exsect on. histaral information; lnformation: fal ts cumrentty. svalable represents those fund that will not be released or utllized within the

to the Group and on various other assumptions that the Group next twelve months. Restricted cash as of December 31, 2014 and
belleves 1o be reasonable under the clrcumstances. Accordingly, 2013 comprises | bank accounts that are restricted for withdrawal
aclual results could differ from those estimates. and for payment of Studic City project costs in accordance with the

terms of the Studic City MNotes and Studio City Project Facility as

{c) [Fair Value of Financial Instruments ) ) : )
dafined in Note 12 and other associated agreements; ii} a subsidiary’s

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received ta sall the Taiwan branch office’s deposit account in Taiwan which has been
asset or paid to transfer a liabllity (l.e. the “exit price™) in an orderly frozen by the Taiwanese authority since January 2013 in connection
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. with an investigation related to certain alleged viclations of Taiwan

The Group estimated the fair values using appropriate valuation banking and foreign exchange laws by certain employees of the

Tai ice, with indictment received in August 2014 against
methodologies and market information available as of the balance el branch flice, Wt Idkchinant recelved M gust 2078 Sgaliy

the subsidiary’s Taiwan branch office and such emplovees, further

sheet date.
information is included in Mote 23{e): i) cash in escrow account,
(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents which was setup in March 2013, that is restricted for payment of City
of Dreams Manila project costs In accordance with the terms of the
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits provisional license (the “Provisional License”) as disclosed in Note
and highly liquid investments which are unrestricted as to withdrawal 22(a) issued by the Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation
and use, and which have malturities of three months or less when ("PAGCOR"); and iv) Interest income earned on restricted cash
purchased, balance which are restricted as to withdrawal and use.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thausands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

U]

Accounts Receivable and Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Group to
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of casino receivables,
The Group issues cradit in the form of markers to approved casino
customers following investigations of creditworthiness including to its
gaming promoters In Macau, which receivable can be offset against
commissions payable and any other value items held by the Group
to the respective customer and for which the Group intends to set-
off when required. As of Decembaer 31, 2014 and 2013, a substantial
portion of the Group's markers ware due from customers residing
in foreign countries. Business or economic conditions, the legal
enforceability of gaming debts, or other significant events in foraign
countries could affect the collectability of receivablas from customers
and gaming promoters residing in these countries.

Accounts receivable, incleding casing, hotel and other receivables, ane
typically non-interest bearing and are initially recorded at cost. Accounts
are written off when managament deems it is probable the receivable is
uncollectible. Recoveries of accounts previously written off are recorded
whan recaived. An astimated allowance for doubtful debts is maintained
to reduce the Group's receivables to their camying amounts, which
appreximates fair value. The allowance is estimated based on specific
review of customer accounts as well as managament's experience
with collection trends in the casino industry and current economic and
business conditions. Management believes that as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, no significant concentrations of credit risk existed for
which an allowance had not already been recorded.

L]

Inventories

Inventories consist of retail merchandise, food and beverage items
and certain operating supplies, which are stated at the lower of
cost or market value. Cost Is calculated using the first-in, first-
out, average and specific identification methods. Write downs of
potentially absolete or slow-moving Inventory are recorded based on
managament's specific analysis of inventory.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and amortization. Impalrment losses and gains or losses
on dispositions of property and equipment are included in cperating
income. Major additions, renewals and betterments are capiltalized,
while maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred,

During the construction and development stage of the Group's casino
gaming and enterfainment resort facilities, direct and incremental
costs related to the design and construction, including costs under
the construction contracts, duties and tariffs, equipment installation,
shipping costs, payroll and payroll-benefit related costs, depraciation
of plant and eguipment used, applicable portions of interest and
amortization of deferred financing costs, are capitalized in property
and equipment, The capitalization of such cests begins when the
construction and development of a project starts and ceases once
the construction is substantially completed or development activity is
suspanded for more than a brief period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (i) Capitalization of Interest and Amortization of Deferred Financing
: Costs
(h) Property and Equipment, Net (continued)

Interest and amortization of deferred financing costs incurred on

Depreciation and amortization expense related to capitalized
ol P P funds used to construct the Group's casino gaming and entertalnment

construction costs and other property and squipment is recognized
from the time each asset is placed in service, This may occur at
different stages as casino gaming and entertalnment resort facllities
are completed and opened.

rasort facilities during the active construction period are capitalized.
Interest subject to capitalization primarily includes interest paid or
payable on the Group's long-term debt axcept for the Aircraft Term
Loan as disclosed in Note 12, interest rate swap agreements, the

Property and equipment and other long-fived assels with a finite land pramium payables for the land use rights where City of Dreams

useful life are depreciated and amortized on a straight-line basis over and Studio City are located and the capital lease obligations. The

the asset's estimated useful life, Estimated useful lives are as follows: capitalization of interest and amortization of deferred financing costs

ceases once a project is substantially completed or development

Classification Estimated Usaful Life activity is suspended for more than a brief pericd. The amcunt to

Bulldings 7 to 25 years or over the term of the land be capitalized is determined by applying the weighted average

use right agreemeant or lease agreement, interast rate of the Group's outstanding borrowings to the average

whichewver iz shorter amount of aceumulated qualitying capital expenditures for assets

Transportation 5 te 10 years under construction during the year and is added to the cost of the

Leasehold improvements 3 to 10 years or over the lsase term, underlying assets and amortized over thelr respective useful lives.

whichewver is shorter Total interest expenses incurred amounted to $220,974, $183,647 and

Furniture, fixtures and 2 to 10 years £120,021, of which $96,884, $30,987 and $10,410 were capitalized

equipmeant far the years anded Decembar 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respactively.

Plant and gaming 3 to 5 years Mo amortization of deferred financing costs were capitalized during
machinery the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.5. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

@

Gaming Subconcession, Net

The gaming subconcession iz capitalized based on the fair value of
the gaming subconcession agreement as of the date of acquisition
of Melco Crown (Macau) Limited (*Melco Crown Macau®™), an
indirect subsidiary of the Company and the holder of the gaming
subconcession in Macau, in 2008, and amortized using the straight-

line method over the term of agreement which Is due to expire in June
2022,

Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value
of tangible and identifiable intangible net assets of any business
acquirad. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment at
the reporting unit level en an annual basis, and between annual tests
when circumstances indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may
not be recoverable, An impairment loss is recognized in an amount
equal to the excess of the carrying ameount over the implied fair value.

Intangible assets other than goodwill are amertized over their useful
lives unless their lives are determined to be indefinite in which case
they are not amortized. Intangible assets are carried at cost, less
accumulated amortization. The Group's finite-lived intangible asset

consists of the gaming subconcession. Finite-lived intangible assets

are amortized over the shorter of their contractual terms of estimated
useful lives, The Group's intangible assets with indefinite lives
represent Mocha Clubs trademarks, which are tested for impakment
on an annual basis or when circumstances indicata that the camying

value of the intangible assets may not be recoverable,
Impairment of Long-lived Assets (Other Than Goodwill)

The Group avaluates the recoverability of long-lived assats with finite
lives based on its classification as a) held for sale or b) to be held
and used. Several criteria must be met before an asset is classified
as held for sale, including that management with the appropriate
authority commits to a plan to sell the asset at a reasonable price in
relation to its fair value and is actively seeking a buyer. For assets
held for sale, the Group recognizes the assets at the lower of carrying
value or fair market value less costs to sell, as estimated based
on comparable asset sales, offers received, or a discounted cash
flow model. For assets to be held and used, the Group evaluates
their recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a
comparisen of the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated
undiscounted futura cash flows expected to be generated by the
asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future
cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized In the amount by

which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Wi Caompen ke tabwwed |imiieed Hnregl Hepee F014 1



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

2,

=

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

U}

Impairment of Long-lived Assets (Other Than Goodwill) (continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2014, an impaiment loss
of $4,146 was recognized mainly due o reconfiguration of the
entertainment area at City of Dreams and renovation of the casinos at
City of Dreams and Altira Macau and the amount were Included In the
consolidated statements of operations. Mo impairment lasses ware
recognized during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2013,

(m) Deferred Financing Costs, Net

(n)

Direct and incremental costs incurred in obtaining leans orf in
connection with the issuance of long-term debt are capitalized and
amortized over the terms of the related debt agreements using the
effective interest method. Amortization expensa of approximately
$28.055, 518,159 and $13,272 were recorded during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respactively.

Land Use Rights, Net

Land use rights are recorded at cost less accumulated amaortization,
Amortization is provided over the estimated lzase term of the land on

a straight-line basis.

Awusd Fepor] 2010 o Campr | gt e

{o) Revenue Recognition and Promotional Allowances

The Group recognizes revenue at the time persuasive avidence of an
arrangement exists, the service is provided or the retail goods are
sold, prices are fixed or delerminable and collection is reasonably
assured.

Casino revenues are measured by the aggregate net diffarence
between gaming wins and losses less accruals for the anticipated
payouts of progressive slot jackpots, with liabilities recognized for
funds deposited by customers before gaming play occurs and for
chips Im the customers' possession,

The Group follows the acccunting standards for reporting revenue
gross as a principal versus net as an agent, when accounting for
operations of Grand Hyatt Macau hotel, Hyatt City of Dreams Manila
hotel (collectively the “Hyatt Hotels™) and Taipa Square Casino. For
the operations of the Hyatt Hotels, the Group is the owner of the
hotels property, and the hotel managers cperate the hotels under
managemeant agresments providing management services to the
Group, and the Group receives all rewards and takes substantial
risks associated with the hetels business, it is the principal and the
transactions of the Hyatt Hotels are therefore recognized on a gross
basis. For the gperations of Taipa Sguare Casing, given the Group
operates the casimo under a right to use agreament with the owner
of the casino pramises and has full responsibility for the casino
operations in accordance with its gaming subconcession, it is the

principal and casino revenue is therefora recognized on a gross basis.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.5. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(0) Revenue Recognition and Promotional Allowances (continued)

Rooms, food and beverage, entertainment, retail and other revenues
are recegnized when services are performed. Advance deposits on
rooms and advance ticket sales are recorded as customer deposits
uniil services are provided te the customer. Minimum operating and
right to use fea, adjusted for contractual base fee and operating fee
escalations, are included in entertainment, retall and other revenues
and are recognized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the
related agreement.

Revenues are recognized net of certain sales incentives which are
required to be recorded as a reduction of revenue; consequently, the
Group's casino revenues are reduced by discounts, commissions and
peoints earned in customer loyalty programs, such as the player's club

loyalty program.

The retail value of rooms, food and beverage, entertainment, retail
and other services furmished to guests without charge is included in
gross ravenues and then deducted as promotional allowances. The
estimated cost of providing such promotional allowances for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 is raclassified from

rooms costs, food and beverage costs, entertainment, retail and other
services costs and is included in casine expenses as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 23 2012
Rooms $ 20 3% 19828 § 16,818
Food and beverage 53941 43,838 38,014
Entertainment, retail and athers 7.683 8301 7,238

§ 53908 $ T1967 $  B30N1

(p) Point-loyalty Programs

The Group operates different loyalty programs in certain of its
properties to encourage repeatl business mainly from loyal slot
machine customers and table games patrons. Members earn peints
primarily based on gaming activity and such points can be redeemed
for free play and other free goods and services. The Group accrues
far lovalty program points expected to be redeeamed for cash and
free play as a reduction to gaming revenue and accrues for loyalty
program paoints expected to be redeemed for free goods and sarvices
as casing expenss, The accruals are based on management's
astimates and assumptions regarding the redemption value, age and
history with expiration of unused points resulting in a reduction of the
aceruals.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) {t) Advertising and Promaotional Expenses

(@) Gaming Taxes The Group expenses all advertising and promotional expenses as
ingurred or the first time the advertising takes place. Advertising and
promotional expenses Included in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations wera $47,806, $43,403 and $40,854 for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Group is subject to taxes based on gross gaming revenue
and other matrics in the jurisdictions in which it operates, subject
to applicable jurisdictional adjustments. These gaming taxes are
determined mainly from an assessment of the Group's gaming
revenue and are recorded as an expense within the *Casing” line {u) Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations
iten in the consolidated statements of cperations. These taxes

totaled $2,275,610, 52,479,958 and $2,024 697 for the years ended

December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

All transactions in currencies other than functional currencies of the
Company during the year are remeasured at the exchange rates
prevailing on the respective transaction dates. Monetary assets and

(r) Pre-opening Costs liabilities existing at the balance sheet date denominated in currencies
other than functional currencies are remeasured at the exchange
rates existing on that date, Exchange differances are recorded in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Pre-opening costs, consist primarily of marketing expenses and other
expanses related to new or start-up operations and are expensed
as Imcurred. The Group has incurred pre-opening costs primarily

in connection with City of Dreams Manila and Studie City since The functional currencies of the Company and its major subsidiarias
December 2012 and July 2011, respectively. The Group also incurs are the United States dollar (8" or “US5"), the Hong Kong dollar
pra-opening costs on other one-off activities related to the marketing {"HK$"), the Macau Pataca ("MOP”) or the Philippine Peso ("PHP™),
aof new facilities and oparations. raspectively. All assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of

axchange prévailing at the balance sheet date and all income and
expansa items are translated at the average rates of exchange aver

(s) Development Costs

Development costs Include costs associated with the Group's the year. All exchange differences arising from the translation of
evaluation and pursuit of new business cpportunities, which ara subsidiarias’ financial statements are recorded as a component of
expensed as incurred, comprehensive income (loss),
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thausands of U.5. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT AGCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(v) Share-based Compensation Expenses

The Group measures the cost of employse services received in
axechange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant
date fair value of the award and recognizes that cost over the service
period. Compensation Is attributed to the pericds of associated

Deferrad income taxes are recognized for all significant temporary
differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their
reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements, Deferred
tax assaets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion
of management, it |5 more likely than not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The components of the
deferred tax assets and liablilities are individually classified as current
service and such expense is being recognized on a straight-line basie and nen-currant based on the characteristics of the underlying assets
over the vesting period of the awards. Forfeitures are estimated at and liabilities. Current income taxes are provided for in accordance

the time of grant and actual forfeitures are recognized currently to the with the laws of the relevant taxing authorities.

extent they differ from the estimate.

Further information on the Group's share-based compensation

arrangements is included in Mote 18.

(w) Income Tax

The Group is sublect to income taxes in Hong Kong, Macau, the
United States of America, the Philippines amd other jurisdictions

where it operates,

The Group’s income tax returns are subject to examination by
tax authorities in the jurisdictions where it operates. The Group
assessas potentially unfavorable outcomes of such examinations
based on accounting standards for uncertain income taxes. These
accounting standards utilize a two-step approach to recognizing and
measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step Is to evaluate the
tax position for recegnition by detesmining if the weight of available
avidence indicates it is more likely than not that the position will be
sustained on audit, iIncluding resolution of related appeals or litigation
processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as
the largest amount which is more than 50% likely, based solely on the
technical merits, of baing sustained on axaminations.

Wl Crospe Enbertabopwed | imdied Jrrngl Hepee F014 [Ea)



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) The weighted average number of ordinary and ordinary equivalent
shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted net income

(x)  Net Income Attributable to Melco Crown Entertainment Limited Per atrributable to Melce Crown Entertainment Limited per share

Share consistad of the following:
Basic net income attributable to Meleo Crown Entertainrment Limited Year Ended Decamber 31.
per share is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to e 013 2012
Melco Crown Entertainment Limited by the weighted average number Weighted awerage rumber of ordnary
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. shares outstanding used in he
cakculation of basic nat income
DCilutad ret income attributable to Melco Crown Entertainment Limited attributable o Meko Crowm
per share is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to Entertainment Limited per share 1,647,571 547 1640678643 1645346902
Melco Crown Entertainment Limited by the welghted average number Incremental weghtid sverage nusbal
of ordinary shares cutstanding during the year adjusted to include the of cedinary shanes from asscmed
potentially dilutive effect of outstanding share-based awards. VS0l et seres i
exercise of share opbions using e
Ireasury sock mathod 12,061,583 14 519,448 12,916,094
Weighted average ramber of odinary
shares outslanding used in he

cakculation of diuted nel income
afvibutable i Meico Crown
Enfertainment Limited pes share 1660503930 1564108091 1658262006
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLIGIES (CONTINUED)

)

v)

Net Income Attributable to Melco Grown Entertainment Limited Per
Share (continued)

During the years aencded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
2,519,037, nil and 1,901,136 outstanding share options, and 701,681,
nil and nil cutstanding resiricted shares as at December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, raspactively, were excluded from the computation of
diluted net income atiributable to Meleo Crown Entertainment Limited
par share as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as floating-for-
fixed interest rate swap agreements with interest rate fluctuations
in accordance with lenders' requirements under the Group's Studio
City Project Faclity and City of Dreams Project Facllity (as defined In
Note 12), and forward exchange rate contracts to manage its risks
associated exchange rate fluctuations for the interest payments of
the RMB Bonds (as defined in Mote 12). All derivative instrumants
ara racognized in the consolidated financial statements at fair value
at the balance sheet date. Any changes in fair value are recorded
in the consolidated statements of operations or accumulated other
comprehensive income, depending on whether the derivative is
dasignated and qualifies for hedge accounting, the type of hedge
transaction and the effectiveness of the hedge. The estimated fair

values of interest rate swap agreements and forward exchange rate
confracts are based on a standard valuation model that projects
future cash flows and discounts those future cash flows to a present
value using market-based ocbservable inputs such as interest rate

yialds and market forward exchange rates,

The Group's outstanding interest rate swap agreements as of
December 31, 2014 are disclosed in Note 11, Further information on
tha Group's interest rate swap agreamants and forward exchange rate
contracts ane included in Note 12,

Comprehensive Income and Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Losses

Comprehensive income includes net income, foreign currency
translation adjustments, change in fair value of interest rate swap
agreaments and forward exchange rate contracts and reclassification
to eamings upon settlement of forward exchange rate contracts and
is reported in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Group's accumulated other
comprehansive losses consisted of the following:

December 31,
2n4 2013
Foreign currency transtation adjusiment $  (71a0p 5 (15502
Change in the fair value of interest rale swap
agreamarts {9 -

3 (17149) % (15503
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

2,

R

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(aa) Recent Changes in Accounting Standards

Newly Adopted Accounting Pronouncements:

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB")
issued an authoritative pronouncement related to obligations
resulting from joint and several liability arrangements far which the
total amount of the obligation is fixed at the reporting date. The
proncuncement provides guidance for the recognition, measurement,
and disclosure of obligations resulting from joint and several liability
arrangements for which the total amount of the ebligation within the
scope of this pronouncement is fixed at the reporting date, except
for obligations addressed within existing guidance in U.S. GAAR
The guidance requires an entity to measure those cbligations as the
sum of the amount the reporting entity agreed to pay on the basis
of its arrangement among Its co-obligors and any additional ameunt
the reporting entity expects to pay on behalf of its co-obligers. Tha
guidance in this pronouncement also requires an entity to disclose
the nature and amount of the obligation as well as other information
about those cbligations. The adoption of this guidance was effective
for the Group as of January 1, 2014 and did not have a material

impact on the Group's consolidated financial results or discloswras.

Bovud Fepor] 1 oo Campr | gt imfed.

In March 2013, the FASE issuad an authoritative pronouncemant
related to parent's acccunting for the cumulative translation
adjustment upon derecognition of certain subsidiaries or groups
of assets within a foreign entity or of an investment in a foreign
entity, When a reporting entity (parent) ceases 1o have a controlling
financial interast in a subsidiary or group of assets that is a nonprofit
activity or & business [other than a sale of in substance real estate
ar conveyance of ol and gas mineral rights) within a foraign entity,
the parent is required to release any related cumulative translation
adjustment inte net income. Accordingly, the cumulative translation
adjustment should be released into net income only if the sale or
transfer resulls in the complete or substantially complete liquidation
of the foreign entity in which the subsidiary or group of assets had
rasided. The adoption of this guidance was effective for the Group as
of January 1, 2014 and did not have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial results or disclosuras.,



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(aa) Recent Changes in Accounting Standards (continued)

Newly Adopted Accounting Pronouncements. (continued)

In July 2013, the FASB issued a pronouncement which provides
guidance on financial statement presentation of an unrecognized
tax benafit when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax
loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists. The amendments require
an entity to present an unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion of an
unrecognized tax benefit, in the financial statements as a reduction
to a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar
tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward, except as follows. To the extent
a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit
carryfarward is not available at the reparting date under the tax law of
the applicable jurisdiction to settle any additional income taxes that
would result from the disallowance of a tax position or the tax law of
the applicable jurisdiction does not require the entity to use, and the
entity does not intend to use, the deferred tax asset for such purpose,
the unrecognized tax benafit should be presented in the financial
statemnents as a liability and should not be combined with deferred tax
assets. The adoption of this guidance was effective for the Group as
of January 1, 2014 and did not have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial results o disclosures,

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted:

In May 2014, the FASB issued an accounting standard update
which outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use In
accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and
supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including
industry-specific guidance. The core principal of this new revenue
recognition model is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict
the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflacts the consideration for which the entity expacts to ba
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This update also
requires enhanced disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing,
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity's
contracts with customers. The guidance is effective for interim and
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption
5 not permitted. The guidance can be applied either retrospectively
to each period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of
the date of adoption. Management is currently assessing the potential
impact of adopting this guidance on the Group's consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

2.

=

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(aa) Recent Changes in Accounting Standards (continued)
Recent Accounting Pronouncaements Not Yet Adopted: (continued)

In June 2014, the FASB issued an accounting standard update which
requires that a performance target that affects westing and that
could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a
performance condition. As such, the performance target should not
be reflected in estimating the grant-date fair value of the award, This
update further clarifies that compensation cost should be recognized
in the period in which it becomes probable that the performance
target will be achieved and should represent the compensation cost
atiributable to the period(s) for which the requisite service has already
been randered. The guidance is effective for interim and fiscal years
baginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted.
The guidance can be applied either (a) prospectively to all awards
grantad or medified after the effective date or (b) retrospectively to
all awards with performance targets that are outstanding as of the
beginning of the earliest annual period presented in the consolidated
financial statements and to all new or modified awards thereafter. The
adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact

on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

Components of accounts receivable, net are as follows:

December 31

2014 a3
Casing $ 414515 § 423963
Haiel 1,728 1353
Other 6.208 5.898
Sub-total 422451 431,214
Less: allowance for doubtiul debls {168,786) (143, 334)

§ 253665 % 287880

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Group
has provided allowance for doubtful debts, net of recoveries of §20,979,
543,750 and $26,566 and has directly written off accounts raceivable of
§7,680, 5549 and $1,850, respectively.

Maovement of allowance for doubthul debts are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 22
At beginning of yaar $ 14333 % 113264 8 8BTS
Additional alowance, net ol recovesies 20979 43,750 26,566
Factassifidd 10 long-1em receivabies, nat (4.52T) {13.640) N
At end of year $ 16BTEE $ 143334 8 113284




ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET (CONTINUED)

The Group grants unsecured credit lines to gaming promoters based on
pre-approved credit limits. The Group typically issues markers to gaming
promoters with a credit period of 30 days. There are some gaming
promaoters for whom credit is granted on a revelving basis based on the
Group's menthly credit risk assessment of such gaming promoters, Credit
lines granted to all gaming promoters are subject to monthly review and
various settlement procedures. For other approved casino customers, the
Group typically allows a credit period of 14 days to 28 days on issuance
of markers following investigations of creditworthiness. An extended
repayment term of typically 20 days may be offered to casino customers
with [arge gaming losses and established credit history.

The following is an analysis of accounts receivable by age presented based
on payment due date, net of allowance:

Decamber 31,

2014 2m3
Cuerent $ 185172 § 1873V
1-30 days 52574 57.727
31-60 days 18,719 11.607
B1-90 days 3937 11,678
Over 90 days 23,263 19,201

$ 253655 5 287880

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

On February 18, 2014, the Group completed the sale of its properties in
Macau pursuant to a promissory agreement dated Movember 20, 2013
signed with a third party. Total consideration amounted to HK$240,000,000
{equivalent to $30,848) which include a cash deposit of HKS10,000,000
{equivalent to £1,285) received by the Group on the date of signing the
promissory agresment. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the
Group recognized a gain on disposal of assets hald for sale of $22,072. As
of December 31, 2013, the total net carrying value of the properties held for
sale amounted to 58,488,

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

December 31,
2014 2013
Cost
Buildings: $ 2693256 § 2693753
Furmitura, fixlures and equipmart 607 423 448,732
Leasehold improvements 588,454 265,808
Piant and gaming machinery 197,740 162,763
Transportation 84,441 64 687
Construction in progress 1,935,301 BB 28
Sub-totsl 6,106,705 4.505,571
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (1.410,314) (1,106,725

Property and equipment. nel $ 4696391 5 3308546
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

5.

=

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (CONTINUED)

As of Decembar 31, 2014 and 2013, construction in progress in relation to
City of Dreams, Studio City and City of Dreams Manila included interest
capitalized in accordance with applicable accounting standards and
other direct incidental costs capitalized [representing insurance, salaries
and wages and certain other professional charges incurred) which, in the
aggregate, amounted to $219 141 and 5102 248, respectively.

Dwring the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, additions to
proparty and squipment amounted to $1,637,305, $312,355 and $283,998,
respectively and disposals of property and equipment at carrying amount
ware $5,667, 82,822 and $1,310, respactively.

The cost and accumulated depreciation and amertization of property
and aquipment held under capital lease arrangements was $265,781 and
£711, respactively, as of December 31, 2014. The cost and accumulated
depreclation and amortization of property and equipment held under capital
lease arrangements was $266,540 and $115, raspectively, as of December
31, 2013, Further information of the lease arrangement is included in Note
13.
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GAMING SUBCONCESSION, NET

December 31

2014 213
Deemed cost $ 900000 3 900,000
Less: accumnulated amortization (472,206} (414 969
Gaming subconcession, net § 427794 §  485.0m

The deemed cost was determined based on the estimated fair value of the
gaming subconcession contributed by a shareholder of the Company in
2006. The gaming subconcession is amortized on a straight-line basis owver
the term of the gaming subconcession agreement which expires In June
2022. The Group expects that amortization of the gaming subconcession
will be approximately £57 237 each year from 2015 through 2021, and
approximately $27,135 in 2022,

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Goodwill relating to Mocha Clubs and other intangible assets with indefinite
usetul lives, representing trademarks of Mocha Clubs, are not amertized.
Goodwill and intangible assets arose from the acguisition of Mocha Slot

Group Limited and its subsidiaries by the Group in 2006.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET (CONTINUED)

Te assess potential impairment of goodwil, the Group performs an
assessment of the carrying value of the reporting units at least on an
annual basks or when avents occur or circumstances change that would
mara likely than not reduce the astimated fair value of those reporting units
below their camying value, If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds
its fair value, the Group would perform the second step in its assessment
process and record an impairment loss to eamings to the extent the
carrying amount of the reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its implied fair
value. The Group estimates the fair value of those reporting units through
internal analysis and external valuations, which utilize income and market
valuation approaches through the application of capitalized earnings and
discounted cash flow methods. These valuation techniques are based on
a number of estimates and assumptions, including the projected future
operating results of the reporting unit, discount rates, long-term growth
rates and market comparable,

Trademarks of Mocha Clubs are testad for impairment at least annually
or when events occur of cireumstances change that would more |ikeby
than not reduce the estimated fair value of trademarks below its carrying
value using the relief-from-royalty method. Under this method, the
Group estimates the fair value of the trademarks through internal and
external valuations, mainly based on the incremental after-tax cash flow
representing the royalties that the Group is relieved from paying given it

is the owner of the trademarks. These valuation techniques are based on
a2 number of estimatez and assumptions, including the projected future
revenues of the trademarks calculated using an appropriate royalty rate,
discount rate and long-term growth rates.

The Group has performed annual tests for impairment of goodwill and
trademarks in accordance with the accounting standards regarding
goodwill and other intangible assets. Mo impairment loss has been
recagnized during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,

LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER ASSETS

Leng-term prepayments, depesits and other assels consisted of the
following:

December 31,

204 2013
Ententainment production costs $ 7389 % 72 853
Less: accumutaled amortization [34,646) (26,416)
Ententainment production costs, net 38173 46,437
Arvance payments ke construction cosls 107 563 161,633
Deposits for acquisition of property and equipment 47,158 15,694
Input vaiue-added tax. net 43,841 —_
Ciher depasits and other long-term prepayments 39,708 35747
Long-term receivables, net 10,115 6,250
Prapayment of dederred financing casts — 79,906
Lang-lem prepayments, depasits and olher assels $ 287558 $ 45667
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

8.

i

LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

Entertainment production costs represent amounts incurred and capitalized
for entertainment shows in City of Dreams. The Group amortized the
entertainment production costs over 10 years or the respective useful life of
the entertainment show, whichever Is shorter,

Advance payments for construction costs are connected with the
construction and fit-out cost for City of Dreams, Studio City and City of
Dreams Manila.

Input value-added tax, net represents the value-added tax recoverable from
the tax authority in the Philippines mainly connected with the purchase of
assets or services for City of Dreams Manila,

Long-term receivables. net represent casino receivables from casing
customars where settlement s not expected within the next year, Aging
of such balances are all over 30 days and include allowance for doubtful
debts of $24,848 and $20.321 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
raspectively. During the years ended Decembar 31, 2014 and 2013,
net amount of current accounts receivable of $8,642 and $17,691 and
net amount of allowance for doubthul debts of $4,527 and $13,680,
raspectivaly, wera reclassified to non-current. During the year ended
December 31, 2012, net amount of long-term receivables of $401 was
raclassified to currant; and net amount of allowance for doubtful debts of

Byl Fepor] 014 Mo Caman | bbb e

77 was reclassified to non-current. Reclassifications to current ascounts
receivable, net, are made when conditions support that it is probable for
settlement of such balances to ocour within one year,

LAND USE RIGHTS, NET

December 31
2014 A3
Altira Macaw — Medium-term l=ase [“Taipa Land") T 146475 § 146434
City of Dreams — Medium-term lease ("Cotal Land”) 399.578 399,578
Stucka City — Medium-term beage (*Studio City Land") 653,564 653 564
1,199,617 1,199.576
Less: accumulated amortization 1312 429) (247 958)

Land uga rights, net $ BBTI8A 8 951618

Land use rights are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization.
Amortization is provided over the estimated lease term of the land on a
straight-line basis. The expiry dates of the leases of the land use rights of
Altira Macau, City of Dreams and Studic City are March 2031, August 2033
and Octobar 2026, respactively.



LAND USE RIGHTS, NET (CONTINUED)

In January 2013, the Group recognized an additional land premium of
approximately $2,449 for Taipa Land upon Altira Developments Limiteds
("Altira Devalopments”), an indirect subsidiary of the Company, acceptance
af the initial terms for the revision of the land concession contract issued
by the Macau Government further to an amendment request applied by
Altira Developments in 2012 for an increase of the total gross floor area,
to reflect the construction plans approved by the Macau Govermment
and to enable the final registration of the Taipa Land. In Juna 2013, the
Macau Government issued the final amendment proposal for the ravision
of the land concession contract for Taipa Land. On July 15, 2013, Altira
Devalopments paid the additional land premium of approximately $2.449
set forth in the final amendment proposal, and accepted the terms of
such propesal on July 16, 2013, The land grant amendment process
was completed with the publication in the Macau official gazette of
such revision on December 18, 2013, Further details on the revised land
amendment for Taipa Land is disclosed in Mote 23{c).

In March 2013, the Group recognized an additional land premium
of approximately $23,344 for Cotai Land upon Melco Crown (COD)
Developments Limited's (*Melco Crown (COD) Developments™), an indirect
subsidiary of the Company and Melco Crown Macau's acceptance of the
land grant amendment proposal for the land concession centract of the
Cotal Land, issued by the Macau Government in February 2013 further
to an amendment request applied by Melco Crown (COD) Developments
in 2011, Such amendment proposal contemplated the development
of an additional five-star hotel area in replacement of the four-star

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per share data)

apartment hotel area included in such land grant, and the extension
of the development pericd of the City of Dreams land grant until the
date faling four years after publication of the amendment in the Macau
official gazette. In October 2013, the Macau Government Issued the final
amendment proposal for the revision of the land concession contract for
Cotai Land, On October 18, 2013, Melco Crown (CCD) Developments
paid a portion of the additional land premium of approximately 58,736 set
forth in the final amandment proposal, and on October 17, 2013, Melco
Crown (COD) Developments and Melco Crown Macau accepted the terms
of such proposal. The land grant amendment process for Cotal Land was
completed following the publication in the Macau officlal gazette of such
revision en January 20, 2014, Further details on the final land amendment
for Cotal Land is disclosed in Note 23(c).

The Studic City Land was acquired upeon acquisition of assets and
liatdlities in July 2011, The cost of Studio City Land was recognized in
accordance with proposed amendment terms of the land conmcession
contract issued by the Macau Government and accepted by Studio City
Developments Limited (*Studio City Developments”), an indirect subsidiary
of the Company, in Nevember 2006, In June 2012, the Group recognized
an additional land premium upon Studio City Developments' acceptance
of the final amendment proposal issued by the Macau Government, which
was completed with the publication in the Macau official gazette of such
proposed amendment on July 25, 2012, Such amendment reflected an
increase in the gross floor area for construction and the extension of the
development period to 72 months from the date of publication of such
amendment contract. Further details on the final land amendment for
Studio City Land is disclosed in Note 23(c).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

The fellawing Is an aged analysis of accounts payable presented based on
payment due date:

December 317,

M4 M3
Within 30 days § 12319 § B.429
31-60 days 891 1
61-00 days m 478
Ower 90 days 1,037 577

§ 14423 & 9,825

11. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

1

Dacamber 31,

2014 a3
Outstanding gaming chips and lokans $ 27013 8 263 6B3
Gaming tax accruals 171.460 238,920
Construction costs payabies 169,053 68,057
Stalf cost aceruals 117,049 85,118
Cuslomes depasits and ticke! sales 80,898 80,421
Property and eguipment payables 70957 24,354
Operating expense and other accruals and Eabilities 70,295 57,032
Interest eapenses payable 33,544 30,529
Land uga rights payable 31,678 50,500
Cither gaming related accruals 23,754 20157
Inerest rate swip labilities 19 —_

$ 1005720 § 928751
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In connection with Studic City Project Facility (as defined in Note 12),
Studio City Company Limited (*Studio City Company®), an indirect
subsidiary which the Company holds 60% interest, entered into certain
floating-for-fixed interast rate swap agreements in September 2014 that will
axpire in March 2015 to limit its exposure to interest rate risk. Under the
interest rate swap agreements, Studio City Company pays a fixed interest
rate of 0.28% per annum of the notional amount, and raceives variabla
interest which is based on the applicable Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate ("HIBOR") for each of the payment dates. All these interast rate swap
agreements will expire in March 2015,

As of Decamber 31, 2014, the notional amounts of the cutstanding interest
rate swap agresments amecunted to HKS1,867,199.900 (equivalent to
$240,000).

These interast rate swap agreements are expected to remain highly
effective in fixing the interest rate and quality for cash flow hedge
accounting, Therefore, there is no impact on the consolidated statements
of operations from changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments.
Instead the fair value of the instruments are recorded as assets or labilities
on the consolidated balance sheets, with an offsetting adjustment to
the accumulated other comprehensive losses until the hedged interest
axpenses ara recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.

As of December 31, 2014, the interest rate swap labllities of $19
represented the fair values of the interest rate Swap agreemants,



12. LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debit consisted of the following:

December 31,
2014 2013
Studio City Project Facility $ 1205660 % —-
2013 Senicr Moles 1,000,000 1,000,000
Studio City Notes 825,000 B25,000
2011 Greda Facilities 417166 673,683
Philippine Nates 336,195 —
Adrratt Term Loan 28731 34,577
3,902 781 2.533.460
Current partion of long-term debt {262,750y {262 566)

$ 3840031 $ 2270804

2011 Credit Facilities

On June 22, 2011, Melco Crown Macau (the “Borrower”) entered into
an amendment agreement (the *2011 Credit Facilities”) with certain
lenders in respect of a senior secured credit facility (the “City of Dreams
Project Facility™), which was entered on September 5, 2007 and which
was subsequently amended from time to time, in an aggregate amount
of $1,750,000 to fund the City of Dreams project, construction of an
integrated entertainment rescrt complex in Macau. The City of Dreams
Project Facllity consisted of a $1,500,000 term loan facility (the “Term Loan
Facility™) and a $250,000 revolving credit facility (the *Revolving Credit
Facility").

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.5. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

On Juna 30, 2011, the 2011 Credit Facilities, which was subsequently
amended from time fo time, bacame effective and among other things:
i}y reduced the Term Loan Facllity to HK$6,241,440,000 (equivalent to
$802,241) (the *2011 Term Loan Facility”) and increased the Revolving
Cradit Facllity to HK$3120.720.000 (equivalent to $401,121) (the *2011
Revolving Credit Facility™), both of which are denominated in Hong Kong
dallars; (i) introduced new lenders and removed certain lenders originally
under the City of Dreams Project Facility; (i) extended the repayment
maturity date; (iv) reduced and removed certain restrictions imposad by the
covenants in the City of Dreams Project Facility; and (v) removed MPEL
{Delaware} LLC, a wheolly-owned subsidiary of the Borrower which was
subsequently dissolved on May 31, 2012, from the borrowing group which
included the Borrower and certain of its subsidiaries as defined under the
City of Dreams Project Facility (the “2011 Borrowing Group”).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

=

2011 Credit Facilities {continued)

The final maturity date of the 2011 Credit Facilities is June 30, 2016. The
2011 Termn Loan Facility is repayable in guarterly instalrments according
te an amortization schedule which commenced on September 30, 2013,
Each lpan made under the 2011 Revolving Credit Facllity Is repayable In
full on the last day of an agread upon interest pericd in respact of the
lean, generally ranging from one to six menths, or rolling ever subject
to compliance with certain covenants and satisfaction of conditions
precedent. The Borrower may make voluntary prepayments in respect
of the 2011 Credit Facilities in a minimum amount of HK$160,000,000
{equivalent to $20,566), plus the amount of any applicable break costs.
The Borrower i also subject to mandatory prepayment reguirements in
raspect of various amounts within the 2011 Borowing Group, including
but not limited to: (i) the net proceeds received by any member of the
2011 Borrowing Group in respect of the compulsory transfer, seizure of
acquisition by any governmental authority of the assets of any member
of the 2011 Borowing Group (Subject to certain exceptions); (i) the net
proceeds of certain asset sales, subject to reinvestment rights and certain
exceplions, which are in excess of $15,000; (i) net termination, claim or
settlement proceeds paid under the Borrowar's subconcession or the 2011
Borrowing Group's land concessions, subject to certain exceptions; (iv)
insurance proceeds net of expenses to oblain such proceeds under the
property insurances relating to the total loss of all or substantially all of
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the Altira Macau gaming business; and (v) other insurance proceeds net of
expenses to obtain such proceeds under any property insurances, subject
to reinvestment rights and certain exceptions, which are in excess of
£15,000.

Drawdowns on the 2011 Term Loan Facility wera subject to satisfaction of
conditions precedent specified in the 2011 Cradit Facilities and the 2011
Revolving Credit Facility is to be made available on a fully revolving basis to
the date that is ona month prior to the 2011 Revolving Credit Facility's final
maturity date.

The indebtedness under the 2011 Credit Facilities is guaranteed by the
2011 Borowing Group. Security for the 2011 Credit Faciiities included: a
first pricrity mortgage over all land where Altira Macaw and City of Dreams
are located, such mortgages also cover all present and any future buildings
on, and fixtures to, the relevant land; an assignment of any land use rights
under land concession agreements, leases or aguivalents; chargaes over the
bank accounts in respect of the 2011 Borrowing Group, subject te certain
exceptions; assignment of the rights under certain insurance policies;
first priority security over the chatiels, receivables and other assels of the
2011 Borrowing Group which are not subject to any security wnder any
other security documentation; first priority charges over the issued share
capital of tha 2011 Borrowing Group and aquipment and tools used in the
gaming businass by the 2011 Barrowing Group, as well as other customary
sacurity.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thausands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) Borrowings under the 2011 Credit Facilities bear interest at HIBOR plus a

2011 Credit Facilities (continued)

The 2011 Credit Facilities also contain certain covenants customary for
such financings including, but not limited to! limitations on (i) incurring
additional liens; ([l) incurring additional indebtedness fincluding guarantees),
(il making certain investments; (v} paying dividends and other restricied
payments; {v) creating any subsidiaries; (vi) selling assets; and (vii) entering
into any contracts for the construction er financing of an additional hotel
tower in connection with the development of City of Dreams except with
plans approved by the lenders in accordance with the terms of the 2011
Cradit Facilities. The 2011 Credit Facilities removed the financial covenants
under the City of Dreams Project Facility, and replaced them with, without
limitation, a leverage ratio, total leverage ratio and interest cover ratio, The
first tast date of the financial covenants was Seplember 30, 2011, As of
December 31, 2014, management believes that the 2011 Borrowing Group
was in compliance with each of the financial restrictions and réguiremaents,

Thera are provisions that limit or prohibit certain payments of dividends
and other distributions by the 2011 Borrowing Group to the Company or
persons who are not members of the 2011 Borowing Group (describad
in further detall in Note 20). As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the net
assets of the 2011 Borrowing Group of approximately $3,559,000 and
$3,220,000, respectively, were restricted frem being distributed under the
tarms of the 2011 Credit Facilities.

margin ranging from 1,75% to 2.75% per annum as adjusted in accordance
with the leverage ratic In respect of the 2011 Borowing Group. The
Borrower may select an interest period for borrowings under the 2011
Credit Facliities of one, two, three or six months of any other agreed
petiod. The Borrower is obligated to pay a commitment fee quarterly in
arrears from June 30, 2011 on the undrawn amount of the 2011 Revolving
Cradit Facility throughout the availability period. Loan commitment fees on
the 2011 Credit Facilities amounting to 52 808, $2 453 and $1,324 ware
recognized during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
raspactivaly.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the 2011 Term Loan Facility has
bean fully drawn down. During the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, the Group repald HKS1,997.260,800 (equivalent to $256,717) and
HK$988,630,400 (equivalent to $128,358), respectively, under tha 2011
Term Lean Facllity according to the quarterly amortization schedule which
commenced on September 30, 2013, The Group repald HK$1,653,154.570
{equivalent to $212,488) during the year ended December 31, 2013, and
accordingly, the entire 2011 Revalving Credit Facility of HK$3,120, 720,000
{equivalent to $401,121) remains available for future drawdown as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the
Group had total outstanding borrewings of HK$3 245,548,000 (equivalant
to $417,166) and HKSS5,242,609,600 (equivalent to 5673,883), respectively,
under the 2011 Credit Facilities.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

W

2011 Credit Facilities (continued)

Dwring the year ended December 31, 2012, certain floating-for-fixed interest
rate swap agreements entered by Malce Crown Macau during the year
2009 to limit the exposure to interest rate risk in connection with the City of
Dreams Project Facility expired, Under the interest rate swap agreements,
Mealco Crown Macau paid a fised interest rate ranging from 1.36% to
1.968% per annum of the notional amount, and received variable interest
which was based on the applicable HIBOR for each of the payment dates.
Immediately after the amendment of the City of Dreams Project Facility
on June 30, 2011, the interest rate swap agresments no longer qualified
for hadge accounting and subsaquent changes in fair value of the interest
rate swap agreements were recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations during the year ended December 31, 2012,

2010 Senior Notes

On May 17, 2010, MCE Finance Limited ("MCE Finance”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, issued and listed the S600,000 10.25% senior
notes, dua 2018 (the "2010 Sanior Notes™) on the Official List of Singapora
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST"). The purchase price pald
by the initial purchasers was 98.671% of the principal amount. The 2010
Senior Notes were general obligations of MCE Finance, secured by a
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first-priority pledge of the intercompany note (the “Intercompany Mota)
representing the on-lending of the gross proceeds from the issuance of
the 2010 Senlor Notes by MCE Finance to an indirect subsidiary of MCE
Finance to reduce the indebtadness under the City of Dreams Project
Facility, ranked equally in right of payment to all existing and future senior
indebledness of MCE Finance and ranked senior in right of payment to
any existing and future subordinated indebtedness of MCE Finance. The
2010 Senior Motes would have matured on May 15, 2018. Interast on the
2010 Senior Motes was accrued at a rate of 10.25% per annum and was
payable semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year,
commanced on November 15, 2010,

MCE Finance had the option to redeern all or part of the 2010 Senior Notes
at any time prior to May 15, 2014, at a *make-whole” redemption price.
Thereafter, MCE Finance had the cption to redeem all or a portion of the
2010 Senior Motes at any time at fixed redemplion prices that declined
ratably owver time.

Prior to May 15, 2013, MCE Financa had the cption to redeem up to 35%
of the 2010 Senior Motes with the net cash proceeds from one or more
certain equity offerings at a fixed redemption price. In addition, under
certain circumstances and subject to certaim exceptions as more fully
described in the indenture, MCE Finance also had the option to redesm in
whole, but not in part of the 2010 Senicr Motes at fixed redemption prices.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM [}EBT{GGNTENUEB] for certain other technical amendments (the “Proposed Amendments®)

2010 Senior Notes (continued)

The indenture govemning the 2010 Senlor MNotes contained certain
covenants that, subject to certain exceptions and conditions, limited the
ability of MCE Finance and its restricted subsidiaries to, amang other
things: (i) incur or guarantee additional indebtedness: (i} make specified
restricted payments; (i) issua or sell capital stock; (iv) sell assets; [v) create
liens; (vi) enter into agreements that restrict the restricted subsidiaries’
ability to pay dividends, transfer assels or make intercompany loans; [vii)
enter inte transactions with shareholders or affiliates; and (vii) effect a
consolidation of merger.

There were provisions under the indenture of the 2010 Senior Notes that
limited or prohibited cartain payments of dividends and other distributions
by MCE Financa and its respective restricted subsidiaries to the Company
or persons who were not MCE Finance or members of MCE Finance
respactive restricted subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions and

conditions (described in further detail in Mote 20).

©On October 30, 2012, MCE Finance received unrevoked consents from the
helders (the “Holders®) of the requisite aggregate principal amount of the
2010 Senior Notes necessary to approve certain propesed amendments
to, among other things, allowed MCE Finance to (i) make an additional
$400,000 of restricted payments to fund the Studio City project and
(i} have the flexibility to fransact with, and use any revenues or other
payments generated or derived from, certain projects and to provide

to the indenture governing the 2010 SBenior Motes and executed a
supplemental indenture to give effect to the Proposed Amendments. The
Group capitalized the payments to the agent and Haolders who had wvalidly
delivered a consent 10 the Proposed Amendments totaling $14,795 as
defarrad financing costs and expensed the third party fee of $3,277 as a
result of the aforementioned debt maodification.

On January 28, 2013, MCE Finance made a cash tander offer to rapurchase
the 2010 Senior Motes at a cash consideration plus accrued interest and
also solicited consents to amend the terms of the 2010 Senior Motes to
substantially remowve the debt incumence, restricted payment and other
rasfrictive covenants (the “Tendar Offer”). Closing of the Tender Offer and
consent solicitation were conditioned upon MCE Finance receiving net
proceeds from offering of the 2013 Senior Notes (as described below) in
an amount sufficient to repurchase the tenderad 2010 Senior Notes and
related fees and expenses and other general conditions. The Tender Offer
expired on February 26, 2013 and $599,135 aggregate principal amount
of the 2010 Senior Motes were tendered. On February 27, 2013, MCE
Finance elected to redeem the remaining outstanding 2010 Senior Notes in
aggregate principal amount of $865 on March 28, 2013, at a price equal to
100% of the principal amount outstanding plus applicable premium as of,
and acerued and unpaid interast to March 28, 2013. The accounting for the
total redemption costs of $102,497, unamortized deferred financing costs
of $23,793 and unamortized issue discount of $5,962 in relation to the 2010
Senior Motes as of the redemption date are disclosed as below under the
2013 Senior Notes,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

u2

RME Bonds

On May 9, 2011, the Company issued and listed the Renminki (*RMEB")
2,300,000,000 3.75% bends due 2013 (the “AMBE Bonds") (equivalent to
$353,278 based on exchange rate on fransaction date) on SGX-ST. The
RME Bonds were priced at 100% at par. The AMB Bonds were direct,
general, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the
Company, which at all times ranked egually without any preference or
priority among themselves and at least squally with all of the Company's
other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations, save
for such obligations as may be praferred by provisions of law that were
both mandatery and of general application. Tha RMB Bonds would have
matured on May 9, 2013 and the interest on the RMB Bonds was accrued
at a rate of 3.75% per annum and was payable semi-annually in arrears on
May 8 and November 9 of sach year, commenced on November 9, 2011,

The Company had the oplion to redeem in whole, but not in part under
certain circumstances as defined in the indenture, the RME Bonds at any
time prior to May 9, 2012 at an additicnal redemption price. Thereafter,
the Company had the option to redesm in whole, but not in part, the RMBE
Bonds at any time after May 9, 2012 at a fixed redemption price,
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The indenture geverning the RMB Bonds contained certain negative pledge
and financial covenants, providing that the Company should not create or
permit to subsist amy security interest upon the whole or any part of the
Company's present or future undertaking, assets or revenues to secura
any relevant indebtedness of guarantes of relevant indebledness without
(i} at the same time or prior thereto securing the AME Bends equally and
rateably therewith to the satisfaction of the trustee under the RMB Bonds;
or (i} providing such other security for the AMEB Bonds as the trustes may
in its absolute discretion consider to be not materially less beneficial to the
Interests of the holders of the BMB Bonds or as may be approved by an
extraordinary resclution of bondholders. In addition, the Company was alsa
required o comply with certain financial covenants, including maintaining a
specified consolidated tangible net werth and a leverage ratio.

On March 11, 2013, the Company early redeemed the BMB Bonds in
full in aggregate principal amount of RMB2.300,000,000 (aquivalent to
$368.177) together with accrued interest, which was partially funded
from net proceeds from offering of the 2013 Senior Motes [described
below), The Group wrote off the unamortized deferred financing costs
of 3586 immediately before redemption of the AME Bonds as loss on
extinguishment of debt in the consolidated statements of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2013,



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thausands of U.5. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT {CGNTFNUEB] Or Mareh 4, 2013, the Company prepaid in full the Deposit-Linked Lean in

Deposit-Linked Loan

On May 20, 2011, the Company entered into a Hong Kong dollar deposit-
linked |loan facility {the “Deposit-Linked Loan™) with a lender in an amount
of HK$2,748,500,000 (equivalent to 3353278 based on exchange rate
an transaction date), which was secured by a depesit in an amount of
RMB2,300,000,000 {squivalent to $353 278 based on exchange rate on
transaction date) from the proceeds of the RMB Bonds as describad abowvea,
The Deposit-Linked Loan would have matured en May 20, 2013 oq, If earlier,
at any time with 30 days' prior notice given to the lender, the Company may
prepay the whole or any part of not lass than HK$500,000,000 {equivalent
to $64,267) of the Deposit-Linked Loan outstanding. The Deposit-Linked
Loan bore interest at a rate of 2.88% per annum and was payable semi-
annually In arrears om May 8 and Movember 8 of each year, commenced
on Nevember 8, 2011. On the same date, the Company entered into
two RME forward exchange rate confracts in an aggregate amocunt of
RMBS2,325.000 (approximately $8.000) for settiement of the AMB Bonds
interest payable at fived exchange rates on Movember 9, 2011 and May
9, 2012, respectively, and during the year ended December 31, 2012, the
Company entered inte ancther RMB forward exchange rate contract of
RMB25,645,867 (approximately 54,000) for settiement of the RME Bonds
interast payable at fixed exchange rate on November 9, 2012, During the
year ended December 31, 2012, the Company settled the cutstanding
forward exchange rate contracts and the gain on the forward exchange rate
contracts of $138 was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
losses to interest expenses,

aggregate principal amount of HK$2,748,500,000 (equivalent to $353,278)
with accrued interest and a deposit in an amount of RMB2,300,000,000
(equivalent to S368,177) from the procesds of the AMBE Bonds, for security
of the Deposit-Linked Loan, was released on the same date,

Aircraft Term Loan

On June 25, 2012, MCE Transportation Limited ("MCE Transportation®), an
indirect subsidiary of the Company, entared into a $43,000 term loan facility
agreement to partly finance the acquisition of an aikcraft (the “Aircraft
Term Loan®). Principal and Interest repayments are payable quarterly In
amears commenced on September 27, 2012 until maturity on June 27,
2019, interest is calculated based om London Interbank Offered Rate plus
a margin of 2,80% per annum and the loan may be prepaid in whole or in
part of not less than $1,000 and 10 days’ prior notice given. The Alrcraft
Term Lean is guarantesd by the Company and security includes a first-
priority mortgage on the aircraft itself; pledge over the MCE Transportation
bank accounts; assignment of insurances (other than third party liability
insurance); and an assignment of airframe and engine warranties. The
Alrcraft Terrn Loan must be prepaid in full if any of the following events
occurs: (i) a change of control; (i) the sale of all or substantially all of tha
components of the aircraft; (i) the loss, damage or destruction of the
entire or substantially the entire aircraft. Other covenants include lender's
approval for any capital expenditure not incurred in the ordinary course
of business or any subsequent indebtadness exceeding $1,000 by MCE
Transportation. As of December 31, 2014, the Aircraft Term Loan has been
fully drawn down and utilized with other funds of the Group, to fund the
purchase of the aircraft. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the carrying
value of aircraft was $40,974 and $46,437, respectively.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

"

2013 Senior Notes

On February 7, 2013, MCE Finance issued and listed $1,000,000 5%
senicr notes, due 2021 (the *2013 Senior Notes™) and priced at 100%
at par on the SGX-5T, The 2013 Senior Notes are general obligations of
MCE Finance, rank equally in right of payment to all existing and future
senior indebtedness of MCE Finance and rank senior in right of payment
to any existing and future subordinated indebtedness of MCE Finance and
effectively subordinated to all of MCE Finance's existing and future secured
indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such dabt.
Certain subsidiaries of MCE Finance (the “2013 Sanior Notes Guarantors™)
jointly, severally and unconditionally guarantea the 2013 Senior Motes on
a senior basis. The guarantees are joint and several general obligations
of the 2013 Senior Motes Guarantors, rank egually in right of paymant
with all existing and future senior indebtadness of the 2013 Senior Notes
Guarantors, and rank senior in right of payment to any existing and future
subordinated indebtedness of the 2013 Senior Motes Guarantors, The 2013
Senior Notes mature on February 15, 2021, Interest on the 2013 Senior
Motes is accrued at a rate of 5% per annum and is payable semi-annually
in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commenced on
August 15, 2013,
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The net proceeds from tha offering of the 2013 Senior Notes, after
deducting the wunderwriting commissions and other expenses of
approximately $14,500, was approximately $985,500. The Group used
part of the net proceeds from the offering to (i) repurchase in full the
2010 Senior Motes of $600,000 and fund the related redemption costs
of the 2010 Senior Notes of $102,497 and (ii) for the partial repayment
of the RME Bonds on March 11, 2013, As a result, in accordance with
the applicable accounting standards, the Group recorded a $50,256 loss
on extinguishment of debt in the consclidated statements of operations
for the year ended December 31, 2013 which comprised the portion
of the redemption costs of $389848, write off of respective portion of
unamoriized deferred financing costs of $9,041 and unamertized issue
discount of $2,266 related to the 2010 Sanior Notes and recorded §10,538
costs associated with debt modification in the consolidated statements
of operations for tha year ended December 31, 2013 which represented
the pertion of the underwriting fee and cther third party costs incurred in
connection with the issuance of the 2013 Senlor MNotes. The remaining
portion of the underwriting fee and other third party costs of $6.523 wera
capitalized as deferred financing costs.

MCE Finance has the option to redeem all or a portion of the 2013
Senior Motes at any time prior to February 15, 2016, at a “make-whole”
redemption price. Thereafter, MCE Finance has the option to redeem all or
a portion of the 2013 Senior Notes at any time at fixed redemption prices
that decline ratably over time.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.5. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEET (CONTINUED) There are provisions under the indenture of the 2013 Senior Mates that limit
or prehibit certain payments of dividends and other distributions by MCE

2013 Senior Notes {continued) Finance and its restricted subsidiaries to the Company or parsons who are
MCE Finance has the option to redeem up to 35% of the 2013 Senior not MCE Finance or members of MCE Finance's resfricted subsidiaries,

subject to certain exceptions and conditions (described in further detail
in Note 20). As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the net assets of MCE
Finance and its restricted subsidiaries of approximately $3,639,000 and
$3,296,000, respectively, ware restricted from being distributed under the

terms of the 2013 Senior Nates.

Mates with the nat cash procesds from one of More certain aquity offerings
at a fixed redemption price at any time prior to February 15, 2016. In
addition, under certain circumstances and subject to certain exceptions
as more fully describad in the indenture, MCE Finance also has tha option
to redeem In whele, but not in part of the 2013 Senlor Notes at fixed
redemption prices.

The indenture governing the 2013 Senior Notes contains certain covenants
that, subject to certain exceptions and conditions, limit the ability of MCE
Finance and its restricted subsidiaries to, among other things: (i) incur ar
guarantes additional indebtednass; (i) make specified restrictad payments;
(i} issue or sell capital stock; (iv) sell assets; (v) create liens; (vi) enter into
agresments that restrict the restricted subsidiaries’ abllity to pay dividends,
transfer assets or make intercompany loans; (vii] enter into transactions
with shareholders or affiliates; and (vill) effect a consolidation or merger.
As of December 31, 2014, managerment believes that MCE Finance was in
compliznce with each of the financial restrictions and requirements.

Wb Caompen, | ndertabowwerd |imiieed. Jrrngl Heper 2014 1)



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

Wi

Studio City Notes

On Movember 28 2012, Studio City Finance Limited (“Studio City
Finance™), an indirest subsidiary which the Company holds 60% intarest,
issued and listed the 5825000 8.5% senior notes, due 2020 (the "Studic
City Notes”) and priced at 100% at par on the SGX-ST. The Studio City
Motes are general obligations of Studio City Finance, secured by a first-
priority security interest in certain specific bank accounts Incidental to the
Studio City Notes and a pledge of any intercompany loans from Studio
City Finance to or on behalf of Studio City Investments Limited {*Studio
City Invastmants®), a wholly-awned direct subsidiary of Studio City Finance
and the immediate holding company of Studio City Company, a wholly-
owned indirect subsidiary of Studio City Finance, or its subsidiaries entered
inte subsequent to the issue date of the Studic City Motes, rank agually in
right of payment to all existing and future senior indebtednass of Studio
City Finance and rank senior in right of payment 1o any existing and future
subordinated indebtedness of Studio City Finance. The Studio City Motes
are effectively subordinated to all of Studio City Finance's existing and
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future secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the property
and assets securing such indebtedness, All of the existing direct and
indirect subsidiaries of Studio City Finance and any other future restricted
subsidiaries that provide guarantees of cerfain specified indebtedness
{including the Studio City Project Faclity as described below) (the “Studio
City Notes Guarantors™) jointly, severally and unconditionally guarantee tha
Studio City Notes on a senior basis (the “Guarantees”). The Guarantees
are ganaeral obligations of the Studio City Notes Guarantors, rank equally
in right of payment with all existing and future senior indebtadness of the
Studio Clty Notes Guarantors and rank senior in right of payment to any
axisting and future subordinated indebtedness of the Studic City Notes
Guarantors. The Guarantees are effectively subordinated to the Studio City
Notes Guarantors' obligations under the Studio City Project Facility and
any future secured indebtedness that is secured by property and assels
of the Studio City Notes Guarantors to the extent of the vakie of such
property and assets. The Studio City Motes mature on December 1, 2020
and the interest on the Studio City Notes Is accrued at a rate of 8.5% per
annum and is payable semi-annually in arrears on June 1 and December 1
of each year, commenced on June 1, 2013,



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT {GGNTLNUEB] Concurrent with the submission of the first utilization request under the

Studio City Notes (continued)

The net proceeds from the offering, after deducting the underwriting
commissions and other expanses of approximately $13,200, was
approximately $811,800. Studio City Finance used the net proceeds
from the offering to fund the Studic City project and the related fees
and expenses, The net proceads from the offering was deposited in a
bank account of Studio City Finance (the “Escrow Account”) and was
restricted for wse, which was subsequently released upon signing of the
Studic City Project Facility on January 28, 2013, Upen release from the
Escrow Account, all the net procesds were deposited in a bank account of
Studio City Finance (the "Note Proceeds Account”) and were available for
payment of construction and development costs and other project costs
of the Studio City project with conditions and sequence for disbursements
in accordance with an agreement (the “Mote Disbursement and Account
Agreemant”) as described befow, except for a portion of net proceeds
amounting to $239,594, which represents the sum of interest expectad
to accrue on the Studio City Notes through to the 41-month anniversary
of thair issue date, which was deposited in a bank account of Studio City
Finance (the “Mote Interest Reserve Account”), and is restricted for use to
pay future interest payments until the opening date (the *Cpening Date”) of
the Studio City project as defined in the Studio City Project Facility.

Studio City Project Facility on January 10, 2014, an amount egual to the
six-month sum of interest due on the Studio City Notes of $35,063 was
released from the Mote Interest Reserve Account and deposited in a
bank account (the “Note Debt Service Reserve Account”) of Studio City
Company, the borrower under the Studie City Project Facility. During
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, Studio City Finance paid
Studio City Notes interest expenses amounting 1o $70,125 and $71,099,
respactivaly, with funds from the Mote Interast Reserve Account. The
remaining amount in the Note Interest Reserve Account (less an amount
equal to the pro-rated portion of interast due on the next interest payment
date) will be released and be deposited in a bank account of Studio City
Company (the *Revenus Account™) on the Opening Date. The security
agent of the Studic City Project Facility has security over the Note Debt
Servics Resarve Account and the Revenue Account.

As of December 31, 2014, the Group classified the balance of the Naote
Interest Reserve Account of $63.340 as current portlon of restricted cash,
while the balance of Mote Debt Service Reserve Account of $35,084 as
nen-current portion of restricted cash on the consolidated balance shesats.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

L

Studio City Notes (continued)

The Studio City Motes were subject to a special mandatory redemption
at a redemplion price in the event that i) the Studio City Project Facility
was not executed on or before March 31, 2013; and i) the funds were not
released from the MNote Proceeds Account prior te January 28, 2014, the
date that was one year from the date of the exacution of the Studio City
Project Facility due to the fallure of the conditions precedent (subject to
certain axceptions) to first wtilization of the Studio City Project Facility to
be satisfied or waived by such date. The first condition was satisfied with
execution of the Studio City Project Facility on January 28, 2013 and the
second conditions were satisfied and the first disbursement funds on the
Studio City Notes were released from the Note Proceads Account to a bank
account of Studio City Finance (the "Note Disbursement Account™) for the
Studio City project cost payments on January 17, 2014,

On November 26, 2012, Studio City Finance and Studio City Company
entered into a Mote Disbursement and Account Agreement with certain
banks and other parties to, among other things, establish the conditions
and sequence of funding of the Studic City project costs, The Studic City
project costs are financed in the following order:
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* the funding from the Company and the ultimate noncontrolling
shareholder of Studio City Fimamce im an aggregate amount of
$825,000 are used until It has been exhausted:

. thereafter, the proceeds in the Mote Proceeds Account are used until
they have been exhausted; and

. thereafter, the proceeds of the Studic City Project Facility, including
any proceads in any construction disbursement accounts or other
accounts establizhed under the Studio City Project Facility, to the
axtent established for such purpose under the Studio City Project
Facility, are used until they have baen exhaustad.

Studio City Finance has the option to redeem all or a portion of the
Studio City Motes at any time prior to December 1, 2015, at an additional
redemption price, Thersafter, Studio City Finance has the option 10 redesm
all or a portion of the Studic City Notes at any time at fixed redemption
prices that decline ratably over time,

Studio City Finance has the option to redeem up to 35% of the Studio
City Notes with the net cash proceeds of certain equity offerings at a
fixed redemption price at any time prior to December 1, 2015. In addition,
under certain circumstances and subject to certain exceptions as more
fully described in the indenture, Studic City Finance also has the option
to redeem in whaole, but not in part of the Studio City MNotes at fixed
redemption prices.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.5. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) Studio City Project Facility

Studio City Notes (continued)

The indenture governing the Studio City MNotes contains certain covenants
that, subject to certain axceplions and conditions, limit the ability of Studie
City Finance and its restricted subsidiaries to, ameong other things: (i)
Incur or guarantee additional indebtedness; (i) make specified restricted
payments; {iii) issue or sell capital stock; (iv) sell assets; (v) creata liens;
{wi) enter into agreements that restrict the restricted subsidiaries’ ability to
pay dividends, transier assets or make intercompany loans; (vii) enter into
transactions with shareholders or affiliates; and (viil) effect a consclidation
or merger. As of December 31, 2014, managament believes that Studic
City Finance was in compliance with each of the financial restrictions and
requirements.

There are provisions under the indenture of the Studio City Notes that limit
of prohibit certain payments of dividends and other distributions by Studio
City Finance and its restricted subsidiaries to the Company or persons
who are not Studio City Finance or members of Studio City Finance's
restricted subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions and conditions
(described in further detail in Note 20), As of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
the net assets of Studic City Finance and its restricted subsidiaries of
approximately $102,000 and $171,000, respectively, were restricted from
peing distributed under the terms of the Studie City Notes.

On January 28, 2013, Studio City Company (the "Studio City Borrower”)
and cartain lenders (the *Studio City Lenders”) executed a senior sacured
credit facilities denominated in Hong Kong dollars with an aggregate
amount of HK$10,855,880,000 (equivalent te $1,395.357) (the “Studio City
Project Facility™), pursuant to substantially all the terms and conditions
set out in a commitment letter (the "Commitment Letter”) enterad on
October 19, 2012 by the Studio City Borrower, the Studio City Lenders,
the Company and Mew Cotai Investments, LLC (*Mew Cotai Investments”),
an indirect noncontrolling shareholder who owns 40% interest in Studio
City Borrower, to fund the Studio City project. The Studio City Project
Facility consists of a HK$10,080,460,000 {equivalent to $1,295,689) term
Ioan facility (the “Studio City Term Loan Facility”) and a HKE775,420,000
(equivalent to $99,668) revalving credit facility (the “Studio City Revolving
Cradit Facility™). The Studio City Term Loan Facility matures on January 28,
2018 and is subject to quarterly amortization payments commencing on
the earlier of (i} December 31, 2016, the first fiscal quarter end date falling
not less than 45 months after January 28, 2013; and (i) the end of the
second full fiscal quarter after the Opening Date of the Studio City project.
Amounts under the Studio City Term Loan Facllity may be borrowed from
and after the date that certain conditions precedent wera satisfied until July
28, 2014, the date falling 18 months after January 28, 2013. The Studio City
Revolving Credit Facility maturés on January 28, 2018 and has no interim
amortization. The Studio City Revalving Credit Facility may be utilized prior
to the Cpening Date for project costs by way of issue of letters of credit
to a maximum of HKS387, 710,000 (equivalent to $49,834), and may be
borrowed in full on a revolving basis after the Opening Date.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

150

Studio City Project Facility (continued)

Bomowings under the Studio City Project Facility bear interast at HIBOR
plus a margin of 4.50% per annum until the last day of the second full
fiscal quarter atter the Opening Date, at which time the interast rate shall
bear interest at HIBOR plus a margin ranging from 3.75% to 4.50% per
annum as determined in accordance with the total leverage ratio in respeact
of Studio City Investments, Studio City Borrower and its subsidiaries
{together, the “Studio City Borrowing Group®).

The Studio City Borrower may make voluntary prepayments in respect of
the Studio City Project Facility in a minimurm amount of HKS100,000,000
(equivalent to $12.853), plus the amount of any applicable break costs.
The Studio City Borrower is also subject to mandatory prepayment
raguirements in respect of wvarious amounts within the Studio City
Barrowing Group, including but not limited to: (i) net termination or claim
proceeds under the Studlo City Borrowing Group's land concessions,
certain construction agreements or finance or project documents, subject
to certain exceptions; (i) the net proceeds of certain asset sales, subject to
reinvestment rights and certain exceptions, which are in axcess of $5,000;
(i) the net proceads raceived by any member of the Studio City Borrowing
Group in respect of the compulsory transfer, seizure or acquisition by
any governmental authority of the assets of any member of the Studio
City Borrowing Group (subject to certain exceptions); (iv) 50% of the net
procesds of any permitted equity issuance of any member of the Studio
City Berrowing Group; (v) the net proceeds of any debt issuance of any
member of the Studic City Borrowing Group, subject to cartain exceptions;
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{vi} insurance proceeds net of expenses to obtain such proceeds under tha
property Insurances, subject to reinvestment rights and certain exceptions,
which are in excess of $10,000; and {vil) certain percentage of excess cash
in accordance with leverage test.

The indebtedness under the Studio City Project Facility is guaranteed
by Studio City Investments and its subsidiaries (other tham the Studio
City Borrower). Security for the Studio City Projact Facility included: a
first priority mortgage owver the land where Studio City is located, such
mortgage will also cover all present and any future buildings on, and
fixtures to, the relevant land; an assignment of any land use rights under
land concession agreaments, leases or aquivalent; as well as other
customary security. Certain accounts of Melca Crown Macau relating solaly
to the cperation of the Studio City gaming area are pledged as security for
the Studio City Project Facility and related finance documents,

The Studio City Project Facility contains certain covenants that, subject
to cerfain exceptions and conditions, limit the ability of Studio City
Investments and its restricted subsidiaries to, among other things, (i)
Incur of guarantes additional indebtedness; (i) make specified restricted
payments; (i) issue or sell capital stock; (v) sell assets; (v} create liens;
v}y paying dividends and other restricted payments; and (vii) effect a
consolidation or merger. The Studio City Project Facility also contains
cerfain financial covenants and the first test date of these financial
covenants |s the earlier of June 30, 2016 and the end of the second
full financial quarter after Opening Date. As of December 31, 2014,
management believes that Studio City Borrowing Group was in compliance

with each of tha financial restrictions and requirements.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.5. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEET (CONTINUED) the security agent for the Studio City Project Facility to, amongst other

Studio City Project Facility (continued)

There are provisions that limit or prohibit certain payments of dividends and
ather distributions by the Studic City Borrowing Greup 1o the Company
or persons who are not members of the Studic City Borrowing Group
{described in further detail in Note 20), As of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
tha net assets of Studie City Investments and its restricted subsidiaries of
approximately $175,000 and $217,000, respectively, were restricted from
baeing distributed under the terms of the Studio City Praject Facility.

The Studie City Borrower is obligated to pay a commitment fee quarterly
in arrears on the undrawn amount of the Studio City Project Facility
throughout the availability period which started from January 28, 2013,
The Studio City Borrower recognized loan commitmant fees on the Studic
City Project Facility of $15,153 and $23,190, respactively, during the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,

In connection with the Studio City Preject Facility, Studio City International
Haoldings Limited ("Studio City Intermaticnal”), an intermediate holding
company of Studio City Finance and an indirect subsidiary which the
Company holds 60% interest, Is required to procure a contingent equity
undertaking or similar (with a liability cap of $225,000) granted in favor of

things, pay agreed project cosis (i) associated with construction of Studio
City amd (i) for which the facility agent under the Studio City Project
Facility has determinad there is no other available funding undar the terms
of the Studio City Project Facility. in support of such contingent equity
undertaking, Studio City International has deposited and maintained a bank
balance of $225,000 in an account secured in favor of the security agent
for the Studio City Project Facility (*Cash Collateral”) as of Decembar 31,
2014 and 2013. The Cash Collateral is required to be maintained until the
construction completion date of the Studie City has occurred, cerfain debt
senvice reserve and accrual accounts have been funded to the required
balance and the financial covenmants have been complied with, As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Cash Collateral is classified as non-
current portion of restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheets.

Tha Studio City Borrower had not drawn down on the Studio City Term
Lean Facility and the Studio City Reveolving Credit Facility during the year
ended December 31, 2013. On July 28, 2014, the Studio City Term Loan
Facility of HKS$10,080,460,000 (equivalent to $1,295,689) has been fully
drawn down. As of December 31, 2014, the entire Studio City Revolving
Cradit Facility of HK$775420,000 (equivalent to $599668) remains
available for future draw down, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions
pracedant.
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(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

5

Studio City Project Facility (continued)

The Studio City Borrower iz required to, within 120 days after the
drawdown of the Studio City Project Facility, enter into agreemants to
ensure that at least 50% of the aggregate of drawn Studio City Term Loan
Facility and the Studio City Notes are sublect to Interest rate protection, by
way of interast rate swap agreaments, caps, collars or other agreemeants
agreed with the facility agent under the Studio City Project Facllity to limit
the impact of increases in interest rates on its floating rate debt, for a
peariod of not less than three years from the date of the first drawdown of
the Studio City Term Loan Facility. Since the Studio City Borrower drew
down the Studio City Term Loan Facility on July 28, 2014, the Studio
City Borrower entered into certain floating-for-fixed interest rate swap
agreements in September 2014 to limit its exposura to interast rate risk.
Under the interast rate swap agreements, the Studio City Borrower pays
a fixed interast rate of 0.28% per annum of the notional amownt, and
receives variable interest which is based on the applicable HIBOR for each
of the payment dates. All these interest rate swap agreements will expire in
March 2015. These interest rate swap agreements ars expected to remain
highly effective in fixing the interest rate and qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting. Therefore, there is no impact on the consolidated statements
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of operations from changes in the fair vakie of the hedging instruments.
Instead the fair value of the instruments are recorded as assets or liabilities
on the consolidated balance sheets, with an offsetting adjustment to
the accumulated other comprehensive losses until the hedged interest
eXpENSEs were recognized In the consolidated statements of operations.
Neo hedge agresment has been entered as at December 31, 2013 as the
Studio City Borrower has not drawn down on the Studio City Project
Facility.

Philippine Notes

On January 24, 2014, MCE Leisure issued PHP15 billion 5% senior notes,
due 2019 (the “Philipping Notes®) (equivalent to $336,825 based on
axchange rate on transaction date) at par of 100% of the principal amount
and offered to certain primary institutional lenders as noteholders wvia
private placement in the Philippines, which was priced on December 19,
2013,

The Philippine Notes are general obligations of MCE Leisure, secured on
a first-ranking basis by pledge of sharas of all present and future direct
and indirect subsidiaries of MCP, rank equally in right of payment with all
existing and future senior indabtedness of MCE Leisure (save and axcept
for any statutory preference or priority) and rank senier in right of payment
to any existing and future subordinated indebtedness of MCE Laisure.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) MCE Leisure has the option to redeem all or a portion of the Philippine

Philippine Notes (continued)

The Philippine Motes are guaranteed by MCP and all present and
future dirsct and indirect subsidiaries of MCP (subject to certain limited
exceptions) (collectively the “Philippine Guarantors®), jointly and severally
with MCE Lelsure; and Irevecably and unconditionally by MCE on a
senior basis. The guarantees are general obligations of the Philippine
Guarantors, rank equally in right of payment to all existing and future
senior indebtedness of the Philippine Guarantors (except for any statutory
preference or priority) and rank semior in right of payment to any esisting
and future subordinated indebtedness of the Philippine Guarantors.

The Philippine Notes mature on January 24, 2019, Interest on the Philippine
Motes is accrued at a rate of 5% per annum and is payable semi-annually
in arrears on January 24 and July 24 of each year, commenced on July 24,
2014, In addition, the Phillppine Notes inchudes a tax gross up provision
requiring MCE Leisure to pay without any deduction or withholding for or
on account of tax,

Tha net proceads from the offering of the Philippine Motes, after deducting
the wunderwriting commissions and other expenses of approximately
PHP230,763,000 (equivalent to $5,182 based on exchange rate on
transaction date), was approximately PHP14,769,231,000 (eguivalent
10 $331,643 based on exchange rate on transaction date). MCE Leisure
used the net proceads from the offering to fund the City of Dreams Manila
project, refinancing of debt and general corporale purposes.

Motes at any time prior to January 24, 2015 at 100% of the principal
amount plus applicable premium as defined in the notes facllity and
security agreement (the “Maotes Facility and Security Agreement™) goweming
the Phillppine Notes, Thereafter, MCE Lelsure has the optien to redeem all
or a portion of the Philippine Motes at any time at fixed prices that decline
ratably cver time,

Tha Motes Facility and Security Agreement confains caertain covenants
that, subject to certain exceptions and conditions, limit the abllity of MCP
and its subsidiaries ability, including MCE Leisura to, among other things:
(il incur or guarantes additional indebtedness; (i) sell assets; (i) create
liens; and () effect a consolidation and merger. As of December 31, 2014,
management believes that MCE Leisure was in compliance with each of tha
financial restrictions and requirements,

Tha Philippine Motes are exempted from registration with the Philippina
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Philippine SECT) umder
the Philippine Securities Regulation Code Rula (*SRC Rula™) 9.2.2(B)
promulgated by the Philippine SEC as the Philippine Motes were offered via
private placement to not more than ninetesn primary institutional lenders,
accordingly, the Philippine Notes are subject to the conditions of SRC Rule
9.2.2(B) which limit the assignment and transfer of the Philippine Notes to
primary institutional lenders only and to be held by not more than ninateen
primary Institutional lenders at any time before maturity of the Philippine
MNotes.

Wi Caome | nkertadoywand | mdieed. Jrengl Hepeed F014 (B



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

12. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) Scheduled maturities of the long-term debt as of December 31, 2014 are as

follows:
Total interest on long-term debt consisted of the following:

Year ending December 31,

Year Ended December 31, 2015 § 262750

2014 2013 2m2 2016 322,150

Inferest for Studio City Mates™ $ 0425 8 7099 § 5,844 2017 161,897

Inferest for 2013 Senior Notes™ 50,000 44,008 — 2018 991,336

Interest for Studio City Praject Facility™ 26,321 - = 2018 330,648

Interest dor Philippine Nabes™ 18,751 - — Ovar 2019 1,825,000

Inerest for 2011 Credi Facilises” 1337 16,841 21,848 § 3802791
Inderest for Alrcradt Term Loan™ ) 1,191 705
Inferest for 2010 Senior Mates — 5,028 £1,500

Amuetization of discount in connection Tha-Jongztenn:dent as npeyable:as:Tokows:
with issuance of 2010 Sanior Noles — T a01 December 31.

Inferes! for AMB Bund.s —_ 2,610 13 BBE 2014 23

Interes! for Depesit-Linked Loan 173.5; 14.:';:: 111232; Wilhin one year § 262750 § 262566

. ! : More than one year, bul nol axcesding wo years 122,150 262749

loroet caphakood L 7200 More than fwo years, but nat exceeding five years 1402881 179897

£ 05771 % 119307 £ 106529 Mor than five years 1,825,000 1825 448

= Lang-term debt mpayabie within e years 380271 2533 460

Less: Amounis due within one year classified as
Long-termn debil mpayable after five yeans current lishiliizs |262.750) (262 566)
During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Group's SRR 2270404

average borrowing rates were approximately 5.41%, 5.36% and 5.06% per
annum, respactively.
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{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

Future minimum lease payments under capital lease obligations for the

13. CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS

©On Mareh 13, 2013, a lease agreement (the “MCP Lease Agreement”)

Group as of December 31, 2014 are as follows:

which was entered on October 25, 2012, and was subsequently amended Year ending December 31, 2015 5 25,269
from time te time, between MCE Lelsure and Belle Corperation (“Belle”, Yoor.sadlag ety A1, 21114 Ty
one of the Philippine Parties as defined in Mote 22(a)) for lease of the Yo g e =t i
PP Year ending December 31, 2018 39,016

land and certain of the building structures for City of Dreams Manila Yzar ending December 31, 2018 43,620
which expected to be expired on July 11, 2033, bacama effactive upon Ewver 3018 755,174
completicn of closing arrangement conditions and with minor changes from Tatal mindmum lease payments 933,958
the original terms. LSS amounts repradenting interest {B32419)
Present value of minimum lease payments 301,538

Apart from the MCP Lease Agreement, the Group entered inte lease Curent partion (23512)
agreements with third parties of lease of certain property and equipment Non-cument portion s  2me07

during the years ended Decembear 31, 2014 and 2013.

The Group made assessments at inception of the leases and capitalized
the portion related to property and equipment under capital lease at the

14, OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Decomber 31,
lower of the fair value or the present value of the future minimum lease 2014 2013
payments. Construction cosls and property and
equipmand refention payables s 59162 % 20,678
Staff cost accrsals and others 20,750 -
Detarrad rent liabililies 12,296 7626
Cihar depasils recaived 1,233 187

$ 83441 3 2842
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(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

G

Authaoritative literature provides a falr value hierarchy, which prioritizes the
inputs to waluation technigues used to measure fair value into three broad
levels. The level in the hierarchy within which the fair value measurement In
its antiraty falls is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant ta
the fair value measurement as follows:

- Leavel 1 - inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for
identical instruments traded in active markets,

- Lewvel 2 - inputs are based upon guoted prices for similar instruments
in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markats that are not active and medel-based valuation techniques for
which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can
ba corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full

tarm of the assets or liabilities,

*  Level 3 - inputs are genmerally unobservable and typically reflact
management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability. The fair values are therefora
determined using model-based techniques that include option pricing
models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques.
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The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits with
original maturity over three months and restricted cash approximated
fakr value and represented a level 1 measurement. The carrying values of
long-term deposits, long-term receivables and other long-tarm liabilities
approximated fair value and represented a level 2 measurement. The
estimated fair value of long-term debt as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
which included the Studic City Project Facility, the 2013 Senior Notes,
the Studio City Motes, the 2011 Cradit Facilities, the Philippine Notes and
the Aircraft Term Loan, were approximately $3 878381 and $2 585,768,
respectively, as compared to its carrying value of $3902,781 and
52,533,480, respectively. Fair value was estimated wsing quoted markat
prices and represented a level 1 measurement for the 2013 Senior Notes
and the Studio City Notes. Fair value for the Studio City Project Facility,
the 2011 Credit Facilities, the Philippine Motes and the Aircraft Term Loan
approximated the carrying values as the instruments carried either variabla
interest rates or the fixed interest rate approximated the market rate and
represented a level 2 measurement. Additionally, the carrying value of land
use righls payable approximated fair value as the instruments carried the
fixed interest rate approximated the market rate and represented a level 2
maasuramant.

As of December 31, 2014, the Group did not have any non-financial
assets or liabilities that are recognized or disclosed al fair value in the
consclidated financial statements,
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{In thousands of U.5. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

15.

16.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group's financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value have
been categorized based upon the fair value in accordance with the
accounting standards. As of December 31, 2014, the Interest rate swap
agresments carried at fair value and the fair value of these interast rate
swap agreements approximated the amounts the Group would pay if
these contracts ware settled at the respective valuation dates. Fair value
is estimated based on a standard valuation model that projects future
cash flows and discounts those future cash flows to a present value
using market-based observable inputs such as interest rate yields. Since
significant observable inputs are used in the valuation modeal, the interast
rate swap arrangements represented a leval 2 measurarment in the fair value
hierarchy.

GAPITAL STRUGTURE
Ordinary and Treasury Shares

The Company’s treasury shares represent i) new shares issued by the
Company and held by the depesitory bank to facilitate the administration
and operations of the Company’s share incentive plans, and are to be
deliverad to the Directors, eligible employees and consultants on the

westing of restricted shares and upon the exercise of share options; il)
the shares purchased under a frust arrangement for the benefit of certain
beneficiaries who are awardees under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan
and held by a trustes to facilitate the future vesting of restricted shares
in selected Directors, employees and consultants under the 2011 Share
Incentive Plan as described in Mote 18; and iii) the shares repurchased by
the Company under the Stock Repurchase Program (as describad below)
pending for ratirament.

New Shares Issued by the Company

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company
issued nil, B,574,153 and 4,958,223 ordinary shares to s depository
bank for future vaesting of restricted shares and exercise of share options,
respactively, The Company issued 1,068,534, 1,297,902 and 1,276,634
of these ordinary shares upon vesting of restricted shares; and 928,299,
3,064,302 and 2,966,955 of these ordinary shares upon exercise of shara
options during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respactivaly. As of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company had
a balance of 13 482,154, 15,478,987 and 11,267,038 newly issued ordinary
sharas which continue to be held by the Company for future issuance upon
vesting of restricted shares and exercise of share options.
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(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

16. CAPITAL STRUCTURE (CONTINUED)

e

Ordinary and Treasury Shares (continued)
Shares Furchased under a Trust Arangement

On May 15, 2013, the Beard of Directors of the Company authorized a
trustes to purchase the Company's ADS from NASDAGC for the purposs
of satistying its obligation to deliver ADS undar its 2011 Share Incentive
Plan {"Share Purchase Program®). Under the Share Purchase Program, the
trustee can purchase ADS from the open market at the price range to be
determined by the Company’s management from time to time. This Share
Purchase Program may be terminated by the Cempany at any time. The
purchased ADSs are to be delivered to the Directors, sligible employses
and consultants upon vesting of the restricted shares.

Cuwring the year ended December 31, 2014, 69,426 ADSs, equivalent to
208,278 ordinary shares were purchased under a trust arrangement from
NASDAQ at an average market price of 524.79 per ADS or $8.26 per share
{including commissions), and 487,121 ordinary shares purchased under a
trust arrangement were delivered to Directors and eligibde employees to
safisfy the vesting of restricted shares. During the year anded December
31, 2013, 373,946 ADSs, equivalent to 1,121,838 crdinary shares were
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purchased under a trust arrangement from MASDAQ at an average market
price of $23.45 per ADS or $7.82 per share (including commissions).
and 378,579 ordinary shares purchased under a trust arrangement
were deliverad to Directors and eligible employees to satisty the vesting
of restricted shares. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the shares
purchased under trust arrangement has a balance of 484,416 and 743,259
ordinary shares, rezpectively, for future issuance upon vesting of restricted
shares,

Shares Repurchased for Retirement

On August 7, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the
repurchase of the Company's ADS of up to an aggregate of $500,000 under
a stock repurchase program (*Stock Repurchase Program”), which remains
wvalid until the expiry or revocation of the share repurchase mandate granted
by the shareholders, upon conclusion of the next annual general meeting
of the Company to ba held in 2015, for shares ratireament. Undar the Stock
Repurchase Program, the Company can repurchase ADS from the open
market at the price range determined by the Company’s management
frem time to time. This Stock Repurchase Program may be terminated by
the Company at any time prior to the axpiration of the Steck Repurchase
Pragram,



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thausands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

16. CAPITAL STRUCTURE (CONTINUED) 17. INCOME TAXES

Ordinary and Treasury Shares (continued)
Shares Repurchased for Retirernent {continued)

During the year ended Decamber 31, 2014, 12,216 448 ADSs, equivalent to
36,649,344 ordinary shares were repurchased under the Stock Repurchase
Program fram NASDAQ in aggregate for $300,495 (including commissions),
at an average market price of $24.60 per ADS or $8.20 per share, of which
32,931,528 ordinary shares repurchased under the Stock Repurchase
Program were retired. As of December 31, 2014, the shares repurchased
had a balance of 3,717,816 crdinary shares for future shares retirement and
these remaining repurchased ordinary shares were subsequently retired in
January 2015,

As of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, tha Company had
1,633,701,920, 1,666,633,448 and 1,658,059,295 issued ordinary shares,
and 17,684,386, 16222246 and 11,267,038 freasury shares, with
1,618,017,534, 1,650,411,202 and 1,648,702,257 issued crdinary shares
outstanding, respectively.

The Company and certain subsidiaries are exempt from tax in the Cayman
Islands or British Virgin Islands ("B\V1"), where they are incorporated,
however, the Company Is subject to Hong Koeng Prefits Tax on profits from
its activities conducted in Hong Kong. Cerfain subsidiaries incorporated
or conducting businesses in Heng Kong, Macau, the Philippines and other
jurisdictions are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax, Macau Complementary
Tax, income tax in the Philippines and other jurisdictions, respactively,
during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012. The
Company's subsidiary incorporated in the United States of America and
dissolved in June 2013, is subject to income tax in the United States of
America up to the date of dissolution in 2013 and during the year ended
Decamber 31, 2012,

Pursuant to the approval notices issued by the Macau Government dated
June 7, 2007, Melkco Crown Macau has been exempted from Macau
Complementary Tax on profits generated by gaming operations for five
years commencing from 2007 to 2011 and will continue to benefit from
this exemption for another five years from 2012 to 2016 pursuant 1o the
approval notices issued by the Macau Government in April 2011,
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(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

17. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

W0

The Macau Government has granted to subsidiaries of the Company, Altira
Hotel Limited (“Altira Hotel”), in 2007, and Melco Crown (COD) Hotels
Limited (*Melco Crown (COD) Hetels™), in 2011 and 2013, the declaration
of utility purposes benefit in respect of Altira Macau, Hard Rock Hotel,
Crown Towers hotel and Grand Hyatt Macau hotel, pursuant to which
they are entitied to a property tax holiday, for a period of 12 years, on
any immovable proparty that they ocwn or have been granted. Under such
declaration of ulility purposes benafit, they will alsc be allowed to double
the maximum rates applicable regarding depreciation and reintegration
for the puwrposes of assessing the Macau Complementary Tax., The
Macau Government has also granted to Altira Hotel and Melco Crown
{COD) Hotels a declaration of utility purposes benefit on specific vehicles
purchased, pursuant to which they were entitled to a vehicle tax holiday,
provided that there is no change in use or disposal of thase vehicles within
S years from the date of purchase. The grant of further vehicle tax holiday
is subject to the satisfaction by the Group of certain criteria determined by
the Macau Gowvernmeant.
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The provision for income tax consisted of:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 a2
Income tax provision for curent year:
Macau Complementary Tax 3 2761 % a1 8 203
Lump sum in liga ol Macau
Complementary Tax on dvidend 2,785 5,590 -
Haong Kong Profits Tax 1.1n £54 513
Income tax In other jursdictions 622 99 238
Sub-otal 7.349 6.384 954
{Dver) under provision of income L in
prior years
Macau Complemendary Tax (57) @17 (17
Hang Kong Profits Tax 124 [ 32
Incame tax in cther jurisdictions a 3 1
Sub-total 158 [411) [138)
Deferred txx (credit) charge
Macau Complementary Tax (3.817) (3.543) {3.676)
Hang Kong Profits Tax 122y 12 {81}
Income tax in clher jurisdictions (532) (1 114
Sub-odal [4.471) [3.532) (3,758)
Total income tax expense [credit) ] 3036 % 2441 § {2,943




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thausands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

7.

INGOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the income tax expense (credit) to income bafore income
tax per the consolidated statements of cperations is as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Income before income tax $§ 530422 § 580454 3 HSTA
Macau Complementary Tax rate 12% 12% 12%
Income tax expense at Macau

Complementary Tax rate 63,651 6% 654 47,487
Lusmp sum in ey of Macau

Cemplementary Tax on dividend 2,795 5,590 -
Etlect of diftarent fax rates of subsidiaries

pparating in other jurisdictions (25 41E) (9,643 (5:58)
Under fover) provision in prior years 158 1) {138)
Eftect of incame for which no income tax

BXpanse is payable 2278 {395 (714)
Etfect of expenses for which no income

tax benefit is receivable 12,441 26,557 1737
Effect of profits generated by gaming

oparations axempled from Macau

Complementary Tax (109,188 {125,702 (B8 491)
Change in valuation aliowance 60,868 36,700 22152

5 3036 § 2441 % [2.843)

Macau Complementary Tax and Hong Kong Profits Tax have been
provided at 12% and 16.5% on the estimated taxable income eamed in
or derived from Macau and Hong Kong, respectively, during the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, if applicable. Income tax in
other jurisdictions for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012 ware provided mainly for the profits of the representative offices and
branches set up by a subsidiary of the Company in the region where they
aperate. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the provision for current
income tax of one of the Company's subsidiaries in the Philippines has
been provided at 30% on the estimated taxable income and offset with a
benefit from deferred income tax recognized up to the amount of incoma
tax provided, Ne provisions for income tax for other subsidiaries of the
Company in the Philippines for the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012 and in the United States of America for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 were provided as the subsidiaries incurred
tax losses.
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(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

17. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

L

Meles Crown Macau was granted a tax  holiday from  Masau
Complementary Tax for 5 years on gaming profits by the Macau
Government in 2007, In April 2071, this tax holiday for Melco Crown
Macau was axtended for an additional 5 years through 2016, During the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, Melco Crown Macau
raported net income and had the Group been required to pay such
taxes, the Group's consclidated net income attributable to Melco Crown
Entertainment Limited for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012 would have been decreased by $109,189, $125,702 and $88,491,
respectively. The basic and diluted net income attributable to Melco Crown
Entertainment Limited per share would have reported reduced income
of $0.066 and $0.066 per share for the year ended December 31, 2014,
$0.076 and $0.076 per share for the year ended December 31, 2013 and
$0.054 and $0.053 per share for the year ended December 31, 2012,
respectively, Melco Crown Macau's non-gaming prefits remain subject to
the Macau Complementary Tax and its casino revenues remain subject
to the Macau special gaming tax and other levies in accordance with its
gaming subconcession agreemeant.
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In 2013, Melco Crown Macau made an application to the Macau
Government for a tax concession arrangement for its shareholders.
Pursuant to the proposed terms issued by the Macau Government in
December 2013 which was accepted by Melco Crown Macaw in January
2014, an annual lump sum amount of MOP22,400,000 (equivalent to
£2,795) is payable by Melce Crown Macau to the Macau Government,
effective retroactively from 2012 through 2016, coinciding with the S-year
extension of the tax holiday as mentionad abowve, as payments in liew of
Macau Complementary Tax ctherwise due by the sharsholders of Melco
Crown Macau on dividend distributions from gaming profits. Such annual
lump sum tax payments are required regardless of whather dividends
are actually distributed or whether Melce Crown Macau has distributable
profits in the relevant year. The income tax provision for the year 2013
included the annual lump sum dividend withholding tax payments accrued
for the years 2013 and 2012,

The effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012 were 0.6%, 0.4% and negative rate of 0.7%, respectively. Such rates
differ from the statutory Macau Complementary Tax rate of 12% primarily
due ta the atfect of profits generated by gaming operations exempted from
Macau Complamentary Tax, the effect of change in valuation allowance, the
effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions
and the affect of expenses for which no income tax banefit is receivable for
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per share data)

17. INCOME TAXES {[}UN“NUED} As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, valation allowance of $127,927 and
$8B.610 were provided, respectively, as management believes that it iz

The nat deferred tax llakilities as of December 31, 20714 and 2013 consisted more fikely than not that these deferred tax assets will not ba realized, As of

of the folowing: December 31, 2014, adjusted operating tax loss carry forwards, amounting

December 31, to $153.845, $177.728 and $245405 will expire in 2015, 2016 and 2017,
2014 2013 raspactively. Adjusted operating tax loss carried forwards of $159,715 has
Dederred tax assets expired during the year ended December 31, 2014,
Net operaling loss camied forwards 5 94280 5  BET44
Degraciation and amortization 13377 11,100 Deferred tax, where applicable, is provided under the liability method at
Deferred deductible expenses 4,402 3,661 the enacted statutory Income tax rate of the respective tax jurisdictions,
Deferred rents 12 96 5.001 applicable to the respective financial years, on the differance betwean the
Others 9,527 1,997 consolidated financial statements carrying amounts and income tax base of
Sub-fota 134482 88,703 assots and liabilities.
Valuation allowance
Current 18 626) (19.415) Aggregate undistributed earnings of the Company's foreign subsidiaries
Leng-tarm {109.301) (69.195) are available for distribution to the Company of approximately $11,447 and
Sub-total 27820 (Ea60 $18,175 as at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, are considered
Total defermed tax assets 555 s to be indefinitely reinvested and the amounts as of December 31, 2014
Dederred tax Babilities ey =
and 2013 exclude the undistributed earnings of Melco Crown Macauw.
Land use rights {55,683 (60,090
Wlangitle sssis 1505) 508 Accordingly, no provision has been made for the dividend withholding
Uinreakzad capital allowanca {2.621) 2214 taxes that would ba payable upon the distribution of these amounts to the
Others 15,548 - Company. If those earnings were to be distributed or they were determined
Total dalerred tax liabities {B4,B5T) (62 08 to be na longer parmanently reinvestad, the Company would have 1o record
Diefrrad tax Babilities, nat 5 BA3A 5 (E2N3 a defarred income tax liability in respect of those undistributed eamings
of approximately $1,717 and $2,725 as at December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respactivaly.
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(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

17. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

L

An evaluation of the tax positions for recognition was conducted by the
Group by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it is
more likely than net that the positions will be sustained on audit, Including
rasalution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. Uncertain tax
benefits associated with the fax positions were measured based solely
on the technical merits of being sustained on examinations. The Group
concluded that there was no significant uncertain fax position requiring
recognition in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 and there is no material unrecognized
tax benefit which would favourably affect the effective income tax rate
in future periods. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no
interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions recognized in the
consolidated financial statements. The Group does not anticipate any
significant increases or decreases to its liability for unrecognized tax banefit
within the next twelve manths,

The income tax returns of the Company and its subsidiaries remain open
and subject to examination by the tax authorities of Hong Kong, Macau, tha
United States of America, the Philippines and other jurisdictions until the
statute of limitations expire in each comesponding jurisdiction. The statute
of limitations in Hong Kong, Macau, the United States of America and the
Philippines are & years, 5 years, 3 years and 3 years, respectively.
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18. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

2006 Share Incentive Plan

The Group adopted a share incentive plan in 2006 (*2008 Share Incentive
Plan7) to attract and ratain the bast available personnal for positions of
substantial responsibility, to provide additional incentives to employees,
Directors and consultants and to promote the success of its business.
Under the 2006 Share Incentive Plan, the Group may grant either oplions
to purchase the Company's crdinary shares or restricted shares (Note: The
restricted shares, as named in respective grant documents, are accounted
for as nomvested shares). The term of an award shall not exceed 10 years
fram the date of the grant. The maximum aggregate number of ordinary
sharas which may be issued pursuant to all awards under the 2008 Shara
Incentive Plan (including shares issuable upon exercise of options) is
100,000,000 over 10 years. The new share incentive plan {("2011 Share
Incentive Plan™) as described below was effective immediately after tha
listing of the Company's ordinary shares on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on December 7, 2011 and no further awards may
be granted under the 2008 Share Incentive Plan on or after such date as
all subsequent awards will be issued under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan.
Accordingly, no share option and restricted share were granted under the
2006 Share Incentive Plan during the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012,



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per share data)

18. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED) A summary of share options vested undar the 2006 Share Incentive Plan at
December 31, 2014 are presented balow:
2006 Share Incentive Plan (continued)
\estad
Share Options Weighted ~ Weighted
Averans Ferag

A summary of share options activity under the 2006 Share Incentive Plan as

Number  Ewsrcise  Remaining  Aggregase
of December 31, 2014, and changes during the years ended December 31,

of Share  Price per  Conlrachual Infrinzic

2014, 2013 and 2012 are prasented balow: Options Sheare Tem Ve
. Rarge of ewercise prices per sharg
hi
Wy Siomi (5101 - $5.06) Plote) 1OTAN S 180 460§ BATI0
fuerage Avetage
Marribr  Ercma  Remaining  Aggregak Mete: 1,615,101 shase optiens vested and B.0BT shar ophons expined during the esr ended
of Share  Price par  Conlrachzl Intringic Decamiba 31, 3014,
Options Shara Term Ve
Dutst 2 & January 1, 2012 016487 5 155 As of December 31, 2014, there was no unvested share options under
Exerciosd 2,066,055) 1.2 the 2006 Share Incentive Plan, Share options of 853,905, 2,967,372 and
Forfiited (1,110,643) 163 2,966,955 were exercised and proceeds amounted to $1,758, 84,463 and
Expired 510 1m $3,632 were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013
Outstanding a5 &t Decamber 31, 2012 16,832,154 161

and 2012, respectively. The total intrinsic values of share options sxercised

Eibreiout [2.%67.572) 150 for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were 5,472,
F X0 o $34,330 and $13,022, respectively. As of December 31, 2014, there was no
Expired 14,859 1.0 ' o i

ot =80 b 31,2013 BT 5 unrecognized compensation costs related to share options under the 2006
Erercised 853,805 206 Share Incentive Plan.
Expired 16,087} 1]

COutstanding a5 st Decamber 31, 2014 12017421 § 1680 460 5 EATI

Exgrcizabie as af December 31, 2014 12017421 5 180 460 § EBTID
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(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

18. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)

T

2006 Share Incentive Plan (continued)
Restricted Shares

A summary of the status of the 2006 Share Incentive Plan's restricted
shares as of December 31, 2014, and changes during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are presentad below:

Weighted

Mumber of  Average Grant

Rararicted Dt Faie

Shares Walus

Urwested as al January 1, 2012 4002503 § 2.22
Vested [1.276,634) 248
Forfeited (486, 984) 166
Urvasied a5 at Dacember 31, 2012 2,238 885 218
Vested (1,297 802) 2.04
Forlgited [38.313) 212
Urvested a3 at December 31, 2013 902,670 242
Vested 902,670 242

Urnested ag at December 31, 2014 e y

The total fair values at date of grant of the restricted shares under the
2006 Share Incentive Plan vasted during the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012 were $2,182, 2,642 and $3,181, respectively. As
of December 31, 2014, thera was no unrecognized compensation costs
related to restricted shares under the 2006 Share Incentive Plan,
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2011 Share Incentive Plan

The Group adopted the 2011 Share Incentive Plan to promota the success
and enhance the walue of the Company by linking personal interests
of the members of the Board, employees and consultants to those of
the shareholders and by providing such individuals with ncentive for
ocutstanding performance to generate superior returns to the shareholders
which became effective on December 7, 2011. Under the 2011 Share
Incentive Plan, the Group may grant various share-based awards, including
but not limited to, cptions to purchase the Company’s ordinary shares,
share appreciation rights, restricted shares and other types of awards.
The term of such awards shall not excesd 10 years from the date of the
grant. The maximum aggregata number of ordinary shares which may
be issued pursuant to all awards under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan is
100,000,000 over 10 years, which could be raised up to 10% of the issued
share capital upon shareholders' approval, As of December 31, 2014 and
2013, 92,621,404 and 94 688 953 ordinary shares remain available for the
grant of various share-based awards under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan,
respectively.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

18. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED) expected to be paid at the time of the grant. Expected volatility is based
" on the historical volatility of the Company’s ADS trading on the NASDAQ

2011 Share Incentive Plan (continued) Global Select Market. Expected term |5 based upon the vesting term or
Share Options the historical of expected tarm of publicly traded companias. The risk-free

interest rate used for each period presented is based on the United States

The Group granted share options to certain personnel under the 2011 of America Treasury yield curve at the time of grant for the period equal to

Share Incentive Plan during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012, with the exarcise price for share options granted in 2014 and
2013 determined at the higher of the closing price on the date of grant and The fair value per option under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan was

the average closing price for the five rading dates preceding the date of estimated at the date of grant using the following weighted average
assumptions for options granted during the years ended December 31,

2014, 2013 and 2012:

the expected term.

grant of the Company's ardinary shares trading on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, while the exercise price for share options granted in 2012

determined at the closing price on the date of grant. These share options December 31,

became exercisable over vesting periods of three to four years, The share 2014 2013 20m2

options granted axpire 10 years from the date of grant. Expected dwidend yield 1.11% - -
Expacted stock price volatiity 68.56% 65.50% 67.62%

The Group uses the Black-Scheles valuation medel lo determine the Risk-tras infarest rate 2.04% 052% 1.01%

estimated fair value for each option granted, with highly subjective Expected average Iife of options (years) 6.1 5.1 51

assumptions, changes in which could materially affect the estimated
fair value. Dividend yield is based on the estimate of annual dividends
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(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

18. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION {GBNTmuEﬂ] A summary of share options vested and expected ta vest under the 2011
: Share Incentive Plan at December 31, 2014 are presented below:
2011 Share Incentive Plan (continued)
Vasted
Share Options {continued) Weightsed  Weighied
Anrag Huwrage

A summary of share options activity under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan as Nabee  Ewrciss  Remainng  Aggregaie
of December 31, 2014, and changes during the years ended December 31, ofShae  Pricapar Conkachual ringic
2014, 2013 and 2012 are presentad below: Dgtions Shae Tem Value

Ranga of emascise prices per shane
Weighted ~ Weightsd i

34,70 - SE.47) (Nolg) 1404033 § 578 75T & 4023
Heetane Hfverags
Numbar  Evarcise  Remaring  Aggregae Mote: 1,048,418 shate opticns vested &nd no Shan CRUONS axpinkd during 1he year anded
ofShare  Priceper Contrachid Inirinsic Decaenbar 31, 2014,
Opdons Share Tarm Valua
Qutstanding as at Jansry 1, 2012 — Enpsitnd lo el
firanted 1,934,574 470 Weighted ~ Weighted
Forsitzd A 47 hoage  Peerage
Qutstanding as at Decamber 31, 2012 1,001,136 470 Mumber  Ewcist  Remaining  Aggregaie
Batded 1286793 842 alStare  Priceper Convachial  Iinsic
Enttcised 16.230) 470 Options Share Tem Valug
Forfeited (120834) 600 Ranga of emarcize prices per shane
Exired Mg 47 BA70-512.08) 2665836 § 971 853 § 2228
Outstanding as at Decamber 31, 2013 3070335 6.33
Bnled 1320803 1289
Exencised {74,304) 534
Fortsited (155,865 9.84
COutstanding as at December 31, 2014 4160769 & 8% Bi18 3 6249
Exerczsable at o December 31, 2014 1494933 § 578 757 § 402
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{In thausands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

18. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)

2011 Share Incentive Plan (continued)
Share Options {continued)

The weighted average fair value of share options granted under the 2011
Share Incentive Plan during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012 were $7.11, $4.50 and $2.44, respectively. Share options of
74,3094 and 96,930 were exercised and proceeds amounts to 3387 and
$455 were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively. The total infrinsic value of share options exercised
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were $232 and $812,
raspactively. No share option was exercised for the year endad Decembaer
31, 2012, As of December 31, 2014, there was $9,556 unrecognized
compensation costs related to unvested share options under the 2011
Share Incentive Plan and the costs were axpacted to be recognized over a
walghted average period of 1.93 years.

Restricted Shares

The Group has also granted restricted shares to cartain personnel under
the 2011 Share Incentive Flan during the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012. Thesa rastricted shares have vasting periods of three to
four years, The grant date fair value is determined with reference to the
market closing price of the Company's ADS trading on the NASDAG Global
Salect Market at the date of grant.

A summary of the status of the 2011 Share Incentive Plan's restricted
shares as of December 31, 2014, and changes during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are presented below:

Weighted
Number of  Awerage Grant

Restricted Date Fair

Shares Value

Unvested al Janwary 1, 2012 — % -
Granted 1,170,612 443
Forfaited {16,722) 4.43
Unwested at December 31, 2012 1,153,890 4.43
Granted 817,068 g2y
Vested 378 57TY) 443
Forteited {60, 420) 507
Unvested at December 31, 2013 1,531,959 6.43
Grantad 746,856 1242
Viested [632,985) 6.04
Forteited (77,938 9.57
Urwested at December 31, 2014 1567892 % 928

The total fair value at date of grant of the restricted shares under the
2011 Share Incentive Plan vested during the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013 were $3.821 and 1,676, respectively. No resfricted shares
under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan were vested during the yvear ended
December 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2014, there was 58,785 of
unrecognized compensation costs related to restricted shares under the
2011 Share Incentive Plan and the costs wers expected to be recognized
over a weighted average period of 1.91 years,
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18. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)

L

MCP Share Incentive Plan

MCP operates a share incentive plan (the "MCP Share Incentive Plan®) to
promote the success and enhance the value of MCR by linking personal
interests of members of the Board, employees and consultants of MCF,
its subsidiaries, holding companies and affiliated companies by providing
such individuals with an incantive for outstanding performance to generate
superior returns to the stockholders of MCP On June 21, 2013, the
MCP Share Incentive Plan, with amendments, were approved by MCP
sharehelders at MCP annual steckhelders meeting and the Company's
sharshclders at its extraordinary general mesting respectively. The MCP
Share Incentive Plan became effective on June 24, 2013, the date of
the Phillppine SEC approved such amendments. Under the MCP Share
Incentive Plan, MCP may grant various share-based awards, including but
not limited to, options to purchase the MCP common shares, restricted
shares, share approciation rights and other types of awards. The term
of such awards shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant. The
maximum aggregaté number of common shares which may be issued
pursuant to all awards under tha MCP Share Incentive Plan is 442,630,330
shares and with up to 5% of the issued capital stock of MCP from time to
time over 10 years. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, 57,075,817 and
47,098,938 MCF common shares remain available for the grant of various
share-based awards under the MCP Share Incentive Plan, respectivaly.
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Share Options

For the year ended December 31, 2014, MCP granted 9,543,186 share
options to cenaln personnel under the MCP Share Incentive Plan, with
the exercise price for 4,861,003 share options determined at the higher
of the closing price of MCP common shares on the date of grant and the
average closing prica for the five trading days preceding the date of grant.
The exercise price for 4,682,183 share options is fixed at $0.19 per share,
with the same exercise price with the share optiens granted on June 28,
2013 on the bases approved by MCP's management that these personneal
would contribute significantly to the pre-opening of City of Oreams Manila
and joined MCP and its subsidiaries {collectively referred to as the *MCP
Group”) prior to March 31, 2014. These share options became exercisable
over different vesting pericds of around three years. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, MCP granted share options to certain personnel under
the MCP Share Incentive Plan with the exercise price determined at the
higher of the closing price of MCP common shares on the date of grant
and the average closing price for the five trading days preceding the date
of grant. These share options became exercisable over a vesting period
of three years, with the first vesting on 30 days after the opening of City
of Dreams Manila which were vested on March 4, 2015, All share options
granted expire 10 years after tha date of grant.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per share data)

18. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED) A summary of share options activity under the MCP Share Incentive Plan as
. 7 of December 31, 2014, and changes during the years ended December 31,
MCF Shiare Incentive Pian (continued) 2014 and 2013 are presented below:
Share Options {continued) Weighted  Weighted
Pwetage  Average

MCP uses the Black-Scholes valuation model to determine the estimated
Ewercse  Remaining  Aggregate

i lue fi h { , with high jecti ions,
fair value for each option granted, with highly subjective assumptions Mambirol  Picepsr Cont nirsic

changes in which could materially affect the astimated fair value. Dividend Share Options Share Tt Ve
yield is based on the estimate of annual dividends expected to be paid at Outstanding as at January 1, 2013 -5 X
the time of the grant, Expected volatility is based on the historical vedatility Granted 120,826,336 0,19
of a peer group of publicly traded companies. Expected term is based Forfeited 14582,185 0.18
upen the vesting term or the historical of expected term of the Company. Quistanding as at December 31,2013 116,144,153 019
The risk-frae intarest rata usad for sach period presented is basad on the Granted 9,543,186 0.4
Fuefeited {1,960,720) 0.19

Philippine Government bond yield at the time of grant for the period equal
to the expected tarm.

Qutstanding as at December 31, 2014 12416612 5 019 85% 5 1414

As of December 31, 2014, no share options granted under the MCP Share
Incentive Plan were vested and exercisabla.

The fair value per option under the MCP Share Incentive Plan was
estimated at the date of grant using the following weighted average
assumptions for oplicns granted during the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013:

December 31,

2014 2013
Expected dividend yield - -
Expected stock price wolatility 40.00% 45.00%
Rigk-free interest rate 3T77T% 373%
Expacted avarage Ble of oplions (years) 52 5.0
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(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

18. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION {CONTINUED)

we

MCP Share Incentive Plan (continued)
Share Options (continued)

A summary of share options expected to vest under the MCP Share
Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2014 are presented below:

Expected b Vesl
Weighted  Wighlesd
Ftr 0 Hrvaage

Humbar Eeercite  Remaning  Aggreqale
ofShare  Priceper  Contmchial nfringic
(ptions Share Term Vil

Range of exarcise prices per shase

(30,19 - $0.30 124126612 § 019 856 § 1414

The waighted average fair value of share options granted under the MCP
Share Incentive Plan during the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 were $0.14 and $0.09, respactivaly. As of December 31, 2014, thare
was $5,445 unrecognized compensation costs related to share options
under the MCP Share Incentive Plan and the costs were expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 1.52 years,

Bwusd Feper] 2010 oo G2 | g tudrmens imfied.

Restricted Sharas

For the year ended December 31, 2014, MCP granted restricted sharas
to certain persennel under the MCP Share Incentive Plan with vesting
pariods of arcund three years. For the year ended December 31, 2013,
MCP granted rastricted shares to certain personnel under the MCP Share
Incentive Plan with a vesting period of thrae years, with the first vesting on
30 days after the opening of City of Dreams Manila which wera vested on
March 4, 2015, The grant date fak value Is determined with reference to the
market closing price of the MCP common shares at the date of grant.

A summary of the status of the MCP Share Incentive Plan's restricted
sharas as of December 31, 2014, and changes during the wears ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013 are presented below:

Waightad
Mumber of  Awerage Grand

Restricted Diate Fair

Shares Value

Unvested as at January 1, 2013 e - 2
Granted 60413167 019
Farfeited [2.341.091} 0.19
Urvested as at December 31, 2013 58.072.076 018
Granted 7.079.775 0.29
Forfeited (780.365) 0.19

Urrvasted as at Dacember 31, 2014 64371486 8 0.20




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thausands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

18. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED) The impact of share options and restricted shares for the Group for
y - the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 recognized in the
MCP Share Incentive Plan (continued) consolidated financial statements i as follows:
Restricied Shares (continued) Year Ended Decernber 31,
Mo restricted shares under the MCP Share Incentive Plan wera vested 204 2043 212
7 2006 Shara Incentive Plan
during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. As of December Share cptions g 50 3 3234 % 4033
31, 2014, there was S6,596 unrecognized compensation costs related to Restricted shares 432 2188 2 454
restricted shares under the MCP Share Incentive Plan and the costs were Sub-tolal 1071 5422 6,407
expected 1o be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.59 years, 2011 Share Incentive Plan
Share oplions 5,590 2778 1179
Restricied shares 5915 3,052 1,207
Sub-total 11,505 5827 2478
MCP Share Incantive Plan
Share options 35631 1,756 _—
Restricted shares 4194 1982 —
Sub-tota 7825 3,738 =
Total share-based compansation
expenses recognized in general and
adiministralive expenses § 2040 § 14987 § BA73
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(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

I

The Group provides defined contribution plans for i3 employees and
executive officers in Macau, Hong Kong, the Philippines and certain other
jurisdictions,

Employees
Macau

Employees employed by the Group In Macau are members of government-
managed Social Security Fund Scheme (the "S5F Scheme”) operated
by the Macau Government and the Group is required to pay & monthly
fixed contribution to the SSF Scheme 1o fund the benefits. The obligation
of the Group with respect to the SSF Scheme cperated by the Macau
Government is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

The Group provided option for its qualifying employees in Macau to
participate In voluntary defined contribution schemes (the “Macau
Schames”) cperated by the Group in Macau. The Group contributes a
fixed percentage of the eligible employees’ base salaries or fixed amount
to the Macau Schemes. The Group's contributions to the Macau Schemes
are vested to employees in accordance to a vesting schedule with full
vasting in 10 years from date of employment. The Macau Schemes ware
established under trust with the assets of the funds held separately from
those of the Group by independent trustess in Macau,

Swusd Fepor] 2010 b G | obogtabrwmens e

Hang Kong

Employees amployed by the Group in Hong Kong and certain employeas
employed by the Group in other jurisdictions are members of Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) operated by the Group in
Hong Kong. The Group is reguired to contribute a fixed percentage of
the employee's base salaries to the MPF Scheme, which included the
Group's mandatory portion. The excess of confributions over the Group's
mandatory pertion are treated as the Group’s voluntary contribution and
are vested to tha employee in accordance to a vesting schedubs with full
vesting In 10 years from date of employment. The Group's mandatory
contributions to the MPF Scheme are fully and immediately vested to the
employee once they are paid. The MPF Scheme was established under
trust with the assets of the funds held separately from those of the Group
by an independent trustes in Hang Kong.

The Philoo

Employees employed by MCP Group in the Philippines are members of
government-managed Social Security System Scheme (the *555 Schema®)
operated by the Philippine Government and MCP Group is required to
pay at a certain percentage of the employees' relevant income and mat
the minimum mandatary requirements of the 555 Scheme to fund the
benefits,. The only obligation of MCP Group with respect to the 5SS
Scheme operated by the Philippine Government is to make the required
contributions under the scheme,



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per share data)

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 20. DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS

Employees {continued)
Other Jurisdictions

The Group's subsidiaries in certain other jurisdictions operate a number
of defined contribution schemes. Contributions to the defined contribution
schemes applicable to each year are made at a certain parcentage of the

employees” payroll and met the minimum mandatory requirements,
Executive Officers

Executive officers employed by the Group are members of the MPF
Scherne operated by the Group in Hong Kong. The Group is reguirad to
contribute a fixed percentage of the executive officers’ base salaries to the
MPF scheme, which included the Group's mandatory portion. The axcess
of confributions over the Group's mandatory portion are treated as the
Group's veluntary contribution and are vested to the executive officers In
accordance to a vesting schedule with full vesting in 10 years from date
of employment, The Group's mandatory contributions to the MPF scheme
are fully and immediately vested to the executive officer once they are
paid, The MPF was established under trust with the assets of the funds
held separately from those of the Group by an independant trustes in Hong
Kong.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Group's
confributiens inte the defined contribution plans were $14,823, $8,522 and
$5,303, respoctivaly.

All subsidiaries incorporated in Macau are required 1o set aside a minimum
of 10% to 25% of the entity's profit after taxation to the legal reserve
until the balance of the legal reserve reaches a level equivalent to 25% to
50% of the entity’s share capital in accordance with the provisions of the
Macau Commercial Code, The legal reserve sels aside an amount frem the
subsidiaries’ statements of operations and is not available for distribution
to the sharehclders of the subsidiaries. The appropriation of legal resarve
is recorded in the subsidiaries’ financial statements in the year in which
it is approved by the Board of Directors of the relevant subsidiaries. As
of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the balance of the reserve amounted to
$31.202 and £31,201, respactivaly.

Tha 2011 Credit Facilities contain restrictions which apply on and from
June 30, 2011 on paying dividends to the Company or perscns who are not
mambers of the 2011 Borrowing Group, unless certain financial tests and
conditions are satisfied. Dividends may be paid from () excess cash flow
as defined in the 2011 Credit Facilities generated by the 2011 Borrowing
Group subject to compliance with the financial covenants under the 2011
Cradit Facilities; or (i} cash held by the 2011 Borrowing Group in an amount
not exceeding the aggregate cash and cash egquivalents investments of the
2011 Borrowing Group as at June 30, 2011 subject to a certain amount
of cash and cash egquivalents being retained for operating purposes and,
in either case, there being no event of default continuing or likely to occur
under the 2011 Credit Facilities as a result of making such payment.
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(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

20.

21.

DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS (CONTINUED)

The indenture governing the 2013 Senlor Notes and the 2010 Senior
Motes contain certain cowvenants that, subject to certain exceptions and
conditions, restrict the payment of dividends for MCE Finance and its
raspective restricted subsidiaries.

The Indenture governing the Studie City Motes also contain certaln
covenants that, subject to certain exceptions and conditions, restrict
the payment of dividends for Studie City Finance and its restricted
subsidiaries.

The Studlo Clty Project Facllity contains certain covenants that, subject
to certain exceptions and conditions, restrict the payment of dividends for
Studio City Investments and its restricted subsidiarias.

DIVIDENDS

On Fabruary 25, 2014, the Company's Board of Directors adopled a new
dividend policy (the *New Dividend Policy™). Under the New Dividend
Palicy. subject to the Company's capacity to pay from accumulated and
future earnings and the cash balance and future commitments at the time
of declaration of dividend, the Company intends to provide its shareholders
with quarterly dividends in an aggregate amount per year of approximately
30% of the Company’s annual consolidated net income attributable to
Malco Crown Entertainment Limited, commancing from the first quarter of
2014, The New Dividend Policy also allows the Company to declare spacial
dividends from time to time in addition to the quarterly dividends.

Fovui Fepor] 014 Mo Campn | gt [imied.

On April 18, 2014, the Company paid a special dividend of $0.1147 per
share and recorded $188,458 as a distribution against share premium.

On Juné 8, 2014, September 4, 2014 and Dacember 4, 2014, the Company
paid quarterly dividends of $0.0431, $0.0250 and $0.0239 per share,
respectivaly, under the MNew Dividend Policy. During the year ended
December 31, 2014, the Company recorded $153,259 as a distribution
against retained sarmings.

The total amount of special and quarterly dividends of $342,718 were paid
during the year ended December 31, 2014,

On February 12, 2015, a quarterly dividend of £0.0171 per share has been
declared by the Board of Directors of the Company and payable on March
16, 2015 to the shareholders of records as of March 4, 2015,

During the years ended Dacember 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company did
not declare or pay any cash dividends on the ordinary shares.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

22. PROVISIONAL LICENSE, COOPERATION AGREEMENT, OPERATING
AGREEMENT AND MCP LEASE AGREEMENT FOR CITY OF DREAMS
MANILA

(a) Provisional License

On October 25, 2012, further to the Cooperation Agreement as
mentioned in item (b) below, PAGCOR acknowledged the inclusion
of, amongst others, MCE Lelsure as a co-licensee, as well as the
“spacial purpose entity”, to take effect as of March 13, 2013, the
effective date of the Cooperation Agreement, allowing MCE Leisure to
ba the operator to operate the casino business and as representative
for itself and on behalf of the other co-licensees including SM
Investments Corporation, SM Land, Inc., SM Hotels and Conventlons
Corparation, SM Commercial Properties, Inc, and SM Development
Corporation  (collectively the “SM Group®), Premiumlelsure and
Amusement, Inc. ("PLAI") and Belle under the Provisional License
in their dealings with PAGCOR. SM Group, Belle and PLAI are
collectively referred to as the “Philippine Parties®. As a result, MCE
Holdings (Philippines) Corporation, a direct subsidiary of MCF, and its
subsidiaries including MCE Leisure (collectively the “MCE Heldings
Group”) and the Philippine Parties togather bacame co-licansess
(the “Licensees”) under the Provisional License granted by PAGCOR
for the establishment and operation of City of Dreams Manila. The

(b)

Provisional License, as well as any regular license to be issued
to replace it upon satisfaction of certain conditions, is concurrent
with section 13 of Presidential Decree No. 1869, will expire on July
11, 2033. Further details of the terms and commitments under the
Provisional License are included in Note 23(c),

On March 13, 2013, a cooperation agreament (tha “Cooperation
Agreement”) and other related arrangements which were enterad on
Cctober 25, 2012 between MCE Holdings Group and the Philippine
Parties became effective upon completion of the closing arrangement

conditions with mincr changes to the original terms (except for certain
pravisions which were effective on signing).

The Cooperation Agresment governs the relationship and the rights
and obligations of the Licensees. Under the Cooparation Agreement,
MCE Leisure has been designated as the operator to operate
City of Dreams Manila and appeinted as the sole and exclusive
representative of the Licensees in connection with the Provisional
Licensa and the cperation and managemaent of City of Dreams Manila
until the expiry of the Prowvisional License (currently expected to be
on July 11, 2033 or unless terminated earlier in accordance with its
terms). Further details of the commitment under the Cooperation
Agreement are included in Note 23(c),
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22. PROVISIONAL LICENSE, COOPERATION AGREEMENT, OPERATING

AGREEMENT AND MCP LEASE AGREEMENT FOR CITY OF DREAMS
MANILA (CONTINUED)

(z) Operating Agreement

On March 13, 2013, the Licensees entered into an operating
agreament (the "Operating Agreement”) which gowverns the operation
and management of City of Dreams Manila by MCE Leisure. The
Operating Agreement was effective as of March 13, 2013 and ends
on the date of expiry of the Provisional License (as that License
is extended, restored or renewed), unless terminated earlier in
accordance with the terms of the Operating Agreement. The
Provisional License Is currently scheduled to expire on July 11, 2033,
Under the Operating Agreement, MCE Leisure is appointed as the
sole and exclusive operator and manager of City of Dreams Manila,
and is responsible for, and has sole discrafion (subject to certain
exceptions) and control over, all matters relating to the management
and operation of City of Dreams Manila (incleding the casino and
gaming operations, hotel and retail components and all other
activities necessary, desirable or incldental for the management and
operation of City of Dreams Manila). The Operating Agreement also
Included terms of certain payments to PLAI upon commencement of

Swusd Fepor] 201 ko Capmpr | bogbadr e [imdied.

()

opedations of City of Dreams Manila in December 2014, in particular,
PLAI has the right to receive monthly payments from MCE Leisure,
based on the performance of gaming operations of City of Dreams
Manila, and MCE Leisura has the right to retain all revenues from non-
gaming operations of City of Dreams Manila,

MCP Lease Agreement

On March 13, 2013, the MCP Lease Agreement which was entered on
Qctober 25, 2012, and was subsequently amended from time to time,
between MCE Leisure and Belle became effective upon completion
of closing arrangament conditions and with minor changes from the
ariginal terms, Under the MCP Lease Agreement, Belle agreed to
lease to MCE Leisure the land and certain of the building structuras
for City of Dreams Manila. The lease continues until termination of
the Operating Agreamant (currently expected to be on July 11, 2033
or unless terminated earlier in accordance with its tarms). The leased
property is used by MCE Leisure and any of its affiliates exclusively
as a hotel, casino and resort complex with retail, entertainment,
cenvention, exhibition, food and beverages services as well as other
activities ancillary, related or incidental to the cperation of any of the
preceding uses. Further information in relation to the MCP Lease
Agreement was disclosed in Notes 13 and 23{c).
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23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a)

(b)

Capital Commitments

As of December 31, 2014, the Group had capital commitments
contracted for but not provided mainly for the construction and
acquisition of property and equipment for Studio City, City of Dreams

Manila and City of Dreams totaling $1,065,5813 including advance
paymeants for construction costs of $107,563.

Lease Commitments and Other Arrangements
Operating Leases — As a Lessee

The Group leases the portion of land for City of Dreams Manila,
Macha Clubs sites, office space, warehouses, staff guarters
and various aquipment under non-cancallable operating lease
agreements that expire at various dates through July 2033, Those
lease agreements provide for pericdic rental increases based on both
contractual agreed incremental rates and on the general inflation
rate once agreed by the Group and its lessor and in some cases
contingent rental expenses stated as a parcentage of turnover. During
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Group
incurred rental axpenses amounting to $32 829, $21,815 and $18,573,
respectively which consisted of minimum rental expanses of $25.374,
17,586 and 515,003 and contingent rental expenses of £7.455,
$4,229 and 53,570, respactivaly.

As of December 31, 2014, minimum lease payments under all non-
cancellable leases were as follows:

Yoar ending December 31,

2015 -] 24,143
2016 19,618
2amy 17 470
2018 16,832
2018 17,016
Over 2019 66,872

3 181951

As Grantor of Oparating and Right To Use Amangament

The Group entered into non-cancellable operating and right to usa
agreaments mainly for mall spaces in the sites of City of Dreams and
City of Dreams Manila with various retailers that expire at various
dates through February 2022, Certain of the operating and right to
use agreements include minimum base fee with escalated contingent
fea clauses. During the years ended Decamber 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, the Group earned operating and right to use fees amounting
to $25.206, $27.287 and $22,906, respectively which consisted of
minimum fees of 7,709, 7,724 and $9,005 and contingent faes of
517,497, $19,563 and $13,901, respectivaly.
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23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) i) Te pay the Macau Government a variable premium depending
on the number and type of gaming tables and gaming machines

(b)  Lease Commitments and Other Arrangements (continued) that the Group operates. The variable premium is calculated as

As Grantor of Operating and Right To Use Amangement {continued) follows:
As of Dacernber 31, 2014, minimurm future fees to be received under + 537 (MOP300,000) per ysar for each gaming table (subject
all non-cancellable operating and right to use agresments were as to a minimum of 100 tables) reserved exclusively for
follows: cerain kind of games or to certain players;
Year ending December 31 *  $19 (MOP150,000) per year for each gaming table (subject
2015 H 5,860 to a minimum of 100 tables) not reserved exclusively for
2016 4 487 carfain kind of games or to cartain players; and
2017 1™
2018 1489 . £0.1 (MOP1,000) per year for each electrical or mechanical
2013 20 gaming maching, including the slot machine,
] 14,367
i) Te pay the Macau Government a sum of 1.8% of the gross
The total minimum future faes do not include the escalated contingent revenues of the gaming business operations om a monthly
fen clauses, basis, that will be made available to a public foundation for the

promotion, development and study of social, cultural, economic,
educational, scientific, academic and charity activities, 1o be
Gaming Subconcession detarmined by the Macau Governmant.

{c) Other Commitments

On September B, 2008, the Macau Government granted a gaming
subconcession to Melco Crown Macau to operate the gaming
business in Macau. Pursuant to  the gaming subconcession

agreement. Melco Crown Macau has committed to the following:

i To pay the Macau Government a fixed annual premium of $3,744
[MOP20,000,000).
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23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) Land Concession Contracts

(c) Other Commitments (continued)

The Company's subsidiaries have entered inte concession confracts

Gaming Subconcession (continued)

iv) To pay the Macau Government a sum of 2.4% of the gross
revenues of the gaming business operations on a monthly basis,
which will be used for urban developmant, tourist premotion and

the social security of Macau.

v) To pay special gaming tax to the Macau Government of an
amount equal to 35% of the gross revenuss of the gaming
business operations on a monthly basis.

vi)  Melco Crown Macau must maintain two bank guarantees
issued by a specific bank with the Macau Government as the
beneficiary im a maximum amount of 62,395 (MOPS00,000,000)
from September 8, 2006 to September 8, 2011 and a maximum
amount of $37.437 (MOP300,000,000) from September 8, 2011
until the 180th day after the termination date of the gaming
subconcession.

As a result of the bank guarantees given by the bank to the Macau
Government as disclosed in Mote 23(c)vi] above, a sum of 1.75%
of the guarantee amount will be payable by Melco Crown Macau
quarterly to such bank.

for the land In Macau on which Altira Macau, City of Dreams and
Studie City properties and developmant projects are located. The title
to the land |ease right is obtained once the related land concession
contract is published in the Macau official gazette. The contracts
have a term of 25 years, which is renewable for further consecutive
periods of 10 years, subject to payment of a special contribution to be
defined by the Macau Government, and imposa spacial developmeant
conditions. The Company's land helding subsidiaries are required to
i) pay an upiront land premium, which is recognized as land use right
in the consolidated balance sheets and a nominal annual government
land use fee, which is recognized as general and administrative
expansa and may be adjusted every five years, and i) place a
guarantee deposit upon acceptance of the land lease terms, which
is subject to adjustments from time to time in ne with the amounts
paid as annual land use fee. During the land concession term,
amendments have been sought which hawve or will result in revisions
to the development conditions, land premium and gowernment land
use feas.
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23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)

e

{c) Other Commitments (continued)

Land Concession Contracts (continued)
Altira Macau

On December 18, 2013, the Macau Govemnment published in the
Macau official gazette the final amendment for revision of the land
concession contract for Talpa Land on which Altira Macau Is lecated,
The amendment required an additional land premium of approximately
$2,449 which was fully paid by Altira Developments in July 2013 (sea
MNate 2). Ascording to the revised land amendment, the governmaent
land use fees was revised from approximately $171 per annum
to $186 per annum, As of December 31, 2014, the Group's total
commitment for government land use fees for Altira Macau site to ba
pald during the remaining term of the land concession contract which
axpires in March 2031 was $3,003.
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City of Dreams

On January 29, 2014, the Macau Government published in the
Macau official gazette the fimal amendment for revision of the land
concession contract for Cotai Land on which City of Dreams is
lecated (see Note 9). The amendment required an additional land
premium of approximately $23,344, with $8,736 paid in October
2013 upon acceptance of the final amendment proposal and the
remaining amount of approximately $14,608 is payable in four
blannual instalments, accruing with 5% interest per annum, with the
first instalment paid in July 2014, As of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
the total outstanding balance of the land premium was included in
accruad expenses and other current liabilities in an amount of $7,302
and $3,518, and in land use rights payable in an amount of $3, 788
and $11,090, respectively. According to the revised land amendment,
the government land use fees will be revised to $1,185 per annum
during the development period of additional hotel at City of Dreams:
and to §1,235 per annum after the completion of the hotel. As of
December 31, 2014, the Group's total commitment for government
land use feas for City of Dreams site to be paid during the remaining
tarm of the land concession contract which expires in August 2033
was $22,800.
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23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENGIES (CONTINUED)
(c) Other Commitments (continued)

Land Concession Contracts {continued)
Studio City

On July 25, 2012, the Macau Governmeant published in the Macau
cfficial gazette the final amendment for revision of the land
concession contract for Studio City Land on which Studio City &
located (see Mote 9). The amendment revised the land premium to
approximately $174,954, with $23,561 paid in 2006 and $35316
paid in June 2012 upon acceptance of the final amendment proposal
and the remaining amount of approximately $116,077 is payable
in five blannual Instalments, aceruing with 5% interest per annum,
with the first instaiment paid in January 2013. As of December 31,
2014 and 2013, the tetal cutstanding balance of the land premium
was included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in an
amount of $24,376 and $46,982, and in land use right payable in an
armount of nil and $24 376, respectively. According to the revised land
amendment, the govarnment land usa fees were ravised to 54890 per
annum during the development perlod of Studie City; and to $1,131
per annum after the development period. As of December 31, 2014,
thie Group's total commitment for governmant land use feas for Studic
City site to be paid during the remaining term of the land concession
contract which expires in October 2026 was 511,055,

Provisional License

Under the terms of the Provisional License, PAGCOR requires,
amongst other things, the Licensess 1o make a total investment of
$1,000,000 fer City of Dreams Manila (the "Investmant Commitmant”)
with a minimum investment of $850,000 to be made prior to the
opening of City of Dreams Manila on December 14, 2014, Under
the terms of the Cooperation Agresment, the Licensees’ Investment
Commitment of $1,000,000 will be satisfied as follows:

* For the amount of $850,000: (a) in the case of the Philippina
Parties, the land and bwilding structures having an aggregate
value as determined by PAGCOR of not less than $325,000, and
[B) In the case of MCE Leisure, the fit-out and furniture, gaming
equipment, additicnal improvemants, inventory and supplies as
well as intangible property and entertainment facilities inside or
cutside of the building structures, having an aggregate value as
determined by PAGCOR of not less than $325,000.

- For the remaining £350,000, the Philippine Parties and MCE
Leisure shall make egual conftributions of $175.000 to City
of Dreams Manila. The Licensees agree to confribute such
amounts and for such purposes as nofified by MCE Laisure
for In certain circumstances the Philippine Parties) to PAGCOR
[subject to any recommendations PAGCOR may maka).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES {GI]NTINI.IEI]] . Seven days prior to commencement of cperation of the casing,
to secure a surety bond in favor of PAGCOR in the amount

(c)  Other Commitments (continued) of PHP100,000,000 (equivalent to $2,241) to ensure prompt

and punctual remittance/payment of all license feas, of which
MCE Lelsure had secured a surety bond of PHP100,000,000

(equivalent to $2,241) in December 2014,

Provisional License (continued)

As of December 31, 2014, the Licensees satisfied the minimum
imvestment of $650,000 according to the terms of the Provisional
Licensa as mentioned above upon commancement of operations of
City of Dreams Manila on December 14, 2014,

*  The Licensess are required to maintain an escrow account into
which all funds for development of City of Dreams Manila must
be deposited and all funds withdrawn from this account must

Other commitments required by PAGCOR under the Provisional be used only for such development and to deposit $100,000 in

License are as follows: the escrow account and maintain a balance of $50,000 until the

completion of City of Dreams Manila, of which MCE Leisure had
satup the escrow account in March 2013,

+  Within 30 days from getting approval by PAGCOR of the
project implementation plan, to submit a bank guarantee, letter

R

of credit or surety bond in the amount of PHP100,000,000
(equivalent to $2,241) to guarantes the Licemsees' completion
of City of Dreams Manila and is subject to forfelture in case
of delay in construction which delay exceads 50% of the
schedule, of which §M Group had submitted a surety bond of
PHP100,000,000 (equivalent to $2,241) to PAGCOR on Fabruary
17, 2012,

Agwusd Repor] 2014 Wb Caoman [t {mied

License fees must be remitted on a monthly basis, in lieu of
all taxes with referenca to the income compaonent of the gross
gaming revenues: (a) 15% high reller tables: (k) 25% non-
high roller tables; (¢} 25% slot machines and electronic gaming
machines; and (d) 15% junket operation.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) the Licensees also agresd that the 10% license fee agjustment
: is mot an admission of the walidity of BIR RMC No. 33-2013
{c) Other Commitments (continued) and it Is not & walver of any of the remedies against any

Provisional License {continued) assessments by BIR for corporate income tax on the gaming

revenue of the Licensess in the Philippines.
+  For taxable periods prior to April 1, 2014, under the terms of

the Provisional License, PAGCOR and the Licensees agreed

the licengs faes that are paid to PAGCOR by the Licensees are to remit 2% of casino revenues generated by non-junket
operation tables to a foundation devoted 1o the restoration

- In addition to the above license fees, the Licensees are raquired

in lieu of all taxes with reference to the income component of
the gross gaming revenues. In May 2014, PAGCOR temporarily of Philippine cultural heritage, as selected by Licensees and
reduced the license fees by 10% to 5% and 15% of gross approved by PAGCOR, of which the foundation was setup by

gaming revenues effective from April 1, 2014. The license fee MCE Leisura on Febrary 19, 2014,

raduction is required to be used for the payment of corporate
income taxes and any portion neot used for such payment
must ba repaid to PAGCOR in quarterly and annual true-
up payments [as defined). This adjustment will address the
additional exposure to corporate income tax on the Licensees
brought by the Philippine Bureau of Internal Revenue ("BIR")
Revenue Memorandum Circular (“RMC®) Mo, 33-2013 dated
April 17, 2013, The 10% license fee adjustment is a temporary
measure to address the unilateral BIR action and is not intendad
to modify, amend or revise the Provisional License, PAGCOR
and the Licensees agreed to revert to the original license fee
structure under the Previsional License in the event BIR action
is parmanantly restrained, corrected or withdrawn. PAGCOR and

. PAGCOR may collect a 5% fee of non-gaming revenue received
from food and beverage, retall and entertainment outlets. All
revenues of hotel operations should not be subject to the 5%
excapt rental income raceived from retail concessionaires.

Grounds for revacation of the license, among others, are as follows:
(a) failure to comply with material provision of this license; (b) failure
ta remit license fees within 30 days from receipt of notice of default;
(c) has bacome bankrupt, inscivent; {d) delay in construction of maore
than 50% of the schedule; and (8] if debt-to-equity ratic is more than
70:30. As of Decernber 31, 2014 and 2013, MCE Heldings Group as
one of the parties as Licensees has complied with the required debt-
to-aquity ratio under definition as agreed with PAGCOR.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)

EL g

fe)

Other Commitments (continued)

Cooperation Agreement

Undear the terms of the Cooperation Agreement, the Licensees are
fointly and severally liable to PAGCOR under the Provisional License
and sach Licensea (indemnifying Licenses) must indemnify the othar
Licenseas for any loss suffered or incurred by that Licensee arising
out of, ar in connection with, any breach by the indemnifying Licenses
of the Provisional License. Also, sach of the Philippine Parties and

MCE Holdings Group agree to indemnify the non-breaching party for
any loss sufferad or incurred as a result of a breach of any warranty.

MCP Lease Agreament

Under the terms of the MCP Lease Agreement, MCE Leisure shall
incdemnity and keep Belle fully indemnified against all claims, actions,
demands, actions and proceedings made against Belle by any parson
arising as a result of or in connection with any loss, damage or injury
from MCE Leisura’s use and operation of business on the leased
property.

Guarantees

Except as disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has made the following significant guaranteas
as of December 31, 2014:

Swusd Fepor] 201 oo Campn | b badrwnen imfied.

Malco Crown Macau has issued a promissory nota (“Livranga®)
of $68 635 (MOPS5S50,000,0000 to a bank in respect of bank
guarantees issued to the Macau Government as disclosed in
Note 23(c)(vi) to the consclidated financial statements.

The Company has entered inte two deeds of guarantes with
third parties amountad to $35,000 to guarantes certain payment
obligations of the City of Dreams’ operations.

Pursuant to the Commitment Letter for the Studio City Project
Facllity entered into on October 19, 2012 as disclosed in
Mote 12, the Studio City Borrower, among others prowided
an indemnity on customary terms to the Studio City Lenders
and their affiliates, including in connection with any breach
of such Commitment Letter and related documents, such as
a breach of warranty in respect of factual information and
fimancial projections provided by or on behalf of the Company
and the Studic City Borrower to the Studio City Lenders
and their affiliates. On the same date, under the terms of an
agreement befween, among others, the Company and MNew
Caotai Investments to regulate how indemnity claims under the
Commitment Lelter are dealt with and funded, the Company
has indemnified New Cotai Investments and the Studic City
Borrower in respact of any act or omission of the Company
or Its affillates (other than Studio City International and its
subsidiaries) resulting from such person’s gross negligence,
willful misconduct or bad faith.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.5. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)
(d) Guarantees (continued)

Under the Cooperation Agreement, Belle has irrevocably
and unconditionally guarantesd o MCE Heoldings Group the
dug and punctual observance, performance and discharge
of all ebligations of PLAl and each SM Group's company,
and indemnified MCE Holdings Group against any and all
less incurred in comnection with any default by the Philippine
Partias under the Cooperation Agreement. MCE Leisure has
likewise irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed to sach
of the Philippine Parties the due and punctual observance,
performance and discharge of all obligations of MCE Holdings
Group, and indemnified the Phillppine Parties against any and
all less incurred in Gonnection with any default by MCE Heldings
Group under the Cooperation Agreement.

In October 2013, Studio City Developments entered into a trade
credit facility of HKS200,000,000 (squivalant to $25,.707) (*Trade
Credit Facility”) with a bank to meet the construction payment
obligations of the Studio City project. The Trade Credit Facility is
guaranteed by Studio City Company. As of December 31, 2014,
the Trade Credit Facility of approximately $5,424 was utilized.

- MCE Leisure has issued a corporate guarantea of
PHP100,000,000 (equivalent to $2,241) to a bank in respect of
surety bond Issued to PAGCOR as disclosed in MNote 23(c).

(e) Litigation

On August 12, 2014, a subsidiary's Taiwan branch office and
certain of its employees received indictment from the Taipel District
Prosecutors Office for alleged viclations of certain Taiwan banking
and foreign exchange laws. As of the date of this repert, management
believes that the Group's operations in Talwan are in compliance with
Taiwan laws and the indictment would have no immediate matarial

Impagt on the Group's business operations or financial position,

As of Dacember 21, 2014, the Group is & party to certain other legal
proceedings which relate to matters arising out of the ordinary Gourse
of its business. Management does not believe that the outcome of
such proceedings will have a material effect on the Group's financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per share data)

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

T

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Group enterad into the fellowing significant related party transactions:

Year Ended December 31,

Related companies Nature of frangactions 2014 2013 2012

Transachions wilh affilated compamnies

Crown's subsidiary Censultancy fes expense 387 kIl 428
Purchase of property and equipment B30 i I,
Saltware Beense fee expense 312 32 32

Lisboa Holdings Limited™ Office rantal pxpanse 1810 Bas 1,157

Melco's subsidiasies and its associated companies Conzultancy fee epense 546 £43 433
Office rental expense —_ 3038 586
Purchase of property and equipment 2,852 47 1479
Sardce fee expanse™ 175 B2 646
Dther sarvice fee income B32 510 345
Rooms and fcod and beverage income 115 49 181

Shun Tak Holdngs Limited and its subsidiaries (cobectively relemed 1o as the “Shun Tak Group™)'t  Office rental axpense 149 m 136
Traveling axpanss’ 3641 2962 2476

Sky Shuttle Helicopiars Limited ["Sky Shuttle™)™ Traveling expense 1399 1.809 1.1

Socledade de Jogos de Macau S.A, ("SNP Traveling expenss’ 515 570 32T

Sociedade de Turismo ¢ Diversbes e Macau, S.A. and its subgidaries

|collectivaly refarred o as the “5TDM Group™)" Office rental axpanse 1457 1.405 1404

Zenice fee expenss 203 222 216
Traveling expense’ 14 13 <]

Transactions willh shareholkiars

Cromm Consultancy {as capitalized in delerred financing costs — — 222

Maleo Development costs — — 3.000
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) (a)
MNates

(1) Companies in which a relatve’relxtives of Mr. Lawrense Yau Lung Ho, the Company's
Chisl Executive Offices, hashave banalicial interests

@& The amounts mainly represent the Company’s reimburssment 1o Melco's subsidiary for
service fees incurred on #s behalf for rental, office administration, Travel and secusity
ooverage jor The cperation of the office of the Company's Chiel Executive Officesr,

(3 Traveling experses including terry ard hatel sccommedation services within Hang Keng
and Macau

Other Related Party Transaction

On December 18, 2014, MCE {IP) Holdings Limited (*MCE IP"), an indirect
subsidiary of the Company, and Crown Films LLC (*CFL"), a subsidiary
of Crown, entered into an assignment agreement, under which CFL
agreed to assign exclusively to MCE IF a 50% share of a short film and all
related elements at a consideration of §15,619, representing 50% of the
total production cost incurred by CFL as at the date of the assignment
agresment. The short film would be produced for the purpose of promoting
the Company’s properties in Asia and Crown's properties in Australia.

Amounts Due From Affiliated Companies

The ocutstanding balances arising from operating income or
prepayment of operating expenses as of December 31, 2014 and
2013 are as follows:

December 31,
204 2013
Mekoo's subsidiary and its associated compary 3 1077 % 20
St Tak Group 2 3
$ 1079 % 23

The maximum amounts outstanding due from Melco’s subsidiary
during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 wera $1.077
and $1,312, respectively. The maximum amocunts cutstanding dus
from Melco's associated company during the years ended Decembar
31, 2014 and 2013 were 520 and $65, respectively.

The maximum amounts outstanding due from Shun Tak Group during
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were 33 and $15,
respactively.

The outstanding balances due from affillated companies as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013 as mentioned above are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

L)

(b)

fc)

Amounts Due To Affiliated Companies

The cutstanding balances arising from operating expenses and
axpenses paid by affiliated companias on behall of the Group as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

December 37,

2014 2013
Crown's subsidary ] 930 8 474
Mekeo's subsidiary and s associaled company 1933 1403
Shun Tak Group 3 250
S0 215 445
Sky Shutile 130 151
STOM Geoup 75 168

§ 3626 $ 2,800

The cutstanding balances dus to affiliated companies as of December
31, 2014 and 2013 as menticned above ars unsecursd, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

Amount Due To A Shareholder

The amount of 579 due to Melco as of December 31, 2013, mainly
ariging from expenses paid by Melco on behalf of the Group. The
balance was unsecured, mon-interest bearing and repayable on

demand,
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25. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Greup is principally engaged in the gaming and hospitality business in
Asia and its principal operating and developmental activities occur in twa
geographic areas: Macau and the Philippines. The chief operating decisicn
maker menitors its operations and evaluates earnings by reviewing the
assets and operations of Mocha Clubs, Altira Macau and City of Dreams
and the development activities of Studio City and City of Dreams Manila
which commenced operations on December 14, 2014, As of December 31,
2012, Mecha Clubs, Altira Macau, City of Dreams and Studio City were the
primary businesses of the Group. Upon ¢lasing of the various agreements
entered between MCP Group and the Philippine Parties for development
and operation of Gity of Dreams Manila and the completion of the placing
and subscription transaction of MCP during the year ended December 31,
2013, City of Dreams Manila has become one of the operating segments
of the Group as of June 30, 2013, Taipa Square Casino is included within
Corporate and Othars,



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

25. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) Capital Expenditures
The Group's segment infarmation for total assets and capital expenditures Year Ended December 31,
is as follows: 2014 203 2012
Macau
Total Assets Mocha Clubs $ 13E 6515 § 5851
Altira Macau .98 5 464 7.105
Dacambel: 21, City of Dreams 264922 97854 89,416
2014 2013 202 Studio ity 207,455 440,826 115,385
Macau: Sub-tatad 1,207.477 550,459 227 857
Mocha Clubs § 173150 § 158927 §  76.ED The Palipgines:
e Wwls ol L City o Dreams Manila 405106 359854 817
City of Dreams 3,133,680 3,146,657 3147522 Gomorale arkd Ofhaes 24632 P 55,324
Shudo Gty SRErHEE 2519461 1.844.706 Total capital axpenditures $ 1637305 § 912355 § 283008
Sub-total 7,795,847 6,401,850 5,786,705
The Philippines:
City of Dreams Manila 1.070.723 631377 30,193
Corporate and Others 1,565,893 1,780,403 2,130,568
Total congolidated assets § 10432563 § GRI3G63 § 7047466

Wk Caumpen. b tadwwd |imiieed Jornd Hepae' F014 L]



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

25. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
The Group's segment infermation on its results of operations s as follows: ADJUSTED PROPERTY EBITDA"
Year Ended Dacember 31, Macaw.
2014 2013 202 Mecha Clubs 5 36,337 & 40,222 § 36.065
TET REVENUES Altira Macau 84,795 147,340 154 697
s City of Draams 1,165,632 1,198,211 405,718

Macha Clubs $ MTAT3 5 148683 § 143260 S Ry e (1.059) 7

Allira Macas 744 850 1.033.801 868 770 sw-mt.a.l . 1,285,468 1,379,714 995811

City of Dreams 3848623 3857040 2920912 The: Philippines:

Studio City 1767 1093 160 City of Dreams Manita B (603) (47E)
Sub-tols 4742613 5. 040,626 4031102 Total adusted property EBITON 1,285.474 137811 995,335
The Prilippines: OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES

City of Dreams Manila 7584 o o Payments to tha Philippine Parties (B0} = ==
Corperate and Others 52,132 46,552 45,911 Ere-tparing costs BOSH  13969) {5,785)

Totel et fevenes S 4802300 § 508778 § A07EN: Heisiopmen Cows fiofH)  Ro2n) (11089
Amortization of gaming subconcession (57.237) [57.237) (57,237
Amorlization of fand use rights (64,471} (64,271} {59,911)
Depreciation and amartization {246, E86) (261,298) (261 440)
Land rent b Belle (3.562) (3.045) -
Share-based compenzation {20,401) {14,947 (8,475
Property charges and others (8,688} [6.884) {8,654)
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale 22072 — =
Corpoeate and Others expenses {118.971) 191.299) [75.135)

Tolal operating costs and expenses 600,114} |539.287) [488,24%)
OPERATING INCOME $ 685360 5 BloR24 § 507092
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

25. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1 “Adjusted propedty EBITDAT is samings bafans interes, thxes, Sepreciaton, Amorization,
Pee-opaning COStE, development Cosld. propeny charpel and otfics, share-based
compensation, paymens to the Phiippine Parlies, land rent to Bele, gain on disposal of
assets held for sale, Corporate and Cthers expenses, and other non-operating incoms
ard eapansss. The chisl operating decision maker uses Adjusted property EBITDA 1o
mansure the opsrating pericemsnce of Mooha Clubs, Alfen Macau, City of Dreams,
Studes City and City of Draaems Manila and to compara the oparating parigemance of its
propasties with those of ts compatitors,

The Group's gecgraphic information for long-lived assets is as follows:

Long-lived Assets

December 31,
2014 23 2012
Macau § 5366692 § 4503952 %5 4301461
The Philippines 728,999 334 827 Bi7
Heng Keng and other forelgn countries 1817 1,288 203

Total long-irved assels § 6097508 § 4840008 % 4302481

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
NOW-OPERATING INCOME [EXPENSES)
Interes! incoma $ 20005 % THED % 10,958
Interest expenses, nat of capialized
Initerest 124,000) (152,660 {109,611}
Change in fair value of interest rate
SWap agreements - _ 363
Amortizmtion of deferred financing
costs [28,055) {18,159 (13.272)
Loan commitment and
other finance feas {18,976 {25,643 {1,324y
Forsign exchange loss) gain, net {B,155) {10,756) 4,685
Other income, net 2313 1,661 115
Less on extinguishment of debt —_ {50,935 —
Costs assoniated with
et modtication - (10,538) [3.217)
Total pon-cperating upensss, net {154 938) {258 370 {111,363y
INCOME BEFORE INCOME Tax 530,422 SED 454 305,729
INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) CREDIT (3,036 (2 441) 2.043
RET INCOME 527,386 578,013 308,672
MET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
RONCONTRCLLING INTERESTS 80,894 50,450 18,531
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO MELCO
CROWN ENTERTAMMENT LIMITED § 608230 % B3T4R3 % 417203
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

26. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

L

Acquisition of MCP

On December 7, 2012, the Company, through its indirect subsidiaries,
MCE (Philippines) Investments Limited ("MCE Investments”) and MCE
{Philippines) Investments MNo.2 Corporation ("MCE Investments Mo.2"),
entered Into an acquisition agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) with
two independent third parties, Interpharma Holdings & Management
Corporation and Pharma Industries Holdings Limited (collectively referred
to as the “Selling Shareholders™), subject to cerfain conditions precedent,
to acquire from the Selling Shareholders an aggregate of 93.08% of
the issued share capital of MCP (the “Proposed Acquisition®). Prior to
completion of the Proposed Acquisition on December 19, 2012, MCP sold
its two operating subsidiaries, Interphil Laboratories, Inc. and Lancashire
Realty Holding Corporation, to the Selling Shareholders (or their affiliates)

vl Fepor] 2010 ko G2 | bbb | imfied

under the deeds of assignment dated December 7, 2012 betwaen
the Selling Shareholders (or their affiliates) and MCP (the “Subsidiary
Sale Agresments”), In accordance with the terms of the Acquisition
Agraament. The total consideration under the Acquisition Agreement was
PHP1,259.000,000 (equivalent to $30,682 based on exchange rate on
transaction date) which included i) PHP200,000,000 (squivalent to $4,574
based on exchange rate on trensaction date) to the Selling Sharehalders,
and i) PHP1,059,000,000 (equivalent to 525,808 based on exchange rate
on transaction date) on direction of the Selling Shareholders, to MCP in
settlement of the liabilities of the Seling Shareholders (or their affiliates)
under the Subsidiary Sale Agreements. On December 18, 2012, MCP
retained PHP1,059,000,000 (equivalent to $25,808 based on exchange rate
on transaction date), which represented the subsidiaries' sale amount upon
compdetion of the Proposed Acquisition.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

26. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) Tha net assets acquired in the transaction are as follows:
Acquisition of MCP {continued) Amaunt
recognized at
On December 19, 2012, the Group completed the acquisition of 93.06% the date af
of the issued share capital of MCP. MCP did not have any operation and ACqUISItion
revenue immediately before the acquisition by the Group and the excess Net assats acquired
payment of $5,747 for acquisition of assets and liabilities of MCP does not Casn and cach squivalents § 27,976
. K Prepasd expenses and other current assets 13
have any measurable future economic benefits to the Group to qualify the
hceruad expenses and other current Habslisies {1.0r94)
recognition requirements of an asset, and was therefore expensed In the Nomcontroding interests {1,860
consclidated statements of operations and included in development costs. et assets 24,935
Excess payment on acquisition of assels and labilites
fncluding direct cost incurmed) charged bo consabdated
statements af operations and included in development cosls 5.747
$ 30682
Tolal consideration satisfied by:
Cash paid ] 30,682
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

27. CHANGE IN SHAREHOLDING OF THE PHILIPPINE SUBSIDIARIES

hLd

On April 8, 2013, the Company through its indirect subsidiary, MCE
Investments, subscribed for 2,846 595,000 common shares of MCP at
total consideration of PHP2,846,595,000 (equivalent to $89,592 based
on exchange rate on transaction date), which increased the Company's
sharehelding in MCP and the Group recognized an increase of $401 in the
Company's additional paid-in capital which reflects the adjusiment to the
carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest of MCPR,

On April 24, 2013, MCP and MCE Investments completed a placing and
subseription transaction (the “Placing and Subscription Transaction”),
under which MCE Investments offered and sold in a private placement
to various institutional investors of 981,183,700 common shares of MCP
at the offer price of PHP14 per share (equivalent to $0.34 per share) (the
“Offer”). In connection with the Offer, MCE Investments grantad an ower-
allotment option (the “Owver-allotment Option®) of wp to 117,075,000
commaon shares of MCP at the offer price of PHP14 per share (equivalent
to $0.34 per share) to a stabilizing agent (the “Stabilizing Agent™). MCE
Investments then used the proceeds from the Offer 1o subscribe to an
equivalent number of commeon shares in MCP at the subscription price of
PHP14 per share (squivalent to $0.34 per share), On May 23, 2013, the
Stabilizing Agent axarcised the Over-allotment Oplion and subscribed for
36,024,600 commoen shares of MCF at the offer price of PHP14 per share
{equivalent to 50.34 per share). MCE Investments then used the procesds
from the Over-allotment Option to subscribe to an equivalent number of
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cammon shares in MCP at the subscription price of PHP14 per shara
{equivalent to $0.34 per shara). The aforesaid transactions decreased the
Company's sharehaolding in MCP and the Group recognized an increase
of $227,134 in the Company's additional paid-in capital which reflects tha
adjustment to the carrying amount of the nencontredling Interest of MCR

In March and April 2014, there are minor changes in ownership of MCP
by the Group, The Company through MCE Investments Ne.2, a minority
shargholder of MCP, acquired additional 400 common shares and 3,000
common shares of MCP under trust arrangements on March 13, 2014 and
April 11, 2014, respactively. On March 31, 2014, MCE Investments sold 200
commeon shares of MCP to two independent directors of MCP

On June 24, 2014, MCP and MCE Investments completed a placing and
subscription transaction (the “2014 Placing and Subscription Transaction™),
undar which MCE Investments offered and scld in a private placemant to
varicus institutional investors of 485,177,000 commaon shares of MCP at
the offer price of PHP11.30 per share (equivalent to $0.26 per share) (the
“2014 Offer”). MCE Investments then used the proceeds from the 2014
Offer to subscribe to an equivalent number of commeon shares in MCP
at the subscription price of PHP11.30 per share [equivalent to $0.28 per
share). The aforesaid transactions decreased the Company's sharehalding
in MCP and the Group recagnized an increase of $57,293 in the Company’s
additional paid-in capital which reflects the adjustment to the camying
amount of the nencontrolling interest of MCR



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

27. CHANGE IN SHAREHOLDING OF THE PHILIPPINE SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the total transfers
from noncontrolling interests amounted to 557,283 and 5227535 in
relation to transactions as described above, respectively. The Group
retaing its controlling financial interest in MCP before and after the abave
fransactions.

The schedule below discloses the effects of changes in the Company's
ownership interest in MCP on the Company's equity:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013

Hed income aftributable i Melco Crown Enfertainment
Limited 5 GOB28D 5  G3T463
Transfers from noncantrolling interests
Increase in Melco Crown Entertainment Limited
addtioral paid-in cagital resulling from the 2014
Placing and Subscription Transaction for subscription
of comman shares of MCP 57,203 -
Increasa in Makeo Crown Enterfainment Limited
adational pald-in capital resulting from the Placing
and Subscription Transaction and the Over-allobment
Option exercized by the Stabikzing Ager for
subscription of comman sharas of MCP _ 207134
Incraass in Meleo Crown Entertaimment Limited
additional paid-in capital resulting from subscripbon
of 2,846 505,000 commen shares of MCP = 401
Changes from ned incomea attributable 1o Melco Crown
Entariainment Lim#ed's sharaholders and transfars from
noncontnoling inferesis 5 BESSTI §  ER4.008

28.

OPERATING INCOME
Oparating income is arrived at after charging:

‘Year Ended Decemnber 31,

2014 23 2012
Ausditor's remuneration 3 1041 § ag8 § ag3
Loss on disposal af property and
equipment 4550 2483 BET
Impairment less recognized on property
and equipmant 4146 — —_
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

29.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Datalls of the emoluments paid or payable to the Directers during the vears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were as Tollows:

Retirameri
Banefit
Directors’  Sataries and  Performance: Scheme  Share-based
Fees Other Benefils Bonuses"  Contribuions  Compensation 2014 Total
Co-chairman, exgcutive Directos
Lawrence Yau Lung Ho™ $ e 2T o8 3625 2% 415 § 10560
Co-chairman, non-axecutive Dirachor
James Douglas Packer L e s = o) 998
Non-executive Directors
Jehn Peter Ben Wang _— _— _— _— 119 119
Clarence Yuk Man Chung —_ 00 200 — BE3 1,263
William Todd Nisbel _ 100 — — 578 678
Rowen Bruce Craigie e S =5 = R 71
Independent non-axecutive Directors
James Andrew Charles MacKenzia 125 190 -— -— 64 578
Thomas JefHerson Wy 113 — — - 119 232
Alec Yiu Wa Tsul 112 183 = — 64 559
PRobert Wason Mattier 85 —_— _— —_— 119 204
$ 435 %3 3450 § 3825 2.8 7551 § 15263
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

29. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Ratiremant
Benett
Direciors Salariesand  Perlrmance Schema Shara-based
Fees  Other Bengfits Bonuses™  Conributions  Compensation 2013 Tolal

Co-chairman, axecutive Direchor

Lawrence Yau Lung Hg* e 2216 % 9000 § 2% 3674 % 14,502
Ce-chalrman, non-executive Directar

James Douglas Packer —_— - - - 502 502
Won-execufive Diractors

John Peter Ben Wang — — — — 112 12

Clarence Yuk Man Chung = 200 == = 507 Tor

William Todd Nisbet — 100 - - 2T 3

Rowen Bruce Craige -_ _ -_ —_— 26 26
Independand non-executive Directors

James Andrew Charles MacKenzie 125 184 —_ - 175 484

Thomas Jelfersan Wu 113 - - - 112 225

Al Yiu Wa Taw 112 180 — - 175 476

Robert Wason Mactier 85 — — — 112 197

435 § 2669 § 9000 § 2 3 5672 % 17,808
Rt T | ke bpwed |l Hrwwgd Hegar? 2004 L]



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

29. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (GONTINUED)

Retirement
Benedit
Diractors Salaries and Performance Scheme  Share-basad
Fees  (Other Benefils Bonuses"  Conbribuions  Compensation 2012 Total

Co-chairman, exgculive Direclor

Lawrence Yau Lung Ho™ ] — B 1387 & 2250 § 2% 2884 § 6523
Co-chairman, non-executive Director
James Douglas Packer -_— —_ —_ - —_— —_
Mon-axecutive Directors
John Peter Ben Wang — — — — 107 107
Clarence Yuk Man Chung = e 2= = 152 152
Wilkaim Todd Nisbet — _— —_ — _ —_
Rewwen Bruce Craigie — - — — — —
Independent non-executive Directors
James Andrew Chatles MacKenzie 120 — —_ — AL gl
Thomas Jefferson Wy 106 -_ _ — 07 213
Alec Yiu 'Wa Tsui 108 — - _ 107 215
Rebert Wason Mactier 84 — — — W07 19
] 418 § 1347 § 2250 % 2 % 3565 § 7622
Notes

) Partarmances bonuses are detarmined with referencs 1o the individuals’ perfcemance, snd ceganizational and firancial parformancs of the Compamy.

@ Mr Lawrence Yau Lung Ha is alss 1he Chisf Executive Cfficer of the Compary and his emoluments discloded above include thess hor senices rendéred by him as 1h Chisl Executive Officern,

Dwring the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, no emoluments have been paid to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon jeining the Company, or
as compangation for loss of office. No Director waived any emaluments during the years ended Dacember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per share data)

30. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Emoluments of Five Highest Paid Individuals

For sach of the three years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, the five highest paid individuals mcluded one Director of
the Company. The emoluments of the remaining four highest paid
Individuals, including a former senlor executive in 2012, for the years
endad December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31
214 2013 2mz
Basic salaries, allowances and
benefiis in kind 5 3320 % 26848 % 2418
Perlormance bonuses” 2831 4,963 1,587
Redirament banadit schame
contributions 286 238 164
Termination benefil _ - 1.573
Share-bassd compensation 3683 3,263 1,731

5 10200 % 1135 % 7483

Wata

i Paformance bonuses are determined with refererce 1o the  indhiduals”
partformance, and organizational and fnancial performance of the Company.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, no
emoluments have bean paid to the five highest paid individuals as an
Inclucement to joln or upon joining the Company, o as compensation
for loss of office, except a termination benefit to a former senior
exgcutive in 2012, No five highest paid individuals walved any
emoluments during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

30. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (b) Emoluments of Senior Management

(a) Emoluments of Five Highest Paid Individuals (continued) Other than the emoluments of Directors and five highest paid

individuals disclosed in Motes 20 and 30{a), the emoluments of the

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

senior management fell within the following bands:

lurbes of Employess: Number of Employees
Year Ended Dacarrber 31, Vear ek Becerber 31,
A a3 me 2014 2 e
HK310.500,001 fapproesmately $1,350) % HE2 S00.001 (aprosimatel $321) In
FS11 000,000 fappronirrately $1.414) - - 1 HS3, 000,00 (epprovimatedy S355) - — 1
HES13,000,001 approsimalsl $1671) % HHS4,000.001 (sppeasimatcy S514) to
HRE13 500,000 [zpprosimately §1,735) B = 1 HE3A, 500,000 (approdmetely S5TE) - 1 -
HE$13.500,001 fapproimately $1,735) to IS5 000,001 (spprosinratel $543) to
1614 000,000 fapprosimately $1.759) 1 1 - HES5, 500,000 (zpprodmately $707) = = 1
HIS14,000,001 ispprodimetely $1. 7080t HHSE 000001 (sppresimel $7T1) b
HE14 500,000 fapprovimaiely $1,564) 1 = 1 uksmﬁmm::ﬁ} 1 1 -
HIS1.000,001 iapprocmately 52.314) b 1 (zppe 5T
H14 500,000 (appreairrately 52 378) = 1 = HEEE: 500,000 m-IWTmHg 8.2 — - 1
HS18.500,001 pprosimlsy §2378) 10 HKS4,500.001 |mm3122!| 1o
3 1 HES10,000,000 {approvimtely $1 265} - - 1
519,000,000 pprocirilel S2AL) ; - - HKS 11,500,001 foprosivatel $1478) o
HK319.500,001 fapprogimately 52,505 b HISS12, 000000 (spprmately 1547 1 - =
20,000,000 fappreaimantly $2.571) = 1 1 HES 13,000,001 {zpprasimetely $1.671) 1o
HIS 2 500,001 sappeoimatisl $4,177) b HES13,500.000 (approsimately 1,735 1 1 -
FIS33,000.000 (zpproximately $4.242) 1 - o g - :
HES35.500,001 dapprosimately 34657 b
HRS37 000,000 fapprodimately $4.756) - 1 -
4 '] ]
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

3.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN LS. GAAP AND IFRS

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S,
GAAR, which differ in certain respects from International Financial Reporting
Standards (*IFAS"). The significant differences, that have a material impact
on the Company's shareholders' equity and net income attributable to
Melco Crown Entertainment Limited, relate principally to the accounting for
tha following:

() Capitalization of Amortization of Land Use Rights as Property and
Equipment

Under U.S. GAAR the amortization of land use rights is recognized in
the consolidated statements of operations over the estimated lease
term of the land on a siraight-ling basis and is not capitalized to the
construction in progress during the proparty construction period.

Under IFRS, the amortization of land use rights Is generally
recognized in the consoclidated statements of operations over the
estimated lease term of the land on a straight-line basis. If the
amortization of land wse righls i expendilure directly attributable
to bringing a proparty to working condition for its intended usa, the
related amortization Is capitalized to construction in progress, untll
such tima as the construction warks are completed.

(b) Borrowing Costs

Under U.S. GAAP, the amount of interest cost to be capitalized is
determined by applying the capitalization rate to the average amount
of accumulated expenditures for the asset during the construction
period. If the average accumulated expenditures exceed the total
amount of that borrowing, the capitalization rate to be appled to such
axcess shall be a weighted average of the rates applicable to other
borrowings of the entity. Income eamed on temporary investment
of actual borrowings is not generally deducted from the amount of
borrowing costs to be capitalized.

Under IFRS, to the extent that funds are borrowed spacifically for the
purpose of obtaining a gualifying asset, the entity shall determine
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization as the actual
borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the peried less any
Investment income cn the temporary investment of those borrowings.
It an entity borrows funds generally and uses them for the purpose of
obtaining a gualifying asset, the entity shall determine the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalization by applying a capitalization
rate to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalization rate shall
be the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the
borrowings of the entity that are outstanding during the period, other
than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset,

Wb Caompen | ke tadowwed | miieed Jorngl Heper F014 o



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

3.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND IFRS (CONTINUED)

fc)

Deferred Income Taxes

Under U.5. GAAF deferred income tax is recognized for the
tampaorary differences arising from an asset purchase that is not a
business combination, The tax effect of asset purchases that are
not busimess combinations in which the amount paid differs from
the tax basis of the asset shall not result in immediate statements
of operations recognition, The differences are considered to be a
temporary difference and a deferred tax asset or liability should be
recognized. The simultanecus-equations method shall be used to
calculate the assigned value of the asset and the related deferred tax
assels or deferred tax liabilities.

Under IFRS, daferred income tax is not recognized for temporary
differences resulting from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and do not affect
accounting or taxable profit as of the transaction date. Therefiore, the

carrying value of the asset and liability is not adjusted,

The value of land use rights acquired for Altira Macau, City of Dreams
and Studio City are different under U.5. GAAP and IFRS. Accordingly,
the amount of amortization of land use rights over the estimated
useful lives and the deferred income taxes are differant,

B Fepor] 201 o Campr | gt [imdied.

(d) Share-based Compensation

Under LS. GAAP for awards that have graded vesting features and
service condition cnly, an entity has to choose as an accounting
policy elther to (1) recognize a charge on an accelerated basls to
raflect the vesting as it oceurs {which is similar to the method under
IFRS) or (2) amortize the entire grant on a straight-line basls over the
longest vasting period,

IFRS states that share-based compensation expense s recognized on
an accalerated methed where an entity recognizes compensation cost
over the requisite service period for each separately vesting portion of
the award as if the award was, in-substance, multiple awards. Each
portion is treated as a separate grant, as each portion has a differant
vasting pariod,

The Group has adopted the straight-line method in the preparation
of its consolidated financial statements. Compensatian axpansa
racognized will ba different under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

3.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN LS. GAAP AND IFRS (CONTINUED)

(e)

Deferred Financing Costs, Net

Under U5, GAAF, fees paid to lenders and other third-party costs
incurred in relation to a debt refinancing are distinguished and
accounted for differently depending on the classification of such debt
as modified or extinguished In accordance with U5, GAAR If the debt
is extinguished, fees paid to lenders are included in gain or loss on
extinguishment of debt and other third-party costs are capitalized as
daferred financing costs and amortized as an adjustment of interest
expanse over the term of the amended debt instrument.

Under IFRS, if an exchange of debt instruments or madification
of terms is accounted for as am extinguishment, all fees and
costs incurred are recognized as part of the gain or loess on the
extinguishment, there is no difference in the treatment for fees paid to
lenders and other third-party costs.

In addition, deferred financing costs are presented in the consolidated
balance sheets as either assets or a reduction of the debt balance
under U.5. GAAP whilst they can only be presented in the
consclidated balance sheets as a reduction of debt balance under
IFRS.

Point-loyalty Programs

Under U.S. GAAP an entity can choose between two approaches
developed in practice to account for the point-loyalty programs:
(1) the multiple-element approach (similar to the approach under
IFRS), in which a portion of the revenue from the initial transaction(s)
5 generally deferred until redemption and (2) the Incremental-cost
approach, in which the estimated cost of the leyalty program points is
recordad as a liability.

Under IFRS, loyalty program peoints granted to customers as part of
a sales transaction that customers can redeem for free or discounted
goods or services shall be accounted for as a separate identifiable
companent of the sales arrangement (i.e. multiple-slement approach)
and the far valua of the consideration reéceived should be allocated
batwean the loyalty program points and the other components in the
arrangement, and recorded as deferred revenue until redempticn,

Wi Conpn b tabopwd | miiesd Hrwwgd Hegar? J004 i



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

3.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN LL.S. GAAP AND IFRS (CONTINUED)
() Point-loyalty Programs (continued)

The Group has adopted the incremental-cost approach in the
preparation of its consclidated financial statements and accrued
for loyalty program points expected to be redeemed for cash and
free play as a reduction to gaming revenue and accrues for loyalty
program points expected to be redeamed for free goods and services
as casino expense. Accordingly, the liabllity of point-loyalty programs
recognized and the classification of casino revenue and casino
expense will be different under LLS. GAAP and IFRS, Such differences
do not have a material impact on the Company's sharahalders' squity
or net income attributable to Melco Crown Entertainment Limited in
prior years, Therefore, no corresponding adjustment for prior years is
made in the reconciliations below.

There are other differences between U.5. GAAP and IFRS relevant to the
accounting policies of the Group. Such differences do not have a material
impact en the Company's shareholders’ equity as at December 31, 2014
and 2013 and net income attributable to Melco Crown Entertainment
Limited during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 but
may affect future periods and the relevant details are sel out below:

vl Fepor] 114 B Camen | gt imfied.

Impairment of Assets

Under LS. GAMAR entities are required to use a two-step approach to
measure impairment. In step 1, entities perform a recoverability test by
comparing the expected undiscounted future cash flows to be derived from
the asset with its carrying amount. If the asset fails the recoverability test.
step 2 Is required, and the entity must record an impairment l0ss calculated
as the excess of the assel's cammying amount over its fair value. Fair value
should be calculated as “the price that would be received to sell an asset
of paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date”,

Under IFRS, tha impairment loss is calculated as the axcess of the asset’s
carrying amount over its recoverable amount, The recoverable amount is
tha higher of an asset's (1) fair value less costs 1o sell and (2) value in wse.
“Fair value less costs to sell” iz defined as “the amount obtainable from
the sale of an asset or cash-generating unit in an arm's length transaction
between knowledgeabla, willing parties, less the costs of disposal™. When
entities calculate value in use, they discount the expected future cash flows
to be generated by the asset to their net prasent value.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thausands of U.5. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

3.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND IFRS (CONTINUED)
Impairment of Assets (continued)

Under U.S, GAAR, if the racoverability test in step 1 is passed, impairment
is not recorded aven if the fair value of the asset is less than its carrying
amount. Accordingly, an impairment loss may be recorded under IFRS
but may not be recorded under U.S. GAAP under the same set of
circumstances, When an impairment loss is recorded under both LLS.
GAAP and IFRS, the amount of the impairment loss may net be the same
under U.5. GAAP and IFRS because the fair value {under LS. GAAP) and
recoverable amount (under IFRS) may differ,

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the
management of the Group considered that there is no material difference
batween the amount of impairment loss recorded under U.S. GAAP and
IFRS.

There are also differences batween U.S. GAAP and IFRS in the presentation
and classification of items in the consolidated statements of operations,
balance sheets and statements of cash flows. In addition, there are
differences on financial statement disclosure required baetween U.S.
GAAP and IFRS. Such differences do not have impact on the Company's
sharehelders' equity as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 or net income
attributable to Melco Crown Entertainment Limited during the years ended
Dacember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

H.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND IFRS (CONTINUED)

The materlal adjustments necessary 1o restate net income attributable to
Mealco Crown Entertainment Limited and the Company's shareholders”
equity In accordance with IFRS are summarized as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 w12
Net income atiributable to Melco Crown
Enfertainment Limited a3 reporied under
US. AN GE280 5 BITAE3 S 41703
IFRS adjustments:
Capetalization of amorization of land use
rights as progesrty and equipment 41,063 40843 36504
Additional capstalizalion of bofrowing casls
& prdperty and equipsent 7,162 17082 2364
Rizvarsal of deferred |2 in relation to land
use rights 4407 (4.407) (4.055)
Diecrease in amorizaton of land use rights
5 2 resull of change in assigned value
of land 1sa rights 45 4555 4585
Additional depreciation of property and
equipment in relztion fo difference in
capilalization of amortization of land s
rights and borrowing osts 2,067} (2.029) [2.028)
U share-based ]
repagnized {1,577} (1,680} 1468)

Bwusd Fepor] 20
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‘Year Ended December 31,
014 2013 2012
Resduction in amortzaton of defémed
financing costs $ 6574 § 7480 § 7152
Financing costs recognized as part of bss
on entingeishment of debit - 6523 i
Addtional deferred revenue o poir-oyalty
programs {1,604 =Rl =
Reduckion in net logs aftibubabie o
nonconolling inderests” (19109 {22,507} [15.148)
Net income: aftributable b Melco Crown
Enfertzinment Limited as reporied under
IFRS $ 6000 5 66479 5 46218
Mot Fcome aftributabie to Melo Crown
Entartainment Liméad per share under
IFRS:
Basic s 0388 § 0403 § 0.271
Dikted § 0385 § 039 § 0.2680
Wsighted average shares wsad in ned income
attibutable fo Meloo Crown Enlertainment
Limited per share calcutation under IFRS:
Batic 1847571 547 1649678643 1,645,345, 002
Dikted 1660548503 1,664 780,504 1,658 485507




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

3.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND IFRS (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the significant consolidated balance sheels accounts
from amounts as reported under L3, GAAP to amounts as reported under
IFRS ks as follows:

December 31,
2014 2013
The Company’s shareholders' equity as repaned under
LS GAAP $ 4286141 § 4246670
IFAS adjustments:
Capitalization of amortization of land wse rights as
property and equipment 179,553 138,490
Additional capitalization of bomowing costs as property
and equipment 26,284 21122
Reduction in amertizatien of deferred financing costs 24,592 18,018
Reversal of deferred tax in refation 1o land use rights: {24,024y (19,617}
Decrease in amortization of land use rights as a nesult of
change in assigned value of land use rights 21,432 16,737
Addifianal depreciation of property and equipment in
refation to diference in capitalization of amontization
of land use rights and bomrowing costs (11,723 [9.6:55)
Financing costs recognifed a5 part of boss on
extinguishment of deft {35 851) (35.851)
Additional deferred reverug on point-loyalty programs 7185 [5.581)
Beduction in nel loas anributable 1o neecontralling
intarests (61,984) (42 875)
Momcontrolling interests' share on addilional share-
based compensation recognized (1.428) (614}
Moncontrolling interests' share on acddiional shase-
based comgensation recognized as a resull of change
in sharehalding of the Phiippine subsidiaries 315) =
The Company’s shareholders' aquity as reparied under
IFRS $ 4307403 % 4306E44

December 31,
24 2013
Propearty and equipmant, nel:
s reported S 46096391 % 3308846
IFRS afustments
Capializaton of amaortization of land use rights as
progierty and equipmant 180,581 138,528
Additional capitalization of bomowing costs as
peoperty and equipment 268,284 21122
Additional depraciation of property and equipmunt
in relation to ditference in capitalization of
amupetization of land usa rights and borowing
cosls {11.722) 18,655)
Capdalization of start-up costs as property and
equipmant o a10
Under FRS $ 4894454 5 3460751
Deterrad financing costs, nat:
s reported 5 174872 § 11440
IFRS adustments™;
Reduction in amoetization of deferred financing
costs 24,502 18,018
Financing costs recognized a5 part of loss on
extinguishment of dett (35,851) (35,851)
Under IFRS $ B3B3 3 96,508
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, axcept share and per share data)

3. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND IFRS (CONTINUED)

December 37,
24 2013
Land use rights, net
As reported $ BavE8 8 951618
IFRS adustments:
Decraase in amortization of land use righls as a
resull of change in assigned value of land use
fights 21,432 16,737
Reversal of daferred tax liabilities recognized upon
acquisition of land use rights (7a.707) {ra, 707
Reduction in land s rights recagnized upan
scquisition of assets and llabifties as a result of
capitalization of amortization of kand use rights
and stan-up cosls as propery and equipment {1.948) {1,948)
Uindar IFRS § 826965 § 886700
Accruad eapansas and other current labiliies:
As reported $ 1005720 § 928751
IFFS adustment:
Additional daferred revenue on point-loyalty
programs 7.185 5,581
Uneder IFRS $ 12805 § 934332

o Bovui Fepor] 0 ko Caoman | g tabrwmens Limfied

December 31,
2014 2M3
Deferred tax liabikties:
As reported $ 58849 § 62,806
IFRE adjustments:
Raversal of defarrad tax in relation 10 land wse
fights 24,024 19617
Raversal of dederred fax liabilities recognized upon
acquistion of land usa rights [79.707) 74,707
Under IFRS § 3.266 S 2716
Adgitional paid-in capital:
As reported § 3002043 § 3479399
IFRS acdjustrments:
Addftienal share-based compensation recognized 9,778 5,196
Moncontrolling interests’ share on additional share-
Bbased compensation recogrized {1.436) [618)
Moncontroling intarasts’ share on addtional share-
based compensation recognized as a result
of change in shasehoiding of the Philippine
subsidianies {3145) —_
Unter IFRS $ 3700966 5 34854977
Accumulated olher comprehensive losses:
As reportad $ 17,148 8 15,592
IFRS adjustment;
Forelgn currency translation adjustment on
additional share-based compensalion recognized 7 10
Under IFRS 3 17,156 § 15602




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

31. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND IFRS (CONTINUED) December 31,
2014 2013
December 31, Moncontrofing interests:
2014 2013 s reparted $ 755529 § 678312
Retained earnings: IFRS afjusiments
A5 reporied $127a7 5 T2k Mencortrolling interests’ share e capdalization of
IFAS adjustments: ameetization of land use righls as proparty and
Capitalization of amortization of land use rights as equipment 51,762 35,851
progerty and equipment 179,553 138,490 Moncontrolling interests’ share on decrease in
Additional cagitakzation of borrowing costs as ameetization of land usa Hghts as a result of
property and equipment 28,284 2122 change in assignee value of fand use rights 5132 3,630
Revarsal ol defemed fax in ralation to land use Nencontrolling interests’ share on addilicnal
rights (24,024 (19.617)

capitaization of borrowing costs as property and
Decrease i amortizabion of land use rights as a

i equipment 11,484 7512
result of change in assigned value of land use Woncontrelling interests’ shara on reversal of
fights 21432 16,737 deferred tax in relation to land use rights 14,954) 13,504)

Additional depreciation of praperty and equipment
in relation to diference in capitalization of
amortization of land use rights and berrowing

Moncontrolling interests” share on additignal share-
based compensalion recognized as  resull
of ehange in sharehaldng of the Phiippine

ousts .7z 12,655) subsitiaries M5 =
Additional share-based compensation recognized 19,758 8,182 Woncontrolling interests’ share on aditional
Reduction in amortization of dederrad financing depreciation of property and equipment in
costs 24502 18018 relation to ifference in capitaization ol
Financing costs recognized as part of loss on bormawing costs 12) =
extinguishment of debt {35,851) (35.851) Under BRS $ 019256 § T80
Additignal deferred revenue on peind-loyalty
programs (7.185) [5.581)
Beduction in nel loss attibutabie 1o poncantrolling
intarests {61,384 (42 875)
Under FRS $ 1330513 $ Ed4762
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

3. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND IFRS (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the significant consolidated statements of oparations
accounts from amounts as reported under U.S. GAAP to amounts as

reported under IFRS Is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 02

Yoar Endad December 31,

2014

2013 2012

Casino revenue
As reporied
IFRS adustment™;
Additional deferred revenus on
point-loyalty programs

4654184 § 4941487 § 3934761

(1,604) (5,581 —

Depreciation and amortization:

As reported 5 2466BE %

IFRS acjustment:
Additional depreciation of
property and equipment
in relation fo difference in
capitalization of amortization of
land wuse fights and borrowing
cosls 2,067

261298 § 261449

2029 2,029

Unider IFRS § 248753

263,327 § 263478

Uneder IFRS

4652580 3 4935906 § 3934761

Ganeral and administrative axpanses:
As reported
IFRS adustment.
Additional share-based
compensation recognized

311696 § 255780 § 226960

1.577 1,689 46

Under IFRS

332738 TR0 5 227448

Amorization of kand use rights:
As reporbed
IFAS adustments

Capitatzatian of amortization of
land ue rights as propenty and
equipment

Decrease in amostization of land
use fights a5 & resull of change
in assigned vake of land use
rights

64471 8 64271 § 58,911

141.063) [40,843) {36, 504)

(4,695 4,695 14,695)

Interast axpenses, nel of capitalined
imterest:
As reported $ 124080
IFRS adgustenent:
Addiional capitalization of
borrowing costs as property
and equipment (8.277)

152660 & 10961

[17.052) (2,364)

Under IFRS 5 nurg

135608 § 107247

Amertization of deferred financing costs:
A5 reported 5 28,055
IFRS adjustments:

Reduction in amardization of
deferred financing costs (6.574)

Additional capialization of
bormowing cosls as property
and equipment (BBS)

18,159 3 13272

(7 480 (7.152)

Under IFRS

18713 § 18,733 § 18,712

e Bovui Repor] 0
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thausands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

31. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND IFRS (CONTINUED)

Year Endad December 31,
2014 13 012
Luss on extinguishment of debt
Az reporied - § 5093 § —_—
FRS adjustmen:
Financing costs recognized as part of
Ioss on exfinguishment of debt — 6523 =
Undar IFRS - % 57456 % —
Income tax jepense) credit:
As reported 3038 3 2401 3 2543
FRS adjustment:
Reverzal of dalerred ¢ in relafon fo
kend ugs rights [4.407) 40T 14,065
Under IFRS [F443) 3 6.848) 5 [IRLED
N loss atibutable fo noncontroling
inlprests
As faportad 80804 50450 $ 18,531
FRS adjustments:
Koncontrolling Interests’ share an
capitalization of amotization of
kared st rights as property and
equipment (15.911) (15911} (14,602}
Moncontrolling inferests’ share on
decrease in amoetization of land
use rights as a result of change in
‘sssigred value of fand use rights [1502) 11508 11,502)

Yfesar Ended Decamber 31,
2004 2013 12
Noncontroling intenests’ share
on additionl capitalization of
bamowing costs & poperty and
equipminl 5 3473 s 158 3 [354)
Noncontroling inbenests” sharé on
reversal of deferred lax in relation
to kand use rights 1450 1450 1310
Neoncontroding inberests’ share
on additional sharg-hased
‘compansation racognized 814 614 -
HRancontraling Inberests’ share on
additional depreciation of property
and equipmant in relation by
differénce in capitalization of
bomowing costs 12 = T
Under IFRS § BITES § M § 3383

Motes

{1} Tha amount represents the elfest atiribuiable 1o nonconioling inierests as & result of the
diflerances batwesn U.5. GAAP and IFRS.

[rd} The IFRS adjustmerts do not nclude the reclassification of the defered finansing
costs, net as o reduction of the dabt balance as 1his has no efect on the Company's
shareholders” agquity or et income attributable to Medco Crown Enterainment Limited.

@ The IFRS adjustment doss nat include the mclassification of the casing apenss 85 &

reduztion of the casing revenue as this has no allect cn ihe Company’s shamholders’
equity of ft income atiribuiaile to Meleo Crown Entertainmant Limited.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per shara data)

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Eal )

Particulars of subsidiaries are as follows:

Attributable Proportion of
Noeninal Value of issued Share
Place of Incorporation/ Nominal Vizlue of kssued and Fully Capsial/Qucta Capital
MName of Subsidiary Establishmant/Operation Paid Share CapitaliJuota Capital Hedd by he Group Principal Activities
2014 2013
Altira Developments Macay Ordinary shares — MOP4,000,000 100%™ 100%™ Casino and hotel davelopment
Altira Hatel Macau Quota capital — MOP25,000 100%™ 100%™ Habel refated businesses
COD Theatre Limited Macau Quota capital — MOP25,000 100%™ 100%™ Perlormance theatre show operations
Golden Future (Management Services) Limited Macau Quota capital — MOP25,000 100%™ 100%™ Management services provider
MCE Cotai Irvestmants Limited Cayman Istands Ordinary share — US$0.00 10086 100%™ Imvestment holding
MCE Finance Cayman lslands Ordinary shares — US$12.02 100%* 100%*  Financing
MCE Holdings Limited Cayman Islands Ordinary share — USS0.0N 100%° 100%"  Investment holding
MCE Haldings No. 2 {Philippines) Corporation The Philippines Commen shares — PHF2.012,894 500 68.83%™ 76.38%"  Imvastment holding
MCE Holdings {Philippines) Corporation The Philippines Common shares — PHIPZ 01 2,894 500 68.B3% T638%™  Imvestment holding
MCE Haldings Thres Limited Cayman lstands Ordinary shares — 100%™ 100%™ Irvestrment hokding
Class & shares: USE0.4
Class B shares: USS1.6
MCE Holdings Two Limited =l QOrdinary share — USH1 100%" W% Investment holding
MCE Irtermational Limited Hang Kong Ordinary share — HIG1 100%" 100%°  Marketing services provider
MCE Imvestmients BVl Ordinary share — US$1 100%™ 100%**  Imeestment holding
MCE Irvesiments bo.2 The Philippines Common shares — PHP&4T,000,000 100%™ 100%™ Investment holing
MCE P BVI Ordinary share — LS§1 100%™ 100%™ Trademark kicensing
MCE Laisure The Philippines Common shares — PHP2 012 894 500 63.83% T6.38%"  Integrated casine and enfertainment
resort developmant
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per share data)

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Atributanle Propontion of
Nominal Value of lssued

PPlace of Incorporation/ Nominal Value of Issusd and Fuly Share CapitalQuota Capital
Name of Subsidiary [Establishment/Operation Paid Share CapitaliQuota Capital Held by the Group Principal Activities
2014 2013
MCE (MEA) Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share — HG 100%" 100%"  Inwestment hoiding
(formerty knewn &5 MCE Management Limited)
MCE Transportation BW/Macau Ordinary share — U531 100%™ 100%™ Adrcraft owning and leasing
MCE Transpartation Two Limited EV/Macau Ordinary shara — US$1 100%* 100%™ Alrcraft owning and leasing
MCP The Philippines Common shares™ — PHPA, 911,450,300 68.83%"" TE.36%"  Invesimend holding
Melco Crown (Cate) Limited Macau Quela capital — MOP25,000 100%™ 100%™ Catering operations and management
sanices provider
Malco Crown COD (CT) Hoted Limited Macau Quota capital — MOP25,000 100%™ 100%™ Inactive
Meko Crown (00D) Developmenis Macau Quoka capital — MOP1,000,000 100%" 100%™ Infagraled enfertainment resort
development
Meloo Grown GOD (GH) Hatel Limited Matau Queta capital — MOP25,000 100%™ 100%™ Hotel related businesses
Mo Crown (COD) Hotels Macau Queta capital — MOP25,000 100%° 100%™ Holel related businesses
Mekoo Crown COD (HR) Hotel Limited Macay Qucta capital — MOP25,000 100% 100%™  Inaclive
Melco Crown (C00) Retail Sences Limited Macay Queta capital — MOPES,000 100%™ 100%™ Retail and shops operations
Mo Crowr (COD) Varures Limied Matau Queta capital — MOP25, 000 100% 100%™ Inactive
Malco Crown Hospitalily and Sarvices Limied Macau Quota capilal — MOP25,000 100%* 100%™  Management sendices provider
Mekco Grown {Japan) Comparry Limited Japan Share — JPY100,000 100%™ WA Investment holding
Meloo Grown (Japan) Resorts Corporation Japan Share — JPY100.000 100%™ WA Inactive

Wi Caospen |ndertabowwed | miieed
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per shara data)

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Eald

Atrributable Proportion of
Mominal Value of kssued
Placa of Incorporation/ Nominal Vizlue of kssued and Fully Share Capital/Quota Capital
Name of Subsidiary Establishment/Operation Paid Share Capital/Qugta Capital Hedd by the Group Principal Activities
2014 2013
Melco Crown Macau Macau Ordinary shares — 1003 100%™ Casing oparations and investment
Class & shares™: MOP280,000,000 holding
Class B shares™: MOPT20,000 000

Melco Crown (Macau Peninsula) Developments Limited  Macau Quota capital — MOP25 000 100%* 100%™ Management services provider
Melco Crown (Macau Peninsula) Hotel Limited Macau Quota capital — MOP25,000 100%™ 100%™ Inackive
Melca Crown Security Services Limited Macau Quota capital — MOF1.000.000 100%™ 100%™ Management services provider
Mocha Cale Limited Macau Quata capital — MOP25,000 10046 100%™ Inackve
Mocha Sal Geoup Limited BVI/Macau Ordinary sharss — US$100 100%™ 100%™ Imvastment holding
Mocha St Management Limited Macau Quata capital — MOP25.000 100%™ 100%™ Inachve
MPEL Catad Developments Limited Macau Quota capital — MOP25,000 100%™ 100%™ Inactive
MPEL Intermational Limited Cayman Istands Ordinary shares — US$4 100%™ 100%™ Investment hokding
MPEL Irvestments Limited Cayman Istands Ordinary shares — US$2.02 100%"* 100%™ Investment halding
MPEL Momines One Limited Cayman Islands Ordinary share — US$0.01 100%™ 100%*  Imvastment holding
MPEL Momines Three Limited Cayman Istands QOrdinary share — US$0.01 100%™ 100%™ Imvestment halding
MPEL Mormine Two Limited Cayman Istands Ordinary sharé — US§0.01 10086 100%™ Irvestment balding
MPEL Projects Limitad BV Ordinary share — USH1 100%™ 100%*  Irvaesiment bolding
MPEL Proparties (Macau) Limited Macau Quota capital — MOP25 000 100%™ 100%"*  Management services provider/

preperty holding
MPEL Services Limited Hang Kong Ordinary share — HES1 100%" 100%™ Management services provider
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Attributable Proportion of
Nominal Valug of lssued

PPlace of Incorporation/ Nominal Value of I5sued and Fuly Share CapitaliQuota Capital
Name of Subsidiary [Establishment/Operation Paid Share CapitaliCucta Capital Held by the Group Principal Activities
2014 2013
MPEL Services (US) Lid United States of America Cammon stock — USE100,000 Wik N Inactive and dissoived an
dune 21, 2013
MPEL Vaniures Limied B Ordinary share — U531 100%" 100%™ Invesimend holding
SOIP Holdings Limited B Ordinary share — LSS1 60% B0%™  Hoiding of infellectual proparty rights
SCP Holdings Limited B Qrdinary share — US$1 B60%™ B0%™  Inwestment holding
SCP One Limited BvI Ordinary share — USS1 60%™ 60%™  Investment hoiding
SCP Twa Limdted B Ordinary share — L5381 0% B0%™  Imvestment holding
Studio City Company BW Ordinary shars — LSS1 6% 60%™  Financing
Studic City Dewelopments Macau Quota capital — MOPE,000,000 60% 60%™  Integraled enfertainment resort
development
Stugie City Ertertainment Limited Matau Queta capital — MOP100,000 B0%™ 60%™  Management Senices provides
Studie City Finance B Ordinary share — US$1 60%™ B0%™  Financing
Studic City [H) Limited Hong Keng Qrdinary share — HES1 0% B0%™  Management sarvices provider
Studie City Holdings Five Limited B Orginary share — USS1 G0%™ E0%™  Inactive
Studit City Hobdings Four Limited BWI Ordinary share — USS1 600%™ B0%™  Investment hoiding
Studio City Holdings Limited B Ordinary share — US$1 60%™ G0%™  Investment holding
Studio City Holdings Three Limited B Ordinary share — USS1 0% 60%™  Investment holding
Studie City Holdings Twe Limited BW Orginary share — USS1 6% 60%™  Investment hoiding
Shedio City Hospitaity and Services Limited Macau Queta capital — MOP25,000 B0%™ B0%™ Management services provider
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per shara data)

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

e

Atributable Proportion of
Nominal Value of lssued
Piace ol Incorporation/ Mominal Value of ssued and Fully Share CapitaliQuota Capital
Mame of Subsidiary Establishment/Operztion Paid Share Capital(Quota Capital Held by the Group Principal Activities
2014 2013
Studio City Hateds Limited Macau Quota capital — MOP25.000 Bl 60%™  Hatel refated businesses
Studio City Infematianal Bl Ordinary shares — US$18,127.94 Bl 60%™  Imwestment holding
Studio City Irvesiments B Ordinary share — US$1 Bl%e™ 60%™  Imvestment holding
Studio City Retail Services Limifed Macau Quota capital — MOP25.000 B0 B0%™  Retai and shops operations:
Studio City Services Limited Macau Quota capital — MOP25,000 60%™ B0%™  Imwestment holding
Zeus Power Ventures Limited BVl Qrdinary share — USS1 100%™ 100%™ Investment holding

Drsatly swned by thi Company

Irsdiresty owned by the Company

Noites

(]

]

A3 of Decemoee 31, 2012, MOP had two classes of shases of which ihe class A shares and class B shares had equpl vatng and dividend righis. The class A shares of MCP can only bo hald by, issusd,
translirred ard oormviyed anly 10 Pripgins citizens of corparations o st 80% of the total cutstanding sioek of which was owrved by PHIDRInS citiens, whitess submet to the proviso balow the class B
shasrd of MOF can ba hald by, S5ied, Iransteired ard comiyed 1o famign of Philppene citeens of corparstiens, provided that the tatal numbssr of class B shases which shal &1 any Tims b subsenaed, (s
of i atandng shall in no cade Exceed four-3iath of 1he rumited of cliss A Shares Then Subscried, isued and SURAnEng. of 409 of e BGrecate numbel o dhafed 1hish OUtEANENg.

On Felbruary 19, 2013, the stockholders of MCP approved the declassification of the 800,000,000 autharized share capital of MCFP. consisting of #0% Class A shares and 40% Class B shares to a single class
of commaon share and denial of pr e rights. The il of share capiial was approved by the Philippine SEC on March 5, 2013,

The holders ol the class A shares of Meleo Crown Macau, as a group, are entitled 1o an annual dividend in an ameunt in the aggregate of up e MOP1 {the "Class A Dividend™) and a praferential disteibution
in the evend of kquidation of Melco Crown Macau ce return of capial io the class & shases in an amouni in the aggrogabe of up to MOP1 {ike "Class A Copiinl Disiribution™), and shall be enitied 1o no cfher
dividends, distributions, sturn of capitel, liguidation proceads, return of par vakie, o other sum of Eny type from Madco Crown Macau,

Byl Fepor] 014 Mo S | gt e imdied.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{In thousands of U.S. dellars, except share and per share data)

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

o]

(1]

The class B shares of Meico Crown Magau in the aggregate represent the entine rights fo
recetve dividends and oiber distnbutions from, and capital of, Meleo Crown Macay, after
paymant of the Class A Dvidend and the Class A Capital (istribubion in respect of cless
A dhared. The holders of the Glass B shared, 0 proponion B ther ownérship thares!, shall
b anditied 1o receive any dividends, distribulions, caplal, Squidalion procesds, par value,
or ol emoluments thal may a1 any tme be paid 10 o received by the holdens of the
clags & shares, excepl the Class A& Dividend and the Class A Capital Distribution.

Certain Magau laws regure companies bmited by shares (sociedade andnima)
nooeporated in Macau to have a minemum of three shareholders, and al gaming
ooncessionaires and suboconoessionaies 0 be managed by & Meonu parmanent
resident, the managing director, who must hold a1 least 10% of the shase capitsl
of tha or & W I Bocordance with such MaCau lwws,
approxmately 90% of the share capanl of Melco Crown Macau |5 ndineclly owned by
i Company. Whiks tha Gecup complias with the Macau ws. Melco Crown Machu i
conpaired &N indactly 100% cwhed subsidiary of the Comphany 1ol purpases of the
consolidaied financial siatements of the Compary becausa the scoramiz infteresi of
ihe 10% hedding of the managing diresior is Fenited 1o, in aggregate wilh oifwer clsss
A shareholders, MOP1 on the winding up or Squidation ol Meico Crown Mscau and o
recahh an aggregate annual dividend of MOP1.

Mone of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of
the year or at any time during the year except for the 2013 Senior Notes
and the 2010 Senior Notes issued by MCE Finance, the Studio City Notes
Issued by Studle Clty Finance and the Philippine Motes lssued by MCE
Leisure as disclosed in Mote 12, which the Group had no interest.

33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(a)

{b)

On January 2, 2015, the Company submitted an application te the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the woluntary withdrawal of the
listing of its erdinary shares on the Main Board of Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Proposed De-Listing”). The Proposed De-Listing is
expected to take effect at 4:00 p.m. on Friday, July 3, 2015, subject
to fulfillment of the conditions of (a) the approval from the Company's
shareholders; (b} the approval from the Listing Committea of the
Hang Kong Stock Exchange; and (c) the Company having given its
sharsholders at least thrae manths' notice of the Proposed De-Listing
commencing on the sharsholders’ approval date. As of the date of
this repert, condition (a) has been satisfied,

On January 30, 2015, MCE Leisure applied to PAGCOR for the
issuance of a regular casino license for City of Dreams Manila as the
Licensees satisfied the Investment Commitment of $1,000,000 under
thir tarms of the Provisional License,
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Additional Information — Financial Statement Schedule 1
Financial Information of Parent Company

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

BALANCE SHEETS December 31
2014 213
December 31, SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
4 2013 Ordinary shares a1 US$0.01 par value per share

i tAuthorized — 7,300,000,000 shares as of December

PIREENT Josels 31, 2014 and 2013 and issued — 1 633,701,820 and

S St BEEATE S 341 1,665,633,448 shares as of Decerber 31, 2014

Amount due from an affiliated compary 1091 = and 2013, respectivaly) ] 16337 & 16,667
Amounts due from subsidiaries 238,000 74,930 Treasury shares, al cost

Prepald expenses and ofher current assets Ly Al (17,664,386 and 16,222,246 shares as of Decamber 31

Total curent assets 254,454 82,061 2014 and 2013, respectively] (33.167) {5.960)
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES” 5815023 5492941 Adeitlonal peld-in Capital 1002043 3479390
TOTAL ASSETS § 6169477 § 5575002 Accumulated cther comprehensive lasses {17.148) (15,592
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY Fetained eamnings 1,227 477 772,156
CURRENT LIABILITIES Total shareholders” equity 4286141 4246670
Aeerued expenses and oiher current labilites 3 2820 8 2336 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY % 6160477 % 5575.002
Income tax peyatie 239 128 NET CURRENT ASSETS (LIABILITIES) $ 6730 5 (104072
Amounds due to affilated companies o tied TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITES $ 588242 § 5398969
Amounts dus 1o subsidianes 183,872 181,818

Amount due 10 a shareholder —_ 67 Nats

Total cument lisbiies 187,065 185,33 [ Amourts included Irvestments (n unbsted subsidaries of $3,318.242 2013 $3,010,808),
ADVANCE FROM A SUESIDUARY 1/696,090 1142199 investmaent in a lsted subsiciary of S265,828 (2013: $303,159) and advances to subsidiasies of
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 1, — $3.330,953 (2013; §2,170,287),
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Additional Information — Financial Statement Schedule 1
Financial Information of Parent Company

{in thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated  (Accumulated

Additional Oher Losses) Totd

CQedinary Shares Treasury Shares Paid-in  Compratensive Relained  Sharehoiders’

Shams Amouril Shares Amaunt Capital Losgas Earrirgs Exuity

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2012 1653101002 § 1653 (1055238 § 108 32324 § (1,034 § (28250 5 2986158
Nt income for tha year - - - - - - 417,208 417,203
Foraign cumency translation adjustment - - - - - 16 - 16
Change in fair value of forwand exchanga rate condracts _ — —_ — — o =y a9
Rectassification to eamings upon settiement of lorward exchangs rale contracts _— - - - - 34 -_ 138
Share-based compensalion - — - -_ 8973 - - BAT3
Shares issued for future vesting of restricted shares and exercise of share options 4,958,203 50 [4.958,29G) 150) — = = i
lssuance of shares for resiricled shares vested . ek 1.276 634 13 (13} = = =
Cancellation of vested restricted shares - - 1] — — — — ==
Exancise of shane oplions -_— — 2 866 955 a0 360 = — 383
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 212 1.656.,059,295 16,561 [11.267.038) 113 3235835 (1,057} 134683 3385939
Net income for the year —_— _— —_— - —_ -_ BAT 463 637 463
Foreign curmency translation adjustment — — — — — 114,535 — (14,538)
Share-based compensation = = = — 14,119 — — 14,119
Shares purchased under trust amangement for future vesting of restricled shares: = — {1.121,638) {8,7700 — = == (B.7T0)
Trarsdesr of shares purchased under trus! amangement for nestrictad shanes vested _ - 378,51 2965 2,965 - - -
Shares issued for fufure vesting of restricted shares and exrcise of share options 8,574,153 B85 [B.574,153) [38) — - - -
Issuance of shares for restricled shares vested — — 1,297,902 13 (13} - -— —
Exercisa of share options —_ - 3,064,302 A 4888 - — 439
(:hare in sharehokdng of the Philippine subsidianes - —_ — -_ 227,535 —_ - 227535
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31. 2013 1 BEE6IZ A48 16667 [16.222.246) 15,960 3.479.309 (15,582 72156 4286670
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Additional Information — Financial Statement Schedule 1
Financial Information of Parent Company

{In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Accumuiated  (Accumutated

Additional Other Losses) Todal

Ordinary Shares Trazury Shares Faidkin  Comgrehensive Retaned  Shaneholders'

Shares Amdunt Shares Amount Capital Logses Eamings: Eruity

et incoeme for the year — % - Ll | —_ — % — § 008280 §  G08280
Forsign curmancy trarglation acustment - - —_ - — 1,538 - [1.538)
Change in tair valua of inferest rabe swap agresments — — — — — {19 —_ 19
Share-basad compensation " = = = 1823 — = 18,233
Shares purchased under trust arrangemant for futuee vesting of restricted shares - — (208,278) {1.721) - -_— [1.721
Transter of shares purchased under trust arangament for restriched shares vested - - 46712 3,648 (3,648 = - -
Shares repurchazad for retirement — — (36,549, 344} 1300,495) — —_ —_ {300,435)
Retirenent of shares [32.931.508 (330)  32,931.528 271,341 271.001) = == =
Issuance of shares for restricted shares vested - - 1,068, 534 " {11 — - -
Exsrcise of share aplions: — - 928,208 9 2147 - —_ 2156
Change in shareholding of the Phiippine subsiciaries - — — — 57793 —_ —- 57,203
Dividends declared — - — — (189,459 o (153,259} {32,718
BALANCE AT DECEMEER 21, 2014 1633701920 § 18337 (17684.386) §  (33167) & 2092043 § (170400 § 1227477 § 4286141
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Additional Information — Financial Statement Schedule 1
Financial Information of Parent Company

{In thousands of LS. dollars, except share and per share data)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE 1
1. Basis of Presentation

The condensed financial information has been prepared using the same
accounting policies as sat out n the Ccompany's consolidated financial
statements except that the parent company has used equity method to
account for its Invesiments in subsidiaries.
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Financial Summary

Yaar Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 20m 200
(in thousands of US$, except share and per share data and operaling data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Net revenuss 3 4p02300 3 5087178 § 4078013 § JE0E4T 2641976
Tetal parating cosls and eapanses § [H116.048 % [4247354) § @sromey & [ T (2,549, 464)
Operating incame 1 685360 % 830824 % 507082 § #5110 % 92 512
Het income (oss) 5 5736 % 578013 % J0BET2 § 288844 % [10,525)
Net loss attribatable to noncontrelling interests $ BEM 3 59450 & 853 0§ 5812 3 -
Net income (ess) atibutabie to Meloo Crown Emertainment L 608280 § 637463 § 7203 § 204656 § {10.525)
Net income (loss) attributable to Melco Grown Entertainment

per share
— Basic H 0.369 0.388 0254 % 0184 % {0.007)
— Diluted 3 0366 5 0383 38 0252 % 0182 % {0.007)
Net income (loss) attributable to Meleo Crown Entertainment

per ADS™
— Basic £ 1108 % 1150 § 0761 & 0551 0§ {0.020)
— Diluted 3 1008 § 1148 § 0755 % 0547 % {0.020)
Weighted average shares used in net income (loss)

attributable to Melco Crown Entertainment per share calculation
— Basic 1.847.571.547 1.649.678.643 1,645 346,902 1,604,213.324 1.585.552.022
— Diluted 1,660,503,130 1.664,188.091 1,658,262 996 1,616 B54.682 1,585,552 022
Dividends declared per share $ 02076 $ - § - § - % —
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Financial Summary

Decamber 31,
2014 2013 2m2 201 2010
(In thousands of UESS)

Consolidated Balance Sheels Data:
Cash and cash equivalents 1,597 655 1381757 § 1700209 3% 1158024 & 441,923
Bank deposits with original matunity over three months 110,616 626,940 - - -
Rastricted cash 1816583 1,143,665 1414 664 364 807 167,286
Tatal assels 10,432 563 8,813,630 7,247 466 6,269,980 4,884 240
Total current Kabilites 1316657 12374970 1,721,666 603,118 675,604
Total debts™ 3.802,781 2533539 3,194 #5654 2325980 1,839,931
Total liabilities 5,380,893 3,888,657 4,206,710 3082328 2,361,249
hancontroling inferests 755,529 678,312 354,817 231,497 -
Total equity 5,041,670 4,924 982 3,740,756 3.187 852 2523191
Oedinary shares 16,337 16,667 16,581 16,531 16,056

i1} Each ADS repredents thees ordindry shares,

2 Incluces amounts due io sharehalders within one yeas, lcans from sharehciders and gurrent and non-cusrent portion of kong-term debit.
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho (Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. James Douglas Packer (Co-Chairman)

Mr. John Peter Ben Wang

Mr. Clarance Yuk Man Chung

Mr. William Todd MNisbat

Mr. Rowen Bruce Craigie

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. James Andrew Charles MacKenzie

Mr. Thomas Jefferson Wu

Mr. Alec Yiu Wa Tsui

Mr. Robert Wason Mactier
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. James Andrew Charles MacKenzie (Chairman)
Mr, Thomas Jefferson Wu

Mr. Alec Yiu Wa Tsui

NOMINATING AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Mr. Alec Yiu Wa Tsul (Chairman)

Mr. Thomas Jetfarson Wu

Mr. Robert Wason Mactier

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Thomas Jefferson Wu (Chairman)

Mr. Alec Yiu Wa Tsui

Mr. Robert Wason Mactier



Corporate Information

REGISTERED OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS
120 Elgin Avenue

Gearge Town

Grand Cayman KY1-8005

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND HEAD OFFIGE IN MAGAU
22/F, Gelden Dragon Centre

Avanida Xian Xing Hai

Macau

PLAGE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

36/F, The Centrium

60 Wyndham Streat

Cantral

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS

AS TO HONG KONG LAW AND U.S, LAW
Latham & Watkins

AS TO MACAU LAW

Manusla Anténio — Lawyers and Notaries
AS TO CAYMAN [SLANDS LAW

Walkers

AUDITOR

Messrs. Deloitta Touche Tohmatsu
COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Stephanie Cheung

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

hitpe/fwww.melco-crown.com
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Corporate Information

LISTING INFORMATION

Heng Keng stock code: 6883

NASDAC symbel. MPEL

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Sarvices Limitad

Shops 17121718, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen's Road East

Wanchai

Heng Keng
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CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Intertrust Corporate Services (Cayman) Limited

190 Elgin Avenuga

Gaorga Town

Grand Cayman KY1-2005

Cayman Islands



Definitions and Glossary

DEFINITIONS

‘2006 Share Incentive Plan™ refers to a share incentive plan as adopted
and revised by the Board on November 28, 20068 and March 17, 2008
and as approved by the Shareholders on December 1, 2006 and May 19,
2009, respactively, which aims to provide incentives in the form of awards
to censultants, employees and members of the Board with the view of
promoting further success of our Company;

“2010 Senlor MNotes® refers to the USSE00 milion aggregate principal
amount of 10.25% senior notes dus 2018 issusd by MCE Finance on May
17, 2010 and fully redeemed on March 28, 2013;

*2011 Credit Facilities” refers to the credit facilities entered into pursuant
to an amendment agreement dated June 22, 2011, as amended from time
to timae batwasn, among others, Melco Crown Macaw, Deutsche Bank AG,
Hong Kong Branch as agent and DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited as
security agent, comprising a term loan facility and a revolving credit facility,
for a total amount of HKE9.36 billion (equivalent to approximately US$1.2
billian];

“2011 Share Incentive Plan” rafers to a share incentive plan as adopted
by our Company pursuant to a resclution passed by our Shareholder at an
extracrdinary general meeting on October 6. 2011 and became effactive
on the listing date, which aims to provide incentives in the form of awards
10 consultants, employees and members of the Board, with the view of
promoting further success of our Company;

*2013 Senior Notes™ refers to the USS1.0 bilion aggregate principal
amount of 5.00% senior notes due 2021 Issued by MCE Finance on
February 7, 2013;

“2013 Top-up Placement” refers to the placing and top-up subscription of
981,183,700 MCP shares (including over-allotment option) conducted by
MCP in April 2013, which raised approximately US2338.5 million as net
proceeds;

“2014 Top-up Flacement” refers to the placing and top-up subscription of
485,177,000 MCP shares conducted by MCP in June 2014, which ralsed
approximately US$122.2 million as net proceads:

“Adjusted EBITDA" refers to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation,
amortization, pre-cpening costs, development costs, property charges and
others, share-based compensation, payments to the Philippine Parties,
land rent to Belle Corparation, gain on disposal of assets held for sale and
other non-operating income and expenses,;

“Adjusted property EBITDA® refers to earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation, amortization, pre-opening costs, development costs, property
charges and others, share-based compensation, payments to the Philippine
Parties, land rent to Belle Carporation, gain on disposal of assets held for
sale, Corporate and Others expenses and other non-operaling income and

axpansas;

*ADSs" refars to our American depositary shares, each of which reprasents
three Shares;
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Definitions and Glossary

“Aircraft Term Loan” refers to the US$43.0 million term loan eradit facility
entered into by MCE Transportation in June 2012 for the purpose of funding
the acquisition of an aircraft;

“Altira Developments” refers to our subsidiary, Altira Developments Limited,
a Macau company through which we hold the land and building for Altira
Macau;

“Altira Hotel” refers to our subsidiary, Altira Hotel Limited, a Macau
company through which we currently cperate the hotal and other non-
gaming businesses at Altira Macau;

“Altira Macau" refers to an integrated casinc and hotel development that
caters to Asian rolling chip custormers, which opened in May 2007 and
owned by Altira Developments;

“Articles” refers to our amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association adopted on May 23, 2012;

“Beoard” and "Board of Diractors” refer to the board of Directors or a duly
constituted committee thereof;

“China" and “PRC" refer to the People's Republic of China, excluding Hong
Kong, Macau and Taiwan from a geographical point of view;

Byl Fepor] 0 ko Caman | odbogtadrmens Limdied

“City of Dreams” refers to a casino, hotel, retail and entertainment
integrated resort located on two adjacent pieces of land in Cotai, Macau,
which opened In June 2009, and currently features casino areas and
three luxury hotels, including a collection of retail brands, a wet stage
performance theater and other entertainment venues, and owned by Melco
Crown (COD) Developmants;

“City of Dreams Manila® refers to a casino, hotal, retail and entertainment
integrated resort located within Entertainment City, Manila operated and
managed by MCE Leisure Philippines;

“Companies Ordinance” refers to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
G622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise
maodified from time to time;

“Cotai® refers to an area of reclaimed land located batwaen the islands of
Taipa and Coloans in Macau;

“Crown” refers to Crown Resorts Limited, an Australian-listed corporation,
which completed its acquisition of the gaming businesses and investments
of PBL, now known as Consolidated Media Holdings Limited, on December
12, 2007;

“Crown Asia nvestments” refers to Crown Asia Investments Py, Lid.,
which is 100% indiractly cwned by Crown, and was incorporated in the
Cayman Izlands but is now a registered Australlan company;



Definitions and Glossary

“Crown Entertainment Group Holdings™ refers to Crown Entertainment
Group Holdings Py, Ltd,, a company incorporated on June 19, 2007 under
the laws of Australia and a subsidiary of Crown;

“Deposit-Linked Lean” refers to a deposit linked facility for HK$2.T billion
(quivalant to approximately USS$353.3 million based on exchange rate
on transaction date) entered into on May 20, 2011, which is secured by a
deposit of AMB2.3 billion (equivalent o approximately US$353.3 millon
based on exchange rate on transaction date) from the proceeds of the RMB
Bonds and fully repaid in March 2013;

*DICJ" refers to the Direcgdo de Inspecgdo & Coordenagdo de Jogos (the
Gaming Inspaction and Coordination Bureau), a department of the Public
Administration of Macau;

“Directors™ refers 1o the directon(s) of cur Company,

“Greater China" refers to mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau,
collectively;

“Group” refers to cur Company and our subsidiaries and, in respect of
the period before our Company became the helding company of such
subsidiaries, the entities which carried on the business of the prasent
Group at the ralevant timae;

“HIBCR" refars to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate;

“HKS" and “H.K. dollars” refer to the legal currency of Hong Kong;

“Hong Kong™ refers to the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
PRC:

“IFRS" refers to Intermational Financial Reporting Standards;

“Licensees” refers to heldaers of the Provisional Licence, which include MCE
Leisure Philippines, MCE Haldings Philippines, MCE Holdings No. 2 and
the Philippine Parties;

*Listing Rules™ rafers to the Rulas Governing the Listing of Securities on tha
Stock Exchange, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to tima;

*Macau” and “Macau SAR" refer to the Macau Special Administrative
Regicn of tha PRC;

*MCE Finance” rafers to our subsidiary, MCE Finance Limited, a Cayman
Islands exempted company with limited liability,

*MCE Holdings Mo. 2" refers to our subsidiary, MCE Holdings No. 2
{Philippines) Corporaticn, a corporation incorporated in the Philippines and
one of the Licensees halding the Provisional License;

*MCE Holdings Philippines” refers to our subsidiary, MCE Holdings
{Philippinas) Corporation, a corporation incorporated in the Philippines and
ana of the Licensees halding the Pravisional License;
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Definitions and Glossary

“MCE Leisure Philippines® refers to our subsidiary, MCE Leisure
{Fhilippines) Corporation, a corperation incorporated in the Philippines and
one of the Licensees holding the Provisional License;

“MCE Transportation” refers to our subsidiary, MCE Transportation Limited,
a company incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands;

“MCP" refers to our subsidiary, Melco Crown (Philippines) Resorts
Corporation, the shares of which are listed on the Philippine Stock
Exchange;

*MCP Shara{s)” refers to the common shares of MCP of par value PHP1.00
pér share;

“MCP Share Incentive Flan" refers to the shara incentive plan of MCPE, with
amendments, approved by MCF shareholders on June 21, 2013;

“Melco” refers to Melco International Development Limited, a Hong Keong
listed company;

*Melco Crown (COD) Developments”® refers to our subsidiary, Melco Crown
{COD) Developments Limited. a Macau company through which we hold
the land and buildings for City of Dreams;

*Melco Crown Macau™ refers to our subsidiary, Malco Crown (Macau)
Limited, a Macau company and the holder of cur gaming subconcession;

“Melco Laksure® refars to Malco Leisure and Entertainment Group Limitad,
a company incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands and a
wholly-awned subsidiary of Malco;
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*Mocha Clubs” collectively refers o clubs with gaming machines, the first
of which opened in September 2003, and are now the largest non-casino
based operations of electronic gaming machines in Macau, and operated

by Malco Crown Macau;

“Medel Coda® refers to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listad Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules;

"NASDAQ" refers to the National Associalion of Securities Dealers
Automated Quotation System;

“Mew Cotai Holdings™ refers to Mew Cotai Holdings, LLC, a company
incorporated in Delaware, the United States on March 24, 2006 under the
laws of Delaware, primarily owned by U.S. investment funds managed by
Silver Point Capital, L.P. and Oaktree Capital Management, L.P.;

*PAGCOR” refers to Philippines Amusement and Gaming Corporation, the
Philippinas regulatory body with jurisdiction over all gaming activities in the
Philippines except for lottery, sweepstakes, cockfighting, horse racing and
gaming inside the Cagayan Export Zone;

“Patacas” and "MOP" rafer to the legal currency of Macau;

“PBL" refers to Publishing and Broadeasting Limited, an Australian-listed
corporation that is now known as Consolidated Media Holdings Limited;



Definitions and Glossary

“Philippine Notes® refars to the PHP15 billien aggregate principal amount
of 5.00% senior notes due 2019 issued by MCE Leisure Philippines on
January 24, 2014;

“Philippine  Partles” refers to 3M Investments Corporation, Belle
Corporation and PremiumLesure and Amusemaent, Inc.;

“Philippine peso”™ and “PHP" refers to the legal currency of the Philippines;
“Philippine Stock Exchange” refers to The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.;

“Pravisional License” refers to the provisional license issued by PAGCOR
on December 12, 2008 for the development of an integrated tourism resort
and to establish and operate a casino within Entertainment City in Manila,
the Philippines; MCE Leisure Philippines, MCE Holdings Philippinas, MCE
Holdings Wo. 2 and the Philippine Parties are co-licensees under the
Amended Certificate of Affiliation and Provisional License dated January
28, 2013; referances to the Provisional License include, where the context
requires, amy regular license |ssued to replace the provisional license as
described in "The Provisional License.™;

“Renminbi® and *“RMB" refer to the legal currency of China;

“RMB Bonds” refers to the RMB2.3 bilion (equivalent to approximately
US8353.2 million based on exchange rate on transaction date) aggregate

principal amount of 3.75% bonds due 2013 issued by our Company on
May 9, 2011 and fully redeemead on March 11, 2013;

*SCI° refers to Studie City International Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability that iz 60%
owned by one of our subsidiaries and 40% owned by New Cotai Holdings
through its wholly owned subsidiary New Cotai, LLC;

“SEC” refars to the LS. Securities and Exchange Commission;

“SFO" refers to the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). as amended, supplemeanted or otherwise modified
from time to time;

“SGEX-5T" refers to Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited;
“Share(s)” refer to our ardinary shareis), par value of US50.01 each;
“Sharehaolder|s)" refers te holder(s) of cur Shareis) from time to time;
*Stock Exchange” refers to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limitad:;

*Studio City™ refers 1o a cinematically-themad integrated entartainment,
retail and gaming resort in Cotai, Macau;

“Studio City Developments™ refers 1o our subsiciary, Studio City
Developments Limited, a Macau company in which we own 80% of the
Uity interast;

“Studio City Finance" refers to Studic City Finance Limited, which iz a
company incorporated in the British Virgin 1slands with limitad liability, is
also an indirect subsidiary of SC| and the issuer of the Studio City Notes;
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Definitions and Glossary

“Studio City Motes® refers to the USS825.0 million aggregate principal
amount of 8.50% senior notes due 2020 issued by Studic City Finance on
MNeowvember 26, 2012;

“Studio City Project Facility” refers to the senlor secured preject facility,
dated January 28, 2013, entered into between, among others, Studio City
Company Limited as bomrower and certain subsidiaries as guarantors for
a total sum of HK$10,855,880.000 and consisting of a delayed draw term
loan facility and a revolving cradit facility;

“our subconcession” and “our gaming subconcession” refer to the Macau

gaming subconcession held by Malco Crown Macau;
“TWD" and “New Talwan dollars® refer to the legal currency of Taiwan;
“IS8" and LS, dollars” refer to the legal currency of the United States;

“L.8." and “United States” refer to the United States of America, its
territories, its possessions and all areas subject to its jurisdiction;

“U.S. GAAP" refers to the accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States;

“wa", “us”, “our”, "our Company®, “the Company”, *“MCE" and “Melco
Crown Entertainment” refer to Melco Crown Entertainment Limited and,

as the context requires, its predecessor enlities and its consolidated
subsidiaries; and

“Wynn Macau" refers to Wynn Resorts (Macau) S.A.
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GLOSSARY

“average dally rate” or
“ADR"

“cage”

“chip®

“concession”

“dealar”

calculated by dividing total room revenues including
the retall value of prometional allowances (less
service charges, if any)} by total rooms occupied
incleding complimentary rooms, Le., average price of
occupied rooms per day

a secure room within a casine with a facility that
allows patrons to axchange cash for chips required to
participate in gaming activities, or to exchange chips

for cash

round token that is used on ¢asino gaming tables in
lieu of cash

a government grant for the operation of games
of fortune and chance in casinos in Macau under
an administrative contract pursuant te which a
concessionaire, or the entity holding the concession,
is authorized to operate games of fortune and chance

in casinos in Macau

a casino employaa who takes and pays out wagers or
atherwise oversees a gaming table



Definitions and Glossary

*drop” the amount of cash to purchase gaming chips and “gaming promoter”
promotional vouchers that are deposited in a gaming
table's drop box, plus gaming chips purchased at the
casing cage

“drop box” a bex or container that sen'es as a repository for
cash, chips, chip purchase vouchers, credit markers
and forms used to record movements in the chip
inventory on sach table game
“Integrated resort”
*glectronic table games™  electronic multiple-player gaming seats

“gaming machine” slat machine and/or electronic table games
“gaming maching handle" the total amount wagerad in gaming machinas “lunket player”
*gaming machina gaming machine win expressed as a percentage of

win rate” gaming machine handle “marker”

“mass market patron”

an individual or corporate entity who, for the
purpose of promoting rolling chip and other gaming
activities, arranges customer ftransportation and
accommodation, provides credit in its sole discretion
if authorized by a gaming operator, and arranges
food and beverage services and entertainment in
exchange for commissions or other compensation
from a gaming operator

a resort which provides customers with a
combination of hetel accommedations, casinos or
gaming areas, retail and dining facilities, MICE space,

entertainmant venues and spas

a player sourced by gaming promaters to play in the
VIF gaming roems or areas

avidence of indebtedness by a player 1o the casing or
gaming cperator

a customer who plays in the mass market segment

Wi Caosp Lnbertalowwed |imiieed Frrngl Hopee F014 Eea)



Definitions and Glossary

“mass market segment”

“mass market
table games drop™

“mass market
table games held
parcantage”

“mass market
table games

sagment”

“MICE"

“non-negotiable chip”

ke ] Al Fepor] 20

consists of both table games and gaming machines
played by mass market patrons for cash stakes
that are typically lower than those in the rolling chip
segment

the amount of table games drop in the mass market
table games segment

mass market table games win as a percentage of
mass market table games drop

the mass market segment consisting of mass market
patrans who play table games

Meetings, Incentives, Conwventions and Exhibitions,
an acronym commonly used to refer to tourism
invalving large groups brought together for an event
ar specific purpose

promotional casino chip that is not to be exchanged
for cash
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“nen-rolling chip”

“pecupancy rate”

“premium direct player”

“progressive jackpot”

“revenue per available
room* of “REVPAR"

chip that can be exchanged for cash, used by mass
market patrons to make wagers

the awverage percentage of available hotel rooms
oaccupied, including complimentary rooms, during a
pariod

a rolling chip player who is a direct customer of
the concessionaires or subconcessionaires and is
attracted to the casino through direct marketing
afforts and relationships with the gaming aperator

a jackpot for a gaming machine or table game where
the value of the jackpot increases as wagers are
made; multiple gaming machines or table games
may be linked together to establish one progressive
jackpot

calculated by dividing total room revenues including
the retall value of promotional allowances (ess
service charges, if any) by total rooms available,
thereby representing a combination of hotel average
daily room rates and occupancy



Definitions and Glossary

“ralling ehip®

“rolling chip patron”

“rolling chip segment”

“relling ehip valume®

“ralling chip win rate”

*slot machine”

non-negotiable chip primarily used by rolling chip
patrons to make wagers

a player who is primarily a WIP player and typically
receives various forms of complimentary services
from tha gaming promoters of concessionaines or
subconcessionaires

cansists of table games played in private VIP gaming
rooms or areas by rolling chip patrons who are either
pramium direct players or junket players

the ameount of non-negeotiable chips wagered and lost
by the rolling chip market segment

roling chip table games win (calculated before
discounts and commissions) as a percentage of
rolling ¢hip velume

traditional slot or electronic gaming machine
operated by a single player

“subconcession”

“table gamas win"

“WIF gaming rocm”

“wat stage performance
theater™

an agresment lor the operation of games of
fortune and chance in casinos between the entity
holding the concession, of the concessionalre, a
subconcessionaire and the Macau government,
pursuant to which the subconcessionaira is
autherized to operate games of fortune and chanca in
casinos in Macau

the amount of wagers won net of wagers lost on
gaming tables that is retained and recorded as casino
revenues

gaming rcoms or areas that have restricted access
to rolling chip patrons and typically offer more
personalized service than the general mass market
gaming areas

the approximately 2.000-seat theater specificalty
designed to stage “The House of Dancing Water™
show
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Appendix | — 2006 Share Incentive Plan and 2011 Share Incentive Plan

2006 SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN

We adopted the 2006 Share Incentive Plan 1o attract and retaln the best available
parsonnel for positions of substantial responsibility, provide additional incentives
to employees, directors and consultants and to promote the success of our
business. The 2006 Share Incentive Plan has been succesdsd by our 2011
Share Incentive Plan. Mo further awards may be granted under the 2006 Share
Incentive Plan. All subsaquent awards will be issued under the 2011 Share
Incentive Plan. Awards previously granted under the 2006 Share Incentive Plan
shall remain subject to the terms and conditions of the 2006 Share Incentive
Flan.

The following paragraphs describe the principal terms included in the 2006 Share
Incentive Plan.

Types of Awards. The awards permitted to be granted under cur 2006 Share
Incantive Plan included oplions to purchase cur Shares and restricted Shares,

Eligibility. We were permitted to grant awards to employess, directors and
consultants of cur Company or any of cur related entities, including Melco,
Crown, ather joint venture entities of Melco or Crown, our own subsidiaries or
any entities in which we hold a substantial ownership interest. However, wa
could grant options that are Intended to qualify as incentive share options only to
our amployaes.
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Maximum Mumber of Shares. Under the 2006 Share Incentive Plan, the
maximum aggregate number of Shares which could be issued pursuant to all
awards (including Shares issuable upon exercise of options) was 100,000,000

avar 10 years.

Plan Administration. Our compensation committes would administer the 2006
Share Incentive Plan and determine the provisions and terms and conditions of
each award grant.

Award Agreement. Awards granted were to be evidenced by an award
agresment that sets forth the terms, cenditions and limitations for each award,

Exercise Price and Term of Awards. In general, the plan administrator would
determine the exercise price of an option and set forth the price in the award
agreement. The exercise price could be a fixed or variable price related to the
fair market value of our Shares. If we granted an incentive share option to an
employee whe, at the time of that grant. owned Shares representing more than
10% of the voting power of all classes of our share capital, the exercise price
could not be less than 110% of the fair market value of our Shares on the date of
that grant. The term of each award would be stated in the award agreement, and
would not excesd 10 years from the date of the grant.

Vesting Schedule. In general, the plan administrator determined, or the award
agreement would specify, the vesting schadule.

As of December 31, 2014, there was no unvested share option under the 2006

Share Incentive Plan.



Appendix | — 2006 Share Incentive Plan and 2011 Share Incentive Plan

2011 SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN

We adopted the 2011 Share Incentive Plan 1o provide our employees, directors
and consultants with incentives %o increase shareholder value, and to attract
and retain the services of those upon whem we depend for the success of our
business. The 2011 Share Incentive Plan was conditionally approved by our
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on Qctober €, 2011 and
became affactive upon commencement of dealings in cur Shares on the Stock
Exchange on December 7, 2011, The 2011 Share Incentive Plan succesds the
2006 Share Incentive Flan,

The following paragraphs summarize the principal terms of the current 2011
Share Incentive Plan. Amendments to the 2011 Share Incentive Plan as a
result of the proposed voluntary withdrawal of listing of owr shares on the
Stock Exchange will be proposed to the upcoming annual general meeting for
shareholders to consider.

Types of Awards, The awards that may be granted under the plan include
aptions, incentive share options, restricted Shares, share appreciation rights,
dividemd equivalents, share payments, deferred shares and restricted share
units.

Eligibility. We may grant awards to directors, employees and consultants of our
Company, any parent or subsidiary of cur Company, or any of our related entities
that our Board designates as a related entity for the purposes of the 2011 Share
Incentive Plan, Cur compensation committee may from time to time select from

among eligible individuals those to whom awards shall be granted. Howaver,
anly employees of our Company or of a parent or subsidiary of our Company are
aligible to receive Incentive share option awards,

Maximum Number of Shares. The maximum aggregate number of Shares which
may be issued pursuant to all awards under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan is
100,000,000 Shares, which represents approximately 8.2% of the izsued share
capital of the Company as at the date of approval of the 2011 Share Incentive
Plan by our Shareholders at the exiracrdinary general meating on October 6,
2011, This limit may be increased from time to time, but by no more than 10% of
the Shares then in issue as at the date of the Sharsholdars’ meeting to approve
such increase. The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
awards granted and yet to be exercised under the plan shall not exceed 30% of
the Shares in issue from time to time, as prescribed under relevant Listing Rules.

Maximum Entittement of Option Holders. The maximum aggregate number
of Shares underlying an option grant shall not, in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant, exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue on the date of
grant, unless Sharsholders” approval is obtained in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The maximum aggregate number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of
aptions granted to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-axecutive
director of our Company, or any of their respective associates, shall not exceed
0.1% of the Shares in issue on the offer date or have an aggregate value, based
an the official closing price of the Shares as quoted by the Stock Exchange
on the offer date, In excess of HKS5 million, unless Shareholders' approval is
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Appendix | — 2006 Share Incentive Plan and 2011 Share Incentive Plan

obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules. Such limits may be amended
from time to time by the Stock Exchange, Our compensation committee may
not grant options to a director, chief executive or substantial Shareholder of our
Company, or any of their respective associates, without approval by independent
non-executive Directors on the compensation committes at the time of such
datermination.

Option Periods and Payments. Our compensation committée may in its
discration determine, subject to the plan expiration period: the period within
which Shares must be taken up under an option; the minimum period, If any,
for which an option must ba held bafore it can be exercised; the amount, if any,
payable on application or acceptance of the option; and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made,

Plan Administration. Our compensation committee will administer the 2011
Share Incentive Plan and has the power to, among other actions, designate
eligibla participants, determine the number and types of awards to ba granted,
and set the terms and conditions of each award granted. The compensation
committea's decisions are final, binding, and conclusive for all purposes and

upon all parties.

Award Agreament. Awards granted will be evidenced by an award agreement
that sets forth the terms, conditiens and limitations for each award,

Exercise Price. In general, the compansation committee may establish the exercisa
price or purchase price, if any, of any award, The exercise price of an option
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may be a fixed or variable price related to the fair market value of our Shares,
but in any event shall not be less than the highest of; the official closing price
guoted on the Stock Exchange on the date such option Is offered in writing to a
participant, or the offer date; the average of the official closing prices as quoted
an the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
offer date; and the nominal value of a Share. |f we grant an incentive share option
award to an employes who, at the time of that grant, owns Shares representing
more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of our Shares, the exercise
price may nct be less than 110% of the fair market value of cur Shares on the
date of that grant.

Term of Awards. The term of sach award shall be stated in the award
agresment, and may not exceed 10 years from the date of the grant. I the
participant ceases to be eligible for amy reason, the validity of the award shall
depend on the terms and conditions of the award agreement, An incentive share
option may not be exercised upon the earlier of (a) 10 years from the date of
the grant; (b} three menths after termination as an employes; and (c) cne year
after the date of termination of employment or service on account of disability or
death,

Transferability. Rights in awards are personal to participants and, except
as otherwise provided by our compensation committes, no award shall be
assigned, transferred, or otherwise disposed of by a participant othes than by will

or the laws of descent and distribution.
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Adjustments. In the event of any share split, combination or exchange of shares,
spin-off, recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation or any other
change affecting cur share capital, our compensation committee shall make
proportionate and equitable adjustments to reflact such change with respact to:
(i) the aggregate number and types of shares that may be issued under the plan;
(i} the tarms and conditions of any outstanding awards; and (jii) the grant price or
exercise price per share for any outstanding awards,

Change in Control and Corporate Transactions. In the avent of a change in the
controd of gur Company, our compensation committes may in its sole discretion
provide for termination, purchase or realization of awards, or replacement of
awards with other rights or property. Upon the consummation of a merger
ar consclidation in which our Company is not the surviving entity, a sale of
substantially all of our assets, the complete liquidation or dissolution of owr
Company or a reverse takeover, each award will terminate, unless the award is
assumed by the successor entity. If the successor entity assumes the award or
replaces it with a comparable award, or replaces the award with a cash incentive
program and provides for subsequent payout, the replacement award or cash
incentive program will automatically become fully vested, exercisable and
payable, as applicable, upon termination af the participant's employment without
cause within 12 months of such corporate transaction. If the award is neither
assumed nor replaced, it shall become fully vested and exercisable and releasad
from any rapurchase or forfaiture rights immediately prior to the affective date of
such corporate trangaction, provided that the participant remains eligible on the
effective date of the corporate transaction.

Amendment and Termination. With the approval of the Boeard, our
compensation committee may terminate, amend or medify the 2011 Share
Incentive Plan, except certain amendments requiring Shareholders' approval
purguant te the applicable law. Except amendments made pursuant to the
above, no termination, amendment, or modification of the 2011 Share Incentive
Plan shall adversely affect in any material way any award previously granted
under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan or any previous plans, without the prior
written consent of the participant.

Expiration. The 2011 Share Incentive Plan will expire 10 years after December
7. 2011, the date on which it bacame effective. Mo awards may be granted
pursuant to the 2011 Share Incentive Plan after that time.

Vesting Schedule. In general, our compensation committee determined, or the
award agreement would specify, the vesting schedule,

As of December 31, 2014 the unvestad share options granted under the 2011
Share Incentive Plan represented approximately 0.163% of our issued share
capital. If all the unvested share options were to be exercised and vested
during the year ended December 31, 2014 on an unaudited pro-forma basis,
there would be a dilution effect on the shareholdings of our Shareholders of
approximately 0.163% and basic earnings per share of USS0.00086.
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Appendix Il — MCP Share Incentive Plan

MCP adopted the MCP Share Incentive Plan to promote the success and
enhance the value of MCPR, by linking the personal interests of members of the
board of directors, employees and consultants of MCPR, its subsidiaries, holding
companies and affiliated companias. The MCP Share Incentive Plan, with
amendments, was approved by MCP shareholders at the annual stockholders
meating held, and became effective, on June 21, 2013, The MCP Share Incentive
Plan was also approved by our Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting on Juna 21, 2013, Tha Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission
approved such amandments on June 24, 2013, which is the effective date of tha
MCP SIP

The following paragraphs summarize the principal terms of the current MCP
Share Incentive Plan. Amendments to the MCP Share Incentive Plan as a
result of the proposed voluntary withdrawal of listing of our shares on the
Stock Exchange will be proposed to the upcoming annual general meeting for
shareholders to consider.

Types of Awards. The awards that may be granted under the MCP Share
Incentive Plan include options, incentive share options, restricted shares, shara
appreciation rights, dividend equivalents, share payments, deferred shares and
restricted share units.

Eligibility. The compensation cemmitiee of the board of directors of MCP may
grant awards to employees, directors and consultants of MCP its subsidiary,
halding companies and affillated companies for the purposes of the MCP Share
Incentive Plan. The compensation committes of the MCP Board may, from time
fo time, select from ameng all eligible individuals, those to whom awards shall be
granted,
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Plan Limit. The maximum aggregate number of MCP Shares which may
be issued pursuant to all awards under the MCP Share Incentive Plan iz
442,630,330, In any event, the total number of MCP Shares which may be issued
pursuant to all awards under the MCP Share Incentive Plan shall not excesd
10% of the issued capital stock of MCP at the date of our Shareholders approval
of the MCP Share Incentive Plan. The overall limit on the number of MCP Shares
which may be issued upon exercisa of all outstanding awards granted and yet to
be axarcised under the MCP Share Incentive Plan and any other share incentive
plans of MCP must not exceed 5% of the MCP Shares in issue from time to time.

Maximum Entilement of Option Holders. The maximum aggregate number
of MCP Shares underlying option grants to each participant shall not, in
any 12-menth period up to the date of grant, exceed 1% of the number of
MCP Shares in issue, unless the approval of our Sharehclders is obtained in
accordance with the Listing Rules. If the aggregate number of MCP Shares to
be issued upon exercise of options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates, exceeds 0.1% of the MCP Shares in issue on the offer date, and
have an aggregate value, based on the official closing price of the MCP Shares
as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Philippine Stock Exchange on the
offer date, in excess of an amount in peso which is equivalent to HKSS million
or such other sum as may be from time to time provided under the Listing
Rules, the approval of our Shareholders shall be obtained in accordance with
the Listing Rules, Any grant of option to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of MCP or the Company, or any of their respective associates,
shall be subject to the approval by independent non-executive directors of our
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compensation committes at the time of such determination {and in the event
that the compensation committee of the board of directers of MCP offers to
grant options to an independent non-executive director of the compensation
committes of the Company at the time of determination, the wote of such
independent non-executive director shall not be counted for the purposes of
approving such grant).

Option Periods and Payments, The compensation committes of the board
of directors of MCP may in its discration determine, subjact to the axpiration
date of the MCP Share Incentive Plan, the peried at which an option may be
exercised, in whole or in part, including exercised prior to vesting. The MCP
compensation committee shall also determine the condition, if any, that must be
satisfied before all or part of an option may be exercised including the metheds
by which the exercisae price is paid,

Administration. The MCP compensation committes will administer the MCP
Shara Incentive Plan and has the power to, among other actions, designate
eligible participants, determine the number and types of awards to be granted,
and datermina the terms and conditions of each award granted.

Award Agreement. Awards granted will be evidenced by an award agresmant
that sets forth the terms and conditions for each award.

Exercise Price. The MCP compensation committee datermine the exercise
price per share subject to an option, or purchase price, if any, of any award in
comptiance with the Listing Pules and the Securities Law from time to time.
Thera is no requirement under the Philippine law for determining the exarcise
price of the options, except the exercise price shall not be below the par value
of the shares. The MCP compensation committee has the absolute discretion
in determining the exercise price of the opticns but in any event shall be in
compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities Regulation Code of the
Philippines (as amended and the rulas and regulations promulgated thereunder).
If MCP grants an incentive share option award to an individual who, at the time
of that grant, owns sharas reprasenting more than 10% of the voting power of all
classes of MCP Shares, the exarcise price may not be less than 110% of the fair
market value of the MCP Shares on the date of that grant.

Term of Awards. The term of each award shall be stated in the award
agreement, and may not exceed ten years from the date of the grant. If the
participant ceases to be eligible for any reasen, the validity of the award shall
depend on the terms and conditions of the award agreement. Incentive share
options may not be exercised, among others, three months after termination of
AMpPloYMent as an employee.

Transferability. Rights in awards are personal to participants. No award shall be
assigned, transferred, or otherwise disposed of by a participant othar than by will
ar the laws of descent and distribution,
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Appendix Il — MCP Share Incentive Plan

Adjustments. In the event of a capitalization issue, rights issue, sub-division
or consolidation of MCP Shares or reduction of capital or any other change
affecting the entitlernent or benefits of the MCP Shares or the share price of
a MCP Share, the compensation committee of the MCP Board shall make
proportionate and equitable adjustments to reflect such change with respect 1o
(i) the aggregate number and types of shares that may be issued under the MCP
Share Incentive Plan; (i) the terms and conditions of any outstanding awards;
and (jli) the grant price or exercise price per share for any cutstanding awards, in
order to preserva, but not increase, the benefits or potential benefits intended to
be made available under the MCP Share Incentive Plan.

Change in Gontrol and Gorporate Transactions. In the avent of a change in the
control of MCR the compensation committes of the MCP board of directors may
in its sole discretion provide for tarmination, purchase or realization of awards,
or replacement of awards with other rights or property, Upen the censummation
of an amalgamation, arrangement or consolidation in which MCP is not the
surviving entity, a sale of substantially all MCP assets, the complete liquidation
or dissolution of MCP or a reverse takeover, each award will terminate unless the
award is assumed by the successor entity. If the successer enlity assumes the
award of replaces it with a comparable award, or replaces the award with a cash
incentive program and provides for subsequent payout, the replacement award
or cash incentive program will automatically become fully vested, exercisable
and payable, as applicable, immediately upon termination of the participant's
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employment without cause within twelve months of such corporate transaction.
If the award is neither assumed nor replaced, it shall automatically bacome fully
vested and exercizable and released from any repurchase or forfelture rights
immediataly prior to the effective date of such corporate transaction, provided
that the participant remains eligitle on the effective date of the corporate
transaction.

Amendment and Termination, Subject to applicable law or regulation, the
MCP compensation committes may terminate, amend or modify the MCP Shara
Ingentive Plan upon obtaining the approval of MCP Board. If required by any
applicable law or regulations, the approval of the sharsholders of MCP and
the Company for the amended plan shall also be obtained. Mo amendment,
madification or termination shall adversely affect in any material way any award
previousty granted under MCP Share Incentive Plan without the prior written
consent of the participant,

Expiration. The MCP Share Incentive Plan will expire ten years after June
24, 2013, the date on which it became effective. Ne awards may be granted
pursuant to the MCP Share Incentive Plan after that tima.

Vesting Schedule. In general, the compensation committee of the board of
directors of MCP determines, and the award agrsement would specify, the
vesting schedule.
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